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CHAIRPERSON’S FOREWORD

Honourable Speaker, on behalf of the Public Accounts Committee (PAC), and pursuant to Standing Order
199, | wish to present to the House the report of the Committee on the audited financial statements of
Ministries, State Departments, Commissions and Independent Offices for financial year 2018/2019.

The National Assembly exercises oversight over national revenue and its expenditure pursuant to Article
95(4) (c) of the Constitution through PAC which, in turn, derives its mandate from Article 124 (1) of the
Constitution and Standing Order 205 of the National Assembly Standing Orders. It’s instructive that
Article 229 (8) of the Constitution requires Parliament, within three months after receiving an audit
report, to debate and consider the report and take appropriate action. Further, Article 203(3) of the
Constitution provides that the equitable share of the revenue raised nationally and allocated to the
National Government and County Governments is to be calculated on the basis of the mast recent audited
accounts of revenue received, as approved by the National Assembly.

Honourable Speaker, the tabling of this report is a demonstration of-the Committee’s purposefulness in
the discharge of its duty and unwavering commitment and fidelity to its constitutional mandate.

The Committee held a total of 115 sittings, under the unigue circumstances occasioned by the COVID-
19 pandemic, during which it received both written and.oral evidence from Accounting Officers on audit
queries raised by the Auditor-General. Minutes of the Committee’s meetings are annexed to this report.

Honourable Speaker, | wish to commend, once-again and most sincerely, all the Accounting Officers
whose financial statements received unqualified opinion from the Auditor-General. The Committee
remains forever grateful to them for their diligence: | encourage all other Accounting Officers to emulate
these worthy examples.

In this report, the Committee has continued to hold individual officers to account for their various acts of
omission and/or commission that occasioned either loss or illegal application of public funds. In a number
of instances, the Committee has recommended specific follow-up actions, including further
investigations by the relevant investigative agencies. It is my hope that these recommendations will be
implemented within the shortest time possible by all those who are concerned and that, in the final
analysis, public interest will continue to be safeguarded.

In conclusion, Honourable Speaker, | wish to register my appreciation to fellow Honourable Members of
the Committee, the Offices of the Speaker and the Clerk of the National Assembly and the Parliamentary
Liaison Offices of the Auditor-General and the National Treasury for facilitating the work of the
Committee and making the production of this report possible. Special appreciation goes to the Directorate
of Audit, Appropriations & Other Select Committees and, in particular, members of the Committee
Secretariat for their commitment and devotion to duty.

Honourable Speaker, on behalf of the Public Accounts Committee, 1 now wish to table the report and
urge the House to adopt it and the recommendations therein.

HON. JAMES OPIYO WANDAYI, CBS, MP
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1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Establishment of the Public Accounts Committee

1) The Public Accounts Committee (PAC) of the Twelfth Parliament was established on Monday, 18™
December 2017, pursuant to Article 124 of the Constitution and the National Assembly Standing
Order 205.

1.2 Mandate of the Committee

2) PAC is mandated under Standing Order 205 (2) of the National Assembly Standing Orders to examine
the accounts showing the appropriations of the sum voted by the House to meet the public expenditure
and of such other accounts laid before the House as the committee may deem fit.

3) The Committee oversights the expenditure of public funds by ministries, state departments,
commissions and independent offices, to ensure value for money and adherence to government
financial regulations and procedures. The Committee executes its mandate on the basis of annual and
special audit reports prepared by the Office of the Auditor General.

1.3 Guiding Principles

4) In the execution of its mandate afore-stated,/PAC is guided by core constitutional and statutory
principles on public finance management,-as.well as established customs, traditions, practices and
usages. These principles include:

a) Constitutional Principles.on Public Finance

5) Article 201 provides for the fundamental principles that “...shall guide all aspects of public finance
in the Republic...” These principles-are, inter alia:-

201(a) there shall be openness and accountability, including public
participation in financial matters;

201(d) public'money shall be used in a prudent and responsible way; and

201(e) financial management shall be responsible, and fiscal reporting shall be
Clear.

6) PAC places a premium on these principles, among others, and has been guided by them in the entire
process that has culminated into this report.

b) Direct Personal Liability

7) Article 226(5) of the Constitution is emphatic that “If the holder of a public office, including a
political office, directs or approves the use of public funds contrary to law or instructions, the person
is liable for any loss arising from that use and shall make good the loss, whether the person remains
the holder of the office or not’.
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8) PAC has relied on this constitutional provision as the basis for holding each individual Accounting
Officers and other Public Officers directly and personally liable for any loss of public funds under
their watch. The Committee has and will continue to invoke this provision in its recommendations to
hold those responsible personally accountable. It is envisaged that it will serve as a deterrent measure.

c) Obligations of Accounting Officers

9) Section 68 (1) of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 provides, inter alia, that: “An Accounting
Officer for a National Government entity, Parliamentary Service Commission and the Judiciary shall
be accountable to the National Assembly for ensuring that the resources of the respective.entity for
which he or she is the Accounting Officer are used in a way that is lawful and authorized, and
effective, efficient, economical and transparent.”

10) This provision obligates all Accounting Officers to appear before the Public Accounts Committee of
the National Assembly to respond to audit queries in their respective.ministries/state departments or
agencies.

11) And section 74 (2) of the same PFM Act stipulates that: “If a Cabinet Secretary reasonably believes
that an Accounting Officer is engaging in or has engaged in improper conduct within the meaning of
subsection (4), the Cabinet Secretary shall take such measures as may be provided in regulations; or
refer the matter to the relevant office or body-in terms of the statutory and other conditions of
appointment or employment applicable to that Accounting Officer.”

12) This section empowers the appointing authority to discipline errant Accounting Officers, which could
include revoking their appointment. This provision has sealed a long-standing loophole that has
previously seen Accounting Officers continuously commit or preside over fiscal indiscipline and
malpractice in their ministries, departments and agencies.

13) PAC strongly holds the view that these provisions of the law were intended to be fully deployed to
give effect to the high principles in Article 201 of the Constitution stated hereinabove, to ensure
prudent and responsible use of public funds.

1.4  Committee Membership

14) The Committee is comprised of the following Members

Hon. James Opiyo Wandayi, CBS, MP, Chairperson
Ugunja Constituency
Orange Democratic Movement Party

Hon. Jessica Nduku Kiko Mbalu, CBS, MP, Vice- Chairperson
Kibwezi East Constituency
Wiper Democratic Movement Kenya Party
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Members

Hon. Junet Mohammed Nuh, CBS, MP
Suna East Constituency
Orange Democratic Movement Party

Hon. Maj. (Rtd.) (Dr.) Eseli Simiyu, MP
Tongaren Constituency
Ford- Kenya Party

Hon. Aden Bare Duale, EGH, MP
Garissa Town Constituency

Jubilee Party

Hon. Christopher Nakuleu Doye
TurkanaNorth Constituency

Jubilee Party

Hon. Justus Gesito Mugali M’mbaya, MP

Shinyalu Constituency
Orange Democratic Movement Party

Hon. John K. Waluke, MP
Sirisia Constituency

Jubilee Party

Hon. (Dr.) Otiende Amollo,'EBS, SC, MP

Rarieda Constituency
Orange DemocraticAMovement Party

Hon. Michael Mwangi.Muchira, MP
Ol Jororok Constituency

Jubilee Party

Hon. (Dr.) Wilberforce Ojiambo Oundo, MP

Funyula Constituency
Orange Democratic Movement Party

Hon. (Dr.) Eve Akinyi Obara, MP
Kabondo Kasipul Constituency
Orange Democratic Movement Party

Hon. Peter Francis Masara, MP
Suna West Constituency
Independent Member

Hon. Michael Thoyah Kingi, MP
Magarini Constituency
Orange Democratic Movement Party

Hon. James Gichuhi.Mwangi, MP
Tetu Constituency

Jubilee Party

Hon. Samuel Kinuthia Gachobe, MP
Subukia Constituency

Jubilee Party

Hon. (Eng.) Joseph Ngugi Nduuati, MP
Gatanga Constituency
Jubilee Party

Hon. Maj. (Rtd) Bashir Sheikh Abdullahi, MP
Mandera North Constituency

Jubilee Party

Hon. Amina Gedow Hassan, MP
Mandera County
Economic Forum Party
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1.5 Committee Secretariat

Oscar Namulanda - Principal Clerk Assistant | (Lead Clerk)
CPA Joash Kosiba - Senior Fiscal Analyst

Salat Abdi Ali - Senior Serjeant At Arms

Nebert Ikai - Clerk Assistant 11

Ms. Brigitta mati - Legal Counsel 11

Dennis Mawira - Audio Officer
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2. GENERAL OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

3.0 Introduction

15) The Committee made general observations, findings, and recommendations from the
proceedings, evidence tendered and selected project inspected relating to the report of the
Auditor-General on the financial statements for Ministries, State Departments,
Commissions, and Independent Offices for the financial year ended June 30, 2019.

16) Accounting Officers for the various Ministries, Departments and Agencies (MDAS),
Judiciary, Parliament, Constitutional Commissions, and Independent Offices are required
to monitor, evaluate and oversee the management of public finances in their respective
entities. Section 66 of the Public Finance Management (PFM) Act 2012 mandates the
Accounting Officers to ensure proper management and control of and accounting for their
finances to promote the efficient and effective use of budgetary resources.

17) The Committee made the following general observations on the implementation of the
approved budget for the financial year 2018/2019:-

4.0 Low Spending or Failure to Spend the Approved Budget

18) The gross estimated government expenditure has increased over the last five years from
Kshs.2,099,370,186,391 in the year 2014/2015 to Kshs.3,106,405,817,692 in the year
2018/2019 representing an increase~of Kshs,1,007,035,631,301 or approximately 48
percent over the five financial years 2014/2015 to 2018/2019. Similarly, the actual gross
expenditure has increased over the years from Kshs.1,906,841,500,924 in the year
2014/2015 to Kshs.2,911,690,013,343 in the year 2018/2019, representing an increase of
Kshs.1,004,848,512,419 or approximately 53 percent over the period.

19) The Auditor-General observed that the national government has not been utilizing the
approved budget 100 percent. The national government’s Ministries, Departments &
Agencies (MDAS) have not been able to use approximately between six percent and eleven
percent of the approved gross estimated expenditure.

Table 2.1: Summary of the Trends of budget usage in the period FY 2014/2015- 2018/2019
in Kenya Shillings

Year Gross Estimated Actual Gross | Unspent Approved | Percentage
Expenditure Expenditure Budget not spent

2014/2015 2,099,370,186,391 | 1,906,841,500,924 192,528,685,467 9%
2015/2016 2,253,494,806,467 | 1,999,174,760,912 254,320,045,555 11%
2016/2017 2,541,568,251,270 | 2,390,531,985,901 151,036,265,369 6%
2017/2018 2,690,233,829,942 | 2,419,275,195,751 270,958,634,191 10%
2018/2019 3,106,405,817,692 | 2,911,690,013,343 194,715,804,349 6%

Data Source: The Kenya National Audit Office
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20) The failure to utilize fully the approved budgets for the MDASs denies the citizen the rights
for public goods and service. The Committee observed that, on average, there was under-
utilization of the approved budget by approximately 8.4 percent over the five years. In the
FY 2018/19, only 94 percent of the approved gross estimated expenditure was spent,
leaving Ksh. 194.72 billion unspent by various MDAs. As previously observed by the
Committee, the low utilization of the approved budget is attributable to the late
approval of supplementary budget estimates by the National Assembly, unrealistic
revenue projections by the National Treasury, and unmet revenue collection. targets
leading to non-release or delay in releases of exchequer.

21) The Committee recommends that:

1)  The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury and Planning should ensure
that no supplementary budget estimates are submitted to Parliament later
than two months before the close of the financial year; and

2)  The House to fast-track the proposal by the Committee to amend Section 44
of the PFM Act 2012 to provide that all supplementary budget estimates are
submitted to Parliament not later than two months-(60 days) before the close
of the financial year.

2.2 Statement on the Revenue Received and-Audited for the period ending 30™ June
2019
22) During the financial year 2018/2019, total revenue recorded under various revenue
statements as received by the National Government amounted to Kshs.1,587,589,959,877
representing an increase of Kshs.173,895,117,642 or approximately 12 percent compared
to Kshs. 1,413,694,842,235realized in the financial year 2017/2018.
Table 2.2: Comparative Summary of Actual Revenue Receipts in Kenya Shillings

Details Actual Receipts Actual Receipts Change in percent
2018/2019 2017/2018 Revenue Change

Recurrent 1,537,471,281,334  1,369,095,080,001  168,376,201,333 12 percent
Development 50,118,678,543 44,599,762,234 5,518,916,309 12 percent

Total 1,587,589,959,877 | 1,413,694,842,235  173,895,117,642 12 percent
Data Source: The Kenya National Audit Office

23) The total revenue of Ksh. 1,587,589,959,877 composed of Ksh. 1,537,471,281,334 and
Ksh:.50,118,678,543 relating to recurrent (ordinary revenue) and development revenue,
respectively, as shown in Table 2.2. Further report by the Auditor-Generals shows that the
actual Recurrent Revenue collected during the year reflected a shortfall of
Kshs.54,585,464,809 or 3 percent while there was a shortfall of Development Revenue
collected of Kshs.17,550,064,458 or 26 percent.

24) The Committee recommends that:
The total nationally collected revenue amount of Ksh. 1,587,589,959,877 forms the basis

of sharing of revenue between the national and county governments as contemplated in
Article 203 (3) of the Constitution.
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2.3 Inadequate Funding of the Office of the Auditor-General

25) Article 229 (7) of the Constitution requires the Auditor-General to audit and submit reports
to Parliament or the relevant County Assembly within six (6) months after the end of the
financial year. However, Section 81(4) of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012,
reduces the timeline to three (3) months by giving entities leeway up to the end of
September to prepare and submit financial statements for audit. The shortened duration for
the audit cycle, inadequate funding and delays in disbursement of funds by the National
Treasury adversely affect the scope of audit in terms of coverage and comprehensiveness.

26) The Office of the Auditor-General resource requirement for the financial year 2016/2017
to FY 2019/2020 was Ksh.35.1billion. However, the National Assembly approved a total
of Kshs. 21.2billion representing a shortfall of Ksh. 13.9billion during the four year period.

Table 2.3: Summary of Resource Requirements vis-a-vis Budget.Allocation and
spending by the Office of the Auditor-General for the period FY 2016/17 to 2019/20
in Kenya Shillings Billions

Description 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20
Requirement 8.253 8.722 9.206 8.88
Budget Allocation 4.428 5.296 5.968 5.505
Budget Shortfall 3.825 3.426 3.238 3.375
Actual Expenditure 4.311 4.735 5.783 5.425
Absorption Rate 97% 89% 97% 99%

Data Source:~Office of the Auditor-General

27) Analysis of the resource requirements.vis-a-vis the allocation by the National Treasury and
approval by the National Assembly shows that on average, the Office of the Auditor-
General received approximately 60 percent of its resource requirement. Further analysis of
the resource requirements by the Office of the Auditor-Generals shows that the Office
requires approximately 0.5 percent of all revenue collected by the national government.

28) The Committee recommends that:
1) The annual budget allocation to the Office of the Auditor-General shall not be

less than one half per cent of all the revenue collected by the national
government each year calculated based on the most recent audited accounts of
revenue received, as approved by the National Assembly.

2) Amendment of Section 20 of the Public Audit Act, 2015 by introducing a new
sub-Section 3 to provide that “in reviewing of the budget estimates submitted
under sub-section (2), the Cabinet Secretary responsible for Finance shall ensure
that the allocation to the Office of the Auditor-General is not less than one-half
percent of all the revenue collected by the national government each year
calculated based on the most recent audited accounts of revenue received, as
approved by the National Assembly”.
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2.4 Lack of Follow-Up Mechanisms on Implementation of Recommendations
29) The Auditor-General and indeed the Committee has continuously raised concerns on lack

of an effective mechanism for follow up on implementation of audit recommendations
leading recurrence of most audit queries in subsequent audit reports. Section 204(1) (g) of
the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 provides that the Cabinet Secretary for the
National Treasury may apply sanctions to a national government entity that fails to address
issues raised by the Auditor-General and recommendation by PAC, to the satisfaction of
the Auditor-General.

30) The Committee notes with lots of concern the lack of requisite sanctions by the Cabinet

Secretary for the National Treasury that has led to perennial failure by some Accounting
Officers to account adequately for the management and use of public-resources. This
inaction by the Cabinet Secretary has also led to fiscal indiscipline ,including
misallocations, wastage of resources and lack of value for money-in implementation of
projects, thereby affecting development programmes in various entities, threatening quality
and sustainability of service delivery to citizens.

31) The Committee recommends that:

The Parliamentary Service Commission establishes a specialized audit oversight
Department at the Parliamentary Budget Office (PBO) to provide technical
backstopping on all audit matters to the watchdog Committees of Parliament and
collaborate with the Auditor-General in following up on implementation of audit
recommendations and Parliament resolutions on all audit matters.

2.5 Breach of Fiscal Responsibility Principles.on Development Expenditures
32) The National Treasury is the custodian of the principles of public finance as espoused in

Article 201 of the Constitution and mandated to enforce the fiscal responsibility principles
in Section 15 of the Public'Finance Management Act, 2012. However, as reported in our
previous report, the National Treasury has consistently breached Section 15(2) (a) of the
Public Finance Management Act,-2012 that requires that, over the medium term a minimum of
thirty percent (30%) of the national and county government budget shall be allocated to the
development expenditure.

33) The National Assembly has superintended the violation of the law by failing to ensure that

the budget.approved for development expenditure meets the required threshold of thirty
percent (30%) as shown in table 2.4.

Table 2.4: Summary of the Approved Budget Estimates for the FY 2018/2019 in Kenya Shillings

Description Gross Estimated AlA Approved Net Ratio
Recurrent Votes 1,144,029,478,667 | 152,967,524,003 991,061,954,664 42%
Development Votes 650,502,676,596 | 273,749,737,054 376,752,939,542 24%
Consolidated Fund 935,392,278,232 .| 935392,278,232 34%
Services

Total for National 2,729.924,433,495 | 426,717,261,057 | 2,303,207,172,438 |  100%
Government

Data Source: The Kenya National Audit Office
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34) The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury charged with the mandate of overseeing
budget implementation at the national level as per Section 36 (1) of the Public Finance
Management Act, 2012 has consistently failed to ensure that development budget
implementation meets the required minimum of thirty percent (30%). Our examination of
the financial statements for the year 2018/2019 for the national government shows total
actual expenditure of Kshs.2,569,134,104,494 which comprised Kshs.1,097,163,147,740
or 43 percent for Recurrent Votes, Kshs.572,359,939,613 or 22 percent for Development
Votes and Kshs.899,611,017,141 or 35 percent for Consolidated Fund Services (mainly
repayment of principal debts and servicing interest).

35) The Committee recommends that:
The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury be reprimanded-for failure to
enforce the fiscal responsibility principles in Section 15 (2) that requires the
development budget meets the required minimum of thirty percent (30 percent).

2.6 The Management of the Growing Public Debt

36) According to the Auditor-General, outstanding amount ofpublic debt increased over the
years from Kshs.2,674,806,364,195 reported in . the. year 2014/2015 to
Kshs.5,451,153,803,416 reported in the year 2018/2019. This-represents an increase of
Kshs. 2,776,347,439,221 or approximately 104 percent over the five (5) years. Further, the
expenditure on public debt has increased from Kshs. 418,156,528,347 reported in
2014/2015 to Kshs. 827,036,163,185 incurred in 2018/2019 financial year.

37) According to the National Treasury, the overall"National Government external debt stock
increased by Kshs. 65.09 billion from Kshs. 4,109.28 billion in November 2021 to Kshs.
4,174.37 billion (33.7 per cent of GDP), equivalent to USD 36.90 billion as at December
31, 2021. In the month of December 2021, Debt owed to bilateral creditors increased by
Kshs. 8.21billion from Kshs. 1,086.68billion while multilateral debt increased by Kshs.
54.56 billion from Kshs1,727.52 billion. Commercial debt increased by Kshs. 2.32 billion
from Kshs. 1,133.34-hillion during the same period. Publicly guaranteed external debt
marginally decreased from Kshs. 161.74 billion in November 2021 to Kshs. 161.73 billion
in December 2021.

38) The Committee observed that the country’s public debt register and records were still
poorly maintainedand no one can clearly tell the exact amount of total outstanding public
debt: The Auditor-General continues to raise various issues pertaining to the maintenance
of the public debt records. The issues include lack of comprehensive maintenance of loan
registers,- variances between figures reflected in the loan registers, other supporting
schedules and the financial statements, and unsupported prior years’ adjustments.

39) The Committee reiterates its previous recommendations that:
1)  The National Assembly fast-track the amendment to Section 64 (2) of the PFM

Act 2012 to obligate the National Treasury to prepare, publish and publicize
an up-to-date national debt register every quarter of the financial year;

2)  The National Assembly prioritize an amendment to Section 50 of the PFM Act
2012 by providing that any borrowing by the national government for a project
to the tune of Ksh. 1 billion and above should be approved by the National
Assembly before the loan contracts are signed by the government; and

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 6



3) The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury should within three (3)
months of tabling and adoption of this report, form a national task force on
public debt and engage an independent audit consultant to audit the national
debt register and report to Parliament within three (3) months.

2.7 The Runaway Pending Bills

40) The Ministries, Department and Agencies (MDAS) failed to settle the total reported pending
bills of Kshs. 127,398,047,997 during the financial year 2018/2019 and but were instead
carried forward to the FY 2019/2020. The pending bills balance comprises of
Kshs.80,477,945,730 and Kshs.46,920,102,267 reported under Ministries, Department and
Agencies (MDAs) and Donor Funded Projects. The reported pending bills.for Ministries,
Department and Agencies (MDAS) for the year ended 30 June, 2019 increased drastically
by 73 percent to Kshs.80,477,945,730 from the previous years’ reported .amount of
Kshs.46,529,173,323. This is the highest amount of pending bills reported. in the five-year
period for the financial years 2014/2015 to 2018/2019.

41) The MDAs that failed to settle pending bills during the year included the Ministry of
Health, Kshs. 41.9 billion; State Department of Devolution, Kshs. 6.74 billion; State
Department for Correctional Services, Kshs. 6.28 billion; State Department for Interior,
Kshs. 4.37 billion; Independent Electoral and Boundaries Commission (IEBC), Kshs. 4.3
billion; and, State Department for Crop Development, Kshs 4.1bilion. Others are State
Department for Regional and Northern Corridor Development, Kshs. 2.45 billion; State
Department for Youth, Kshs. 1.9billion; the Parliamentary Service Commission, Kshs. 1.1
billion; and, the Judiciary, Kshs. 858million.

42) The Committee observed that some Accounting Officers did not settle the bills promptly
despite availability of funds.or selectively settled some bills in breach of Section 74(4) of
the Public Finance Management Act, 2012. As per the law, an Accounting Officer engages
in improper conduct in relation to a national government entity if the officer fails, without
reasonable excuse, to pay eligible and approved bills promptly. Further, some Accounting
Officers attributed the failure to settle some of the bills to inadequate Exchequer releases
and lack of vital supporting documents such as purchase orders, delivery notes, and
inspection and.acceptance certificates, among others.

43) The Committee notes with a lot of concern that the runaway pending bills continues to put
pressure on the fiscal space with some of these bills attracting penalties thereby putting
more.strain on the available scarce government resources. The delays by the government
to settle bills exposes the government as a risky buyer and deepens the difficult financial
situation of the suppliers of goods, and services to public entities, particularly the MSMEs
and Small Medium Enterprises (SMESs).

44) The Committee recommends that:
1)  The House reprimands all the Accounting Officers who neglected their duties

by failing to settle bills in time despite availability of funds or selectively settled
some bills in breach of Section 74(4) of the Public Finance Management Act,
2012;
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2) An amendment of section 38(1) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012 to include a list of all
pending bills by vote and the justification for the delay in settlement of the bill
thereby forming a first charge in the budget for subsequent financial year;

3) The 12t Parliament finalizes the enactment of the Prompt Payment Bill, 2020,
a legacy Bill that provides for prompt payment for the supply of goods, works,
or services to the government.

2.8 Delayed Completion of and Stalled/Incomplete Projects

45) The project management continues to pose fiscal risks for various government entities. The
government incurs additional expenditures on projects that are either stalled or incomplete
long after their completion dates have elapsed. Delays in project completion has led to
penalties due to delays in payment of completion certificates, projects costs escalations to
amounts higher than the original contract sum, and in some instances, government paying
for projects that are completely stalled, casting doubt on value for money.

46) The government incurred a total of Kshs. 9.5 billion on stalled and incomplete projects
during FY 2018/2019. The entities that continued to spend public funds on stalled and
incomplete projects included the Judiciary - Kshs. 3.5billion payment for delayed
completion of thirty-nine courts. State Department for Regional and Northern Corridor
Development paid Kshs. 3.7 billion as an advance payment for Kimwarer Multipurpose
Dam Development Project and Sigor Wei Wei Project.

47) State Department of Public Works paid Kshs."802 million for several incomplete projects
including Voi Pool Housing, Construction.-of Mathare Nyayo Hospital, Proposed
Headquarters of Nyandarua County at Ol-Kalaou, and the incomplete Nyanza Headquarters
Building in Kisumu. The expenditure-incurred for the stalled projects translates to
ineffective use of public resources, as the projects are not achieving their intended purposes
and value to the taxpayers.

48) The Committee recommends that:
1) The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury and Planning should ensure

that MDAs with stalled/incomplete projects do not initiate any new project
until the completion of the on-going projects. Further, the respective
Departmental Committees of the National Assembly should ensure that
stalled/incomplete projects with no legal objections are given priority during
budget appropriation; and

2).. The relevant government entity liaise with the investigatory body and the
Judiciary for timely conclusion of any investigation and/or cases to allow any
public project stalled due to an on-going investigation or a court case to
continue expeditiously.

2.9 The Managed Equipment Services (MES) Scheme

49) On February 6, 2015, the Ministry of Health entered into agreements with five (5) medical
contractors for lease of medical equipment to ninety-eight (98) hospitals across the forty-
seven (47) counties under the Government Managed Equipment Services (MES) Scheme.
The Ministry of Health later on increased the number of hospitals covered under the
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contracts by 24 additional hospitals. However, the Auditor-General found out that no needs
assessment report which informed the decision to lease additional equipment for the
twenty-four (24) hospitals was availed for audit verification. Further, the team from the
Auditor-General’s Office undertook a physical verification exercise in January 2020. The
team found out that some of the equipment is lying idle and was not in use in some hospitals
in select eight counties. The Committee observed that the MES contracts including late
variations of contracts done in August 2018 is set to lapse in June 2022. The Ministry has
constituted a taskforce for the extension of the contract.

50) On October 2, 2017, the Ministry entered into a contract with an ICT firm for provision of
health care information technology (HCIT) solutions for the Managed Equipment Service
Project (MES) Scheme at a contract sum of Kshs.4.9 billion. The project.was to take five
(5) years commencing on the contract date and was to cover ninety-eight (98) hospitals
under the Government’s Managed Service (MES) plan. Although the project had not
commenced as at June 30, 2019, the Ministry vide letter dated November 18, 2019,
terminated the contract without notice thereby exposing the Government to the risk of
litigation and damages. The Committee observed that .the contractor has taken the
government to court.

51) The Committee recommends that:
1) The Auditor-General undertake a comprehensive performance audit as per

Section 36(2) of the Public Audit Act, 2015 within three months after the end
of the MES contracts in June 2022. The purpose of the audit is to evaluate
whether the citizens have got value for money in the MES project and submit
the report to the National Assembly, promptly.

2) The Accounting Officermust ensure that the Taskforce appointed to look into
extension of the MES contract, renegotiates the terms including ensuring those
counties that did not-utilize the equipment are compensated with additional
duration at no.extracost. Further, the variations of contracts signed in August
2018 do not lapse with the main contract in June 2022; and

3) In view of the fact that the contract for Health Care Information Technology
(HCIT) solutions for the Managed Equipment Service Project falls is subject
of a Court-process and, therefore, within the purview of National Assembly
Standing Order Number 89, the Accounting Officer should, within three
months after the tabling and adoption of this report, submit a brief on the
status of the Court case to the National Assembly.

- ]
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3. THE NATIONAL TREASURY
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR VOTE 1071

Dr. Julius Muia, PhD, CBS, the Principal Secretary and Accounting Officer for the
National Treasury (Vote 1071), appeared before the Committee on 19t July, 2021 and
20™ July 2021 to adduce evidence on the audited financial statement for the National
Treasury (Vote 1071) for the Financial Year 2018/2019. He was accompanied. by the
following officers:

1. Mr. Bernard Ndungu - Director General Accounting Services &
Quality Assurance

2. Mr. James Kimathi Mugambi - Senior Chief Finance Officer

3. Mr. Michael A. Kagika - Secretary/Director of Pension

4. Mr. Nemwel Motanya - Head of Accounting Unit

5. M. John Wala - Director Accounting Services

6. Mr. Francis Amuyanzu - Deputy Accountant General

7. Mr. Kennedy Ondieki — Director Government Investment Public
Enterprise

The Accounting Officer submitted as follows:
1. Variance Between Financial Statements and 1FMIS Balances

52) The financial statements and the IFMIS trial balance presented in their support had
variances. Further, the reported accounts payable balance of Kshs.80,200,064 includes
returned payments under the‘development vote of Kshs.6,913,831. This differs from the
IFMIS report balances of Kshs.8,085,150 resulting in an unexplained variance of
Kshs.1,171,319.

Submission by-the Accounting Officer

53) The variances have been reconciled and the two statements’ figures agree as per the table
here below except Bank balance and Accounts Payable which reconciliation is on-going.

Component Financial Statements IFMIS Balance in Variance in Kshs.
Balance in Kshs. Kshs.

Bank Balances 2,248,780,788 116,580,445,030 (114,331,664,242)
Cash Balance 1,020,917 1,020,917 Nil

Accounts Receivables 899,585,508 899,585,508 Nil

Accounts Payables 80,200,064 173,301,104,441 (173,220,904,377)
Fund Balance B/F 2,056,688,154 2,056,688,154 NIL

Prior Year Adjustments (32,282,003) (32,282,003) Nil
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54) The remaining components of Bank balances and Accounts payables are being reconciled.

55) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer is yet to reconcile the Accounts
Payable and the Fund Balance brought forward components of the Financial Statements;

(i) The Committee also observed that the Accounting Officer failed to ensure that
reconciliations are done in time and the complete financial statements submitted to-the
Auditor General in time as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a) of.the
Public Finance Management Act 2012; and

56) Committee Recommendation
The Committee therefore recommends that:

i) The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and
reconciled financial and accounting records that comply with'provisions of Section
68(2) of the PFM Act 2012 and that complete financial and.accounting records are
presented within three (3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article
229 of the Constitution.

(i) The Committee reprimands the Accounting Officer for violation of the provisions
of Article 229 (4)(h) of the Constitution and Section 81(4)(a) of the Public Finance
Management Act 2012.

2. Compensation to Employees

57) As disclosed under Note 5 to the financial statements, the statement of receipts and
payments reflects compensation to employees of Kshs.2,524,328,336;(2018-
Kshs.2,308,812,613). However, the Integrated Financial Management Information System
- IFMIS payroll report in support of the balance reflects an amount of Kshs.2,275,019,969
resulting to an unexplained variance of Kshs.249,308,367. Similarly, payment vouchers
supporting the expenditure on compensation to employees reflects an amount of
Kshs.2,287,104,986 resulting to a variance of Kshs.237,223,350. The variances between
the three (3) sets of records have not been reconciled.

Submission by the-Accounting Officer

58) The Accounting Officer submitted that the differences in the expenditure for the
compensation of employees amounting to Kshs.12,085,017.35 are arising from the fact that
theIntegrated Payroll and Personnel Database - IPPD system is not able to export data with
respect of officers with 11-digit personal numbers. IPPD system was initially configured to
take on board 10-digit personal number. The 11-digit personal number is a new
development under the Unified Personal Numbers (UPN) policy launched in February 2020
by the State department for Public Service Management. It is applying to the officers who
joined the service from the county government. Based on this observation, the matter has
been brought to the attention of the IPPD core team for synchronization in the system.
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59) The Statement of Receipts and Payment reflected an amount of Kshs.2,524,328,336.00
utilized on compensation of employees, while IFMIS system/payroll reflected a total of
Kshs.2,275,019,969.05 thereby giving a variance of Kshs.249,308,366.95. Our records
actual difference between the amount in the Statement of Receipts and Payment and the
payrolls payment vouchers as Kshs.237,223,349.60.

60) The difference of Kshs.237,223,349.60 is the component of other Personnel Emolument
payments (reimbursements of personnel emoluments to KRA, CBK and other entities for
officers seconded to National Treasury) which were prepared and processed outside IPPD
payroll but paid through IFMIS during the F/Y 2018/2019. The analysis and copies of
IFMIS invoices and Journal Entries supporting the difference were provided for perusal by
the Committee.

61) The Committee observations and Findings
(i) The Committee observed that the variances between the IFMIS‘and IPPD systems was

occasioned by failure of the IPPD System to capture data for.seconded employees with
personal numbers reading more than 10 digits; and

(if) The Committee also observed and found that the explanation and documents given by the
Accounting Officer with regard to Compensation to'Employees was satisfactory;

62) Committee Recommendations
1) Within three (3) months upon adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer for

the National Treasury should follow-up-and ensure the system is configured to
accommodate personal emoluments expenditures being incurred outside the
system.

2) The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and
reconciled financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section
68(2) of the PFM Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are
presented within three (3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article
229 of the Constitution

3. Budgetary Control'and Performance

63) The summary ‘statement of appropriation- recurrent and development combined reflects
final _receipts budget and actual on comparative basis of Kshs.64,865,387,441 and
Kshs.56,209,005,073 respectively resulting to an underfunding of Kshs.8,656,382,368 or
13% ~of the approved budget. Of the underfunding, Kshs.6,508,245,168 and
Kshs.2,148,137,200 relate to recurrent and development votes respectively. Further, of the
realized budget receipts of Kshs.56,209,005,073 only Kshs.55,164,224,075 was absorbed
resulting to an under absorption of Kshs.1,044,780,998.

64) The underfunding and failure to absorb the realized receipts affected the planned activities
and projects, which may have affected negatively on service delivery for the citizens.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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65) The Accounting Officer submitted that the National Treasury had an overall performance
where the Recurrent and Development VVotes combined reflects final receipts budget and
actual on comparative basis of Kshs.64,865,387,441/- and Kshs.56,209,005,073/-
respectively resulting to an underfunding of Kshs.8,656,382,368/-(13%) of the approved
budget. The underfunding of Kshs.6,508,245,168/- and Kshs.2,148,137,200/- relates to
recurrent and development votes respectively. Further out of the budget receipts of
Kshs.56,209,005,073/- only Kshs.55,164,224,075/- was absorbed resulting to an under
absorption of Kshs.1,044,780,998/-.

66) The underfunding was attributed to:
i.  Lack of exchequer

ii.  Additional funds that were factored in Supplementary Estimates Il that.was approved
by Parliament in late June 2019 and which could not be utilized by 30th June 2019, the
closure of financial year under review.

iii.  Allocation of Equalization Fund that was not utilized due to lack of Implementing
Policy.

iv. The under absorption of Ksh.1,004,780,998 was due to delays in procurement by
KEMSA.

v. Late disbursements of funds by development partners.

The Committee observations and Findings
67) The Committee observed and found that:
(i) The explanation and documents given by the Accounting Officer with regard to budget

control and performance was satisfactory;

(i) Under absorption was as a result of late approval of supplementary budget Il in June
2019; and

(ili) UParliament  has since-approved the PFM (Equalization Fund Administration)
Regulations, 2021 to aid disbursement of the Equalization Fund.

Committee Recommendations
68) The Committee therefore recommends that:
1) Section 44 of the PFM Act 2012 be amended to provide that all supplementary budget

estimates are.submitted to Parliament not later than two months (60 days) before the
close of the financial year.

2) “The total allocation to the Equalization Fund as of financial year (FY) 2019/20 stood
at Kshs.12.4billion against the Constitutional entitlement to the Fund of
Kshs.34.6billion represents a shortfall in the allocation of Kshs.22.2billion. The
Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury ensure that the all the entitlement to the
Fund are disbursed without any further delay.

4. Pending Bills

69) Note 18.1 to the financial statements reflects pending bills amounting to
Kshs.241,957,497; (2018-Kshs. 563,474,303). The balance comprises of opening balance
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of Kshs.2,035,366 and bills incurred during the year of Kshs.239,922,131. Failure to settle
bills during the year in which they relate to adversely affects the provisions of the
subsequent year to which they have to be charged.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

70) The Accounting Officer submitted that The Financial Statements on pending accounts
payable reflects pending bills for supply of services amounting to Kshs.241,957,496.85/-
as at 30" June 2018. The figure refers to the payments relating to leasing of vehicles that
were processed but due to lack of exchequer issues, they were not paid. The amount also
includes invoices from suppliers that were received late but did not have supporting
documents such as demands notes (invoices), requisitions and approvals for services,
delivery notes, LSO’s, LPOs, S11 and S13 among others. A team of Internal Auditors
verified and recommended them for payments and all were paid as they formed first charge
of FY 2019/20 budget. The auditor confirmed the payment.

71) The Committee observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that the pending bills formed the first charge of the

financial year 2019/2020 and were therefore cleared.

72) Committee Recommendations
The Accounting Officer should ensure that pending bills in any financial year are avoided

at all cost. Where pending bills are unavoidable, they should form the first charge in the
budget of the subsequent year.

5. Contracts for Renovation of the Treasury Building, Bima and Herufi House

73) The National Treasury entered into.a contract for rehabilitation, plumbing, drainage and
sanitary appliances, amongst others, at the Treasury Building, Bima and Herufi Houses
following tendering during ~the 2016/2017 financial year vide tender number
TNT/012/2015-2016. The contract was awarded for a sum of Kshs.88,956,951 with the
contractor taking possession of the site on 5 April, 2017. As at December, 2018 and more
than one and half years later, no significant progress had been made due a number of
reasons, amongst them, theg need for the contractor to undertake additional works. This
occasioned an_additional contract to be awarded to the same contractor using direct
procurement method.

74) As-at 22 May 2019 two (2) years into the contract and after its expiry, progress was at
4.17% of the total contract works. The contractor has subsequently been granted multiple
extension of time contracts but had not completed the renovation works as at the time of
the audit. Available information indicates that three (3) other contracts were subsequently
awarded to other contractors with total value of Kshs.90,644,783 and which are related to
some of the works under the above initial contract. This could be indicative of duplicate
awards. No explanation has been given on the subsequent awards and actions being taken
against the first contractor to fully discharge the contract as per the contract terms. Under
the circumstances, it has not been possible to confirm if value for money will be realized
from the four contracts valued at Kshs.179,621,734.00.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

75) The Accounting Officer submitted that on expiry of the contract period, the same was
extended from 6th April, 2019 to 5th November, 2019 and thereafter extended to 30th
September, 2020 at no-cost under the same terms and conditions of contract, to enable the
Contractor to complete the works. The Accounting Officer vide memo ZZ
MOF/307/03/02/B Part ‘A’ (23) dated 4th October, 2018 granted approval to utilize
Kshs.12,313,690.00 from the contingency sum for the additional works in the washrooms
which had not been factored in the original contract. M/s Vanguard Engineering Limited
was engaged through direct procurement for the works. The National Treasury became
concerned due to delays by the contractor to complete works.

76) The Negotiations Committee was appointed vide memo Ref: TNT/034/2018-2019 (41) and
TNT/034/2018-2019 (42) dated 18th July, 2019 to negotiate with the contractor with a view
to complete the works on the demolished toilets only since the materials were already on
site. During the site meeting held on 11th September2019, instructions were issued to vary
the contract period to complete works.

77) The Ministry of Transport, Infrastructure, Public Works, Housing and Urban Development
— State Department of Public Works vide letter Ref: RWO/E-M/D107/VVOL.11/267 dated
8th November, 2019 requested for the extension of the contract for 160 days from 6th
November, 2019 to 13th April, 2020. The Accounting Officer vide Memo Ref:
TNT/012/2015-2016(21/22) dated 7th January, 2020 approved the request for extension.

78) The contractor resumed works on site and.has.since completed the outstanding works as
per Bills of Quantities and as confirmed by the following attached documents:
-Handing Over certificate dated 18th August, 2020
-Certificate of Practical Completion dated-18th August, 2020
-Final Inspection report dated 10th December, 2020.

Other contracts

79) There were three separate contracts that were running but not related to the above Contract
No. TNT/012/2015 —2016.
1. Contract No.CQS/D107/40/2016-2017-was the Renovations and Furnishing Works on

Third (3™):FloorOffices of Treasury Building at total cost of Kshs.82,187,276.00.

2. Contract No. CWO/NRB/D107/75/2017-2018: was for the Refurbishment works to
twelfth-(12"") floor (Toilets, External walls and ceiling paint works, Directors main
Office and Reception Including Associated Electricals and Mechanical Works) at a total
cost of Kshs.4,647,441.00.

3.. Contract No. CWO/NRB/D107/25/2017-2018 was for the Refurbishment works on 10%"
Floor,

80) Pending Bills Closing Committee Offices Bima House at a total cost of Kshs.3,810,066.40.
Contract No. CQS/D107/40/2016-2017 and Contract No. CWO/NRB/D107/25/2017-2018
rehabilitated toilets through putting tiles in the two floors while the contract being
implemented by Ms Vanguard Engineering Ltd was overhauling and replacing the whole
old toilets drainage system with automatic drainage system covering all the fourteen floors
in National Treasury Building. This contracted affected tiles fixed by the other two
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contracts and therefore they were to be replaced by Ms Vanguard engineering Itd and there
was no duplication of works.

The Committee observations and Findings

81) The Committee observed and found that:
(i) The explanation and documents given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the

renovation of the Treasury Building, Bima and Herufi House was satisfactory.
However, the National Treasury did not have measures in place to ensure contracts
execution is undertaken within stipulated timelines.

(if) The use of direct procurement method for the engagement of M/S Vanguard
Engineering at a sum of Kshs.12,313,690.00 from the Contingeney. sum for the
additional works in the washrooms violated Section 103 (2) of the PPAD Act, 2015

82) Committee Recommendations
Within three months of tabling and adoption of this report, the EACC:should investigate

the direct procurement of M/S Vanguard Engineering at a sum of Kshs.12,313,690.00
from the Contingency sum for the additional works in.the washrooms in violation of
Section 103 (2) of the Public Procurement and Assets Disposal Act, 2015

6. Consultancy Contracts

83) On 12 September 2016, The National Treasury contracted three (3) professional accounting
firms for consultancy services on the preparation of financial reports of National
Government entities, State Agencies and County Governments at total cost of
Kshs.425,100,219. As at 30 June 2019, a sum of Kshs.403,617,347 had been paid out to
the three (3) firms from the contract price of Kshs.425,100,219. However, the audits of the
National Government ‘entities, | State Agencies and County Governments financial
statements for the financial years 2017/2018 and 2018/2019 reported numerous gaps on
accounting, disclosures‘and.presentation of financial statements. Under the circumstances,
it has not been possible to confirm whether value for money has been realized from the
award of contract and payment totaling Kshs.425,100,219 for consultancy services to the
three (3) professional firms.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

84) The Accounting Officer submitted that the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board
(PSASB), in August 2014, prescribed accounting and auditing framework for public sector
entities in line with Section 194 of the Public Finance Management (PFM) Act (2012).
These frameworks include the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS),
the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the International Professional
Practice Framework (IPPF) for financial reporting and internal auditing respectively.

85) Hitherto, Kenya was accounting and reporting on the basis of local standards and the
decision to transit to international standards required technical and capacity building skills
for all public sector accountants both the National and County governments. Kenya was
processing payments, accounting and reporting manually including use of cheque books,
hard copy cashbook and hard copy financial orders being the primary accounting
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documents. The manual secondary accounting tools included T-accounts, GAV accounts,
Appropriation and Exchequer Accounts with a big main frame computer that used punch
cards used to maintain accounting records. Accounting and reporting standards are the
bedrock of the public sector accountability framework in Kenya. Section 12 (1) (e), (), and
(j) requires the National Treasury, in consultation with the PSASB, to:

I. design and prescribe an efficient financial management system for the national and
county governments and ensure transparent financial management and standard financial
reporting as contemplated by Article 226 of the Constitution.

ii. ensure uniform accounting standards are applied by all national and county-gevernment
entities.

iii. assist county governments to develop their capacity for efficient, effective, and
transparent financial management.

86) The above three reform agendas above are the bedrock ‘of Phase 1 public sector
accountability reforms in the country. These reforms are-a-substantive pillar of PFMR
Strategy and supported by both the World Bank (GESDEK and KDSP programs) and
DANIDA. The transition to the new financial system had its challenges as was expected.
There was need to reengineer IFMIS and link it to.Hyperion(Budgeting System) the CBK
(1B system) and KRA (Tax collection) systems for automated processing of transactions.
There was need to capacity build public sector accountants to use automated accounting
systems, accounting standards and the revised Standard Charts of Accounts (SCOA). There
was need to clean up old suspense balances from-the former District Treasuries that were
being carried forward year after year. There was also need to identify all public sector
entities in line with Section 4 and 5 of the PFM Act and develop institutional tables along
GFS 2014 to enable Consolidation of all-public sector financial statements.

87) It was with this background that the World Bank, Danida and the National Treasury found
it necessary to seek for technical assistance to fast track implementation of these reforms.
Through open tendering, National Treasury procured consultancy services with the
following auditing firms: Due to the size of the public sector entities in Kenya (there are
855 national.government entities and 345 county government entities), the three-year open
tender was divided in lots as follows:

Ernst & Young.

88) Lot 1: National Government Ministries, Department and Agencies (MDAS), and subsidiary
entities under their control including development projects, Independent Commissions,
Consolidated Fund and Consolidated Fund Services Accounts (but excluding State
Corporations); Lot won by Ernst & Young.

Deloitte & Touche

89) Lot 2: National Government State Corporations, Semi-Autonomous Government Agencies
and Public Funds established and governed under an act of Parliament or a Legal Notice;
Universities, TVETSs and other learning Institutions; Lot won by Deloitte & Touche.

PricewaterhouseCoopers.
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90) Lot 3: County Governments and County government entities including Water Service
Providers, Municipal Boards, County hospitals, and County Funds. Lot won by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. The contracts were signed for three years’ renewable subject
performance

91) The contracts specific deliverable was to provide technical assistance support and
knowledge transfer to government accountants and other officers in the preparation of
individual entity financial statements and consolidated financial statements using
international accounting standards. However, the responsibility of preparing financial
statements remained with the individual Accounting Officers. The consultants, together
with the Department of Accounting Services at the National Treasury, organized biannual
group training as per the above Lots for all accountants at the Kenya School-of Government
and also visited these entities for on the job training.

92) Some of the key milestones achieved (value for money) in these consultancies were as
follows:
i. The transition and adoption of International Public Sector Accounting Standards across the

entire public sector financial reporting,

ii. Entrenchment of IFMIS as the backbone financial transacting-and reporting for the entire
central and county governments;

iii. Improvement in clean audit opinions in both national and county government;

iv. Capacity building of accountants across the public sector;

v. Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements. for the entire public sector (see reports
on the National Treasury website;

vi. Created a platform to transition the entire public sector from cash basis of accounting to
accrual accounting.

The Committee observations.and Findings

93) The Committee observed that:
(i) The explanation and documents given by the Accounting Officer with regard to

Consultancy Contracts was satisfactory; and
(i) The National Treasury there has been a marked improvement by MDAs and County
governments getting unqualified audit opinion.

94) Committee'Recommendations
The Committee reiterates its recommendation that the Cabinet Secretary fast track the

migration from IPSAS Cash basis of financial reporting to IPSAS accrual basis of
reporting.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

95) Conclusion
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7. There were no material issues relating to effictiveness of internal controls, risk management
and governance.

NATIONAL EXCHEQUER ACCOUNT

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
96) Unqualified Opinion

8. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
National Exchequer Account.

Other Matter
9. Budget Control and Performance

97) The statement of comparison of budget and actual performance reflects revised revenue
estimates of Kshs.2,617,207,172,439 and total revenue collections of
Kshs.2,497,637,419,575 resulting to an under collection of Kshs.127,337,194,547 or 5%
of the budget. The statement also reflects budget realization on Exchequer transfers to
National Government; Recurrent and_Development Votes, County Governments and
Consolidated Fund Services of 97%, 88%, 98% and 96% of the budgets respectively.
However, as reflected under Annex | to the financial statements: detailed analysis of
transfers, four (4) Ministries,-Departments and Agencies (MDAS) received transfers that
were significantly low - ranging between 41% and 80% with some not receiving any
funding under the development vote despite having budgets.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
98) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that Ministries, Departments and
Agencies (MDAs) with low budget utilization especially on Development VVote were:
e State Department for Fisheries, Aquaculture and the Blue Economy
e State Department for Tourism
e Parliamentary Service Commission
o National Gender and Equality Commission

99) National Treasury provides exchequer after Ministries have processed their payments and
make exchequer request when ready to make payments. In the absence of exchequer request
from the MDA, release of funds may not be possible thus resulting to low budget utilization
for example, Parliamentary Service Commission did not have any request unfunded at the
end of the year under review.

100) It was also important to note that Donor funds are part of voted provision for
development and therefore low disbursement of donor funds from development partners
affected the utilization budget by the respective MDAs.
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101) State Department for Fisheries, Aquaculture and the Blue Economy and National
Gender and Equality Commission whose development budgets are mainly donor funded,
have low budget utilization due to low disbursement by donors.

The Committee observations and Findings
102) The Committee observed and found that:
(i)  There was revenue under-collection of Kshs.127,337,194,547 or 5% of the budget;

(i) Four MDAs namely: State Department for Fisheries, Aquaculture and the Blue
Economy, State Department for Tourism, Parliamentary Service Commission and
National Gender and Equality Commission had not made their Exchequer.requests for
development votes for funds to be released for expenditure.

Committee Recommendations

103) The Committee therefore recommends that:
i) The National Treasury should ensure that the revenue target for KRA and the AIA

factored by the Accounting Officers in annual budgets-are realistic and achievable.

i) The Accounting Officers must at all times adhere ‘to their annual work plans,
procurement plans and cash disbursement schedule to increase their level of
exchequer requests from the National Treasury.

iii) The Cabinet Secretary, National Treasury should ensure that the budget prepared
by the National Assembly Departmental Committees and the National Treasury are
realistic and adheres to credible budgeting.to ensure that the revenue raised are
adequate to cover the expenditures.

10. Excess Exchequer Releases

104) Two (2) MDAs received Exchequer issues in excess of the approved budget for Salaries
and Remuneration Commission (Recurrent) and State Department for Public Service and
Youth (Development).

Submission by the Accounting Officer
105) The“Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that there was an Exchequer over
issue reflected in our Financial Statements for the year 2018/2019 under the following:
e " Salaries and Remuneration Commission (Vote R2081)-Recurrent.

e State Department for Public Service and Youth (Vote D1211)-Development.

106) = Salaries and Remuneration Commission had original budget of Kshs.564,170,000.00,
but was revised downwards in Supplementary Estimates no 1 by Kshs.14,273,363.00 and
in Supplementary Estimates no 2 Kshs.66,700,000.00. It is important to note that
Supplementary Estimates no 2 reduction of Kshs.66,700,000.00 on Salaries and
Remuneration Commission budget was more than the balance available in the budget at the
time of effecting Supplementary Estimates no 2 leading to Exchequer over issues.

The Committee observations and Findings
107) The Committee observed and found that:
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(i) Two (2) MDAs namely: Salaries and Remuneration Commission (Recurrent) and State
Department for Public Service and Youth (Development) received Exchequer issues in
excess of their approved budgets due to excess vote arising from supplementary
estimates.

Committee Recommendations

108) The Committee therefore recommends that:
1) The Cabinet Secretary National Treasury, when tabling supplementary estimates,

should also table a Circular detailing the changes in the votes affected by
supplementary budget.

2) The said detailed Circular should have been issued to the affected MDAs before
finalization and submission of the estimates to the National Assembly.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

109) Conclusion

11. There were no material issues relating to-effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

CONSOLIDATED FUND SERVICES-PUBLIC DEBT
Basis for Adverse Opinion
12. Public Debt-Outstanding Balance

110) The summary statement of public debt reflects an outstanding loan balance of
Kshs.5,451,153,803,416;(2018-Kshs.4,801,416,851,482) representing an increase of
Kshs.649,736,951,934 or (13.5%) of the public debt. The statement also reflects loan
repayments of Kshs:1,648,856,675,693 during the year but does not expressly indicate the
amount procured during the year. However, review of the opening and closing balances
and adjusted” for the repayments during the year results in borrowings of
Kshs.2,298,593,627,627 which have not been supported.

111). Further, out of the twenty-four (24) loans sampled and reviewed, eleven (11) had total
balances different from those reflected in the summary statement of public debt prepared
by The National Treasury. The total variance between the two sets of records amounted to
Kshs.95,241,461,497. The causes of the variances have not been explained. Under the
circumstances, the accuracy of the outstanding loan balance of Kshs.5,451,153,803,416 as
at 30 June, 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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112) The Accounting Officer submitted that the increase in outstanding public debt is due to
additional disbursements on the existing loans, new loans contracted during the year and
fluctuations in exchange rates. The outstanding loan balance of Ksh.5,451,153,803,416.00
is the outstanding government contractual obligation as at 30th June, 2019.

113) The movement of outstanding public debt from Ksh.4,801,416,851,482.00 at the
beginning of the year to Ksh.5,451,153,803,416.00 as at the end of June, 2019 is shown in
the movement schedule. Out of 24 loans sampled in the debt database, 11 loans had
variances amounting Ksh.95,241,461,497. The seven loans were understated in the
computation. Out of the seven loans, three loans are multi-currency, three loans had
variances attributable to rounding up of applicable exchange rates and one loan was
erroneously overstated. Analysis of the loans was attached.

114) Committee Observations and Findings
i. The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer was yet to reconcile the

accumulated brought forward balances of Ksh.1,064,098,739;
ii. The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;
iii. The Committee also observed that the Accounting Officer failed to ensure that
reconciliations of the loan book are done in time and the complete financial statements
submitted to the Auditor General in time as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and
section 81(4)(a) of the Public Finance Management Act 2012.

Committee Recommendations
115) The Committee therefore recommends that:

i) The Committee reprimands the Accounting Officer for violation of the provisions
of Article 229 (4) (h)-of the Constitution and Section 68 (2) of the Public Finance
Management Act 2012.

i) The Accounting Officer should always ensure that the loan records are reconciled
and analyzed with necessary supporting documents and submitted to the Auditor-
General.in compliance with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM Act 2012.

13. Inaccuracies in the Cash and Cash Equivalents

116)As disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements, the statement of assets and liabilities
reflects bank balances of Kshs.249,080,863 as at 30 June 2019. On the other hand, the Trial
Balance reflects bank balances of Kshs.1,064,098,739 resulting in a variance of
Kshs.815,017,876 which has not been explained or reconciled. Further, the Board of Survey
Report on the bank balance as at 30 June, 2019 was not availed for audit review. Under
the circumstances, the accuracy of the reported bank balances of Kshs.249,080,86 as at 30
June, 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

117) The Accounting Officer admitted that the bank account balance as at 30th June, 2019
was Ksh.249,080,863 as reflected in the financial Statements. The amount shown in the
trial balance of Ksh.1,064,098,739 includes accumulated brought forward balances that had
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not been analyzed and cleared in the system. The two sets of records are being reconciled
in the debt auto bank reconciliation system. Further, the board of survey report as at 30th
June, 2019 has since been provided.

118) Committee Observations and Findings

i. The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer was yet to reconcile the
accumulated brought forward balances of Ksh.1,064,098,739;

ii. The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;

iii. The Committee also observed that the Accounting Officer failed to-ensure that
reconciliations are done in time and the complete financial statements submitted to the
Auditor General in time as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a) of
the Public Finance Management Act 2012.

Committee Recommendations

119) Committee therefore recommends that:

Within three (3) months upon adoption of this report,. the Accounting Officer should
reconcile and submit for audit review the bank reconciliations in compliance with
provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM Act 2012 and that complete financial and
accounting records are presented to the Auditor-General pursuant to the provisions of
Avrticle 229 of the Constitution of Kenya 2010 and Section 68(2k) of the PFM Act 2012.

Emphasis of Matter
14. Unauthorized Over-Expenditure - Finance Costs and Loan Interest

120) The summary statement of-appropriation reflects a final expenditure budget and actual
on comparable basis-of Kshs.848,303,865,142 and Kshs.826,202,867,839 respectively,
resulting in under-expenditure of Kshs.22,100,997,303 or 3% of the budget. However,
detailed analysis of the individual expenditure items revealed that an over-expenditure was
incurred on Interest on Treasury Bonds (TB) and Foreign Borrowing (FB) of
Kshs.50,247,591,640 and Kshs.76,011,232,922. Although Management has explained that
part of the.over expenditure on interest on Treasury Bonds of Kshs.28,915,693,668 related
to pending bills for the financial year 2017/2018, the amount had not been disclosed in the
financial statements for that year. The over expenditure has not been authorized.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

121) The Accounting Officer admitted that the final budget for the year under review was
Kshs.848,303,865,142.00 while the actual exchequer issues amounted to
Kshs.826,202,867,839.00. The variance of Kshs.22,100,997,303.00 was the under
expenditure due to lack of exchequer.

Over-Expenditure on Treasury Bonds Interest

122) The overpayment of Ksh.50,247,591,639.95 on Treasury Bond interest relates to an
expenditure for 2017/2018 which was paid using Government Overdraft account. The
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Treasury Bonds were later budgeted for in the financial year 2018/2019 to service the
overdraft.

Over-Expenditure on Foreign Borrowing Interest

123) The expenditure as reported in the ledger reflected variances that are due to the rise in
exchange rate, interest on new borrowings and mis-posting. However, variances resulting
from mis-posting have since been corrected. The omission of disclosing the pending bills
of Ksh.28,915,693668 is regretted. Projected interests on foreign debt are generated from
the debt management system at the time of budget formulation. They are based on the actual
disbursements of individual loans.

Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that:

I. The final budget for the year under review was Kshs.848,303,865,142.00 while the
actual exchequer issues amounted to Kshs.826,202,867,839.00 leading to a variance of
Kshs.22,100,997,303.00.

ii. An over-expenditure was incurred on Interest on Treasury Bonds (TB) and Foreign
Borrowing (FB) of Kshs.50,247,591,640 and Kshs.76,011,232,922;

Committee Recommendations

124) The Committee therefore recommends that:
The National Treasury should ensure that the pending bills disclosed in the financial

statements are complete to enable accurate budgeting in the subsequent financial year.
15. Unresolved Prior Year Matters
15.1 Unsupported Balances

125) As previously reported, the statement of assets and liabilities for the year ended 30 June,
2018 reflected a prior year adjustment balance of Kshs.27,251,420,599 which was not
supported bya journal voucher or Notes to the financial statements. In addition, the general
ledger under payments reflected a balance of Kshs.516,547,493,884 which included a credit
balance of Kshs.1,244,520,000 under Debut International SVRNG Bond (USD 2.75 BN).
The balance was not supported by any documentary evidence. Further, the ledger reflected
expenditure for new loans and new administrative costs of Kshs.7,919,757,971 and
Kshs.59,894,313,393 respectively but details of these payments were not provided.
Consequently, the accuracy and completeness of these balances could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

126) The Accounting Officer admitted that the issue was discussed by PAC in report for
2017/2018 but remain unresolved since the Fund Balance and Accounts Payable are yet to
be reconciled in 2018/2019.

Committee Observations and Findings
127) The Committee observed and found that:
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1)

2)

3)
4)

5)

The Accounting Officer did not implement the Committee recommendations for
2017/2018;

The Accounting Officer breached Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012 by failing to
ensure that accurate and complete financial statements and records for CFS is prepared
and maintained in conformity with Regulation 97 on the basic structure of government
accounts;

The amount of Ksh.1, 244,520,000 has been adequately explained and supporting
schedules provided for audit review and verification;

A prior year adjustment of Ksh.27,251,420,599 had not been adequately been
explained;

An expenditure of Ksh.7,919,757,971.05 had been clarified up to Ksh7,777,060,595
leaving a balance of Ksh142,697,375.07 unexplained.

Committee Recommendation

128)

The Committee recommended that:

Within three (3) months upon adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should
reconcile and submit for audit review the supporting documents in compliance with
provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM Act 2012. Further, the Accounting Officer
should ensure that complete financial and accounting records are presented to the
Auditor-General pursuant to the provisions of Article 229 of the Constitution of
Kenya 2010 and Section 68(2k) of the PFM Act 2012.

15.2 Accuracy of the Financial Statements

129)

As reported in the previous year, a comparison of the statement of receipts and

payments and the ledger for the year ended 30 June, 2018 reflected different accounts
balances in respect to the same items as indicated.

Item Description Financial Ledger Balance Variance
Statement Balance | (Kshs.) (Kshs.)
(Kshs.)

Interest Payments | 84,357,487,111 84,725,600,971 368,113,860

on Foreign

Borrowings

Principal 111,700,845,296 294,836,376,343 183,135,531,047

Repayment on

Domestic Loans

CBK -Pre-1997 | 1,110,000,000 2,220,000,000 1,110,000,000

Loans

Repayment of | 141,532,524,729 141,360,882,966 171,641,763

Principal from

Foreign  Lending

and On-Lending
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‘ Exchequer Releases | 517,161,876,534 - 517,161,876,534

130) Management has however not provided any analysis and supporting documents to
support the adjustments. The accuracy of the balances reflected in the financial statements
could therefore not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

131) The Accounting Officer admitted that the variance observed between financial
statements and Ledger on Principal Repayment on domestic loans and CBK- Pre-1997
Loan was due to IFMIS Reporting challenges while balances for prior financial year were
erroneously brought forward. The error was corrected and the amended ledger was
submitted for audit review.

Committee Observations and Findings

132) The Committee observed and found thatThe Accounting Officer-did.correction of the
errors.

Committee Recommendation

133) The Committee recommended that-
The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he/she provides accurate records

and other supporting documents pursuant to Section 9 (1) (e) of the Public Audit Act,
2015.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

134) Conclusion

16. There were no material issues-relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

135)  Conclusion

17. There- were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

REVENUE STATEMENTS (RECURRENT)
Basis for Qualified Opinion

18. Cash Book Balance
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18.1 Unsupported Adjustments

136) During the year under review, unsupported adjustments were made to the cashbook
because of the long outstanding reconciling items as detailed below:

Reconciling Item Amount
(Kshs.)
Payments in bank not in cash book | 15,723,735,928
Receipts in bank not in cash book 34,524,942,523
Receipts in cash book not in bank 16,240,834,531
Payments in cash book not in bank | 605,746,618

137) However, the adjustments were unsupported by way of authorized journal entries.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

138) The Accounting Officer admitted that the statement of Assets and Liabilities as at 30th
June, 2018 reflects a prior year adjustment of Kshs.27,251,420,599 which mainly
comprised of interest on Treasury Bills and Central Bank of Kenya commission that were
paid under Treasury Bills™ deposit account and were erroneously reported in R050 that lead
to the adjustments.

139) The amount of Kshs.1,244,520,000.00.indicated as a receipt in the ledger relates to the
reversal of amount on PA No. 112755-being principal payment to Citi Bank that had been
erroneously captured on the item for Debut International Sovereign Bond. The error was
corrected by posting the entry_ on.relevant item. The details of new loans amounting to
Kshs.7,919,757,971.00 were analyzed and submitted for audit review.

140) Expenditure amounting.to Kshs.59,894,313,392.70 had initially been charged on new
administration costshead due to an error caused by the system.

141) Committee Observations and Findings
i) The statement of Assets and Liabilities as at 30th June, 2018 reflects a prior year

adjustment of Kshs.27,251,420,599 which mainly comprised of interest on Treasury
Bills ‘and Central Bank of Kenya commission that were paid under Treasury Bills’
deposit account and were erroneously reported in R050 that lead to the adjustments

i1).. The amount of Kshs.1,244,520,000.00 indicated as a receipt in the ledger relates to the
reversal of amount on PA No. 112755 being principal payment to Citi Bank that had
been erroneously captured on the item for Debut International Sovereign Bond.

iii) The error was corrected by posting the entry on relevant item. The details of new loans
amounting to Kshs.7,919,757,971.00 were analyzed and submitted for audit review.
Expenditure amounting to Kshs.59,894,313,392.70 had initially been charged on new
administration costs™ head due to an error caused by the system.

142) Committee Recommendations
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The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

18.2 Long Outstanding Reconciling Items

143) The bank reconciliation statement in support of the cash book as at 30 June, 2019
reflects long outstanding receipts in bank statement but not recorded in cash book.of
Kshs.164,731,174 dating back to June, 2000. No satisfactory explanation has been rendered
for failure to reconcile the items. From the foregoing, it is not possible to confirm the
accuracy and fair statement of the reported nil cashbook balance as at 30 June 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

144) The Accounting Officer admitted that during the year under. review, there were
adjustments made on the long outstanding items in the Bank Reconciliation statements. The
National Treasury in the course of cleaning up the bank reconciliation and clearing the
outstanding items realized that whereas bank statements are posted on an individual item
basis, the Cashbook is posted on a voucher basis whichuincludes several payments
processed in a single voucher. These postings in the bank were cleared against the postings
in the cashbook to which an amount of Ksh.164,731,174.20 remained outstanding as receipt
in the bank but not posted in the Cashbook. A receipt VVoucher for the same was prepared
and posted in the Cashbook on the 6" august 2019. The bank reconciliation has since been
updated. The documents were submitted to.the-auditor for verification.

145) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found thatThe-Accounting Officer that receipt voucher and cash

book entries have been reviewed.

Committee Recommendation

146) The Committee recommended that-

Within three (3) months upon adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should
reconcile and submit for audit review the backlog of un-reconciling items in compliance
with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM Act 2012.

19. Variance in Tax Receipts

147) ~The statement of revenues and transfers reflects tax revenues receipts of
Kshs:1,440,830,331,255. However, the Kenya Revenue Authority accountability statement
for the period reflects tax income receipts transfers of Kshs.1,338,169,499,540 resulting to
an unexplained net variance of Kshs.102,660,831,716. No satisfactory explanations have
been rendered for the discrepancies between the two sets of records. Consequently, it is
not possible to confirm the accuracy and completeness of the reported tax revenue receipts
of Kshs.1,440,830,331,256 for the year ended 30 June, 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

148) The Accounting Officer admitted that the Statement of revenues and transfers reflects
tax revenues receipts of Ksh.1,440,830,331,225 while Kenya revenue Authority's
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accountability statement reflects tax receipts of Ksh.1,338,169,499,540 resulting to a
variance of Ksh.102,660,831. However, KRA has since reconciled the balances.

Committee Observations and Findings

149) The Committee observed and found that:
1) The Accounting Officer admitted that the Statement of revenues and transfers reflects

tax revenues receipts of Ksh.1,440,830,331,225 while Kenya revenue Authority s
accountability statement reflects tax receipts of Ksh.1,338,169,499,540 resulting to a
variance of Ksh.102,660,831

i) The reconciliations done by the Accounting Officer did not fully address the audit query
as raised by the Auditor.

Committee Recommendation

150) The Committee recommended that-

Within three (3) months upon adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer ensure that
reconciliations is done and the complete financial statements.submitted to the Auditor
General for review and reporting in the subsequent audit.cycle.

20. Unsupported Non-Tax Revenues

151) The statement of revenue and transfers reflects non-tax revenue receipts of
Kshs.39,056,195,610; (2018-Kshs.39,440,753,231) comprising of fees on use of goods and
services (PDL / traffic), social security contributions, property income, other receipts
(miscellaneous), proceeds from domestic borrowings and proceeds from foreign grants.
However, they were unsupported by way of detailed ledgers. In the circumstances, the
accuracy and completeness of ‘the reported non-tax revenue receipts of
Kshs.39,056,195,610 for the year ended 30 June 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

152) The Accounting Officer.admitted that the revised statement of revenue and transfers
reflect non-revenue receipts of Kshs.39,058,894.95/- for the year under review whose
ledgers had-not been provided by the time of audit. However, detailed ledgers supporting
the revenue have since been availed for Audit review.

Committee Observations and Findings

153) - The . Committee observed and found that complete ledgers supporting statement of
revenue and transfers reflect non-revenue receipts of Kshs.39,058,894.95/- for the year
under review was not submitted to the Auditor-General at the time of audit.

Committee Recommendation

154) The Committee recommended that-
The Accounting Officer ensures timely reconciliations and the complete financial

statements submitted to the Auditor General within three months after close of the
Financial Year. This is in line with provisions of Article 229(4) (h) of the Constitution and
section 81(4) (a) of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with
Regulation 90 of the PFM (National Government) Regulations 2015.
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21. Variances Between Revenue Statements and the General Ledger

155)

The statement of revenue and transfers reflects tax revenues receipts that were at

variance with the ledgers presented in support as detailed out below: -

Revenue Item Revenue General Ledger | Variance (Kshs.)
Statements (Kshs.)
(Kshs.)
Taxes on Individuals | 393,439,728,378 393,361,503,751 78,224,627
(PAYE)
Corporation Tax 294,841,466,811 294,979,065,094 (137,598,283)
(Land Rent) 610,032,875 617,606,996 (7,574,121)
Vat  on Domestic | 230,775,544,313 234,058,961,044 (3,283,416,731)
Goods/Services
Vat on Imports 183,367,863,463 182,586,223,952 781,639,511
Excise Duty 196,608,900,149 196,588,499,134 20,401,015
Custom Duties 106,874,931,944 107,701,825,385 (826,893,441)
Import Declaration Fees | 24,196,727,815 24,182,047,020 14,680,795
Stamp Duty 10,115,135,308 10,213,854,991 (98,719,683)
Total 1,440,830,331,055+1:1,444,289,587,367 | (3,459,256,311
156) No explanations have been rendered for the variances. Consequently, the accuracy and

completeness of the reported tax revenue receipts of Kshs.1,440,830,331,055 for the year
ended 30 June, 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

157) The Accounting Officer admitted that by the time of audit, the Statement of receipts
and transfers reflects various balances which were at variance with the figures in the
General ledgers. This was-because by the time of Audit, some adjustments from KRA had
not been captured in the ledger. However, the reconciliation has since been done and the
two records agree. The reconciled records were submitted to the auditor for verification.

Committee Observations and Findings

158)=The Committee observed and found that:
The Auditor-General has reviewed reconciliation between Revenue Statement and

General ledger. Adjustments made will be effected in the 2020/2021 financial statements
as prior year adjustments by the Accounting Officer.

Committee Recommendation

159) The Committee recommended that-
The Accounting Officer ensures timely reconciliations of revenue statements and the

complete financial statements submitted to the Auditor General within three months
after close of the Financial Year. This is in line with provisions of Article 229(4) (h) of the
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Constitution and section 82(2) (a) of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read
together with Regulation 90 of the PFM (National Government) Regulations 2015.

Other Matter

22. Budgetary Control and Performance

160) The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts reflects final proceeds from
foreign grants (AMISOM) budget and actual on comparable basis of Kshs.6,500,000,000
and Kshs.575,433,441 respectively resulting to under collection of Kshs.5,924,566,559 or
91% of the budget. No satisfactory explanation has been rendered for the under collection
and measures being put in place to avoid recurrence.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

161) The Accounting Officer admitted that the Statement of Comparison. of budget and
actual amounts reflects proceeds from foreign grants (AMISOM) approved budget of
Ksh.6,500,000,000 against the actual of Ksh5.75,433,441. The huge difference of
Ksh.5,924,566,559 or 91% of the budget was because the Ministry of Defence was
appointed as a Receiver of Revenue within the financial year and the Ministry collected the
balance of the revenue.

Further submission by the Principal Secretary Ministry of Defence

Dr. Ibrahim Mohammed, CBS, the Principal Secretary and Accounting Officer for the
Ministry of Defence appeared before the Committee on 20t July, 2021 to adduce evidence
on paragraph 22 of the audited financial statement for the National Treasury (Vote 1071)
for the Financial Year 2018/2019. He was accompanied by the following officers:

1. Mr. Lt Gen Levi Mgalu - Vice Chief of Defence Force.
2. Mr. C. K. Muhia - Senior Chief Finance Officer.
3. Mr. Electinia W. Wamumii - Deputy Accountant General

162) The\Accounting Officer submitted that the projected budget of Kshs.8.5Billion was
revenue expected from proceeds from grants with regard to AMISOM and all other
missions including the UN Peace-keeping mission in Democratic Republic of Congo
among-others. The money was budgeted under the National Treasury since the Cabinet
Secretary had not appointed the Principal Secretary Ministry of Defence as the Receiver of
Revenue. The Principal Secretary Ministry of Defence has since been appointed a Receiver
of'Revenue and received other grants that followed in the financial year.

The Committee observations and Findings

163) The Committee observed and found that:
(1)  The appointment of the Principal Secretary Ministry of Defence as receiver of revenue

was done later in the financial year after the receipt of the first payment by the National
Treasury.
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(i) The figures of Kshs.6,500,000,000 included receipts from other UN peacekeeping
missions apart from African Union Mission in Somalia - AMISOM.

Committee Recommendations
164) The Committee therefore recommends that:
The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury must ensure that the designation of

Receivers of Revenues under Section 75 of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 is
done at the beginning of the financial year.

23. Incomplete Reporting on Waivers/Exemptions

165) The report on waivers/exemptions made available for audit review was incomplete and
lacked crucial information such as names of the beneficiary, tax amount waived; reason(s)
for the waiver and the applicable law for the waiver as required in law.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

166) The report on Waivers/ Exemptions did not include the full.names of beneficiaries, tax
amount waived and reasons for the waivers. This was-because the file is bulky but a soft
copy of the same has been provided for audit verification.

Committee Observations and Findings

167) The Committee observed that the Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury and
receivers of revenues for the National Government entities have been granting waivers of
interest and penalties and write off/abandonment of tax including tax exemption. However,
full details of these waivers and exemptions including full names of beneficiaries, tax
amount waived and reasons for the waivers were not disclosed to the Auditor General at
the time of audit.

168) Committee Recommendations
i) The Committee reprimands the Accounting Officer for violation of Section 9 of

the Public Audit Act, 2015 Article 210 of the Constitution and Sections 76 and 82
of the PEM Act 2012.

i) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Cabinet Secretary for the
National Treasury and planning initiate the development of a national government
policy on waivers and exemptions that include quarterly reporting to the National
Assembly on all waivers and exemptions.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

169) Conclusion

24. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.
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REVENUE STATEMENTS (DEVELOPMENT)

REPORT ON THE REVENUE STATEMENTS

170)

Unqualified Opinion

25. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the development revenue
statements.

Other Matter

26. Budgetary Controls and Performance

171)

The statement of comparative budget and actual amounts reflect final revenue budget

and actual on comparable basis of Kshs.67,668,743,001 and Kshs.50,118,804,547
respectively resulting to under performance of Kshs.17,549,938,454 or 26% of the budget.
Management has attributed the under collection to requirement of the implementing units
to exhaust funds released in the prior periods before accessing new disbursements, stringent
conditions from the development partners on meeting AIA payments before accessing
funding and partner delays in releasing no objection for projects not funded using Country
systems. Consequently, there was under funding of the planned development activities
which may have impacted negatively on‘service delivery to the citizens

Submission by the Accounting Officer

172)

The Statement of comparable budget-and actual amounts reflect final revenue budget

and actual comparable basis of Ksh.67,668,743,001 and 50, 118,804,547 respectively
resulting to under performance of Ksh.17,549,938,454 or 26%. The reasons for the
underperformance are:

iii.
iv.

Vi.

173)

The delays in getting no objections from development partners.

The budget for Equalization Fund amounting Ksh.4.7billion was not utilized due to
litigations and lack of implementation policy.

Lack of exchequer

Additional funds that were factored in Supplementary Estimates Il that was approved
by Parliament in late June 2019 and which could not be utilized by 30th June 2019, the
closure of financial year under review.

The under absorption of Ksh.1,004,780,998 was due to delays in procurement by
KEMSA.

On the other hand, the under absorption was due to late disbursements of funds by
development partners

Explanations provided by management are noted.

Committee Observations and Findings
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The Statement of comparable budget and actual amounts reflect final revenue budget and actual
comparable basis of Ksh.67,668,743,001 and Kshs.50,118,804,547 respectively resulting to
under performance of Ksh.17,549,938,454.

174) Committee Recommendation
The Cabinet Secretary, National Treasury should ensure that the revenue estimates are

realistic and adequate measures are in place to achieve the development revenue targets
by the MDA:s.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

175) Conclusion

27. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness.in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

176) Conclusion

28. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

REVENUE STATEMENTS* - GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT AND PUBLIC
ENTERPRISES

Basis for Adverse Opinion

29. Accuracy of Schedule of Outstanding Loans

177) Thesummary.schedule of outstanding loans reflects an outstanding loans balance of
Kshs.809,988,920,916 as at 30 June, 2019. However, circularization of sample debtors for
the loan balances revealed significant discrepancies between the reported book balances
and the-amounts confirmed as owing by the respective institutions as detailed below:

No. | Entity Balance as per Confirmed Variance
Financial Balance (Kshs.)
Statement (Kshs.)
1 Kenya  Civil Aviation | 1,710,514,701 2,343,070,698 632,555,997
Authority
2 South Nyanza Sugar | 199,027,420 794,628,045 595,600,625
Company Ltd
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3 Agro Chemical and Food | 2,846,884,000 9,351,809,235 6,504,925,235
Company Limited

4 Moi University 231,250,000 257,765,332 26,515,332

5 Kenya Utalii College 127,000,000 140,125,028 13,125,028

6 IDB Capital Ltd 1,555,675,500 212,979,779 1,342,695,721

7 Kenya Railways Corporation | 473,210,691,342 435,466,126,847 | 37,744,564,496

8 Cooperative Bank 402,151,336 351,857,512 50,293,824

9 Water Resources Authority | 362,612,300 372,705,009 (10,092,709)

10 | Equity Bank 421,332,807 100,282,010 321,050,797

11 | Industrial and Commercial | 371,848,560 891,848,560 (520,000,000
Dev’t Corp. (ICDC)

12 | Kenyatta University 10,857,620,656 85,988,783 10,771,631,873

13 | SMEP Bank 79,037,111 69,157,472 9,879,639

14 | Northern Water Works Dev’t | 5,389,000,000 2,757,697,547 2,631,302,453
Agency

15 | Faulu Micro Finance Ltd 137,415,056 - 137,415,056

178) The discrepancies between the two sets of records was not explained or reconciled.

Under the circumstances, the accuracy of the reported outstanding loans balance of
Kshs.809,988,920,916 as at 30 June, 2019-could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

179)

180)

The Accounting Officer submitted that to confirm the accuracy of the outstanding loan
balance, the National Treasury circularized and requested Entities with outstanding Loans
to confirm directly to the Auditor General the principal Loan amounts owed to the National
Government as at 30th"June 2019. As observed by the Auditor there were major
discrepancies betweenthe reported book balances and the amounts confirmed as owing by
the respective institutions. The differences/variances reflected on schedule under para 29
have been reconciled/analyzed explained and given to the auditor for review. While some
of the variances have been reconciled and agreed with the Auditor and the Statement of
Outstanding Loans adjusted where appropriate, some on-lent loan balances remain
unreconciled. Efforts are being made to find the relevant data to clear the outstanding
reconciliations. However, to address this challenge the National Treasury has developed a
template as-a reporting tool to report and record on-lent loan disbursements. This will
enable the department compare the figures as reported by the loanees.

Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter was discussed in PAC report 2017/2018 and

recommended that the Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury and Planning should,
within three months (3) of tabling this report, ensure that the National Treasury develops a
comprehensive framework for on-lending including loan write-offs to government entities
by the National Treasury;

. The Committee further observed that implementation of the above recommendation is still

ongoing.
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Other Matter

30. Unresolved Prior Year Matter

30.1 Dormant Loans

181) Loans amounting to Kshs.84,284,132,909 representing 10.4% of the total loan portfolio
of Kshs.809,988,920,916 as at 30 June, 2019 had no movement and as previously reported,
have remained unpaid over a significant period of time casting doubts on. their

recoverability. The loan details are as tabulated below:

Balance as at

30 June,; 2019

Corporation

No Institution (Kshs.)

1 Coast Water Service Board 12,241,117,290
2 East African Sugar Industries Limited, Muhoroni 177,123,100

3 Halal Meat Products 27,701,420

4 Kenya Meat Commission 940,241,100

5 Kenya Urban Transport Various Towns 40,706,140

6 Lake Victoria North Water Services Board 7,593,445,499
7 Lake Victoria South Water Services Board 13,121,785,606
8 Miwani Outgrowers Mills Limited 6,600,000

9 Miwani Sugar Company (1989) Ltd 16,000,020

10 Miwani Sugar Mills Limited 78,088,180

11 Mumias Sugar Company Limited 3,000,000,000
12 National Irrigation Board 2,262,036,544
13 National Water Conservation and Pipeline | 2,460,874,897

14 Tana Water Services Board

7,543,116,143

15 Tanathi Water Services Board 9,713,565,506

16 Water Resource Management 362,612,300

17 Agricultural Finance Corporation 475,119,163

18 Kenya Airways 24,224,000,000
Total 84,284,132,908

182) No evidence of the measures taken by Management to recover the outstanding amounts

was provided for audit.
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Further submission by the National Water Harvesting and Storage Authority —- NWHSA

Ms. Sharon Obonyo, the Ag. Chief Executive Officer and Accounting Officer for National
Water Harvesting and Storage Authority —- NWHSA formerly National Water Company
and Pipeline Cooperation - NWCPC appeared before the Committee on 18™ October,
2021 to adduce evidence on paragraph 30.1 of the audited financial statement for the
National Treasury (Vote 1071) for the Financial Year 2018/2019. She was accompanied
by the following officers:

1. CPA Patrick O. Otara - General manager Finance
2. Mr. Job Kiprotich - Chief Economist

And submitted as follows

183) The Accounting Officer submitted it had obtained three. loans through various
subsidiary agreements with the Government of Kenya for various projects as shown below:

Loan from IDA

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 28" August, 1992

Project: Second Mombasa and Coastal Water Supply, Engineering and Rehabilitation
project.

Loan amount: USD 17,400,000

Loan Period: 15 Years, instalments payable semi annually

Repayment start date: 15/11/1997

Principal amount outstanding after handing over (30/06/2006):USD 6,960,000
Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 16.65% p.a as per agreement

Loan from KfW (Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau)

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 5™ July, 2002

Project: Sabaki Wellfield Rehabilitation project.

Loan amount: DM 5,000,000

Loan Period:'15 Years, instalments payable semi annually

Repayment start date: 31/12/2005

Principal amount outstanding after handing over (30/06/2006): DM 4,666,666.67
Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 6.5% p.a as per agreement

Loan from AFD (Agence Francaise De Development)

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 7" May, 1999

Project: Improvement of the Operational Conditions of Drinking Water Transmission and
Distribution System.

Loan amount: EUROS 9,146,941.03

Loan Period: 15 Years, instalments payable semi annually

Repayment start date: 30/06/2005
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Principal amount outstanding after handing over (30/06/2006): EUROS 8,232,246.93
Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 5.5% p.a as per agreement

184) The loans were disbursed through the National Treasury who in turn disbursed to the

Ministry of Water and Irrigation and thereafter the same was disbursed to the Authority.
The loans were to be serviced as per indicated repayment plans at the indicated interest
rates. The proceeds obtained from water sales were to be partly used in defraying the same.
However, the water tariffs were to be adjusted to accommodate the repayment but this was
never done.

185) On 12th August 2005, the then Minister for Water and Irrigation gazetted (Legal Notice

No. 101 in the Kenya Gazette Supplement No. 61) the water (plan of transfer.of water
services) rules, 2005 to guide on the enactment of the Water Act 2002. The Natice required
that the Authority finalizes the transfer of certain roles relating to-sale of water to Water
Service Boards in their jurisdictions. The deadline for such ‘execution of transfer
agreements was 30th June 2006. The transfer was to be in the form.of signed transfer
agreements. Though drafted, the transfer agreements were not.signed. However, the Water
Service Boards assumed the assets but did not take the ensuing liabilities.

186) Severally, the National Treasury and the Auditor General have continued to claim from

1

the Authority, and the Authority has written to the Ministry of Water seeking on their
intervention for both the signing of the transfer agreements and assistance on repayment of
the loan due before handing over. Through a letter dated 19th October, the Principal
Secretary in the State Department of Water directed the Authority to hand over the loan
portfolio taken by the Authority to the relevant Water Service Board as per the Transfer
Plan.

ON-LENT LOAN STATUS

187) After analysis of the outstanding loan portfolio, the Authority allocated the outstanding

loan to the Water Service Boards on the basis of the areas where projects that were directly
financed by the loans were-executed. As such the loans were allocated as shown below:

Loan from IDA

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 28" August, 1992

Project: | Second Mombasa and Coastal Water Supply, Engineering and Rehabilitation
project.

Loan amount: USD 17,400,000

Loan-Period: 15 Years, instalments payable semi annually

Repayment start date: 15/11/1997

Principal amount outstanding after handing over (30/06/2006):USD 6,960,000
Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 16.65% p.a as per agreement

Coast Water Works Development Agency

Loan from KfW (Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau)
Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 5™ July, 2002
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Project: Sabaki Wellfield Rehabilitation project.

Loan amount: DM 5,000,000

Loan Period: 15 Years, instalments payable semi annually

Repayment start date: 31/12/2005

Principal amount outstanding after handing over (30/06/2006): DM 4,666,666.67
Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 6.5% p.a as per agreement

b) Tana Water Works Development Agency

Loan from AFED (Agence Francaise De Development)

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 71" May, 1999

Project: Improvement of the Operational Conditions of Drinking Water Transmission and
Distribution System. (Kandara and Kahuti Projects)

Loan amount: EUROS 9,146,941.03 Allocated Amount: EUROS 4,573,470.52

Loan Period: 15 Years, instalments payable semi annually

Repayment start date: 30/06/2005

Principal amount outstanding after handing over (30/06/2006): EUROS 4,116,123.47
Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 5.5% p.a as per agreement

Lake Victoria South Water Works Development Agency

Loan from AFD (Agence Francaise De Development)

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 7" May, 1999

Project: Improvement of the Operational Conditions of Drinking Water Transmission and
Distribution System. (Siaya Project)

Loan amount: EUROS 9,146,941.03 Allocated Amount: EUROS 2,286,735.26

Loan Period: 15 Years, instalments payable semi annually

Repayment start date: 30/06/2005

Principal amount outstanding after handing over (30/06/2006): EUROS 2,058,061.73
Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 5.5% p.a as per agreement

d) Central Rift Valley Water Works Development Agency

Loan from AFD (Agence Francaise De Development)

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 7" May, 1999

Project: Improvement of the Operational Conditions of Drinking Water Transmission and
Distribution System. (Litein Project)

Loan amount: EUROS 9,146,941.03 Allocated Amount: EUROS 2,286,735.26

Loan Period: 15 Years, instalments payable semi annually

Repayment start date: 30/06/2005

Principal amount outstanding after handing over (30/06/2006): EUROS 2,058,061.73
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Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 5.5% p.a as per agreement

e) National Water Harvesting & Storage Authority.

Loan from IDA

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 28" August, 1992

Project: Second Mombasa and Coastal Water Supply, Engineering and Rehabilitation
project.

Loan liability: USD 10,440,000 = KES.1,067,385,600 (ExcR 1:102.24)

Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 16.65% p.a as per agreement

Loan from KfW (Kreditanstalt Fur Wiederaufbau)

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 5™ July, 2002

Project: Sabaki Wellfield Rehabilitation project.

Loan liability: DM 333,333.33 = KES.18,093,333.15 (ExcR.1:54.28)
Interest: Accrued interest at the rate of 6.5% p.a as per agreement

Loan from AFD (Agence Francaise De Development)

Loan No.: Loan agreement dated 71" May, 1999

Project: Improvement of the Operational Conditions.of Drinking Water Transmission and
Distribution System.

Loan liability: EURO 914,694.10 ='KES.97,506,391.06 (ExcR 1:106.60)

188) The Authority on her part-has requested the National Treasury through the Ministry of
Water, Irrigation and Sanitation to assist with the loans repayments. The Authority has
declared the loans as historical pending bills and has sought the intervention of the National
Treasury through the-parent Ministry in clearing loans.

Further submission by Lake Victoria North Water Works Development Agency —
LVNWWDA

Eng. Danson Peter Ngongi, the Ag. Chief Executive Officer and the Accounting Officer
for Lake. Victoria North Water Works Development Agency appeared before the
Committee on 12" October, 2021 to adduce evidence on paragraph 30.1 of the audited
financial statement for the National Treasury (Vote 1071) for the Financial Year
2018/2019. He was accompanied by the following officers:

1. CPA Fredrick Toloyi - Ag. Chief Manager finance
2. Mr. Dickson Opiyo - Technical Manager USP

And submitted as follows
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189)

The Agency submitted that the National Treasury on various dates has on lend loans
from various development partners to the agency to develop water infrastructure. Once this
infrastructure was developed, it was handed over to the county governments in line with
provisions of Water Act 2016, to be operated and maintained by respective Water Service
Providers (WSP) and or Community Organizations water service providers.

190) The details of the loans and the benefiting Water Service providers is as follows:
Lender | Loan ID Subsidiary | Amount Benefiting WSP
Loan
Agreement
Date
Kshs
KW Nzoia Cluster 1 | 9/30/2006 | 774,963,553.60 | NZOIA WATER AND.SEWERAGE COMPANY
KW Nzoia Cluster 1 | 11/13/2009 | 728,048,400.00 | NZOIA WATER AND SEWERAGE COMPANY
KW Nzoia Cluster 2 | 3/28/2007 | 1,217,228,445.46 | BUSIA WATER AND SEWERAGE COMPANY
KW Nzoia Cluster 2 | 7/28/2008 | 3,490,119,861.60.| KAKAMEGA WATER AND SEWERAGE COMPANY
IDA - 12/17/2012 | 1,383,085,238.34 | ELDORET WATER AND SEWERAGE COMPANY
23,139,000 VIHIGA WATER & SANITATION CO. (AMATSI)
Total 7,593,445,499.00

191) A brief examination of the five (5) WSP under the mandate area of LVNWWDA brings
out common challenges though a few are unique to respective WSPs: -

a. Kakamega County Water & Sanitation Company/Corporation

The company is owned by the County government of Kakamega and it’s in the process
of becoming a County Corporation. The WSP is operating the water supplies infrastructure
of Kakamega, Mumias, Butere and Kipkarren that were developed by LVNWWDA
through these:loans. The company also operates a sewerage system in Kakamega town. The
challenges this WSP undergoes include underperforming water schemes e.g. like Mumias
Water Supply which operates at 30%; the company has no periodic maintenance schedules;
over employment of staff; low revenue collection; lack of meters to install; high non-
revenue waters;

192)

b. Nzoia Water Services Company(NZOWASCO)

This Company is owned by the counties of Bungoma and Transzoia counties. The
company operates Webuye, Bungoma, Kimilili, Sirisia-Chwele and Kitale Water Supplies.
The company also operates sewerage system in the towns of Kitale, Bungoma and Webuye.

193)

194)

The company is non-compliant to corporate governance and the regulator — Water
Services Regulatory Board(WASREB) has placed it under Special Regulatory Regime (its
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operations are closely monitored with conditions to meet before its lifted). Some of the
challenges include lack of relevant skill mix to give strategic and policy directions.
Appointment of managers is on the basis of tribal or regional basis without regard to the
desired professional skills and exposure; high costs of pumping that leads to high
maintenance costs; and there is inefficiencies in managing the assets due to ownership;

c. Vihiga Water Services Company (Amatsi)

195) This Company is owned by the county Government of Vihiga. The company operates
Mbale, Kaimosi, Maseno and Sosiani water supplies. The company has not been ableto
sustain its operations because all its schemes use pumping. The 7 schemes_under. the
company have a monthly running cost of Kes 2.1 million in electricity and relies on County
government of Vihiga for subsidies. With a customer base of 9,500, Only'4000.are active
thus a low coverage of last mile connectivity; there is also High Non-Revenue water and
Inadequate ICT structure (software & Hardware) to improve efficiency;

d. Kapsabet Nandi Water & Sanitation Company

196) This company is owned by the county government of Nandi. It operates the water
supplies of Kapsabet and Nandi Hills. Kapsabet town-also.has a small sewerage system
with a component of pumping. The sanitation system is run by the county government due
to high costs of managing it. Some of the challenges in this WSP include old meters that
get stuck and in need of frequent servicing; old tariffs in need of review; Non-revenue water
which is at 43%; the high electricity costs which is at Kshs.1.5million per month; low last
mile connectivity; and low efficiency inevenue collection at 75%. Though the company
has improved revenue collection at-Kshs.3million per month against billed Kshs.3.6
million, which is as a result of the support by county government through installation of
the billing software (WSB 16);-the. company still relies on subsidy from the county
government of Nandi.

e. Busia Water & Sewarage Company

197) This company is owned by the County government of Busia. The company operates
seven (7) schemes including Busia Mundika, Nambale, and Malaba - Kocholia water
supply projects. The company also manages a sewerage system in Busia town. The
company’s ‘menthly, electricity bill is Kshs.2.2 million against a collection of Kshs.2.6
million..The high costs of chemicals is at Kshs.800,000 per month. High non-revenue water
is at 50% due to frequent bursts, old meters that get stuck, many illegal connections.
Inefficient revenue collection of Kshs.2.6million against a billing of Kshs.3.6million.

On.reasons why the loan has not been serviced for all that period

198) The Agency submitted that though the Loan repayments are factored in the current
tariffs being used for billing, the WSPs collect and do not remit the funds to the Agency
for onward transmission to the National treasury. The main reasons across the WSP are: -

a) Most of the WSP are underperforming and in most cases being subsidized by the county
governments. This is due to; -
e The insufficient last mile connectivity
e High energy costs due to pumping resulting in high maintenance costs.
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e High non-revenue water of up to 50% due to old meters that frequently get stuck,
frequent bursts due to old infrastructure and illegal connections.
e Inefficient & unscheduled repair & maintenance.
e Poor governance.
b) The WSPs are firmly under the control of County Governments with the Agency having
no control. Though the infrastructure has been developed by the National Government.
c) Insufficient capacity by WASREB to carry out monitoring and Inspection and enforce
regulations.
d) There is Lack of clear policy and direction asset ownership, use and liability holding.

As with the Measures put in place to Service this Loan

199) The Agency submitted that there are no elaborate measures put in place to oblige the
WSP on repayment of the loan due to constraints. The best the Agency has tried to do is to
engage the water service providers in a conversation both at the:management and board
levels on the importance of loan repayment and how it affects future funding. The Agency
has also on various occasions agreed with the WSPs to open.Loan accounts with the loan
repayment as the first charge on all the WSPs revenue accounts before any other transfers
are made. This has not been honored.

200) The Agency has no budgetary supportfor capacity building; Monitoring &Evaluation
and; to make follow up on repair & ‘maintenance and improvement of the schemes.
However, out of the beneficiary WSPS, Eldoret water and sanitation company has started
servicing its loan portion having paid Ksh.32,292,194 in financial year 2019/2020 and
Kshs.21,254,930 in Financial year 2020/2021. The following requires to be done:

a) Strengthening the legal framework to ensure recovery of the loans and levy arrears.

b) The National Treasury to -have the loans due as the first charge on county government
revenues if the'WSPs fail to remit.

Further submission by.the Kenya Meat Commission - KMC

Brigadier James N. Githaga - Managing Commissioner, and Accounting Officer for
Kenya Meat Commission appeared before the Committee on 10" November, 2021 to
adduce evidence on paragraph 30.1 of the audited financial statement for the National
Treasury (Vote 1071) for the Financial Year 2018/2019. He was accompanied by the
following officers:

1. Mr. Joseph M. Kimani - Finance Officer

2. Maj. Ajierh G. A. - Chief Legal Officer

3. Mr. Wellington Magoi - Chief Accountant

4. Mr. Festus M. Joseph - Chief Internal Auditor

and submitted as follows
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201) The Commission submitted that it received details of a loan of Kshs.940,241,100.00
from the National Treasury vide letter Ref. DGIPE/LOANS/25 dated 5th June 2015. From
the available records KMC does not owe the National Treasury Kshs.940,241,100.00.
However, the Commission confirmed owing the National Treasury Kshs.300M excluding
interest and penalty as stipulated in the loan agreements. The Commission has
acknowledgement vide KMC/MC/MOF/O4/15 of 16 April 2015 and annual confirmation
to Auditor General during circularization loan of Kshs.300M. This letters were availed to
the Committee for perusal.

202)  On the outstanding amount of Kshs.300Million, the Commission submitted as follows:

1.0 Outstanding Loan of Kshs.300 Million
i.  KMC LOAN of Kshs.200,000,000.
Through the food security, water and energy crisis management ‘programme, the
Government approved a budget of Kshs.1.398 billion for the. Ministry of Livestock
Development to finance livestock offtake program. Offtake is a drought mitigation strategy
where the government gives resources in the form of grants to stakeholder to purchase
emaciated animals.

203) Out of the approved budget, the Government issued a loan of Kshs.200 M for purchase
of livestock from drought stricken areas. The terms and conditions of the loan are stipulated
in the loan agreement of 22 January 2010. Copy of the agreement was availed for perusal
by the Committee.

ii.  Dormant loan of Kshs.100,000,000
204) In addition, the government had approved a budget of Kshs.1.312 billion to intervene
in the livestock sub-sector to-mitigate against the drought that was prevailing in the country.
Out of the approved-budget, the Government issued a loan of Kshs.100 M for purchase of
livestock from drought stricken areas. The terms and conditions of the loan are stipulated
in the loan agreement of .on 4" may 2011. Copy of the agreement was availed for perusal
by the Committee.

205) The Commission received government loans of Kshs.200 million and 100 million in
2009/10 and 2010/11 respectively and these are the loans the Commission hereby
acknowledges being owed to the government.

2.0 Reasons for Non-Payment

206) ~ Has never honored its obligation in the payment of the outstanding instalment hence
accruing both interest and penalty at a rate of 2% and 3% per annual respectively since:
I.  The Commission was technically insolvent; it was unable to honor its obligation as they

fall due and persistent loss making due to high operational costs. Copies of the financial
performance was availed for perusal by the Committee.

ii.  The loans were issued for drought mitigation (Offtake program) which is highly risk
(animal procured during the program are weak and emaciated hence very low yield
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despite the fact that the animals are procured at a predetermined premium to cushion
the livestock farmer).

3.0 Proposed way forward on the loan

207) The way forward is as follows:
1. The KMC Audited account for the period ending 30 June 2007 referred to a Circular of

April 2005 where the Cabinet directed that loans owed by KMC be taken over and settled
by the government to enhance KMC Value. Copies of the audited account Financial Year
2007 were availed for perusal by the Committee.

2. The Cabinet directive preceded the re-opening of KMC and it is presumed that all loans
prior to April 2005 amounting to Kshs.640,241,100.00 were taken over by the Government
and capitalized as Equity-Recommend the National Treasury to take over.

3. KMC acknowledges the loan of Kshs.300M and proposes the following ‘measures to
address the outstanding loan:

i.  Conversion of 300M loan to a grant as it was derived from ‘approved budgets for
2009/10 and 2010/11. Being an emergency offtake program it was not commercially
viable.

208) Inthe alternative, the loan be treated as historical and referred to Multi-Agency Pending
Bills Verification Committee for consideration for write off.

Committee Recommendations

209) Within three months of adoption.of this report, the Accounting Officer seeks loan
write-off approval for Kshs.940,241,100 for Kenya Meat Commission (KMC) from
the Cabinet Secretary as required-under Section 69 (2) of the PFM Act 2012 read with
Regulation 148 (6) of the PFM (National Government) Regulations 2015. Further
ensures submission of a copy of the granted approval to the Auditor-General as per
Regulation 148(7) the PFM (National Government) Regulations 2015 to clear this
matter.

Further submission by KENYA AIRWAYS - KO

Mr._Allan_Kilavuka, the Group Managing Director/ Chief Executive Officer and
Accounting Officer for Kenya Airways appeared before the Committee on 25™ October,
2021 to adduce evidence on paragraph 30.1 of the audited financial statement for the
National Treasury (Vote 1071) for the Financial Year 2018/2019. He was accompanied by
the following officeru:

1. Ms. Hellen Mathuka - Chief Finance Officer

and submitted as follows:
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210) Kenya Airways submitted that following approval by Cabinet in June 2017 and the
extra ordinary shareholders general meeting of 7" August, 2017 held to approve the
restructuring of the debt and equity in KQ Government of Kenya (GoK) converted the
total debt/loan to equity. GoK also received a mandatory convertible note that matures in
2027. This saw GoK acquire a 48.9% stake in KQ. Therefore, there is no outstanding
loan.

211) Committee Observations and Findings

i) Following approval by Cabinet in June 2017 and the extra ordinary shareholders
general meeting of 7" August, 2017 held to approve the restructuring of the debt
and equity in KQ Government of Kenya (GoK) converted the total debt/loan to
equity.

i) GoK also received a mandatory convertible note that matures in 2027. This saw GoK
acquire a 48.9% stake in KQ.

iii) The National Assembly approved Sessional Paper No.-3 of 2017 on the government
guarantee of USD 750million ( approximately Kshs 77.48Billion) in support of the
restructuring of Kenya Airways

212) Committee Recommendations

Within three months of adoption of this report;.the Accounting Officer seeks loan write-
off approval for Kshs.24,224,000,000 for Kenya Airways from the Cabinet Secretary as
required under Section 69 (2) of the PFM Act 2012 read with Regulation 148 (6) of the
PFM (National Government) Regulations2015. Further ensures submission of a copy of
the granted approval to the Auditor-General as per Regulation 148(7) the PFM (National
Government) Regulations 2015 to clear this matter.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

31. Supporting Documents and Management of Loan Portfolio

213) As previously reported, Management has not been able to confirm its active role in the
management of existing loan portfolio and issuance of new loans through annual work
plans and periodic monitoring and evaluation reports. In the absence of budgets, annual
work plans, assessment or evaluation and performance reports of the loaning portfolios, the
propriety on the utilization of public funds could not be ascertained. There is also risk of
non-=servicing of the loans leading to continued write offs as bad debts which is a cost to
the public.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

214) Loans advanced by The National Treasury are done through loan agreements signed
between the National Treasury and the respective Entities. Each loan agreement spells out
clearly the terms of each loan which include the reports that must be submitted periodically
to The National Treasury during the life of the loan facility.
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215) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that Management has not been able to confirm its active role in the

management of existing loan portfolio and issuance of new loans through annual work plans
and periodic monitoring and evaluation reports

216) Committee Recommendation
The CS for the National Treasury and Planning should within three months (3) of tabling

this report, ensure that the National Treasury develops a comprehensive framework for
active participation of the National Treasury in the management of existing loan portfolio
and issuance of new loans through annual work plans and periodic monitoring and
evaluation reports.

31. Long Outstanding Loans (Arrears)

217) The statement of arrears of receipts reflects total. amount, in arrears of
Kshs.39,165,038,029 as at 30 June, 2019 (2018-Kshs.37,606,213,925) representing an
increment of Kshs.1,558,824,104 during the year under review..Management has attributed
the default to the fact that most of the entities were.experiencing financial difficulties.
However, Management has not provided evidence of measures taken to obtain payments
or reports to the Cabinet Secretary explaining specific difficulties experienced in collecting
the debts as required under Regulation 64 of the PFM (National Government) Regulations,
2015. Consequently, Management is in breach of the Regulations.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

218) The loan redemption and interest arrears have continued to grow and as at the end of
the financial year under review the arrears stood at Kshs.39,165,038,239. As it has been
observed that most of those Entities in arrears are experiencing financial difficulties.
However, the National Treasury continues to demand what is due and outstanding. On the
other hand, the Schedule of Arrears prepared by the Department on behalf of the
Accounting Officer is also shared the Cabinet Secretary on the same. However, the
department currently prepares the report for the Cabinet Secretary/NT as required by the
PFM Regulations, 2015.

219) Committee Observations and Findings

The Committee observed that the matter was discussed in PAC report 2017/2018 and
recommended that the Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury and Planning should, within
three ‘months '(3) of tabling this report, ensure that the National Treasury develops a
comprehensive framework for on-lending including loan write-offs to government entities by
the National Treasury.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

220) Conclusion
33. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.
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STATEMENT OF OUTSTANDING OBLIGATIONS GUARANTEED BY THE
GOVERNMENT OF KENYA

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

34. Presentation and Disclosure

221) The statement of outstanding obligations guaranteed by the Government of Kenya
reflects outstanding balance of Kshs.152,317,825; (2018-Kshs.164,132,745) heing Capital
and Interest owed by Cereals and Sugar Finance Company. However, the.Consolidated
National Government Investment Report for the year 2018/2019, prepared by The National
Treasury in accordance with Section 89 of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012,
indicates that the total outstanding Government guaranteed... debt stood at
Kshs.159,405,000,000 as at 30 June, 2019 as shown below:

Agency Outstanding Government
Guaranteed Debt as at 30 June, 2019
(Kshs.)

Kenya Broadcasting Corporation (KBC) 357,000,000

Tana and Athi River Development Authority 279,000,000

East African Portland Cement PLC 346,000,000

Kenya Electricity Generating Company PLC 43,035,000,000

Kenya Ports Authority 34,061,000,000

Kenya Railways Corporation 4,603,000,000

Kenya Airways 76,724,000,000

Total 159,405,000,000

222) The total outstanding Government guaranteed debt of Kshs.159,405,000,000 does not
include the balance of Kshs.152,317,825 reflected in the statement of outstanding
obligations-guaranteed by the Government of Kenya prepared and submitted for audit by
The National Treasury, which is indicated as relating to Capital and Interest owed by
Cereals.and Sugar Finance Company. Further, the parent Ministries for the Agencies
mentioned above did not prepare and submit for audit their respective statements of
outstanding obligations guaranteed by the Government of Kenya as at 30 June, 2019. No
explanations have been provided for the omissions. Under the circumstances, the
completeness and accuracy of the outstanding balance of Kshs.152,317,825 reflected in the
statement of outstanding obligations guaranteed by the Government of Kenya as at 30 June,
2019 could not be ascertained

Submission by the Accounting Officer

Cereals and Sugar Finance Corporation
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223) The obligation guaranteed by the Government in respect of borrowing by Cereals and
Sugar Finance Corporation amounting to Kshs.152,317,825 has remained outstanding
pending conclusion of the winding up of the corporation. The National Treasury established
a Taskforce on winding up of Dormant Funds. The National Treasury sought and got legal
opinion and recommendations from the Attorney General vide his letter
Ref. AG/CONF/6/E/170 VOL I1(5) of 17"" May 2019. A cabinet Memorandum on winding
of the fund vide letter Ref. No. MOF/AC/305C Vol. 2 (172) of 10" September 2019 was
forwarded to the Attorney General and in reply vide his letter Ref. AG/LDD/199/1/81 OF
19" November 2019 he advised that draft revocation orders be prepared on the fund. The
revocation order 2020 was done and submitted to the cabinet for consideration and
approval. The Head of Public service vide letter ref no. CAB/GEN.3/1/1 VOL.XVI1/(18)
dated 2" March 2021 communicated The Cabinet Approval for revocation order of the
Fund. The Orders were forwarded to Attorney General's Office vide letter REF
AG.MOF/AC/305C VOL. 2 (213) dated 12 April, 2021 for onward transmission to the
National Assembly. With the conclusion of the winding up, the issues raised by the Auditor
will be fully addressed.

224) Committee Observations and Findings
The obligation guaranteed by the Government in respect of borrowing by Cereals and Sugar
Finance Corporation amounting to Kshs.152,317,825 has remained outstanding pending
conclusion of the winding up of the corporation.

225) Committee Recommendation
1) The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury should ensure the finalization of

the Cabinet Memorandum on/winding up of the Fund

2) The Accounting Officer follows up with the Attorney General's Office on the
transmission of the memorandum to the National Assembly for the approval of
conclusion of the winding up so-as to fully address the issues raised by the Auditor-
General

35. Decrease in Guaranteed Obligations

226) The statement indicates that obligations guaranteed decreased from Kshs.164,132,745
reported as at 30 June, 2018 to Kshs.152,317,825 as at 30 June, 2019. Although Note 2 to
the financial statements explains the reasons for the decrease in balance, Management did
not-avail documentary evidence to support the explanation. Consequently, the accuracy of
the reported-decrease of Kshs.11,814,920 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

227) ~ The statement of Obligations Guaranteed by Government of Kenya reflected contingent
liabilities amounting to Kshs.164,132,746 as at 30" June, 2018 made up of
Ksh.11,814,920.00 guaranteed to Bond Holders relating to Kenya Railways Corporation
and Ksh.152,317,825 in respect of borrowing by Cereals and Sugar Finance Corporation
as at 30th June, 2018. Kenya Railways Corporations informed us vide their letter
referenced KRC/FIN/22 dated 9th April, 2018 that there are no documents to support the
two Bonds. Therefore, the corporation is unable to provide information and maturity dates
and details of bond holders. The Corporation has further confirmed that no claim or
communication on the said bonds has been received in the last ten years.
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228) Further, the National Treasury wrote vide letter reference No. DMD4/46 dated 30th
November, 2018 seeking the corporation’s concurrence to stop reporting these bonds in the
financial statements forthwith. The corporation vides letter reference number KF/FIN/NT/
(13) dated 5th March, 2019 concurred with Treasury’s proposal. The National Treasury
therefore stopped reporting the obligation guaranteed to Kenya Railways Corporation.
Therefore, this reduced the level of obligations guaranteed by government.

229) Committee Observations and Findings
The National Treasury stopped reporting the obligation guaranteed to Kenya Railways
Corporation. Therefore, this reduced the level of obligations guaranteed by government.

230) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section:68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

231) Conclusion

36. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of my report, | have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit conclusion.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

232) Conclusion

37. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of my report, 1_.have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basisfor an audit conclusion.

CONSOLIDATED FUND SERVICES - SUBSCRIPTIONS TO INTERNATIONAL
ORGANIZATIONS

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

233) Unqualified Opinion
38. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the Fund

234) Committee Observations and Findings
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The Committee observed that Paragraph 36 to 38 had no issue compliance with lawfulness and
effectiveness in use of public resources effectiveness of internal controls, risk management and
governance.

Other Matter

39. Dormancy of Consolidated Fund Services - Subscriptions to International
Organizations

235) The financial statements of the CFS- Subscriptions to International Organizations for
2016/17,2017/18 and 2018/19 financial years reflects no activity for the three years period.
Although a budget of Kshs.500.000 has been allocated under CFS - Subscriptions to
International Organizations every year, no activities have been reported during the three
(3) years period. The relevance of the CFS- Subscriptions to International Organizations is,
therefore, not clear especially in view the Public Finance Management Regulations
(African Union (AU) and Other International Organizations Subscription Fund)
Regulations, 2017 that established the AU and Other- International Organizations
Subscription Fund from which Kenya’s contributions to. AU and Other International
Organizations should be paid from.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

236) The Accounting Officer admitted that there were no payments made during the
financial years 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 as reflected in the respective reports under
vote 0006 CFS Subscriptions to International Organizations because since there were no
demand notes from the respective organizations. The expenditure under vote 0006 for the
five institutions i.e., International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/IDA,
International Monetary Fund, Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (M.I.G.A),
African Development Bank and International Finance Corporation is as required by various
laws creating them.

237) Explanation by management of lack of demand note from International Organizations
satisfactory.

238) Committee Observation and Findings
No payments were made during the financial years 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 as

reflected.in the respective reports under vote 0006 CFS Subscriptions to International
Organizations because there were no demand notes from the respective organizations.

40. Unresolved Prior Year Audit Matters

239) The following prior year audit matters remained unresolved as at the end of the financial
year:

40.1 Comparison of Expenditure with the Appropriation Account
240)  As reported in 2017/2018 financial year, The National Treasury financial statements
reflected payments as grants and transfers amounting to Kshs.1,069,476,595. Included in
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the amount were membership dues and subscriptions to unspecified international
organizations totaling to Kshs.48,779,790 while the remaining balance of
Kshs.1,020,696,805 was indicated to have been paid to four organizations as detailed out

below: -

Amount
Organization (Kshs.)
Africa Capacity Building Foundation 42,333,304
Shelter Afrique 355,000,000
MEFMI 81,363,501
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 542,000,000
IBRD
Total 1,020,696,805

241) There is a risk of duplicate payments of expenditure where The National Treasury
makes payments without authenticating with organizations responsible for the payments
and more specifically where payments are not adequately, disclosed as is the case of
Kshs.48,779,790. From the foregoing, The National Treasury has not drawn a distinction
between subscriptions and grants and hence the.pay points of CFS - Subscription to
International Organizations and The National Treasury main account respectively.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

242) The Accounting Officer submitted that during the financial year 2017/2018, the
Government made payments as grants and transfers amounting to Kshs.1,069,476,595.
Included in the expenditure of Kshs.1,069,476,595 are membership dues and subscriptions
totalling Kshs.48,779,790 that was paid to various International Organizations under voted
provision vote 1071. During the FY 2016/2017 all subscriptions both local and international
organisations were consolidated and budgeted under Vote 1071 — The national Treasury
Head 0092 .indicating the allocation for each institution. Since then, there was no budget
allocation for these. institutions under vote CFS R053 - CFS Subscriptions to International
Organizations.

Committee Observation and Findings

243) During the financial year 2017/2018, the Government made payments as grants and
transfers amounting to Kshs.1,069,476,595. Included in the expenditure of
Kshs.1,069,476,595 are membership dues and subscriptions totalling Kshs.48,779,790 that
was paid to various International Organizations under voted provision vote 1071. The
explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory to both the Committee and the
Auditor.

40.2 Unsupported Balances
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244) In the audit report of 2015/2016, the detailed statement of Kenya Government share
subscriptions and capital contribution to international organizations under Note 5 of the
financial statements had reflected local value of subscriptions totaling
Kshs.51,403,651,783 against various amounts in foreign currencies as at 30 June, 2016.
However, an independent circularization to twelve (12) reported recipient organizations
yielded only four (4) confirmations. Further, amounts confirmed by two (2) of the four (4)
organizations differed significantly with the reported amounts as per The National Treasury
records. Further, subscription for 2014/15 amounting to Kshs.116,813,106,919 in respect
of ten (10) organizations were restated to Kshs.49,750,957,607 and attributed to foreign
exchange rate fluctuations. However, the huge discrepancies attributed to foreign exchange
losses have not been explained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

245) At the time of audit of financial statements for the year ended 30" June, 2016, four
organizations namely African Capacity Building Foundation, P.T.A. Bank, International
Finance Corporation and Macroeconomic and Financial Management Institute (MEFMI)
had confirmed Kenya's status.

246) The amounts confirmed by P.T.A. Bank and MEFMI differed with the reported
amounts but were later updated as indicated by the confirmation letters. The remaining
eight organizations later confirmed Kenya's.subscriptions and are in agreement with
reported figures. The subscriptions for 2014/2015 amounting to Kshs.116,813,106,919 in
respect of eight organizations included subscribed capital. The amount was restated to
Kshs.49,750,957,607 in orderto reflect the total paid up capital as at 30th June, 2015.

247) The variance in foreign currencies does not represent a loss to the Government but
majorly attributable to reporting of the paid-up capital which is less than the amounts
subscribed.

248) Committee Observations and Findings

i) At thetime of audit of financial statements for the year ended 30" June, 2016, four
organizations namely African Capacity Building Foundation, P.T.A. Bank,
International Finance Corporation and Macroeconomic and Financial Management
Institute (MEFMI) had confirmed Kenya's status. The amounts confirmed by P.T.A.
Bank and MEFMI differed with the reported amounts but were later updated as
indicated by the confirmation letters.

i) The remaining eight organizations later confirmed Kenya's subscriptions and are in
agreement with reported figures. The subscriptions for 2014/2015 amounting to
Kshs.116,813,106,919 in respect of eight organizations included subscribed capital.
The amount was restated to Kshs.49,750,957,607 in order to reflect the total paid up
capital as at 30" June, 2015. The variance in foreign currencies does not represent a
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loss to the Government but majorly attributable to reporting of the paid-up capital which
is less than the amounts subscribed.

iii) The explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory and therefore the matter
was resolved.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

249) Conclusion
41. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

250) Conclusion

42. There were no material issues relating to effectivenessof internal controls, risk
management and governance.

251) Committee Observations and Findings

The Committee observed that Paragraph 41.and. 42 on compliance with lawfulness and
effectiveness in use of public resources effectiveness of internal controls, risk management and
governance were discussed and found as satisfactory.

EAST AFRICA TOURIST VISA FEE COLLECTION ACCOUNT
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

43. Inappropriate Financial Reporting Framework

252) Section 81(3) of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012 requires an Accounting
Officer to-prepare the financial statements in a form that complies with the relevant
accounting standards prescribed and published by the Public Sector Accounting Standards
Board (PSASB). The Board has prescribed the Accrual Basis of accounting method for
accounts that carry forward and do not surrender balances at the end of financial year with
the following elements; the statement of financial position, statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in net assets, statement of cash flows and comparative
statement of budget and actual expenditure. However, the financial statements presented
for audit have been prepared in accordance with the Cash Basis of accounting method under
the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), which comprise of; the
statement of assets and liabilities, statement of receipts and payments, statement of cash
flows and comparative statement of budget and actual amounts.
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253) In the circumstances, the financial statements as prepared and presented do not comply
with the provisions of Section 81(3) of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

254) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true the financial statements of East
African Tourist Visa fee have been prepared on IPSAS Cash - basis as per the advice of the
Public Sector Accounting Standards Board Kenya Gazette Notice no 5440 of 8th August
2014. There has not been any revision on reporting standards to the Fund.

255) Committee Observations and Findings

The financial statements of East African Tourist Visa fee have been prepared on IPSAS Cash
- basis as per the advice of the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board Kenya Gazette
Notice no 5440 of 8th August 2014.

256) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of-Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

44. Completeness of Statement of Budget versus.Actual Performance

257) The statement of budget versus actual performance reflects receipts as a consolidated
amount from East Africa Tourist Fee whereas the statement of receipts and payments
disaggregates receipts into; receipts fromsale of EATV stickers by Kenya, share of EATV
revenue from partner states and foreign exchange gain. The Statement does not also
disclose the budgeted transfers.. Consequently, the statement of budget versus actual
performance as prepared and presented is not IPSAS cash basis compliant.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

258) The Accounting Officer admitted that the Statement of Revenue and Payment
disaggregates receipts into Receipts from sale of EATYV stickers by Kenya, Share of EATV
revenue from Partner States and Foreign Exchange gain. Receipts from sale of EATV
stickers by Kenya- Kshs.100,775,998.31 is money collected by various agencies in Kenya
to be shared by the three partner states (including Kenya) and therefore doesn’t belong to
any one country and as such cannot be compared to the budgets of a particular country.

259) Share of revenue from Partner states amounting to Kshs141,256,597.10 is money that
has already been shared by the three countries (including Kenya) and transferred to the
receiver of revenue to be eventually transferred to the consolidated fund (Exchequer
account) for spending by the Government. This is the actual receipts from EATV that may
be compared to the Budget as tabulated here below. Attached is an extract of revenue
budget.
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Receipts Original Adjustments Revised Actual Difference
Estimates Estimates 30th June 2020

Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs Kshs

EATV Fee | 80,193,845.97 | 16,631,086.97 | 63,562,759.00 | 141,256,597.10 (77,693,838.10)

260) Foreign Exchange gain Kshs.157,702.92 is nominal receipt that cannot be shared since
the operative currency is the USD. East Africa Tourist Visa Fee MOU doesn’t provide for
any expenditure other than the costs associated with the collection and transfer of EATV
revenue to partner states which should be within the 40%. (For FY 2018/2019 Bank charges
of Kshs.2,100,516.36 were the only expenses)

261) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The Accounting Officer admitted that the Statement of Revenue. and Payment
disaggregates receipts into Receipts from sale of EATV stickers by Kenya, Share of
EATV revenue from Partner States and Foreign Exchange gain.
(if) The share of revenue from Partner states is the money-that has already been shared by the
three countries (including Kenya) and transferred to the receiver of revenue and may be
compared to the budget

262) Committee Recommendation

(i) The Accounting Officer should ensure that the National Treasury prepares a
statement of revenue that compare the budgeted and actual share of revenue from
Partner state in compliance with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM Act 2012.

45. Poor Maintenance of Accounting Records and Supporting Documents

263) The financial “Statements prepared and presented for audit were not adequately
supported with the underlying source documents including the Trial Balance, Ledgers and
Visa Registers. Furthermore, the cashbook presented had no evidence of having been
reviewed. No monthly bank reconciliation statements were prepared and board of survey
reports were not carried out as part of the end of year procedures. The Joint verification
report.balances are at variance with those reported in the financial statements. In absence
of proper-accounting records and supporting documents, no reliance can be placed on the
financial statements as prepared and presented.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

264) The Financial Statements are reported in Kshs being the reporting currency but the USD
currency is the operative currency of EATV. In the course of Audit, the management
provided the Bank reconciliation statements, certificate of bank balances, the Bank
statements, the Cashbook, Receipt ledger and Trial balance as requested by the audit team.
The cash book and the bank reconciliation statement were prepared and checked by
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different auditors. A signed and stamped bank certificate was also provided to ascertain the
bank balances.

265) The above documents were in the operative currency (USD) but a conversion schedule
to the reporting currency (Kshs) was also provided. The conversion rates were based on the
day’s mean rate as provided by CBK. The manual ledgers were provided because no proper
IFMIS module is fully developed to enable receipts and payments of the EATV which are
transfers done in foreign currency through Payment Advices (PAS).

266) It is true that The National Treasury did not avail the Stickers register received from
Rwanda. However, The Management advised the auditor via a letter dated 5th September
2019 Ref no. AG.3/172/1 Vol 4 (12) that the EATV registers and unused EATV stickers
are kept by the Ministry of Interior and Coordination of National Government. The
responsibility of The National Treasury is to Share revenue received from the collecting
agencies: The Ministry of foreign affairs and the Directorate.of Immigration.

267) Committee Observations and Findings

The National Treasury did not avail the Stickers register received from Rwanda. However, The
Management advised the auditor via a letter dated 5th September 2019 Ref no. AG.3/172/1 Vol
4 (12) that the EATYV registers and unused EAT V.stickers are kept by the Ministry of Interior
and Coordination of National Government

268) Committee Recommendation

1) The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and
reconciled financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section
68(2) of the PFM Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are
presented within three (3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article
229 of the Constitution.

2) The Auditor-General undertake the audit of the EATV registers and EATV
stickers under the Ministry of Interior and Coordination of National Government
and report in the subsequent audit cycle

46. Non-Compliance with the EATV MOU

269) Article 7 of the MOU outlines the modalities for sharing out revenues raised on EATV
fees amongst the partner states with ten percent (10%) being retained by each member
country issuing the sticker for its administration costs, including accrued bank charges, and
the remaining 90% to be shared equally among the three partner states each receiving 30%.
The MOU also indicates the departments with the responsibilities to implement the MOU,
the timeframe for effecting the transfers to the member states and further defines the
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amounts for administration costs or bank charges. However, the statement of receipts and
payments reflects receipts from sale of EATV stickers by Kenya of Kshs.100,775,998
resulting to equitable share to the partner countries of Kshs.60,465,599. However, actual
transfers total to the partner countries amounted to Kshs.66,574,248 resulting an
overpayment of Kshs.6,108,649. Management has not provided the reasons for the
overpayment. In the circumstances, Management is in breach of the MOU.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

270) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the Kshs.100,775,998.00 was
received from sticker issues from various agencies and Kshs.109,126,198 transferred to
Partner states. The account had an opening balance of Kshs.27,652,299.16, Bank charges
of Kshs.2,100,516.36, Forex gains of Kshs.157,702.92 (the operative currency is the US
Dollar while the reporting currency is Kshs) and a closing balance of Kshs.17,359,285.34
The table below analyses the amount of Kshs.109,126,198 being transfers to partner states
in accordance with the MOU.

Description Kshs

Balance brought forward. 27,652,299.16

Add sales during the year 100,775,998.00

Add Forex Gains for the year 157,702.90

Less: closing balance (17,359,285.34)

Less: Bank Charges (2,100,516.36)

Amount shared during the year 109,126,198.36

Sharing in Kenya (Kshs) Uganda (Kshs) Rwanda (Kshs) Total (Kshs)
Quarter

Q1 13,844,023.32  10,756,250.62 10,756,250.62 35,356,524.56
Q2 9,958,835.16 7,722,797.11 7,722,797.11 25,404,429.39
Q3 10,990,788.80 8,989,348.81 8,989,348.81 28,969,486.41
Q4 7,758,303.72 5,818,727.30 5,818,727.30 19,395,758.33

Total amount

Shared  42,551,951.00  33,287,123.84 33,287,123.84 109,126,198.68

271) Committee Observations and Findings
i) The statement of receipts and payments reflects receipts from sale of EATV stickers by
Kenya of Kshs.100,775,998 resulting to equitable share to the partner countries of
Kshs.60,465,599. However, actual transfers total to the partner countries amounted to
Kshs.66,574,24 resulting to equitable share to the partner countries of Kshs.60,465,59
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i) The actual transfers total to the partner countries amounted to Kshs.66,574,248
resulting an overpayment of Kshs.6,108,649. The Accounting Officer did not provide
satisfactory explanation for the overpayment.

272) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General a satisfactory analysis of the overpayment of Kshs. 6,108,649. The
Auditor-General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the
subsequent audit reporting cycle.

47. Limited Segregation of Duties

273) The financial transactions for the Account were prepared and recorded by one officer.
The officer solely undertook recordings in the cashbook and other books of original entry.
Further, the officer was responsible for the preparation of. financial statements and
provision of supporting records and documents. Consequently, there is limited segregation
of duties which makes the process susceptible to errors and manipulation.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

274)  According to Article 2 and 7 of the Memorandum of Understanding the institutions that
implementation EATV are Directorate of Immigration and Registration of Persons under
the Ministry of Interior and Coordination of National Government, the Ministry of Foreign
Affairs and the National Treasury. The Directorate of Immigration and Registration of
Persons receives and distribute all visa stickers, manage issuance of EATV stickers at
Airports and Boarder points and keep records for EATV sticker balances. The Ministry of
Foreign affairs is responsible for issuance of EATV stickers in Missions abroad. Both the
Directorate of Immigration.and Ministry of Foreign affairs have EATV collection accounts
from which remittances are made to the main EATV account at the National Treasury. The
National Treasury coordinates the sharing of collected revenues to the partner states.

275) Therefore, EATV is implemented by three Entities i.e. The State Department of
Immigration, The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and the National Treasury. At the National
Treasury whose mandate is to distribute EATV fees collected and banked by the two
institutions, one officer does reconciliations and then prepares a payment schedule that is
signed by two officers and finally prepares Payment Advices. The Payment Advices are
then signed by three Ministry officials. Therefore, there is adequate segregating of duties.
During the FY 2019/2020 the cash book and the bank reconciliation statements were
prepared and checked by different officers for Internal Control purposes.

276) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that during the year under review, one officer prepared and recorded
the financial transactions including the preparation of financial statements and provision of
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supporting records and documents. However, in the FY 2019/20, a different officer prepared
and checked the cashbook and the bank reconciliation statements for internal control purposes.

277) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General a verifiable internal control system for the funds. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle.

48. Unresolved Prior Year Audit Matters
48.1 Receipts from Issue of Stickers in Kenya

278) Asdisclosed under Note 10.1 to the financial statements, the statement of receipts and
payments for the year ended 30 June, 2017 reflected receipts from issue of stickers by
Kenya of Kshs.72,459,424. However, Management did not avail the Trial Balance,
Ledgers, and the Register for Visa Stickers Register'in support of the reported revenue.
Further, there is no reconciliation between receipts issued out by the agencies and the
reported revenue receipts.

279) A review of stickers under the custody of two revenue collecting agencies; Ministry of
Foreign Affairs and the Directorate/of Immigration and Registration of persons revealed
that five thousand seven hundred and fifty (5,750) and five thousand and thirty-six (5,036)
stickers were issued respectively. With each sticker selling at USD 100, the total receipts
amounted to USD 1,078,600 or approximately Kshs.107,860,000.

280) From the foregoing, the accuracy and completeness of the reported receipts from issue
of stickers by Kenya of Kshs.72,459,424 for the year ended 30 June, 2017 could not be
confirmed.

Submission by.the Accounting Officer

281) -The Accounting Officer admitted that in the FY 2016-2017 Kshs.72,459,423.88 was
received from sticker issues from various agencies and Kshs.82,109,999.89 was transferred
to “Partner states (including Kenya). The account had an opening balance of
Kshs.48,280,744.26 which included, Kshs.30,319,510 received from Rwanda and Uganda
and had not been transferred to the receiver of revenue. There were also Bank charges of
Kshs.450.00, Forex Loss of Kshs364,206.73 and a closing balance of Kshs.8,674,414.98.

282) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The Committee observed that the Trial Balance, Ledgers, and the Register for Visa Stickers
Register in support of the reported revenue have not been availed for review. Further
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observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep proper accounting records
in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;

(if) The Committee also observed that during the audit, the Accounting Officer failed to
provide accurate records and other supporting documents in breach of Section 9 (1) (e) of
the Public Audit Act, 2015;

283) Committee Recommendations

1) The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and
reconciled financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section
68(2) of the PFM Act 2012. Further, the Accounting Officer should ensure that
complete financial and accounting records including supporting documents are
presented within three (3) after the close of the financial year in breach of Section
9(1) (e) of the Public Audit Act, 2015

2) Within one month of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide
to the Auditor-General copies of Trial Balance, Ledgers, and the Register for Visa
Stickers. The Auditor-General undertake a review and report to the National
Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle.

48.2 Non-Submission of Financial Statements

284) As previously reported, the financial statements prepared and presented for audit for
the year ended 30 June, 2016 had comparative balances for the year ended 30 June, 2015.
However, the financial statements for the year.ended 30 June, 2015 were not prepared and
presented for audit. Consequently, the comparative balances were for an unaudited
financial statement. A review-of the East African Tourist Visa (EATV) Memorandum of
Understanding (MOU) indicates that it was signed on 27 October, 2013 with the collection
of fees commencing in the financial year ended 30 June, 2014. The first set of financial
statements should have covered the year ended 30 June, 2014 and subsequently to 30 June,
2015. Consequently, the accuracy of the unaudited comparative figures could not be
established.

Submission by.the Accounting Officer

285) Whenthe MOU was signed, the implementation of visa by the partner states had various
bottlenecks because accounting & reporting structures had not been put in place However,
with_the intervention of various institutions including the office of the Auditor General
these issues have been resolved.

286) Committee Observations and Findings
i. The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer has started preparing financial
statements, the unaudited balances will be reviewed to confirm that they have been
accurately carried forward to subsequent periods of audit;
ii. The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;
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iii. The query remained unresolved.

287) Committee Recommendations

1) The Committee reprimands the then Accounting Officer for failure to ensure that
the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled financial and accounting records that
comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM Act 2012. Further,
reprimands the Accounting Officer for failure to ensure that complete financial
and accounting records including supporting documents are presented. within
three (3) after the close of the financial year in breach of Section 9(1) (e) of the
Public Audit Act, 2015

2) Within one month of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer provide to
the Auditor-General the financial statements. The Auditor-General undertake a
review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting
cycle.

48.3 Non-Adherence to MOU Provisions on Sharing of Receipts
288) As previously reported, the statements of receipts and payments reflected receipts from

issue of stickers by Kenya of Kshs.70,883,521 for-the year ended 30 June, 2016. However,
the sharing out was not equitable as per the MOU which entitles the issuing party to retain
10% of the amount or Kshs.7,088,352 and-the balance to be shared equally by the parties
each receiving 30% or Kshs.21,265,056... Instead, each partner state received
Kshs.15,934,153 which was an understatement by Kshs.5,330,903 as per the signed MOU.
No satisfactory explanation has ‘been provided for the breach of the agreement.
Management has also not provided proof of remittance of its share of receipts of
Kshs.28,353,408 to the Exchequer.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
289) As mentioned above, the implementation of MOU had various bottlenecks like delays

in Account opening by the implementing agencies of all the partner States & delays in
remittances from Missions abroad. However, these initial problems were resolved and
shortfalls to.any of the Partner states were made good in subsequent quarters. The total
figure since inception to 30th June, 2016 confirms establishes that the ratios were adhered
to-as.prescribed by the MOU. See analysis below:

ANALYSIS OF EATV RECEIPTS FROM INCEPTION TO JUNE 2016

Source Amount USD

Directorate of immigration and Registration of persons 659,100.00
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 345,900.00
Total distributed 1,005,000.00
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ANALYSIS OF EATV SHARING FROM INCEPTION TO JUNE 2016
st 2nd 3rd . . . |5th 6th Final
Country | % Sharing Distribution |Distribution |Distribution f;:;'lsst”bumn Distribution |Distribution |Distribution (.:I:Ir::tions
23.02. 2015 (21. 04. 2015 (20. 07. 2015 29.04.16 19.05.16 26.10.2016
usbD usbD usbD Usp usbD usb usD UsD
Kenya 40% 28,854.43 2,269.43 1,401.04 125,168.00 [ 36,022.61 | 42,560.00 | 165,724.49 402,000.00
Uganda 30% 21,640.82 1,719.95 1,401.04 93,528.92 27,016.96 31,920.00 | 124,272.32 301,500.00
Rwanda 30% 21,640.82 1,719.95 1,401.04 93,528.92 27,016.96 31,920.00 | 124,272.32 301,500.00
Total 100% 72,136.07 5,709.32 4,203.12 312,225.84 | 90,056.53 | 106,400.00 | 414,269.12 | 1,005,000.00
290) Committee Observations and Findings

The committee observed that the implementation of MOU had various bottlenecks like delays
in Account opening by the implementing agencies of all the partner, States & delays in
remittances from Missions abroad. However, these initial problems were resolved and
shortfalls paid to the Partner states in subsequent quarters.

291) Committee Recommendations

Within one month of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General the financial statements with analysis of EATV receipts by Kenya
from 2016 to date. The Auditor-General to undertake a review and report to the National
Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle.

48.4 Discrepancies between Financial Statements and Supporting Records

292) As previously reported, a‘review of-records in support of the financial statements
revealed that The National Treasury maintains two EATV fee operating bank accounts,
account number 1000227257 denominated in Kenya Shillings and account number
1000239026 denominated in US dollars. Review of the Kenya Shillings account revealed
that Kshs.51,182,218 EATV fees collected and recorded in the cashbook during the year
was omitted from the 2015/2016 financial statements. Further, receipts from share of
revenue from partner states, Uganda and Rwanda amounting to Kshs.16,236,859 and
Kshs.16,818,866 respectively deposited in the Kenya shillings bank account was not
reported in-the financial statements for the year. In addition, the Kenya Shillings cashbook
reflected a-closing balance of Kshs.39,898,521 as at 30 June, 2016 which was not
incorporated in the financial statements. Further, the transfers made to the partner states
from the Kenya Shillings bank account were omitted from the reported share of EATV
revenue to partner states in the statement of receipts and payment. Consequently, it has not
been possible to confirm the accuracy and completeness of the financial statements as
prepared and presented.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

293) The Accounting Officer submitted that in the Financial Year 2014/2015 the National
Treasury operated a Kenya shilling account No. 1000227257, instead of the USD account
as stipulated in the MOU this is because the EATV structures had not been well established.
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In the FY 2015/2016 and FY2016/2017 the National Treasury operated a Kenya shilling
accounts No. 1000227257 and a US Dollar account no 1000239026. The Kenya shilling
account could not be closed immediately since remittances from Missions abroad were still
being made through the account. In the FY2017/2018 only the USD account was used
according to the MOU. Both accounts were incorporated in the Financial Statements
together with other relevant documents were submitted to the Auditor General.

294) Committee Observations and Findings

i) The National Treasury operated in the Financial Year 2014/2015, a Kenya shilling
account instead of the USD account as stipulated in the MOU due to lack of operation
structures for the EATV.

i) The National Treasury operated in the Financial Years 2015/2016 and FY2016/2017, a
Kenya shilling accounts and a US Dollar account. The National Treasury did not close
the Kenya shilling account since remittances from Missions abroad were still being
made through the account. In the FY2017/2018 only.the USD account was used
according to the MOU

295) Committee Recommendations

Within one month of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General the financial the account statements and certified balances for all
the accounts from 2016 to 2021. The Auditor-General to undertake a review and report
to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle.

48.5 Accountability for EATV Stickers

296) As previously reported, Article 6 of the MOU sets the modalities for issuance of the
EATV stickers with the sticker issued to a tourist upon payment of USD100 or its
equivalent in the local currency. The stickers issued to tourists are accountable documents
and hence records of how they are procured, distributed and issued are critical for
accountability. However, the management does not have in place registers of all stickers
received from the partner states and issued out for the year.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

297)~The National Treasury did not avail the Stickers register received from Rwanda at the
time of audit. However, the auditor was advised via a letter dated 5th September 2019 Ref
no AG.3/172/1 Vol 4 (12) that EATYV registers and unused EATYV stickers are kept by the
Ministry of Interior and Coordination of National Government The responsibility of The
National Treasury is only to Share revenue received from the collecting agencies: The
Ministry of foreign affairs and the Directorate of Immigration.

298) Committee Observations and Findings
The National Treasury did not avail the Stickers register received from Rwanda at the time of
audit.
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299) Committee Recommendation

1) The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and
reconciled financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section
68(2) of the PFM Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are
presented within three (3) months after the close of the financial year in line with
Article 229 of the Constitution.

2) The Auditor-General should undertake the audit of the EATV registers and
EATV stickers under the Ministry of Interior and Coordination of National
Government and report in the subsequent audit cycle

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
300) Conclusion

49. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of my report, | have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit conclusion.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

301) Conclusion
50. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion
section of my report, | have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to

provide a basis for an audit conclusion.

CONSOLIDATED FUND SERVICES (CFS) - SALARIES ALLOWANCES AND
MISCELLANEOUS SERVICES

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Qualified Opinion

51. Unsupported Prior Year Adjustments

302) As disclosed under Note 10 to the financial statements, the statement of assets and
liabilities reflects a prior year adjustment of Kshs.158,249,113; (2018- Kshs.18,420,097).
However, the disclosures are inadequate, as they are not supported by way of an itemized

breakdown of the adjustment. Consequently, the accuracy of the prior year adjustment of
Kshs.158,249,113 as at 30 June, 2019 could not be confirmed.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

303) Unsupported prior year adjustments - Kshs.158,249,113.00

The prior year adjustments of Kshs.158,249,113.00 reported in the statement of assets and
liabilities relates to the opening bank balance that was surrendered to the Exchequer at the
beginning of the financial year and removal from the cashbook of the long outstanding bank
reconciliation entries.

Date Details Amount - Kshs Remarks

to Exchequer

31.08.2018 Exchequer Account (161,582,957.00) Closing bank balance
as at'2018 surrendered

29.05.2019 Cash book adjustment (17) 645,091.50 As per analysis
27.06.2019 Cash book adjustment 2,694,686.05 As per analysis
27.06.2019 Cash book adjustment (5,934.00) Reversal of receipt

period.

relating to prior year

Total - Kshs (158,249,113.00)

304) Committee Observation and Finding

The Accounting Officer provided to the Committee the itemized breakdown of the adjustment
to confirm the accuracy of the prior year adjustment of Kshs.158,249,113 as at 30 June,
2019.The explanation was satisfactory.

Other Matter

52. Budgetary Provisions and Performance

305) ~~The summary statement of appropriation: recurrent and development combined reflects
final miscellaneous services budget and actual on comparable basis of Kshs.128,000,000
and- Nil respectively. As similarly reported in 2017/2018, the planned activities and
programmes on the budgetary provision have not been disclosed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

306) The Accounting Officer submitted that the CFS Vote R052 provides includes a budget
of Kshs.128,000,000 to cater for miscellaneous services which include Payment of
employer contributions to National Social Security Fund and Loan Management Expenses.
However, there was no demand note/invoice from National Social Security Fund for
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payment of Government contribution and there was no payment relating to loan
management expenses in the year under review was made.

307) Committee Observations and Findings
i) The CFS Vote R052 provision includes a budget of Kshs.128,000,000 to cater for
miscellaneous services including payment of employer contributions to National Social
Security Fund and Loan.
ii) National Treasury did not receive demand note from the National Social Security Fund
for payment of Government contribution. Further, there was no payment relating to.loan
management expenses in the year under review.

308) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records. are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

53. Prior Year Issues
309) The following prior year audit matters remained unresolved as at 30 June, 2019:
53.1Accuracy of the Financial Statements and Records

310) Areview of various balances reflected in the financial statements for the year ended 30
June, 2018 revealed that records maintained by Management reflected different balances
though relating to the same items as highlighted below:

i) The statement of receipts and payments reflected an expenditure of
Kshs.2,685,214,290 under compensation of employees. The Trial Balance reflected
a credit balance of Kshs.3,217,869,377 on the same item while the payroll and
payment. vouchers showed a total expenditure of Kshs.2,675,257,162. The
differences between the three sets of records have not been reconciled.

i)~An analysis of the ‘off payroll’ payments reflected an expenditure of
Kshs.256,036,689 while the physical vouchers availed and examined for the period
indicate a total expenditure of Kshs.254,479,596. An expenditure of
Kshs.1,557,093 could not therefore be vouched or explained.

iii) The expenditure on Teachers Service Commissioners as per the supporting
schedules was Kshs.70,500,744 while the Ledger reflected a balance of
Kshs.55,586,543 for the same period. The difference of Kshs.14,914,201 was not
explained.

iv) Examination of schedules supporting the expenditure for the Independent Electoral
and Boundaries Commission in the statement of receipts and payments reflected a
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closing balance of Kshs.61,788,248 while the payroll reflected an amount of
Kshs.51,679,730 The difference of Kshs.10,108,518 was not explained. In addition,
the amount was not recorded in the Ledger and Trial Balance.

v) Examination of payment vouchers revealed that an amount of Kshs.23,705,121 paid
to two retired officers of the National Gender and Equality Commission (NGEC)
was wrongly charged to the National Police Service Commission (NPSC)
expenditure item. No adjustment has been made to correct the anomaly.

vi) The ledger reflected an expenditure of Kshs.100,210,801 for the National Cohesion
and Integration Commission while the payment vouchers examined indicates a total
of Kshs.97,017,530. The difference of Kshs.3,193,271 was not explained. or
reconciled.

vii)The Trial Balance provided for audit included balances which ‘had not been
identified as either debits or credits. Whereas the Trial Balance represents a prima
facie evidence on the accuracy of recording of all the transactions affecting an
entity, it was difficult to establish whether the two sides of the Trial Balance
balanced as at 30 June, 2018. The accuracy of the financial statements’ figures
cannot therefore be ascertained without confirming the-balancing of the Trial
Balance.

311) In absence of an accurate Trial Balance; .the resultant financial statements could have
been grossly misstated and may not have reflected.a true and fair view of the operations of
the Consolidated Fund Service - Salaries, Allowances and Miscellaneous Services for the
year ended 30 June, 2018.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
312) The Accounting Officer submitted as follows:
i. The statement of receipts and payments for the financial year ended 30" June 2018
reflected an amount of Kshs.2,685,214,290 as compensation to employees as indicated
in the table below which agrees with the trial balance.

Constitutional Office KShs.

12 Months Salary(Payrolls) 2,429,177,601.20
Attorney General 9,923,211.60
Judiciary 20,872,831.40
National Gender Comm. 23,705,121.30
National Cohession and Integration Commission 31,040,334.40
Public Service Commission 30,992,190.10
Salaries and Remuneration Commission 65,253,000.00
President, Deputy President And Retired Presidents 74,250,000.00
TOTAL - Kshs. 2,685,214,290.00

313) Committee Observations and Recommendations
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The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The matter is therefore resolved with auditor

314) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

ii. Analysis of off-payroll payments of Kshs.256,036,689.00

315) At the time of submission of financial statements, the off-payroll expenditure
amounting to Kshs.256,036,689.00 was supported with a detailed schedule. All the
vouchers were availed for audit. The difference of Kshs.1,557,093.00 was due to the
missing of some payment vouchers at the time of audit but were later found and records
were reconciled.

Analysis of Off-Payroll Payments

Particulars Kshs.

Attorney General 9,923,211.60
Judiciary 20,872,831.40
National Gender Comm. 23,705,121.30
National Cohesion And _Integration 31,040,334.40
Commission
Public Service Commission 30,992,190.10
Salaries And Remuneration Commission 65,253,000.00
President, Deputy -President And Retired 74,250,000.00
Presidents
Total — Kshs: 256,036,689.00

316) The expenditure on Teachers’ Service Commission as reported in the supporting
schedules for Receipts and Payments reflects the correct amount of Ksh.70,500,744.00.
Theexpenditure of Ksh.55,586,543.00 in the IFMIS ledger relates to Independent Electoral
Commission which is erroneously described in IFMIS as Teacher’s Service Commission
butthis was rectified.

317) Committee Observation and Findings

By the time of audit the Statement of receipts and payments for the Independent Electoral
Commission reflected an expenditure of Ksh.61,788,248 while payroll reflected
Ksh.51,679,730. The two records were reconciled. Matter was therefore resolved with auditor

318) Committee Recommendation
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The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

iii. Trial Balance as at 30" June,2018

319) A detailed Trial Balance for Vote 0004 submitted for audit reflected values of
transactions of payments and receipts. A detailed Ledger Extract for the same period was
availed for audit.

320) Committee Observations and Recommendations
The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The matter is therefore resolved with auditor

321) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of-Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution

322) The expenditure on National Cohesion and.Integration Commission amounting to
Ksh.100,210,801.20 as reported in the Ledger-is comprised of Pay rolls and off payroll
payments as shown below.

Amount (Ksh.)

Payroll summary 69,170,466.60
Payment vouchers 31,040,334.40
Total 100,210,801.20

323) Thedetailed Trial balance for Vote 0004 submitted for audit reflected values of
transactions of payments and receipts. However, the report generated by IFMIS does not
show segregation of debits and credits. A detailed Trial balance for the same period was
availed for audit review.

324) - Committee Observations and Findings
The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The matter is therefore resolved with auditor

325) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
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Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

53.2Unsupported Prior Year Adjustments

326)

The statement of assets and liabilities as at 30 June 2018 reflected prior year adjustment

of Kshs.18,420,097 (2017: Kshs.26,919,334) which was not supported. As reported
similarly in the previous years’ audit reports, Management has not explained the genesis
for the adjustments or provided any records by way of journal vouchers or entries in the
ledger. It appears Management may have used the ‘prior year adjustments’ as a way of
balancing inaccuracies and inconsistencies in the financial records. In absence of sufficient
verifiable supporting documents and records, the authenticity of such adjustments'in the
financial statements cannot be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

327)

The Accounting Officer submitted as follows:

a. Prior Year adjustments of Ksh.18,420,097
The statement of Assets and Liabilities for the year ended 30" June 2018 reflects a prior year
adjustment of Ksh.18,420,097. The amount relatesto erroneous direct deposits from the entities
indicated in the table below.

See  Audit response
Date reference Details Amount 2016/17- Comments
Outward Cheque- FO 76 CONTRA
4-Oct-16 | FT1627878D57 EACC-P KINISU 63,000.00 19/10/16 APX 19
Outward Cheque-
22-Dec-16 | FT16357S5YW7 | EACC- P KINISU 27,000.00 FO23 CONTRA- APX 20
Outward Cheque
JUDICIARY- H FO 86 CONTRA — APX
9-Feb-17 | FT170404D6C5 | OKWENGU 261,000.00 21
7-Jul-17 FT17188M8CWYV | TRFS Payments 40,812.45 FO 01 4/8/2017
TRFS Payments-
MIN FO 86  RECIEPTS
3-Feb-17- | FT17034M3PYX | AGRICULTURE 41,179.05 28/02/2017 APX 23
TRFS Payments-
MIN FO 86  RECIEPTS
27-Feb-17 | FT17058MVVNK | AGRICULTURE 41,507.75 28/02/2017 APX 24
TRFS Payments-MIN
2-Dec-16 | FT163379S1ZW | AGRICULTURE 42,555.30 FO 81 19/12/16 APX 25
TRFS Payments-
28-Sep-16 | FT1627260F9R SAL-OVERPAY 206,500.00 FO 74 30/9/2016 APX 26

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year

ended 30™ June 2019

Page 71




TRFS Payments-
NATIONAL
28-Sep-16 | FT16272QMZY4 | ASSEMBLY 17,696,542.60 | FO 83/78/74/93 APX 27
TOTAL 18,420,097.15

The direct deposits were reported as accounts payable in the FY 2016/2017.
However, the amount was paid to exchequer in July 2018 asper the table above.

328) Committee Observations and Recommendations

The prior year adjustment of Ksh.26,919,334.00 relates to salary advance overpayment
recoveries and payment of withheld salaries in the year ended 30" June, 2017, The Accounting
Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the Committee. The matter
is therefore resolved with auditor

329) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution

53.3Account Balances Not Recorded in Ledger
330) The financial statements for the year 2016/2017 reflected balances of individual items

that were not reflected in the ledger of the Consolidated Fund Services - Salaries,
Allowances and Miscellaneous Services as indicated below; -

Amount
Account (Kshs.)
Exchequer Releases 3,905,744,684

Transfers from Other Government Entities 362,830,853

Other Receipts 18,420,097

331) The figures in the financial statements in respect to the specific items could not be
authenticated.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
332) The Accounting Officer submitted that at the time of audit, the following balances had
not been recorded in the ledger. However, the entries were later captured in the Ledger.

Exchequer releases 3,905,744,684.00
Transfer from other Government Entities 362,830,853.00
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| Other Receipts 18,420,097.00

333) Committee Observations and Recommendations
The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

334) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution

53.4Unsupported Restatement of Balances

335) The financial statements for the year ended 30 June, 2016 reflected balance brought
forward amounts under Fund balance, compensation of employees and accounts
receivables of Kshs.8,566,405,035, Kshs.2,416,693,457 and nil'which had been re-stated
from Kshs.397,382,932, Kshs.2,418,352,317 and‘8,663,621,032 respectively, reflected in
the audited financial statements for 2014/2015. The statement of financial position also
showed clearance of outstanding items of-Kshs.11,980,334. This has not been explained
nor details of the adjustments provided.. Consequently, the accuracy of the balances
reflected in the financial statements cannot be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

336) The Accounting Officer submitted that the statement of financial position as at 30th
June 2016 reflected balance brought forward under fund balance, compensation of
employees and account receivables of Ksh.8,566,405,035.00, Ksh.2,416,693,457.00 and
nil balance respectively which had been re-stated from Ksh.397,382,932.00,
Ksh.2,418,352,317.00 and Ksh.8,663,621,032.00 respectively. The statement of financial
position also shows clearance of outstanding item of Ksh.11,980,334.00 as reflected in the
financial statements as at 30th June, 2015.

337)~The balance brought forward of Ksh.8,566,405,035.00 is the accumulated exchequer
under issues as at 30th June, 2014 that had been carried forward in the books and reported
as. - receivables. The accumulated exchequer under issues increased to
Ksh.8,848,051,762.00 as at 30th June, 2015 and was adjusted by cash book balance of
Ksh.172,450,397.00 and overcast on PA No. 101684 of Ksh.11,980,333.50 to arrive at net
receivables of Ksh.8,663,621,032.00. The budget allocation expired at the end of June each
year and the accounts were prepared on cash basis and hence the adjustment.

338) The amount of Ksh.397,382,932.00 reflected in the audited statement was the bank
certificate balance. The amount was restated to Ksh.8,566,405,035.00 being the
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accumulated exchequer under-issues brought forward in FY 2014/2015. The amount of
Ksh.11,980,334 relates to reversal of an overstatement on payment voucher for PA No.
101684 which had been reported in the payment voucher as Ksh.12,101,354.40 instead of
actual payment Ksh.121,020.90. The variation was due to application of a wrong exchange
rate. The cash book error was corrected.

339) Committee Observations and Recommendations
The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

340) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution

Unexplained Balance

341) The statement of assets and liabilities as at-30 June,; 2017 reflected a balance of
Kshs.4,456,673 referred to as “difference”. Management has not explained what this
amount related to. Further the item does not.appear in-the subsequent financial statements
and there is no disclosure on how it was dealt with.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
342) The Accounting Officer submitted as follows:

Suspense balance of Ksh.4,456,673

343) The statement of assets and liabilities reflects a balance of suspense/difference of
Kshs.4, 456,673.00 being a difference or suspense. The amounts represented salary
overpayment recoveries and salary advances. Salary payments were accounted for in the
payroll execution and hence adjustment was necessary to ensure the amounts paid in payroll
have.not been accounted for twice.

344) Committee Observations and Recommendations
The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

345) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution
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REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

346) Conclusion

54. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

347) Conclusion

55. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

348) Committee Observation and Finding

The Committee observed that there were no issues on-Paragraph54 and 55 on compliance with
lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public resources effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

CONSOLIDATED FUND SERVICES - PENSIONS AND GRATUITIES FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE, 2019

Basis for Adverse Opinion
56. Inaccuracies in the Financial Statements
56.1 Discrepancies between the Financial Statements and the Ledger Balances

349) The financial statements prepared and presented for audit had the following
unexplained.and unreconciled variances with the ledger as indicated below.

Financial

Statements Ledger

Balance Balance Variance
Item (Kshs.) (Kshs.) (Kshs.)
Military Gratuity Payments | 2,365,015,733 2,580,880,386 (215,864,653)
Returned Pensions 341,468,825 438,896,156 (97,427,331)
Re-credited Cheques 121,791,362 390,937,784 (269,146,422)
Commuted Pension and 22,808,826,537 | 25,095,813,221 | (2,286,986,684)
Gratuities
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350) The differences between the two sets of records have not been reconciled or explained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

351) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the financial statements prepared
and presented for audit had the following unexplained and unreconciled variances with the
ledger.

Financial Statements

Balance Ledger Balance | Variance
Item (Kshs) (Kshs) (Kshs)
Military gratuity | 2,365,015,733 2,580,880,386 (215,864,653)
payments
Returned pensions 341,468,825 438,896,156 (97,427,331)
Re-credited cheques 121,791,362 390,937,784 (269,146,422)
Commuted Pension and | 22,808,826,537 25,095,813,221 (2,286,986,684)
gratuities

352) By the time of audit, the differences between the two sets of records had not been
reconciled or explained.

a). Payments to military pensioners” amounting to Kshs.215,864,653.30 comprise of
Kshs.132,892,687 and Kshs.82,971,966, whereby Kshs.132,892,687 together with
Kshs.2,286,986,684 that relates to payments for other public servants™ retirees that were
processed but actual payments were not made due to lack of exchequer. The payments were
processed through the PMIS and posted electronically into the ledger as at 30" June 2019. They
have remained unpaid at the end of financial year. Further, an amount of Ksh.82,971,966 are
payments that had been double posted but were later rectified. The PMIS system does not have
a component of reversal of payments once they have been processed and posted electronically
into the ledger and the amount is considered as pending bills as at the end of financial year
2018/2019. Therefore, this amount became the first charge in the following financial year
2019/2020.

b). The difference of Kshs.269,146,422.17 was occasioned by system error whereby the wrong
balance of Ksh.3,792,842.79 was brought forward for the month of July,2018 instead of the
correct balance of Kshs.4,061,252,617.04. The error was noted and the financial statements for
the period were revised and submitted for audit review.

353) Committee Observations and Findings
The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.
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354) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012

56.2 Misstated Payment of Pensions Balances

355) As disclosed in Note 13.3 to the financial statements, the statement of receipts and
payments reflects a balance of Kshs.66,917,302,195 under payment of pensions. However,
this balance varies with the casted amount of Kshs.66,119,310,602 reflected in Note.13.3
to the financial statements, by Kshs.797,991,593. Further, included in the military pensions
payments of Kshs.4,658,469,029 is an amount of Kshs.132,892,687 which was paid in the
financial year 2019/2020. In addition, payments of civil pensions amounting to
Kshs.29,820,146,295 was not properly supported as the payrollsiand payment vouchers
reflected an expenditure of Kshs.30,271,871,789 and Kshs.26,586,806,355 respectively as
at 30 June, 2019. From the foregoing, the accuracy of the-financial statements prepared
and presented for audit for the year ended 30 June, 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

356) The difference of Kshs.797,991,593 was an omission of expenditure item but was later
included in the revised statement that was submitted for audit review. Payments to military
pensioners amounting to Kshs.132,892,687 -referred to in para 56a above relates to
payments for other public servants retirees that were processed but actual payments were
not made due to lack of exchequer.

357) Further, at the time of audit the reconciliation of civil payroll had not been done.
However, the reconciled payroll has now been done and submitted for audit review.

358) Committee Observations and Recommendations
The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

359) -Committee Recommendation

The-Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012

56.3 Comparative Balances Differing with Audited 2017/18 Balances
360) The following comparative balances differed with the balances reflected in the audited
2017/18 financial statements:

Comparative Balance as Per the
Balance as Per Certified 2017/18
2018/2019 Financial | Financial
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Statement Component | Statements Statements
Statement of Assets | Bank 572,446,864 (572,446,864)
and Liabilities Balance
Statement of Assets | Net 4,633,699,481 (4,633,699,481)
and Liabilities Financial
Assets
Statement of Assets | Fund 3,876,911,341 (3,876,911,341)
and Liabilities Balance b/f
Statement of Assets | Deficit  for | 756,788,140 (756,788,140)
and Liabilities the period
Note 13.1 Exchequer 63,170,121,740 62,413,333,600
Releases
Note 13.3 Civil gratuity | Nil 1,219,455,965

361) In addition, the statement of assets and liabilities reflects a fund balance brought
forward of Kshs.4,037,848,812 while the audited 2017/18 financial statements reflected a
closing balance of Kshs.4,633,699,481 resulting into an unexplained difference of
Kshs.595,850,669.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

362) It is true that by the time of audit comparative balances differed with the balances
reflected in the audited FY2017/18 financial statements. However, the financial statements
were revised and correct balances shown. The difference of Ksh.595,850,669 in the
accounts was due to the use of the PMG figure of (572,446,864) instead of cash book
balance of 23,405,805/- closing balance however, accounts were reinstated and submitted
for review. Further, the financial statements for the year 2018/2019 show Fund balance
brought forward of ‘Kshs.4,037,848,842 instead of the audited financial statements balance
for 2017/2018 of Kshs.4,633,699,481. This is because the financial statements for
2017/2018 were restated through adoption of the cash basis of accounting concepts through
use of the cash book balance of 23,405,805 as at 30" June, 2018 instead of PMG ledger
balance of Kshs.(572,446,864) as at 30" June, 2018. The restatement of accounts was done
because we used the PMG ledger closing balance instead of cash book closing figures in
preparing. financial statements. Therefore, the statement of Assets and liabilities for
financial year 2017-2018 is restated as follows:

PMG ADJUSTMENT CASH BOOK
Balance -572,446,864 595,850,669 23,405,805
Re-Credited -4,061,252,617 - -4,061,252,617
B/ down -4,633,699,481 595,850,669 -4,037,848,842
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363) The figure of Kshs.595,850,669 resulted from the movement of restatement of PMG
closing balance PMG from Kshs.(572,446,864) to Cash book closing balance of
Kshs.23,405,805.

364) Committee Observations and Recommendations
1) The figure of Kshs.595,850,669 resulted from the movement of restatement of PMG
closing balance PMG from Kshs.(572,446,864) to Cash book closing balance of
Kshs.23,405,805.
i) The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the
Committee. The matter is therefore resolved with auditor

365) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012

57. Accuracy of the Financial Statements

366) The statement of receipts and payments reflects balances of Kshs.1,706,000,086 and
Kshs.1,270,867,275 under other receipts and other. payments respectively. The balances are
however, not reflected in the summary statements of appropriation. In the circumstances,
the accuracy of the financial statements as presented could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

367) The summary appropriation statement was revised to reflect correct receipts and
payments balances as shown in revised account note 11.2 and 11.4 of Kshs.1,759,232,390
and Kshs.1,368,294,606 respectively. The figure of Kshs.929,398,450 was surrendered to
the exchequer under revenue collection account while the deposits were for previous
financial year that could not be reflected in the current year and the balances of
Kshs.829,833,940 and 'Kshs.438,896,156 under other receipts and other payments
respectively were retuned payment as shown by Re-credited cheque analysis from the
IFMIS system.

368)~Committee Observations and Findings

i) “The summary appropriation statement was revised to reflect correct receipts and
payments balances of Kshs.1,759,232,390 and Kshs.1,368,294,606 respectively.

i) The figure of Kshs.929,398,450 was surrendered to the exchequer under revenue
collection account while the deposits were for previous financial year that could not be
reflected in the current year and the balances of Kshs.829,833,940 and
Kshs.438,896,156 under other receipts and other payments respectively were retuned
payment as shown by Re-credited cheque analysis from the IFMIS system

369) Committee Recommendations
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1) The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and
reconciled financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section
68(2) of the PFM Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are
presented within three (3) months after the close of the financial year in line with
Article 229 of the Constitution.

2) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer provide to
the Auditor-General the statement with adjustments for review. The Auditor-
General undertake a review and report to the National Assembly. in the
subsequent audit reporting cycle

58. Unbalanced Trial Balance

370) The Trial Balance in support of the financial statements presented foraudit reflects total
debits and credits of Kshs.64,242,772,210 and Kshs.63,699,446,337 respectively resulting
to an unreconciled variance of Kshs.543,325,873. Further, the Trial Balance includes items
with balances that have not been incorporated in the financial statements.

Submission by the Accounting officer

371) The Service and compassionate gratuities~ Ksh.15,267,436, Marriage gratuities
Ksh.16,059,357 and Civilian death gratuities under item 0-0962-0901-2710102 are current
payments paid as other pensions under Head:item totaling Kshs.852,513,923, which is part
of the total expenditure for the year under review.

372) The other figures provided for ‘encumbrance under Head 9-808 are journals™ entries
made to correct errors in the earlier years but because the PMIS has no component to net
off a debit or a credit on running items in the year in which the journals’ entries were passed,
the same has consecutively been being carried forward in the ledger. The error was noted
and will be addressed when new system is procured.

373) Committee Observations and Findings

i) The Committee observed that although Management submitted manual journals to correct
the errors;a new system is yet to be procured in order to capture data and produce accurate
financial statements;

i) The. Service and compassionate gratuities Ksh.15,267,436, Marriage gratuities
Ksh.16,059,357 and Civilian death gratuities under item 0-0962-0901-2710102 are current
payments paid as other pensions under Head item totaling Kshs.852,513,923, which is part
of the total expenditure for the year under review.

374) Committee Recommendations

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.
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59. Unsupported Expenditure

375) The statement of receipts and payments for the year ended 30 June, 2019 reflects
pension payments of Kshs.66,917,302,195. Included in this balance is Kshs.61,995,510
(2017/2018-Kshs 58,656,973) paid through the pension payroll to Asian and European
Pensioners who retired due to Africanization of public sector after independence in 1963.
However, no evidence was provided that the pensioners’ personal files and life certificates
were submitted before payments were effected as required by the Pension Department’s
internal controls. Consequently, the propriety of the expenditure of Kshs.61,995,510 could
not be ascertained

Submission by the Accounting Officer

376) The Accounting Officer admitted that an expenditure amounting Kshs.61,995,510
(2017/2018 — Ksh.58,656,973) is included in the total expenditure of Ksh.66,917,302,195
during the year under review was paid through the pension-payroll.to Asian and European
pensioners who are in our main payroll. The payments have always been made unless there
is notification of deaths that leads to the removal 'of the pensioner from the payroll.
However, all the files that auditors requested were provided:

377) Committee Observations and Findings
1) The Accounting Officer admitted that.an-expenditure amounting Kshs.61,995,510 is
included in the total expenditure’of Ksh.66,917,302,195 during the year under review
was paid through the pension payroll to Asian and European pensioners who are the
main payroll
i) The Committee observed that Pensioners Personal files were availed for audit review
save for the life certificates that were not availed;

378) Committee Recommendations

Within one month of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer provide to the
Auditor-General Life Certificate, Banks Accounts including Payments Details for review.
The Auditor-General undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the
subsequent audit reporting cycle

60. Returned Pensions and Unsupported Accounts Payables

379) . As previously reported, the statement of assets and liabilities and as disclosed in Note
13.6 to the financial statements, reflects accounts payable of Kshs.4,183,043,979 (2018 -
Kshs.4,061,252,617). Analysis of the figure revealed that Kshs.1,189,930,008 related to
pensions payments returned during the year while Kshs.372,222,595 was paid back to
pensioners on account of 2017 returns resulting in the net movement for the year of
Kshs.817,707,413. However, detailed listing by individual pensioners in support of the
accounts payables balance of Kshs.4,183,043,979 was not provided.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

380) The Accounting Officer submitted that the account payable balance of
Kshs.4,183,043,979 is an accumulative figure since the time PMIS was introduced. The
primary source document that are used to capture returned pensions are bank statements,
Miscellanies Receipt, cash books and PMIS ledger that captures returned pensions on
monthly basis to support payable balance of Kshs.4,183,043,979 that can be accessed in
PMIS by the auditors through assistance of ICT staff. The report for re- credited cheques
analysis from the PMIS for the last three years is hereby attached for audit verification.

381) Committee Observations and Findings

i) The Committee observed that the response provided by the Accounting Officer does
not detail individual pensioners to support payable balance of Kshs.4,183,043;

i) The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2).(b) of the PFM Act, 2012;

iii) The Committee also observed that during the audit, the.Accounting Officer failed to
provide accurate records and other supporting documents inbreach of Section 9 (1) (e)
of the Public Audit Act, 2015.

382) Committee Recommendations

Within one month of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer provide to the
Auditor-General supporting documents including individual pensioners to support
payable balance of Kshs.4,183,043for review. The Auditor-General undertake a review
and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

Other Matter

61. Unresolved Prior Year Matter

383) The following prior year audit matter remained unresolved as at 30 June, 2019:

61.1 Unsupported Expenditure

384).As. previously reported, included in the pensions expenditure of Kshs.63,170,121,740
as at 30 June, 2018 is an amount of Kshs.20,294,340 paid to an international development
company. Although Management explained that the payment was on account of pre-
independence and post - independence pensioners who worked in Kenya and currently
residing in the United Kingdom, the expenditure was not adequately supported by way of
payrolls detailing out the beneficiaries. Consequently, the propriety of the expenditure

could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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385) The Accounting Officer submitted that the Department agreed with Crown Agent in
United Kingdom to manage the accounts of pre and post-independence pensioners residing
in the United Kingdom on its behalf. The Department relies on monthly reports from Crown
Agents to make monthly payment schedules and payroll which is available for audit review.
A sample of the payroll and monthly returns for the same has been attached.

386) Committee Observation and Finding

The National Treasury agreed with Crown Agent in United Kingdom to manage the accounts
of pre and post-independence pensioners residing in the United Kingdom on its behalf. The
Department relies on monthly reports from Crown Agents to make monthly payment schedules
and payroll.

387) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Auditor-General initiate a special
audit into the payments since independence to date for the-pre- and post-independence
pensioners residing in the United Kingdom. The special audit should also cover how the
Crown Agent in United Kingdom was procured and the payments for the services offered
to the National Treasury

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
388) Conclusion

62. There were no material issues.relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

389) Conclusion

63. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

REVENUE STATEMENTS — PENSIONS DEPARTMENT
REPORT ON THE REVENUE STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion

64. Discrepancies Between Budget Statement and the Printed Estimates
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390) The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts reflects total budget of non-
tax receipts of Kshs.309,398,233 being contribution by government employees to social
welfare which differs from the 2018/2019 printed revenue estimates of Kshs.894,349,041
resulting to an unexplained and unreconciled variance of Kshs.584,950,808. Consequently,
the accuracy and completeness of the revenue statements could not be confirmed.

65. Variance Between the Revenue Statement and Trial Balance Figures

391) The statement of revenues and transfers reflects total non-tax receipts -of
Kshs.262,230,402; (2018-Kshs.308,019,086) comprising of receipts from MDASs and other
receipts of Kshs.262,091,309 and Kshs.211,093 respectively. However, the Trial Balance
and revenue analysis availed for audit reflected a total of non-tax receipts balance of
Kshs.270,789,739 resulting to an unexplained variance of Kshs.8,559,337.

392) In the circumstance, the accuracy and completeness of the reported total non-tax
receipts balance of Kshs.262,230,402 cannot be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

393) The trial balance generated by the PMIS ledger accumulates figures from previous
period and the figures for the current financial.year are arrived at by deducting the opening
balances from the closing balances. The difference in trial balance was corrected and a
corrected analysis is hereby attached for audit review.

394) Committee Observations and Findings

i) The Committee observed that the ledger availed is manually prepared and not generated
from PMIS which ought-to be the source document of balances reflected in the financial
statements;

i) The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;

iii) The Committee also- observed that the Accounting Officer failed to ensure that
reconciliations are done in time and the complete financial statements submitted to the
Auditor General in time as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a) of the
Public Finance Management Act 2012;

395) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer provide to the
Auditor-General a verifiable internal control system for the funds. The Auditor-General
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

66. Incomplete Progress Report on Follow Up of Auditor’s Recommendations
396) Asreported in the 2017/18 audit report, there is an unresolved matter of an unexplained
difference of Kshs.1,379,147 between the total revenue collected and transferred to the
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Exchequer and transfers of receipts reflected in the bank statement. In addition, the receiver
of revenue failed to provide a budget of the estimated revenue collections. These issues
have not been captured under progress on follow up of auditor’s recommendation section
of the financial statements. In the circumstances, the financial statements have not been
prepared in compliance with IPSAS.

Submission by the Accounting officer

397) The Accounting officer admitted that the Progress Report on Follow up of Auditors
Recommendation was not complete but they were captured in subsequent financial
statements.

398) Committee Observations and Findings
There is no commitment by the National Treasury for timely addressing of the
recommendation by the Auditor-General and PAC recommendations as.resolved by the House.

399) Committee Recommendations

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Cabinet Secretary for the National
Treasury provide to the Auditor-General a verifiable framework for addressing all audit
recommendations and PAC recommendations on the National Treasury and other
national government votes. The Auditor-General provide a report to the National
Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

67. Under Collection of Receipts

400) The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts reflects total non-tax
receipts budget of Kshs.309,398,233 compared to actual receipts of Kshs.262,019,303
resulting in an under collection of Kshs.47,378,924 or 15% of the budget. A significant
proportion of the variance is attributed to the shortfall in 31% contribution receipts from
the parastatals. This could be indicative of parastatals not remitting contributions in a timely
manner. It is true that the Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts reflects a
total budget of Ksh.309,398,233 compared to actual receipts of Ksh.262,019,303 leading
to an.under collection of Ksh.47,378,924 or 15% of the budget. The under collection was
due to delays in remittance by parastatals.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

401)  The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the Statement of comparison of
budget and actual amounts reflects a total budget of Ksh.309,398,233 compared to actual
receipts of Ksh.262,019,303 leading to an under collection of Ksh.47,378,924 or 1550f the
budget. The under collection was due to delays in remittance by parastatals.

402) Committee observations and findings
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The Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts reflects a total budget of
Ksh.309,398,233 compared to actual receipts of Ksh.262,019,303 leading to an under
collection of Ksh.47,378,924 or 1550f the budget. The under collection was due to delays in
remittance by parastatals.

403) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer provide tothe
Auditor-General a verifiable action taken against all parastatals that either delay or fail
to make remittance of revenues collected. The Auditor-General provide a report to the
National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

68. Unresolved Prior Years Matters
68.1 Misstatement of Revenue Balance

404) As reported in the 2017/18 financial year, the statement of revenue reflected total
revenue collected and transferred to the Exchequer amounting to Kshs.308,019,086.
However, the bank statements indicated the total receipts and transfers thereof to the
Exchequer of Kshs.309,398,233 resulting to an unexplained difference of Kshs.1,379,147
as tabulated below:

Revenue Bank Statement

Statement Balance Difference
Sub-item Balance (Kshs.) (Kshs.)

(Kshs.)
31% Contributions 193,408,326.00 212,592,761.20 (19,184,435.20)
2% WCPS 71,886,557.05 60,077,565.85 11,808,991.20
Contributions
Abatement 34,769,053.05 30,422,753.90 4,346,299.15
CAP Deductions 7,955,149.55 6,305,151.95 1,649,997.60
Total 308,019,085.65 309,398,232.90 1,379,147.25

405) Further, the total collection of Kshs.308,019,086 had been recorded under 31%

contributions in the ledger as opposed to the respective sub item accounts classification as
reflected in the Notes to the Revenue Statements. The statement of revenue continues to be
misstated and does not reflect a true and fair view of the operations of the Pensions
Department.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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406)

as per the attached journals.

407)

Committee observations and findings

The Accounting Officer submitted that both the accounts and the ledger were restated

The statement of revenue reflected total revenue collected and transferred to the Exchequer
amounting to Kshs.308,019,086. However, the bank statements indicated the total receipts
and transfers thereof to the Exchequer of Kshs.309,398,233 resulting to an unexplained
difference of Kshs.1,379,147 Both the accounts and the ledger were restated as per the

attached journals.

408)

Committee Recommendation

The Committee reprimands the Accounting Officer for violation of the provisions of
Article 229 (4) (h) of the Constitution and Section 81(4)(a) of the Public Finance

Management Act 2012.
68.2 Revenue Balances

409)

In the audit of the prior year’s revenue statements, there were various classes of revenue

reflected in the statements of revenue but the cashbook reflected different amounts as

analyzed below:

Notes to the Revenue Electronic
Statement Cashbook Balance
Revenue Class (Kshs.) (Kshs.)
31% Contributions 356,715,202.00 0
2% WCPS 0 65,265,348.10
Abatement 0 49,072,014.90
Cap Deductions 0 2,403,645.05

410)

ascertained as.there were no reconciliations in support of the discrepancies.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

411)

was incomplete, the reconciliation has since been done and adjusted as below.

Consequently, the accuracy of the balances in the statement of revenue could not be

The Accounting Officer submitted that by the time of audit, the classification of revenue

Revenue Class Amount (kshs)

31% Contribution 239,974,194

2% WCPS 65,265,348

Abatement 49,072,015

Cap Deduction 2,403,645 |
356,715,202 |
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412) Committee Observation and Findings
The Committee observed that the query was discussed during the examination of the State
Department account for financial year 2017/18 and a recommendation was issued therein.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

413) Conclusion

69. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in'use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

414) Conclusion

70. There were no material issues relating to.effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

DONOR FUNDED PROJECTS

FINANCIAL SECTOR SUPPORT PROJECT IDA CREDIT NO. 5627-KE

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

415) Unqualified Opinion

71. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Project.

72.. Pending Bills

416) Note 9 to the financial statements reflects pending bills amounting to Kshs.45,997,305
as at 30 June, 2019. Management has explained that the bills represented invoices locked
out of procurement system before being paid. Although Management has committed to
adhere to the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act, 2015, the Project is at risk of
incurring additional costs in case of a legal dispute due to non-payment for services
rendered.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

417) The Accounting Officer submitted that the pending bills were due to late submission of
invoices by service providers and therefore, they were not processed. However, they were
all paid as they formed first charge to the FY 2019/2020 budget.

418) Committee Observations and Findings

The pending bills were due to late submission of invoices by service providers and therefore,
they were not processed. However, they were all paid as they formed first charge to the FY
2019/2020 budget.

419) Committee Recommendation

Accounting officers must at all times ensure that pending bills are listed as first charge in
subsequent financial year when preparing estimates of expenditure and revenues of the
entity in conformity with the strategic plan pursuant to the provisions of section 68(2) (h)
of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN- USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

420) Conclusion

73. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

Basis for Conclusion

74. Lack of Internal Audit Services

421) Section.73 of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012, requires all government
entities to.make appropriate arrangements for an internal audit function. Further, Sections
13.and 14 of the Project Appraisal Document (Finance and Markets Global Practice)
provides for Internal Audit and the Audit Committee of The National Treasury to provide
internal audit services and oversee the adequacy of internal control mechanisms over the
Project. During the year under review, there is no evidence of the Project having been
reviewed by The National Treasury internal audit function.

422) Consequently, the Project management is in contravention of the Public Finance
Management Act, 2012 and Project Appraisal Agreement.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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423) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that during the year under review,
that projects had not been reviewed by the National Treasury's internal audit function.
National Treasury had a serious shortage of audit staff and this that affected a number of
activities including projects. However, more staff were recruited after the approval by the
Public Service Commission and projects including Financial Sector Support Project were
assigned auditors

424) Committee Observations and Findings

i) During the year under review, that projects had not been reviewed by the National
Treasury's internal audit function. National Treasury had a serious shortage of audit staff
and this that affected a number of activities including projects

i) The Committee observed that although the internal audit function was, established later,
the Accounting Officer was in breach of Section 73 of the PFM Act, 2012 at the time of
audit. Further, monitoring and review of the effectiveness of:the internal audit process,
review of internal controls, risk management systems and-.financial statements had not
taken place in the absence of audit function

425) Committee Recommendations
The Committee reprimands the Accounting Officer for violation of the Section 73 of the
PFM Act, 2012 at the time of audit.

GLOBAL FUND PROGRAM - TO/ACCELERATE THE REDUCTION OF TB,
LEPROSY AND LUNG DISEASE BURDEN THROUGH PROVISION OF PEOPLE
CENTERED, UNIVERSALLY | ACCESSIBLE, ACCEPTABLE AND
AFFORDABLE QUALITY/SERVICES IN KENYA (GRANT NO. KEN-T-TNT-
1548)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion
75. Non-Disclosure of Counterpart Contribution

426) The statement of receipts and payments does not disclose the counterpart funding from
The National Treasury. Further the Government of Kenya contribution for the financial
year and cumulatively cannot be established. The Project Management is in breach of
paragraph 5.1 of the Grant Agreement which provides for a 15% counterpart contribution.
The Project is also in breach of Section 72 (6) of the Public Finance Management Act,
2012, which requires the National Government to factor grants in the budgets with
counterpart Funds being appropriated in accordance with the signed agreement.
Consequently, the accuracy and completeness of the reported receipts balance of
Kshs.260,083,350 cannot be ascertained.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

427) The Accounting Officer submitted that the during the financial year 2018/2019 the
budget for the Government of Kenya counterpart funding for both old and new TB Grants
was budgeted under the new grant. Grant number: KEN-M-TNT, GA 1546, item: 1078 -
01- 2640503

428) Committee Observations and Findings

During the financial year 2018/2019 the budget for the Government of Kenya counterpart
funding for both old and new TB Grants was budgeted under the new grant. Grant number:
KEN-M-TNT, GA 1546, item: 1078 -01- 2640503. The explanation was satisfactory:to the
Committee and the auditor

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN. USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Basis for Conclusion

76. Failure to Maintain Fixed Asset Register

429) Contrary to the provisions of Section 139(1) and Section 143(1) of the Public Finance
Management (National Government) Regulations, 2015, the Program did not maintain a
fixed asset register and also did not disclose the balances in the financial statements under
the summary of fixed assets section. This is despite the statement of receipts and payments
indicating cumulative expenditure on nonfinancial assets of Kshs.250,473,804 as at 30
June, 2019. To this extent; the Program Management is in breach of law.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

430) The Accounting Officer submitted this was because procurement was being done by
procuring unit (entity) of the National Treasury. However, The National Treasury is in the
process of procuring the services of a consultant to develop one for the project.

431) -Committee observations and Findings

1)« The.Committee observed that there were no proper records in terms of an Asset register
listing all those assets, their location and the core details regarding them.

ii) Further, the Committee observed that there was no system of identification e.g.
tagging/coding, to cost, disposals, depreciation, accumulated depreciation, location of the
asset of the assets had been done, thus putting the assets at risk of getting lost through theft
and misplacement; And

432) Committee Recommendations
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer provide to the
Auditor-General a verifiable progress in the development of asset register for the project.
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The Auditor-General undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the
subsequent audit reporting cycle

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

433) Conclusion
77. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, .risk
management and governance.

INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCE AND PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP PROJECT
- IDA CREDIT NO. 5157-KE

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
434) Unqualified Opinion

78. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Project.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
435) Conclusion

79. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

80. Lack of'lnternal Audit Services

436)Contrary to the provisions of Section 16 of the Project Appraisal Document that
requires the Project Implementation Unit to be audited by internal auditors seconded by
The National Treasury, the Project was not subjected to an internal audit review during the
year under review. The Project is not in compliance with the signed financing agreement

Submission by the Accounting Officer

437) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that during the year under review,
that projects had not been reviewed by the National Treasury's internal audit function.
National Treasury had a serious shortage of audit staff and this that affected a number of
activities including projects. However, more staff were recruited after the approval by the

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 92



Public Service Commission and projects including Financial Sector Support Project were
assigned auditors. The matter to be reviewed for compliance with the Public Finance
Management Act, 2012 since the recruitment of additional staff.

438) Committee Observations and Findings
i) During the year under review, that projects had not been reviewed by the National
Treasury's internal audit function. National Treasury had a serious shortage of audit staff
and this that affected a number of activities including projects
i) The Committee observed that although the internal audit function was established later,
the Accounting Officer was in breach of Section 73 of the PFM Act, 2012 at the time of
audit. Further, monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the internal audit. process,
review of internal controls, risk management systems and financial statements had not
taken place in the absence of audit function.

439) Committee Recommendations
The Committee reprimands the Accounting Officer for violation of the Section 73 of the
PFM Act, 2012 at the time of audit.

PUBLIC FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REFORMS PROGRAM (CREDIT NO.6133-
KE)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
440) Unqualified Opinion

81. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Program.

Other Matter
82. Budget Control and Performance

441)..The statement of comparative budget and actual amounts for the year ended 30 June,
2019 reflects actual receipts of Kshs.258,458,458 against budgeted receipts of
Kshs.1,172,265,090 resulting in a shortfall of Kshs.913,806,632 or 78% of the total budget.
The shortfall was mainly recorded under transfer from Government entities where actual
receipts amounted to Kshs.32,427,451 against the budgeted receipts of Kshs.901,265,090
resulting in a shortfall of Kshs.868,837,639 or 96% of the budgeted receipts. Further, actual
expenditure for the year amounted to Kshs.951,062,733 against the actual receipts of
Kshs.258,458,458 resulting to unfunded expenditure totaling Kshs.692,604,275, which was
financed from the previous years’ budget surplus. As a result of the large budget deficit,
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the Program may not have implemented all programmes and work plans fully as approved
in the budget thus delaying provision of services to the Kenyan citizens.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

442) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the budgeted receipts were
Kshs.1,172,265,090.00 while the actual amount received on comparable basis was
Ksh.258,458,457.95 or 22% of the budgeted receipts. The budget under absorption of
Ksh.221,202,356.85 which represents 19% was due to late submission of work plans:-by
the MDAs

443) Committee Observations and Findings

The budgeted receipts were Kshs.1,172,265,090.00 while the actual amount received on
comparable basis was Ksh.258,458,457.95 or 22% of the budgeted receipts. The budget under
absorption of Ksh.221,202,356.85 representing 19% was due to late submission of work plans
by the MDAs. The explanation was satisfactory and therefore the matter was resolved.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN-USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

444)  Conclusion

83. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

84. Human Capacity Shortfalls

445) A review of the Program’s organizational structure revealed that the positions of
communication specialist, human resource specialist and legal specialist remained vacant
during the-financial year under review. The Program requires a well empowered and
appropriately skilled Secretariat in all the areas spelt out in its staff establishment. Due to
the.human capacity shortfalls, the Program faces challenges in meeting its mandate,
objectives and service delivery to the citizens. Officers holding positions in acting capacity
may not have the necessary skills, competencies or motivation to achieve the desired goals
of the Program

Submission by the Accounting Officer

446) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that a review of the approved
establishment revealed that the positions of communication specialist, human resource
specialist and legal specialist remained vacant during the year under review. However, the
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process of filling the vacant posts has been initiated. Further, additional officers were
seconded from the National Treasury to the project.

447) Committee Observations and Findings

Review of the approved establishment revealed that the positions of communication specialist,
human resource specialist and legal specialist remained vacant during the year under review.
However, the process of filling the vacant posts has been initiated. The explanation was
satisfactory and therefore the matter was resolved.

GLOBAL FUND PROGRAM - SCALING UP MALARIA CONTROL
INTERVENTIONS FOR IMPACT GRANT NO. KEN-M-TNT

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion
85. Non-Disclosure of Counterpart Contribution

448) The statement of receipts and payments does not disclose the counterpart funding from
The National Treasury. Further the Government of Kenya contribution for the financial
year and cumulatively cannot be established..The Project Management is in breach of
paragraph 5.1 of the Grant Agreement which provides for a 15% counterpart contribution.
The project is also in breach of Section 72(6) of the Public Finance Management Act, 2012,
which requires the National Government to factor grants in the budgets with counterpart
Funds being appropriated“in.accordance with the signed agreement. Consequently, the
accuracy and completeness.of the reported receipts balance of Kshs.3,910,591 cannot be
ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

449) The ‘Accounting Officer submitted that the during the financial year 2018/2019 the
budget forthe'Government of Kenya counterpart funding for both old and new Malaria
Grants was budgeted under the new grant. Grant number: KEN-M-TNT, GA 1546, item:
1076 -01- 2640503.

Committee Observations and Findings

450) During the financial year 2018/2019, the budget for the Government of Kenya
counterpart funding for both old and new Malaria Grants was budgeted under the new grant.
Grant number: KEN-M-TNT, GA 1546, item: 1076 -01- 2640503. The explanation was
satisfactory and therefore the matter was resolved.

86. Payment of Undisclosed Pending Bills
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451) The statement of receipts and payments reflects an expenditure of Kshs.3,077,582
incurred on purchase of goods and services during the year under review. However,
information available indicate that the payments related to expenditure incurred in the prior
year but had not been disclosed as pending bills in the 2017/2018 financial statements as
required by International Public Sector Accounting Standards (Cash Basis) method of
accounting. Consequently, the restatements necessary to incorporate the omitted
disclosures in the financial statements has not been done.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

452) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true a payment of Ksh.3,077,582 relates
to pending bills for Financial Year 2017/2018 which were not disclosed in the.financial
statements. This was an omission but the same will not recur.

Committee observations and findings

453) The statement of receipts and payments reflects an expenditure of Kshs.3,077,582
incurred on purchase of goods and services during the year under review. However,
information available indicate that the payments related to expenditure incurred in the prior
year but had not been disclosed as pending bills in'the 2017/2018 financial statements. The
explanation was satisfactory and therefore the.matter was resolved.

87. Failure to Maintain Fixed Asset Register

454)  Scrutiny of the procurement records reflect assets worth Kshs.10,500,852 that were
procured during the first year of the project implementation. However, contrary to the
provisions of Section 139(1) and Section 143(1) of the Public Finance Management
(National Government) Regulations, 2015, the program did not maintain a fixed asset
register and also did not disclose the balances in the financial statements under summary
of fixed assets section.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

455)  The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that there was no asset register for
the assets procured during FY 2018/2019 of Program implementation. This was because
procurement was being done by procuring unit (entity) of the National Treasury. However,
The National Treasury is in the process of procuring the services of a consultant to develop
one for the project.

456) = The matter is recommended to be kept in view and reviewed in subsequent audit when
the consultancy contract is effective

457) Committee observations and Findings
i) The Committee observed that there were no proper records in terms of an Asset register
listing all those assets, their location and the core details regarding them;
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i) The Committee observed that there was no system of identification e.g. tagging/coding,
to cost, disposals, depreciation, accumulated depreciation, location of the asset of the
assets had been done, thus putting the assets at risk of getting lost through theft and
misplacement; And

458) Committee Recommendations

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer provide tothe
Auditor-General a verifiable progress on maintaining assets register. The Auditor-
General undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequentaudit
reporting cycle

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

459) Conclusion

88. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of-internal controls, risk
management and governance.

STUDY AND CAPACITY BUILDING FUND PROJECT (CREDIT NO. CKE 6015
01K)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
460) Unqualified Opinion

89. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Project.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Basis-for.Conclusion

90. Non-compliance with the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act, 2015

90.1 Procurement of Individual Consultancy Services

461) Contrary to the provisions of Section 124(1) and (2) of the Public Procurement and

Asset Disposal Act, 2015, the Project Management single sourced and contracted for an
amount of Kshs.3,135,000 for the provision of services of an individual consultant. The
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procurement of the consultant, who previously served in the line Ministry, was based on
the bids submitted in 2012 instead of fresh bids as prescribed by the law.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

462) The Accounting Officer submitted that the individual consultant was single sourced
based on his previous assignments and experience under Aid Effectiveness Program that
was under AFD. This Contract was subsequently cancelled in January 2020 as
recommended in the Audit Report of FY 2018-2019 and re-advertised according to the
Development Partners procurement guidelines. Interviews were held between 29" April
and 4" May 2020 as per the attached copy of National Treasury. letter
MOF/ERD/20/148/78/01 ‘B’ (25) of 29" May 2020, and other supporting documents.

463) Committee Observations and Findings

i) The individual consultant was single sourced based on his previous assignments and
experience under Aid Effectiveness Program (AFD) Programme.. The contract was
later cancelled in January 2020 as recommended in the Audit Report of FY 2018-2019
and re-advertised.

i) Interviews were held between 29" April and 4™ May 2020 as per the attached copy of
National Treasury letter MOF/ERD/20/148/78/01 ‘B’ (25) of 29" May 2020. The
explanation was satisfactory and therefore the matter was resolved.

90.2 Procurement of Unplanned Assets

464) During the year under review, instances of procurement made but not provided for in
the procurement plan were noted contrary to Section 73 of the Public Procurement and
Asset Disposal Act, 2015. The Project Management purchased office furniture and printer
at its French Desk Support at the Resource Mobilization Department at a cost of
Kshs.249,220. Consequently, the Project Management was in breach of the Public
Procurement.and Asset Disposal Act, 2015.

Submission by.the Accounting Officer

465) -The Accounting Officer submitted that the Procurement of assets to support the French
Desk.was done subject to a ‘No Objection’ from the Development Partner. These items had
not-been included in the Procurement Plan of the National Treasury and the omission is
noted. The items have however been entered in the Asset Register as attached.

Committee Observations and Findings

466) The Procurement of assets to support the French Desk was done subject to a ‘No
Objection’ from the Development Partner. These items had not been included in the
Procurement Plan of the National Treasury and the omission is noted. The explanation was
satisfactory and therefore the matter was resolved.
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91. Lack of an Asset Register

467) Contrary to Section 143(1) of the Public Finance Management (National Government)
Regulations, 2015, the Project Management has not maintained an asset register for assets
procured and owned. The risk of pilferage of the Project assets in absence of a register is
high.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

468) The Accounting Officer submitted that the Project procured assets to support the French
Desk as approved by the Development Partner. These items have been entered in the Asset
Register as observed during the audit.

469) Committee observations and findings

Contrary to Section 143(1) of the Public Finance Management (National Government)
Regulations, 2015, the Project Management has not maintained an:asset register for assets
procured and owned.

470) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the-Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General verifiable steps taken by.the National Treasury to maintain asset
register for the project. The Auditor-General to undertake a review and report to the
National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

471) Conclusion
92. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

TECHNICAL SUPPORT PROGRAMME AGREEMENT NO.
KE/FED/2009/021421; NO. KE/FED/023-733 AND NO. KE/FED/037-941

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

472) . Unqgualified Opinion

93. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Programme.

Emphasis of Matter

94. Unbudgeted Receipts and Expenditures
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473) The statement of comparative budget and actual amounts reflects nil receipts from
proceeds of domestic and foreign grants (grant revenue) against estimated receipts of
Kshs.30,000,000. The statement also reflects actual receipts of Kshs.26,457,440 from
proceeds of domestic and foreign grants (grant A-1-A) against nil estimated receipts an
indication of the project being funded without a budgetary provision. Similarly, payments
of Kshs.3,392,021 were incurred on purchase of goods and services without an approved
budget in place. Management has however, indicated that the supplementary budget
reallocations were effected after the expenditure had been incurred

Submission by the Accounting Officer

474)  The Accounting Officer submitted that in the printed estimates the project was budgeted
under Grants (AlA) Ksh.150,000,000 However, during the Supplementary Estimates No 2,
the budget was reduced to Ksh.30,000,000 and captured as Grants Revenue. It is further
true that Ksh.26,457,440 were actual receipts of domestic and foreign grants (grants AlA).
It was later realized that an expenditure of Ksh.3,392,021 had beenincurred under AIA but
the donor had delayed in submitting expenditure documents for capture in the VVote book.
The national Treasury has held various meetings with'development partners and agreed on
fast tracking of submission of expenditure returns especially where they make direct
payments to facilitate the capturing of the same by MDAs.

475) Committee observations and findings

i) The project was budgeted under Grants- (AlA) Ksh.150,000,000 but during the
Supplementary Estimates No 2, the budget was captured as Grants Revenue and
reduced to Ksh.30,000,000. This realized actual receipt of Kshs.26,457,440 from
proceeds of domestic and foreign grants (grant A-1-A).

i) The project incurred payment of Kshs.3,392,021 on purchase of goods and services
under AlA but the donor had delayed in submitting expenditure documents for capture
in the Vote book. The National Treasury has held various meetings with development
partners and agreed-on fast tracking of submission of expenditure returns especially
where they:make direct payments to facilitate the capturing of the same by MDA:s.

476) -Committee Recommendation

Within.three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Office ensures a system
isin place on fast tracking of submission of expenditure returns especially where they
make direct payments to facilitate the capturing of the same by MDA:s.

95. Unresolved Prior Year Matters

95.1 Co-operative Dormant Bank Accounts

477) The Management continues to maintain two local currency Accounts No.
01141419783101 and No. 01141419783100 with Co-operative Bank with bank balances

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 100



of Kshs.1,136,902 and Kshs.359 respectively as at 30 June, 2019. No deposits or
withdrawals have been made for the last three financial years. The explanation that the
balance of Kshs.1,136,902 on account No. 01141419783101 was insufficient to be paid
back to the European Commission owing to ineligible expenditure was not supported by
way of documentary evidence. No cashbooks are maintained for these accounts hence the
accuracy of the cash and cash equivalents balance of Kshs.1,137,262 reflected in the
financial statements could not be ascertained. The continued maintenance of the dormant
account may expose the Programme Account to risk of loss of funds.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

478) The Accounting Officer submitted that the EU is seeking to be refunded an amount of
Kshs.2,408,000.70 (Kshs.2,386,522.00 plus interest of Kshs.21,478.70) as at 27"
March,2017 as unspent balance and ineligible Expenditure. (The alleged ineligible
expenditure refers to an amount of Kshs.1,078,0800.00 that was used on production of the
Blue Book and Video Documentary whose expenditure was-incurred and supervised by the
EU delegation. The National Treasury however in various communications to EU has
disputed the declaration of the expenditure as ineligible. The National Treasury will
conclude the transfer only after this matter is agreed between the two parties. Therefore,
the account will remain in open until the issues are resolved. The correspondence between
the EU and the National Treasury on the issue is attached.

479) Committee Observations and Findings

1) The EU is seeking to be refunded an amount of Kshs.2,408,000.70 (Kshs.2,386,522.00
plus interest of Kshs.21,478.70) as at 27" March,2017 as unspent balance and ineligible
Expenditure. The alleged ineligible expenditure refers to an amount of Kshs.1,078,0800
that was used on production of the Blue Book and Video Documentary whose expenditure
was incurred and supervised by the EU delegation.

ii) The National Treasury will conclude the transfer only after this matter is agreed between
the two parties. Therefore, the account will remain in open until the issues are resolved.

480) Committee Recommendation

Within‘three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the-Auditor-General verifiable steps taken by the National Treasury to finalize this
matter-with the EU and closing of the accounts. The Auditor-General to undertake a
review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

95.2 Non-disclosure of Pending Bills

481) The statement of receipts and payments as at 30 June 2018 reflected an expenditure of
Kshs.48,832,274 under use of goods and services. Examination of records maintained by
the Management revealed the expenditure related to a single payment to a vendor, which
appeared to have been processed in June, 2017 during the 2016/2017 financial year, but the
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same had not been disclosed as a pending bill as at 30 June, 2017. Failure to disclose the
expenditure as pending bills contravenes the Public Finance Management Regulations,
2015 and may expose the Programme to incurring ineligible expenditure.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

482) The Accounting Officer submitted that the payment to M/S Proman, whose Service
Contract was for the period 1%t March 2012 to 6™ September, 2016 was to be paid during
the 2016/17 Financial Year but was delayed and processed in July 2017. The omission.to
declare it as a pending bill in FY 2016-2017 was noted and this will not recur. The bill was
settled in the following FY 2017-2018, in the month of July 2017.

483) Committee Observations and Findings
i) The payment to M/S Proman, whose Service Contract was for the period 1% March
2012 to 6™ September, 2016 was to be paid during the 2016/17 Financial Year but was
delayed and processed in July 2017.
i) The omission to declare it as a pending bill in FY 2016-2017 was noted and this will
not recur. The bill was settled in the following FY 2017-2018, in the month of July
2017.

484) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure” that the entity keeps up-to-date, reconciled
financial and accounting records that fully discloses pending bills and in compliance with
provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM Act 2012

95.3 Unsupported Transferto the Donor

485) During the prioryear, the Programme transferred an amount of Kshs.13,257,502 to the
European Commission without details. Further, no transmittal documentation or
acknowledgement from the European Commission were availed for verification in support
of the transaction. In absence of sufficient and relevant supporting documents, it has not
been possible to determine whether the amount in question was received or not.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

486) The Accounting Officer submitted that the National Treasury transferred
Kshs.13,257,502 to the EU as per the supporting documents provided to the Committee.
The EU however has not yet acknowledged receipt.

487) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the issues was discussed during the examination of the State
Department account for financial year 2017/18 and a recommendation was issued therein
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REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

488) Conclusion
96. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

489) Conclusion
97. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal' contrals, risk

management and governance.

KENYA PETROLEUM TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE PROJECT (IDA CREDIT
NO. 5526-KE)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
490) Unqualified Opinion
98. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the

Project.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS® AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Basis for Conclusion

99. Failure to Undertake Internal Audits on the Project

491) Section.73 of Public Finance Management Act, 2012 requires all Government entities

to make appropriate internal audit arrangements for the functions that are being undertaken
by-.an entity. Further, Sections 13 and 14 of the Project Appraisal Document (PAD) on
finance and markets global practice requires The National Treasury to provide internal
audit services and to oversee the adequacy of internal control mechanisms on the project
vide its internal audit and the audit committee functions respectively. However, during the
year under review, Internal Audit Services were not rendered despite The National Treasury
having a well-staffed Internal Audit department.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
492) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that during the year under review,

that projects had not been reviewed by the National Treasury's internal audit function.
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National Treasury had a serious shortage of audit staff and this that affected a number of
activities including projects. However, more staff were recruited after the approval by the
Public Service Commission and projects including Financial Sector Support Project were
assigned auditors.

493) Committee Observations and Findings
1) The Committee observed that although the intern audit function was established later, the
Accounting Officer was in breach of Section 73 of the Public Finance Management Act,
2012 at the time of audit;
i) The Committee further observed that Monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the
internal audit process, review of internal controls, risk management systems and.financial
statements has not taken place in the absence of audit committee; And

494) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General a verifiable internal control system for the funds. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

495) Conclusion
100. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

MICRO FINANCE SECTOR SUPPORT CREDIT PROJECT (CREDIT NO. CKE
3004 01E AND CKE 6010 01E)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion
101. Amount Withdrawn but Unclaimed

496) Part B of the Statement of Special (Designated) Account reconciliation for the Project
reflects Euros.3,643,675 or Kshs.419,678,486 at the then exchange rate of 1 Euro at
Kshs.115.18 as withdrawn, but unclaimed as at 30 June, 2019. This represents cumulative
funds transfers to the local Project bank account but whose expenditure returns have not
been submitted to The National Treasury by the close of the financial year. Furthermore,
the amount has not been reported nor disclosed in the Project financial statements.
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Consequently, the accuracy and completeness of the financial statements cannot be
confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

497) The Accounting Officer submitted that the it was true that by the time of audit Part b of
the statement of special account reconciliation for the Project reflects Ksh.419,678,486 as
withdrawn but unclaimed as at 30" June,2019. These represents cumulative transfers to the
local Project Bank account. The expenditure returns were availed at the time of audits were
later availed for audit review.

Committee Observations and Findings

498) Statement of Special (Designated) Account reconciliation for the Project reflects
Euros.3,643,675 or Kshs.419,678,486 at the then exchange rate of 1 Euro at Kshs.115.18
as withdrawn, but unclaimed as at 30 June, 2019. These represents cumulative transfers to
the local Project Bank account. The explanation by the Accountingwas satisfactory to both
the auditors and the Committee.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS /IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Basis for Conclusion
102. Failure to Close Project

499) As per Clause 10 of the financing agreement, the Project was to close on 31 October,
2010 but the closing date was later extended to 31 December, 2014. However, the Project
Management is yet to formally prepare and submit the Project closure report. Consequently,
the Project is in breach of the agreement with Agence Francaise Development (AFD) with
its continued operation without a formal extension.

Submission by.the Accounting Officer

500) -As per the clause 10 of the financing agreement, the project was to close on 31st
October,2010 but it was extended to 31st December, 2014. It has taken sometime to close
theproject but a consultant has been hired to facilitate the preparation of final audit report.

501)  Committee observations and findings

As per the clause 10 of the financing agreement, the project was to close on 31st October, 2010
but it was extended to 31st December, 2014. The National Treasury has hired a consultant to
facilitate the preparation of the final audit report

502) Committee Recommendation
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Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General a final audit closure report for the project. The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

503) Conclusion
103. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

PROGRAMME FOR RURAL OUTREACH OF FINANCIAL INNOVATIONS AND
TECHNOLOGIES (PROFIT) (IFAD LOAN NO. 814-KE:AND GRANT NO.
1218KE)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

504) Unqualified Opinion
104. There were no material issues noted during.the audit-of the financial statements of the
Project.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

505) Conclusion
105. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of
public resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

506)=-Conclusion
106. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

GLOBAL FUND PROGRAM — TO REDUCE MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY
CAUSED BY MALARIA IN THE VARIOUS EPIDEMIOLOGICAL ZONES BY
TWO THIRDS OF THE 2015 LEVEL BY 2020-GRANT AGREEMENT-KEN-M-
TNT NO.1546

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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507) Unqualified Opinion
107. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of
the Program.

Emphasis of Matter

108. Non-disclosures of Counterpart Funds

508) The statement of receipts and payments for the year ended 30 June, 2019 indicates that,
as in the previous year, no funds were received by the Program from the Government of
Kenya (GoK). However, Paragraph 6.3(2) of the Grant Agreement provides that.the GoK
shall provide counterpart funding equivalent to 20% of the Program’s. aggregate
disbursements. With the Program’s duration set to end in 2020, all its expected outputs and
outcomes may not be attained if the GoK fails to contribute jits portion of funding. My
opinion is not qualified in respect to this matter.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

509) The Accounting Officer submitted that the during the financial year 2018/2019 the
budget for the Government of Kenya counterpart funding for both old and new Malaria
Grants was budgeted under the new grant,.Special Global Fund — Malaria Grant: KEN-M
item: 1076 -01- 2640503 — Ksh.280,000,000.

510) Committee Observations and Findings

During the financial year 2018/2019, the budget for the Government of Kenya counterpart
funding for both old and new Malaria Grants was budgeted under the new grant. Special Global
Fund — Malaria Grant: KEN-M.item: 1076 -01- 2640503 — Ksh.280,000,000. The explanation
by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory to both the auditors and the Committee.

REPORT ON .LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

511) -Conclusion
109:There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of
public resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

512) Conclusion
110. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.
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GLOBAL FUND PROGRAM - TO CONTRIBUTE TO ACHIEVING VISION 2030
THROUGH UNIVERSAL ACCESS TO COMPREHENSIVE HIV PREVENTION,
TREATMENT AND CARE PROJECT - GA NO. 1547

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis of Qualified Opinion

111. Non-Disclosure of Counterpart Contribution

513) The statement of receipts and payments does not disclose the counterpart funding from
The National Treasury. Further the Government of Kenya contribution/for the.financial
year and cumulatively cannot be established. The Project Management is in breach of
paragraph 5.1 of the Grant Agreement, which provides for a 15% counterpart contribution.
The Project Management is also in breach of Section 72(6) of the Public Finance
Management Act, 2012, which requires the National Government.to factor grants in the
budgets with counterpart Funds being appropriated in. accordance with the signed
agreement. Consequently, the accuracy and completeness of the reported receipts balance
of Kshs.383,527,873 cannot be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

514) The Accounting Officer submitted that the during the financial year 2018/2019 the
budget for the Government of Kenya counterpart funding for both old and new HIV and
Aids Grants was budgeted under the new grant. Special Global Fund — HIV — AIDSS
GRANT KEN-H, item: 1077<01- 2640503 Ksh.1,679,271,881. This was because the old
grant closed on 3lst December 2018.

Committee Observations and Findings

515) During the financial year 2018/2019, the budget for the Government of Kenya
counterpart funding for both old and new HIV and Aids Grants was budgeted under the
new grant. Special Global Fund —HIV — AIDSS GRANT KEN-H, item: 1077 -01- 2640503
Ksh.1,679,271,881. This was because the old grant closed on 3lst December 2018. The
explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory to the auditor and the Committee.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Basis for Conclusion

112. Failure to Update the Fixed Asset Register

516) Contrary to the provisions of Section 139(1) and Section 143(1) of the Public Finance
Management (National Government) Regulations, 2015, the Project did not update the
fixed asset register by way of disclosures under summary of fixed assets. The reported
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balance of Kshs.4,920,000 relates to balances brought forward only despite the Project
having spent Kshs.1,424,507 on the acquisition of non-financial assets during the year.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

517) It was true that there was no asset register for the assets procured during FY 2018/2019
of Program implementation. This was because procurement was being done by procuring
unit (entity) of the National Treasury. However, The National Treasury is in the process of
procuring the services of a consultant to develop one for the project.

518) Committee observations and Findings

i) The Committee observed that there were no proper records in terms of‘an Asset register
listing all those assets, their location and the core details regarding them;

i) The Committee observed that there was no system of identification e.g..tagging/coding,
to cost, disposals, depreciation, accumulated depreciation, location of the asset of the
assets had been done, thus putting the assets at risk of-getting. lost through theft and
misplacement; And

519) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General a verifiable progress on:maintaining assets register. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESSOF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

520) Conclusion

113. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

GLOBAL FUND PROGRAM - TO STEER THE COUNTRY TOWARDS

ACHIEVEMENT OF TB MILLENNIUM DEVELOPMENT GOALS IN LINE

WITH.THE GLOBAL STOP TB STRATEGY (GRANT NO. KEN-T-TNT)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Qualified Opinion

114. Non-Disclosure of Counterpart Contribution

521) The statement of receipts and payments does not disclose the counterpart funding from
The National Treasury. Further the Government of Kenya contribution for the financial
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year and cumulatively cannot be established. The Program Management is in breach of
paragraph 5.1 of the Grant Agreement which provides for a 15% counterpart contribution.
The Program is also in breach of Section 72 (6) of the Public Finance Management Act,
2012, which requires the National Government to factor grants in the budgets with
counterpart Funds being appropriated in accordance with the signed agreement.
Consequently, the accuracy and completeness of the reported receipts balance of
Kshs.883,256,532 cannot be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

522) The Accounting Officer submitted that during the financial year 2018/2019 the
budget for the Government of Kenya counterpart funding for both old‘and new TB
Grants was budgeted under the new grant. Special Global Fund — TB GRANT KEN-T,
item: 1078 -01- 2640503 Ksh.280million. This was because the old grant closed on 31%
December, 2018.

523) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee marked the matter as resolved

115. Delay in Construction of Warehouse

524) On 13 March, 2018, the Program Management, entered into a contract for construction
of a flammable goods store warehouse and an.office block with an expected completion
period of fifty-two (52) weeks and one hundred-and thirty (130) weeks respectively. By the
end of fifty-two (52) weeks, the construction of the warehouse was not complete and the
project period was extended to 12 September 2019. A physical verification carried out on
9 September 2019 indicated a project completion status of approximately 50% even though
the status report of August2019 indicated 59% completion. Discussions with Program
Management indicated a new estimated completion date of March 2020 an indication of
100% delay from the original estimated contract period. Under the circumstances, the
Program may not realize its intended objectives and its value for money

Submission by.the Accounting Officer
525) -The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that there were some delays in
construction of Warehouse due to delay in procurement by KEMSA.

526) . Committee Observations and Findings

i) The Program management entered into a contract for construction of a flammable goods
store warehouse and an office block with an expected completion period of fifty-two
weeks and one hundred and thirty (130) weeks respectively. By the end of fifty-two
(52) weeks, the construction of the warehouse was not complete and the project period
was extended to 12 September 2019.

i) A physical verification carried out on 9 September 2019 indicated a project completion
status of approximately 50% even though the status report of August 2019 indicated
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59% completion. The program management has set a new estimated completion date
of March 2020, which is double the initial estimated period of completion.

527) Committee Recommendation
1) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide
to the Auditor-General a verifiable progress on construction of a flammable goods
store warehouse and an office block for KEMSA.
2) The Auditor-General to undertake a special audit on the construction of a flammable
goods store warehouse and an office block for KEMSA and report to the National
Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

116. Failure to Maintain Fixed Asset Register

528) Contrary to the provisions of Section 139(1) and Section 143(1) of the Public Finance
Management (National Government) Regulations, 2015, the Program did not maintain a
fixed asset register and also did not disclose the balances in the financial statements under
the summary of fixed assets section. This is despite the statement of receipts and payments
indicating cumulative expenditure on nonfinancial assets of Kshs.778,695,872 as of 30
June, 2019. To this extent, the Program Management is in breach of law.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

529) The Accounting Officer submitted that 1t was true that there was no asset register for
the assets procured during FY 2018/2019 of Program implementation. This was because
procurement was being done by procuring unit (entity) of the National Treasury. However,
The National Treasury is in'the process of procuring the services of a consultant to develop
one for the project.

530) The matter is recommended to be kept in view and reviewed in subsequent audit when
the consultancy contract is effective.

531) Committee observations and Findings

i) “The Committee observed that there were no proper records in terms of an Asset register
listing all those assets, their location and the core details regarding them;

i) The Committee observed that there was no system of identification e.g. tagging/coding,
to cost, disposals, depreciation, accumulated depreciation, location of the asset of the
assets had been done, thus putting the assets at risk of getting lost through theft and
misplacement.

532) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General a verifiable progress on maintaining assets register. The Auditor-
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General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

533) Conclusion
117. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, .risk
management and governance.

ADDITIONAL FINANCING FOR THE INFRASTRUCTURE FINANCE AND
PUBLIC PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP PROJECT - IDA CREDIT NO. 6121-KE

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

534) Unqualified Opinion
118. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the-financial statements of
the Project.

Emphasis of Matter

119. Underutilization of Budgeted Amounts
535) The comparative statement of budget and actual amounts reflects approved budget and
actual on comparable basis 0fKshs.50,000,000 and Kshs.1,711,170 respectively resulting
in an under-expenditure 0f'Kshs.48,288,830 or 97%. The management attributed the under
expenditure to: -
i Suspension_of the procurement of capacity building consultants to review the
procurement method used;
ii. Non-availability -of Public Private Partnership (PPP) trainers for provision of
the capacity building services; and
iii. Delays in finalization of contract for disbursement linked verifications.

536)Because of the delay in implementing the planned activities, the Project under-absorbed
the budget. Further, the Project special account maintained at the Central Bank of Kenya
(CBK) reflects an opening bank account balance of EUR 10,000,000 with an amount of
EUR 310,000 having been withdrawn during the year leaving a closing balance as at year
end of EUR 9,690,000 as unutilized.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

537) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the comparable statement of
budget and actual reflects approved budget and actual on comparable basis of
Ksh.50,000,000 and Ksh.1,711,170 respectively resulting to under expenditure of
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Ksh.48,288,830 or 97%. Further the Project special account at Central Bank reflects an
opening bank account balance of EUR10,000,000 with an amount of EUR310,000 having
been withdrawn leaving a balance of EUR9,690,000 as unutilized. This was a new project
that was introduced in Supplementary Estimates no 2. The Supplementary Estimates were
approved very late in June causing low utilization of funds.

538) Committee observations and Findings
This new project was introduced in Supplementary Estimates No. 2 of FY 2018/2019 approved
very late in June 2019 causing low utilization of funds.

539) Committee Recommendation

The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury should ensure that no supplementary
budget estimates is submitted to Parliament later than two months before the close of the
financial year. Further the Committee reiterates its proposal to.amend Section 44 of the
PFM Act, 2012 to provide that supplementary budget-estimates is submitted to
Parliament not later than two months (60) days before the close of the financial year

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS <IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

540) Conclusion
120. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of
public resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND OVERALL GOVERNANCE

Basis for Conclusion

121. Lack of Internal Audit Services

541) Contrary. to the provisions of Section 16 of the Project Appraisal Document that
requires the Project Implementation Unit to be audited by internal auditors seconded by
The National Treasury, the Project was not subjected to an internal audit review during the
year. under review. To this extent, the Project is not in compliance with the signed financing
agreement.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

542) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that during the year under review,
that projects had not been reviewed by the National Treasury's internal audit function.
National Treasury had a serious shortage of audit staff and this that affected a number of
activities including projects. However, more staff were recruited after the approval by the
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Public Service Commission and projects including Financial Sector Support Project were
assigned auditors.

543) Committee Observations and Findings
1) The Committee observed that although the intern audit function was established later, the
Accounting Officer was in breach of Section 73 of the Public Finance Management Act,
2012 at the time of audit; and
i) The Committee further observed that monitoring and review of the effectiveness of the
internal audit process, review of internal controls, risk management systems and financial
statements has not taken place in the absence of internal audit service.

544) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General a verifiable internal control system for:the funds. The Auditor-
General undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle.

GLOBAL FUND PROGRAM- EXPANDING HIV PREVENTION, CARE AND
TREATMENT SERVICES TO REACH UNIVERSAL ACCESS (80% COVERAGE)
TO REDUCE BOTH INCIDENCE AND+ASSOCIATED IMPACT PROJECT
(GRANT NO. KEN-H-TNT

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion

122. Non-Disclosure of Counterpart Contribution

545) The statement of receipts and payments does not disclose the counterpart funding from
The National Treasury.” Consequently, the accuracy and completeness of the reported
receipts balance of Kshs.3,926,315,501 cannot be ascertained. Further, the Government of
Kenya contribution for the financial year and cumulatively

Submission by the Accounting Officer

546) “During the financial year 2018/2019 the budget for the Government of Kenya
counterpart funding for both old and new HIV and Aids Grants was budgeted under the
new grant. Special Global Fund —HIV — AIDSS GRANT KEN-H, item: 1077 -01- 2640503
Ksh.1,679,271,881. This was because the old grant closed on 31 December, 2018.

547) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee marked the matter as resolved
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REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Basis for Conclusion

123. Failure to Update the Fixed Asset Register

548) Contrary to the provisions of Section 139(1) and Section 143(1) of the Public Finance
Management (National Government) Regulations, 2015, the Management of the Program
did not update the Fixed Asset Register. The summary of fixed assets under Annex.3 tothe
financial statements reflects a balance of Kshs.4,923,645 brought forward from the
previous year. However, the statement of receipts and payments reflects an expenditure of
Kshs.191,377,450 on nonfinancial assets incurred during the year under review. The assets
acquired during the year are, therefore, not reflected in the summary of fixed assets. To this
extent, the Management of the Program is in breach of law.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

549) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that there was no asset register for
the assets procured during FY 2018/2019 of Program implementation. This was because
procurement was being done by procuring unit (entity) of the'National Treasury. However,
The National Treasury is in the process of procuring the services of a consultant to develop
one for the project.

550) Committee Observations and Findings

i) The Committee observed that there were no proper records in terms of an Asset register
listing all those assets, their location and the core details regarding them;

i) The Committee observed that there was no system of identification e.g. tagging/coding, to
cost, disposals, depreciation; accumulated depreciation, location of the asset of the assets
had been done, thus putting the-assets at risk of getting lost through theft and misplacement;
And

551) Committee Recommendation

Within three'months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General a verifiable progress on maintaining assets register. The Auditor-
General.to.undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

552) Conclusion
124. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.
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OTHER DONOR FUNDED PROJECT IMPLEMENTED BY AGENCIES UNDER
THE NATIONAL TREASURY

EASTERN AFRICA REGIONAL TRANSPORT, TRADE AND DEVELOPMENT
FACILITATION PROJECT (IDA CREDIT NO. 5638-KE) — KENYA REVENUE
AUTHORITY

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Qualified Opinion

125. Non-Compliance with the Reporting Template

553) The financial statements presented for audit did not comply with the annual reports and

financial statements reporting template for Projects prescribed by the Public Sector
Accounting Standards Board of Kenya. The financial statements did not include Part 3 —
“report of the independent auditors, Part 7 — “statement of comparative budget and actual
amounts”, Part 9 — “other important disclosures” and'Part 10 =*“progress on follow up of
auditor recommendations”. Further, Annex 1 -variance explanation on comparative budget
and actual amounts, Annex 2 - analysis of pending bills, Annex 3 - summary of fixed assets
register and other appendices specified in the.reporting template were also not included. In
the circumstances, the financial statements.do-not comply with International Public Sector
Accounting Standards -1 on presentation of financial statements.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
554)  The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true the financial statements of Eastern

African Regional Transport; trade and development facilitation project have been prepared
on IPSAS Cash - basis as per the advice of the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board
Kenya Gazette Notice no 5440 of 8 August 2014. There has been no revision to the project-
reporting standard but this will be done from F/Y 2019/2020.

555) Committee observations and findings

i) “The Financial statements of Eastern African Regional Transport, trade and
development facilitation project have been prepared on IPSAS Cash - basis as per the
advice of the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board Kenya Gazette Notice no 5440
of August 8, 2014.

i) The financial statements did not include report of the independent auditors, statement
of comparative budget and actual amounts, other important disclosures and progress
on follow up of auditor recommendation. Further, the annexes did not include variance
explanation on comparative budget and actual amounts, analysis of pending bills,
summary of fixed assets register and other appendices specified in the reporting
template.
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556) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the project keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

557) Conclusion
126. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

558) Conclusion
127. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of-internal controls, risk
management and governance.

EQUALISATION FUND
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion

128. Cash and Bank Balances

559) As disclosed under Note 3 to the financial statements, the statement of assets and
liabilities reflects a balance of Kshs.2,283,426,949 under cash and cash equivalents.
However, Note XIII to the financial statements discloses cash and bank balances of
Kshs.3,759,753,043;(2018-Kshs.5,061,282,195) held by implementing institutions that
were unutilized as at 30 June, 2019. However, the status and value of implemented projects
as at-30 June, 2019 is not disclosed in the Notes to the financial statements, contrary to the
provisions for preparing Fund accounts. Consequently, Management did not adhere to the
reporting framework.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

560) The Accounting Officer submitted that under note 3 of the Financial statements the cash
and cash equivalent of Kshs.2,283,426,949.00 reflect the amount held in the main Fund
account and the Fund secretariat, however, in the note XI11 we included bank balances held
by respective Equalization Fund implementing agencies for disclosure purpose.

561) Committee observations and findings
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The status and value of implemented projects as at 30 June, 2019 is not disclosed in the Notes
to the financial statements, contrary to the provisions for preparing Fund accounts

562) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide to
the Auditor-General the status and value of all the projects implemented under the
Equalization Fund from inception to date. The Auditor-General to undertake a review
and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

Emphasis of Matter

129. Low Absorption of Funds and Slow Implementation of Projects

563) The Equalization Fund Information and Management Report ‘indicates Fund
entitlement of Kshs.32,555,888,665 over the last seven (7) years (2011/2012 — 2017/2018)
based on 0.5% of most recent audited and approved. revenues. However, only
Kshs.12,400,000,000 or 38% of the entitlement had been appropriated and transferred to
the Fund account contrary to the provisions of Article 204 of the Constitution of Kenya.

564) Further, out of the appropriated and available funds of Kshs.12,400,000,000, only an
amount of Kshs.10,116,573,051 or 82% has-been dishursed to the implementing Ministries,
Departments and Agencies (MDAS) to fund projects in the beneficiary Counties. However,
only Kshs.6,479,068,908 or 64% of the disbursed amount had been spent as 30 June, 2019
leaving out a balance of Kshs.3,637,504,143. The expenditure translates to only 20% of the
entitled appropriation funds-to date of Kshs.32,555,888,66 despite seven (7) of the
maximum period of twenty (20) years existence post the first disbursement to the Fund in
2011/2012.

565) This is indicative of low funding and absorption which could slow down the
implementation of the planned projects. Field visits to sample project implementation sites
revealed that a significant number of projects had stalled due to huge pending bills despite
the MDAsholding cash balances of Kshs.3,759,753,043 in their respective bank accounts
inclusive of Kshs.122,248,900 held by the Fund secretariat.

566) From the foregoing, the Fund may not realize its intended objectives of providing basic
services to the marginalized areas to achieve equality and equity in the provision of basic
services with other regions.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

567) The Accounting Officer submitted that as reported in the Financial Statement, an
amount of Kshs.2,466,411,814.45 was released during the financial year 2018/2019. The
low levels of disbursement were due to low level of absorption by the projects
implementers. It should be noted that disbursements of funds for the projects is triggered
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by the requests from MDAs. Therefore, the absence of request from MDAs led to low
level of disbursements.

568) Committee Observations and findings

1) The Equalization Fund entitlement is approximately Kshs.32,555,888,665 over the last
seven (7) years (2011/2012 — 2017/2018) based on 0.5% of most recent audited and
approved revenues.

ii) The total appropriation for the Fund as at FY 2018/19 was only Kshs.12,400,000,000
out of which only an amount of Kshs.10,116,573,051 to the implementing the MDAs
to fund projects in the beneficiary Counties. However, only Kshs.6,479,068,908 or
64% of the disbursed amount had been spent as 30 June, 2019 leaving out a balance
of Kshs.3,637,504,143.

569) Committee Recommendation

The National Treasury work closely with the now constituted Equalization Fund
Board to ensure timely appropriation and release of the Fund’s entitlement for
without any further delay.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Basis for Conclusion

130. Project Implementation

570) Sixty-three (63) projects from nine (9) of the fourteen (14) implementing Counties were
sampled for physical verification. The total budget allocation for the projects was
Kshs.1,808,349,807. The verification revealed that the projects being implemented by
various agencies were at different levels of completion as detailed below;

Project Disbursed
Status
Sector Project Complete Incomplete | Amount
Count (Kshs.)
Education 4 1 3* 63,000,000
Energy 1 1 - 1,000,000
Water and Irrigation 23 16 7 890,410,408
Project Status Disbursed
Sector Project Complete Incomplete | Amount (Kshs.)
Count
Health 12 3 9 265,280,862
Roads 23 16 7 588,658,627
Total 63 37 26 1,808,349,807

* Projects were yet to start
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From the foregoing, it is not clear if and when the nine (9) Counties will realize value for
money from the twenty-six (26) incomplete projects as at 30 June, 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

571) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the report on the project
implementation was not included in the Equalization Fund financial statement since the
project implementation report is prepared by the Equalization Fund implementing agencies.

572) Committee observations and findings
The report on the project implementation was not included in the Equalization Fund
financial statement

573) Committee Recommendation

The National Treasury work closely with the now constituted Equalization Fund
Board to ensure timely appropriation and release of the Fund’s entitlement for
without any further delay.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

Basis for Conclusion

131. Fund Governance Weaknesses

574) The Administrator of the Fund is also the Secretary to the Board with the
responsibilities of planning for Board meetings, keeping records of the proceedings of the
meetings, and performing such other duties as the Board may direct. During the year under
review, no evidence of the Board having met in form of Board minutes were availed for
audit review. Further, the Board administrative activities budget of Kshs.122,248,900
remained unutilized as at 30 June 2019. Consequently, oversight over the activities of the
Fund may be inadequate and ineffective.

575) -Committee Observation and Findings

The-legal and institutional governance for the Fund has been a litigation issue for but it has
now been resolved and a Board constituted. The examination of the Fund accounts is now
under.the mandate of the Special Funds Accounts Committee (SFAC) as per Standing Order
No 205A of the National Assembly Standing Orders, 5" Edition.

CONTINGENCIES FUND

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

576) Unqualified Opinion
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132. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Fund.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

577) Conclusion
133. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

578) Conclusion
134. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

PETROLEUM DEVELOPMENT LEVY FUND HOLDING ACCOUNT
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

579) Unqualified Opinion
135. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of
the Fund.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS "AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

580) Conclusion
136. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of
public resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

581) Conclusion

137. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

RAILWAY DEVELOPMENT LEVY FUND HOLDING ACCOUNT
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion

138. Discrepancies in Reported Receipts

582) The statement of receipts and payments reflects total receipts /of
Kshs.21,613,544,290;(2018 — Kshs.20,693,095,047) and as disclosed under Note 10.2:to
the financial statements. This differs with the total receipts as per the summary of budget
versus actual performance figure of Kshs.5,815,007,463 resulting in an unexplained and
unreconciled variance of Kshs.15,798,536,827. Consequently, the accuracy of the
reported receipts of Kshs.5,815,007,463 in the summary of budget versus actual
performance cannot be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

583) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that statement of receipts and
payments reflects total receipts of Kshs.21,613,544,290;(2018 = Kshs.20,693,095,047) and
as disclosed under Note 10.2 to the financial statements. The total figure of
Kshs.21,613,544,290 agrees with the total receipts as per the summary of budget versus
actual performance. The accuracy of the reported receipts of Kshs.21,613,544,290.00 can
be confirmed by all the revenue that was received.in the Fund holding account. A copy of
analysis was availed for perusal by the Committee.

584) Committee observations-and findings
The Committee observed that the reconciliation attached do not explain the variance of
Kshs.15,798,536.

585) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should prepare
and resubmit to the Auditor-General a new financial statement with reconciliation
explaining the.variance of Kshs.15,798,536.The Auditor-General to undertake a review
and repart to the'National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

139. Budget Over Expenditure

586) . The summary of budget versus actual performance reflects an approved budget and
actual expenditure of Kshs.24,718,591,835 and Kshs.31,999,674,958 resulting in an over
expenditure of Kshs.7,281,083,123 or 29.5% of the budget. This is indicative of
unauthorized spending and failure to adhere to the set budgetary controls. Management has
not rendered satisfactory explanations for the spending without authorization.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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587) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the summary of budget versus

actual performance reflects an approved budget and actual expenditure of
Kshs.24,718,591,835 and Kshs.31,999,674,958 resulting in an over expenditure of
Kshs.7,281,083,123 or 29.5% of the budget. Please note that the budget is usually under
Transport and transfers were made based on the requests submitted by State Department of
Transport on approval by the Advisory Committee.

588) Committee Observations and Findings

i)

i)

The summary of budget versus actual performance reflects an approved budget and actual
expenditure of Kshs.24,718,591,835 and Kshs.31,999,674,958 resulting in an over
expenditure of Kshs.7,281,083,123
The Committee further observed that the response provided by the Accounting Officer does
explain reasons for disbursement to State Department of transport an amount exceeding its
budget as approved by Parliament.

iii) The examination of the Fund accounts is now under the .mandate of the Special Funds

Accounts Committee (SFAC) as per Standing Order No 205A of the National Assembly
Standing Orders, 51" Edition.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

589) Conclusion
141. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

RURAL ENTERPRISE FUND

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Adverse Opinion

142. Unbanked Cash
590)As.disclosed under Note 1 to the financial statements, the statement of assets and

liabilities reflects bank balances totaling Kshs.3,348,895 which relates to balances brought
forward from 2012/2013 and prior years. The balances comprise cash with District
Commissioners on account of loans repaid, interest on loans and balances held in
miscellaneous deposit accounts amounting to Kshs.1,951,921, Kshs.108,840 and
Kshs.1,288,135 respectively. However, evidence to confirm actual existence of the balance
of Kshs.3,348,895 was not provided. Further, the balance of Kshs.1,951,921 relating to
District Commissioners (Loans Repaid) included advances amounting to Kshs.207,344 in
form of I0Us issued from the Fund to five (5) officers working at the District
Commissioner’s Office, Kisumu in 1997/1998. The 10Us had not been surrendered as at
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30 June, 2019. In the circumstances, the accuracy and validity of the reported bank
balances of Kshs.3,348,895 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

591) The Accounting Officer submitted that this was a dormant fund and it was in the process
of being wound up. The National Treasury established a Taskforce on winding up of
Dormant Funds including Rural Enterprise Fund. The National Treasury sought and got
legal opinion and recommendations from the Attorney General vide his letter
Ref.AG/CONF/6/E/170 VOL 1I(5) of 17th May 2019.

592) A cabinet Memorandum on winding of the fund vide letter Ref. No. MOF/AC/305C
Vol. 2 (172) of 10th September 2019 was forwarded to the Attorney General and in reply
vide his letter Ref. AG/LDD/199/1/81 OF 19th November 2019 he advised that draft
revocation orders be prepared on the fund. The revocation order 2020 was done and
submitted to the cabinet for consideration and approval.

593) The Head of Public service vide letter ref no. CAB/GEN.3/1/1 VOL.XV11/(18) dated
2nd March 2021 communicated The Cabinet Approval for-revocation order of the Fund.
The Orders were forwarded to Attorney General's Office vide letter REF
AG.MOF/AC/305C VOL. 2 (213) dated 12 April, 2021 for onward transmission to the
National Assembly. With the conclusion of the.winding up, the issues raised by the Auditor
under Para 157 to Para 142 will be fully addressed.

594) Committee Observationsand Findings
The Committee observed that'the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

595) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General to
undertake a“review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

143. Unreconciled Balances

596)  As was reported in the previous year, the statement of assets and liabilities for deposits
as at 30 June, 2013 reflected a debit balance of Kshs.1,828,388 in respect of the Fund while
the Fund account for the same year reflected a balance of Kshs.397,908,774. The significant
difference of Kshs.396,080,387 between the two sets of records had not been reconciled or
explained as at 30 June, 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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597) The Accounting Officer submitted the Funds Statements reflects unbanked cash
balance totaling Kshs.3,348,895/- brought forward from F/Y 2012/2013 and earlier years
which is made up of balances of Kshs.1,951,920.60, Kshs.108,839.70, and
Kshs.1,288,134.70 against Account Receivables-Loanee’s, Cash with D.C. (Loans
Repaid), Cash with D.C. (Interest on Loans) and Cash in the DC’S Miscellaneous Deposit
Account respectively. Also included is an amount of Kshs.207,304/- in form of IOU’s
issued to five officers working at the District Commissioners office Kisumu in F/Y
1997/1998 and which had not been surrendered as at 30" June 2014. Also the Fund>’
financial statement as at 30 June 2019 presented for audit continue to reflect a total amount
of Kshs.397,908,774.30 under financial assets made up of balances = of
Kshs.394,559,879.30, Kshs.1,951,920.60, Kshs.108,839.70, and Kshs.1,288,134.70
respectively

598) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National -Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

599) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report; the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

144. Winding Up of the Fund

600) As was reported in the-previous year, the statement of assets and liabilities for deposits
as at 30 June, 2013 reflected a debit balance of Kshs.1,828,388 in respect of the Fund while
the Fund account forthe same year reflected a balance of Kshs.397,908,774. The significant
difference of Kshs.396,080,387 between the two sets of records had not been reconciled or
explained as at 30 June, 2019.

Submission by.the Accounting Officer

601) -The Accounting Officer submitted that the National Treasury has not yet closed Funds
Books of Account despite the winding up of the Fund vide Legal Notice No.97 dated 14"
September 2012 and has continued to prepare and submit the Funds Financial Statements
for audit.

602) Thisisadormant fund and it is in the process of being wound up. The National Treasury
established a Taskforce on winding up of Dormant Funds including Rural Enterprise Fund.
The National Treasury sought and got legal opinion and recommendations from the
Attorney General vide his letter Ref. AG/CONF/6/E/170 VOL 11 (5) of 17th May 2019.
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603) A cabinet Memorandum on winding of the fund vide letter Ref. No. MOF/AC/305C
Vol. 2 (172) of 10th September 2019 was forwarded to the Attorney General and in reply
vide his letter Ref. AG/LDD/199/1/81 OF 19th November 2019 he advised that draft
revocation orders be prepared on the fund. The revocation order 2020 was done and
submitted to the cabinet for consideration and approval.

604) The Head of Public service vide letter ref no. CAB/GEN.3/1/1 VOL.XVII/(18) dated
2nd March 2021 communicated The Cabinet Approval for revocation order of the Fund.
The Orders were forwarded to Attorney General's Office vide letter “\REF
AG.MOF/AC/305C VOL. 2 (213) dated 12 April, 2021 for onward transmission to the
National Assembly.

605)  With the conclusion of the winding up, the issues raised by the /Auditor under Para 157
to Para 143 will be fully addressed.

606) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

607) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
608) Basis for Conclusion
145, There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

STATE OFFICERS AND PUBLIC OFFICERS MOTOR CAR LOAN SCHEME
FUND

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
609) Unqualified Opinion
146. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements

of the Fund.

147. Failure to Operationalize the Fund
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610) Section 4(a) and (b) of the Public Finance Management (National Government)
Regulations, 2015, provides for the object and purpose of the Fund as provision of car loans
facility to State and Public Officers of the National Government. Contrary to the provisions,
the Fund Management has not undertaken the requisite activities since inception in 2015 to
operationalize the Fund. Consequently, the Fund’s allocation totaling Kshs.3,847,507,790
as at 30 June, 2019 continues to remain idle. Although management has indicated having
commenced processing of loan applications, only four (4) requests valued at
Kshs.17,320,000 had been processed but remained undisbursed as at 30 June, 2019. The
Fund is therefore, in breach of law and is not fulfilling the mandate for which it was
established.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

611) The Accounting Officer submitted that the State Officers and Public, Officers Motor
Car Loan Scheme Fund was established in 2015 through the legal notice no. 195 of 25th
September 2015 and pursuant to guidelines provided by the Salaries and Remuneration
Commission on Car Loan Benefits for state officers and the Public Servants in December
2014. As at 30th June, 2019 the Fund Account at Central-Bank of Kenya stood at
Kshs3,847,507,790/= which had not been utilized:

612) It took some time to establish an Advisory Board to run the fund and to procure the
financial institution to manage the funds-accounts. The advisory Board is currently in office
and Kenya Commercial Bank was procured to.manage the Car Loan Scheme vide authority
letter Ref. AG.3/88/1Vol.21/ (40) dated 3rd October 2018.

613) The advisory Board started with a pilot scheme targeting 50 applicants and eighteen
(18) officers applied for loans totaling Kshs.48,534,586/-. The applications were received,
verified and approved by the Board and eventually forwarded to Kenya Commercial Bank.
As at 31st March 2021 the scheme received 61 applications totaling Kshs.137,622,300/-
and has been-able to approve and disbursed 49 applications totaling Kshs.111,661,800/-

614) Committee Observations and findings
1) The.Committee strongly reprimands the Accounting Officer for failure to implement the
House resolution on the Fund as per the PAC report for the FY 2016/2017.
ii) There is low disbursement of the Fund. As at 31% March 2021 the scheme received 61
applications totaling Kshs.137,622,300/- and has been able to approve and disbursed 49
applications totaling Kshs.111,661,800/-

615) Committee Recommendation
1) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should
prepare a viable roll-out framework that ensures that all deserving civil servants
benefits from the Fund. Auditor-General a final audit closure report for the
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project. The Auditor-General undertake a review and report to the National
Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle.

2) The Committee reiterates its recommendation that in the FY 2016/2017 that the
Accounting provide to the Auditor-General, a comprehensive statement including
interest earned from the Kshs.2,835,000,000 deposited at KCB

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

616) Conclusion
148. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls,. risk
management and governance.

GOVERNMENT CLEARING AGENCY
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

149. Receipts from Government Agencies

617) As disclosed under Note 1 to the financial statements, the statement of receipts and
payments reflects a balance of Kshs.2,174,171; (2018-53,586,330) under receipts from
Government Agencies. However, the receipts have not been supported by way of ledgers
and other primary source documents. Thesignificant decrease in the receipts in comparison
to the prior year has also not been explained. Further, the Agency has not maintained proper
financial records as required under Section 68(2) of the Public Finance Management Act,
2012.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

618) The Accounting Officer submitted that the Government Clearing Agency was
responsible.for receiving of clearance/shipping documents, preparation and processing of
imports/exports, warehousing and transporting of goods for other Government
Ministries/Departments/Agencies (MDAS) who seek its services. This is a dormant fund
andhit is in the process of being wound up. The National Treasury established a Taskforce
on winding up of Dormant Funds including Government Clearing Agency.

619) The National Treasury sought and got legal opinion and recommendations from the
Attorney General vide his letter Ref. AG/CONF/6/E/170 VOL 11 (5) of 17th May 2019. A
cabinet Memorandum on winding of the fund vide letter Ref. No. MOF/AC/305C Vol. 2
(172) of 10th September 2019 was forwarded to the Attorney General and in reply vide his
letter Ref. AG/LDD/199/1/81 OF 19th November 2019 he advised that draft revocation
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orders be prepared on the fund. The revocation orders 2020 were submitted to the cabinet
for consideration and approval.

620) The Head of Public service vide letter ref no. CAB/GEN.3/1/1 VOL.XVII/ (18) dated
2nd March 2021 communicated The Cabinet Approval for revocation order of the Fund.
The Orders were forwarded to Attorney General’'s Office vide letter REF
AG.MOF/AC/305C VOL. 2 (213) dated 12 April, 2021 for onward transmission to the
National Assembly.

621) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to.wind up the
Fund.

622) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly-in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

150. Long Outstanding Accounts Receivable

623) The statement of assets and liabilities reflects a balance of Kshs.300,931,776;(2018-
Kshs.300,931,776) under debtors-old account.- There was no movement during the year
casting doubt on recoverability of the debts. Further, the balance has not been supported by
a detailed ledger indicating the debtors. Consequently, the accuracy and the fair statement
of the reported receivables-debtors-old account balances of Kshs.300,931,776 as at 30 June,
2019 could not be ascertained.

624) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

625) -Committee Recommendation

Within.three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

151. Cash and Cash Equivalents

626) The statement of assets and liabilities reflects an amount of Kshs.2,174,171;(2018-
Kshs.72,435,965) under bank balance. However, a bank balance of Kshs.27,351,785 held
in the Agency’s National Bank of Kenya Mombasa branch bank account
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N0.01001007625100 has been excluded from the bank balance of Kshs.2,174,171 reflected
in the financial statements.

627) Consequently, the accuracy and fair statement of the reported bank balance of
Kshs.2,174,171 as at 30 June, 2019 could not be confirmed.

628) Submission by the Accounting Officer
The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter relates to paragraphs relates to paragraph 149 and
awaits National Assembly approval to wind up the Fund.

629) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

630) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General-. The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and report to the National- Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

152. Fund Balance

631) As previously reported, the statement of assets and liabilities reflects a fund balance
brought forward (old account) of Kshs.247,957,879;(2018-Kshs.247,957,879) which was
not supported. Consequently, the accuracy and validity of the reported fund balance
brought forward (old account) 'of Kshs.247,957,879 as at 30 June, 2019 cannot be
confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
632) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter relates to paragraphs relates to
paragraph149 and awaits National Assembly approval to wind up the Fund.

633)=Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

634) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle
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153. Unreported Expenditure

635) During the year under review, the Agency made a cash payment of Kshs.2,006,357
towards the repair and maintenance works of its Mombasa offices. However, there is no
evidence of the amounts having been applied for the intended use as the roofs for some of
the offices were leaking and in bad state. The payment has also not been incorporated in
the financial statements prepared and presented for audit while the expenditure returns were
not appropriately supported with some amounts having been posted into inappropriate
accounts.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
636) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter relates to paragraphs relates to
paragraph 149 and awaits National Assembly approval to wind up the Fund.

637) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National -Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

638) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report; the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to-the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

154. Failure to Execute Mandate

639) The Agency’s operations manual indicates that some of the functions of the Agency are
receiving of clearance/shipping documents from Government Ministries, Departments and
State Corporations; preparation and processing of the imports/exports, warehousing and
transportation documents through customs, port authorities, shipping, transport, insurance
agents - (underwriters) including banks and cargo surveillance agents among other services.
Examinations of records of the Agency indicated that limited businesses of government
agencies are cleared by the Agency as the bulk of the importation business is being
undertaken by the private sector. No explanations have been rendered for failure to deliver
on its mandate.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

640) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter relates to paragraphs relates to
paragraph 149 and awaits National Assembly approval to wind up the Fund.

641) Committee Observations and Findings
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The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

642) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General . The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

155. Lack of Oversight

643) The Agency has no Board of Directors to oversight the organization’s operations.
Further, the internal audit function that ought to check on governance, internal controls and
risk management is not in place. In addition, there is no formal organizational structure thus
compounding the weaknesses over its internal controls.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
644) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter relates to paragraphs relates to
paragraph 149 and awaits National Assembly approval to wind up the Fund.

645) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

646) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General .The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and. report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

REPORT ON. LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

647) Conclusion

156. . Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of my report, | have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit conclusion.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

648) Conclusion
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157. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of my report, | have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit conclusion.

TREASURY MAIN CLEARANCE FUND
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified of Opinion

158. Long Outstanding Accounts Receivables — Debtors

649) As reported previously, the statement of assets and liabilities ‘reflects accounts
receivables-debtors balance of Kshs.12,503,607,446 as at 30 June, 2019. The balance has
been outstanding for a long period of time with no movement which is indicative of nil
recoveries. Further, an amount of Kshs.2,332,170,394 of the.debtor’s balance has not been
analyzed into the individual debtors and what it relates to. This is indicative of likely
impairment, but the necessary adjustments to fairly state the balance by way of provisions
for bad and doubtful debts have not been made.

650) Consequently, the recoverability of the long outstanding accounts receivables - debtors
balance of Kshs.12,503,607,446 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

651) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter was discussed during the examination
of the State Department account for financial year 2017/18 and awaits National Assembly
approval to wind up the Fund.

652) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

653) Committee Recommendation

Within.three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

159. Unsupported Accounts Payables — Creditors

654) As previously reported, the statement of assets and liabilities reflects accounts payables
— creditors balance of Kshs.12,490,478,941 as at 30 June, 2019. However, detailed listings
in support of the balances were not availed for audit review. Consequently, the accuracy
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and completeness of the accounts payables - creditors balance of Kshs.12,490,478,941 as
at 30 June, 2019 could not be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

655) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter was discussed during the examination
of the State Department account for financial year 2017/18 and awaits National Assembly
approval to wind up the Fund.

656) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

657) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in‘the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

160. Unsupported Deficit Balance Brought Forward

658) As reported previously, the statement.of assets and liabilities reflects a net financial
position (closing fund balance) of Kshs:13,128,505 which consists of a Fund balance and
deficit brought forward of Kshs.14,000,000 and Kshs.871,495 respectively. However, the
balances were not supported by any reconciliation. Consequently, the accuracy of the
closing Fund balance of Kshs:13,128,505 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

659) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter was discussed during the examination
of the State Department account for financial year 2017/18 and awaits National Assembly
approval to wind up the Fund.

660) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

661) . Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

Other Matter
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161. Prior Year Matter
161.1Failure to Wind Up the Fund

662) As reported previously, the Fund has been dormant for a significant duration. Pursuant
to the recommendations of the Public Accounts Committee and instructions of The
National Treasury to wind up all dormant funds, the Fund continues to subsist. As at the
time of finalizing this audit, the process was yet to be completed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

663) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter was discussed during the examination
of the State Department account for financial year 2017/18 and awaits National Assembly
approval to wind up the Fund.

664) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

665) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status report.to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

666) Conclusion
162. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of
public resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND-GOVERNANCE

667) . Conclusion
163. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance

KENYA LOCAL LOANS SUPPORT FUND

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

164. Unsupported Balances

668) The financial statements presented for audit are unsupported by a trial balance and
ledgers in support of the balances. In the circumstances it is not possible to ascertain the
accuracy of the reported balances in the financial statements. Further, accrued interest yet
to be received and investments at a cost of Kshs.71,595,406; (2018- Kshs.71,595,406) and
Kshs.6,364,973; (2018-Kshs.10,410,373.50) respectively, have not been appropriately
disclosed in the details in the Notes to the financial statements.

669) The accuracy of the balances cannot therefore be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

670) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter was discussed.during the examination
of the State Department account for financial year 2017/18 and awaits National Assembly
approval to wind up the Fund.

Committee Observations and Findings
671) The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to
wind up the Fund.

672) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

165. Winding Up of the Fund

673) As reported previously, the Fund is dormant in spite of the recommendations of the
Public Accounts' Committee and instructions of The National Treasury vide Treasury
Circular N0.15/2009 dated 7 August, 2009 which directed Accounting Officers to start the
process of winding up all dormant Funds. As at the time of finalizing this audit, the winding
up process was yet to be completed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

674) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter was discussed during the examination
of the State Department account for financial year 2017/18 and awaits National Assembly
approval to wind up the Fund.

675) Committee Observations and Findings
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The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

676) Committee Recommendation

Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

166. Failure to Redeem Stocks

677) Similarly, as reported previously, stocks valued at Kshs.10,430,700 ' which were past
their redemption date of 6 February, 2010 and cost Kshs.17,400 had not been redeemed.
Although The National Treasury has explained that the stocks were redeemed some years
back but erroneously accounted for as revenue, records to confirm the erroneous accounting
for receipts and subsequent correction in the books of account have not been availed for
audit review.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

678) Central Bank of Kenya gave notice to redeem (1981) 10 %% Kenya Stock 2003,
Ksh.3,600.00 vide their letter dated 8th October, 1997 among others and 6% Kenya Stock
1997 of Ksh.5,680,000 vide their letter dated.7th October, 1997. Following the early
redemption of small stock holdings‘of Ksh.10,000.00 and less as per C.B.K. letter dated
8th October, 1997, (1981) 10%:% Kenya Stock 2003, 10%:% Kenya Stock 2000, 8%%
Kenya Stock 1992, 8'2% Kenya Stock 1991/92, 6% Kenya Stock ‘A’ 1990 and 8% Kenya
Stock 1992 have nil balances in the books of Central Bank of Kenya. This implies that the
stocks were redeemed and fully paid. However, stocks worth Ksh.6,364,973.50 appear to
be outstanding due to lack on records on their redemption. The National Treasury has been
in contact with Central Bank of Kenya to provide details of redemptions for the stocks
worth Ksh.6,364,973.50 1o facilitate updating of records

679) Committee Observations and Findings
i. “The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer is yet to redeem the stock; And
Il.=The query remained unresolved

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

680) Conclusion
167. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of

Opinion section of my report, | have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit conclusion.
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REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

681) Conclusion
168. Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of

Opinion section of my report, | have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit conclusion.

PROVIDENT FUND ACCOUNT

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Adverse Opinion

169. Inaccuracies in the Financial Statements

169.1Misstated Comparative Balances and Inconsistencies ‘in-Notes to the Financial
Statements

682) The statement of financial position reflects balances of Kshs.752,556,522 and
Kshs.742,841,111 being the comparative balances for total financial assets and net assets
respectively. However, the audited 2017/2018 financial statements reflected amounts of
Kshs. 815,305,312 and Kshs.805,590,201 respectively for the balances. Further,
inconsistencies were also noted between the referenced notes for bank balances and other
receivables as reflected in the statement of financial position and the actual notes to the
financial statements. In the circumstances, the financial statements are not in compliance
with paragraph 53 of IPSAS 1 which requires comparative information to be disclosed in
respect of the previous period for.all amounts reported in the financial statements.

Submission by the Accounting officer

683) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the Statement of financial
position reflects balances of Ksh.752,556,522 and Ksh.742,841,111 being comparable
balances for total financial assets and net asset respectively while the audited 2017/2018
financial statements reflected amounts of Ksh.815,305,312 and 805,590,201 respectively.
The inconsistency was noted and corrected in the revised statement attached.

684) Committee Observations and Findings
1) The Committee observed that the changes will be effected in the financial statements for

2021/2021 as prior year adjustments for audit review;
i) The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;
iii) In addition, The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer failed to ensure that
reconciliations are done in time and the complete financial statements submitted to the
Auditor General in time as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a) of the
Public Finance Management Act 2012; And
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685) Committee Recommendation
The Committee reprimands the then Accounting Officer for failure to ensure that the

entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled financial and accounting records that comply with
provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM Act 2012.

169.2Variance Between the Trial Balance and the Financial Statements

686) The 2018/2019 Trial Balance submitted for audit revealed items and balances which
were not reflected in the financial statements as indicated below:

Account Description Dr. Amount | Cr. Amount
(Kshs.) (Kshs.)

4-867-0903-7310224 Interest on Investment | 430,316,536
Provident Fund

4-867-0903-7310224 Interest on Investment 1,230,081,880
Provident Fund

4-867-0903-7310227 Profit/ loss on Realization of 7,163,992
Investment

4-867-0903-7310230 Interest Credit to Deposit 113,114

4-867-0903-7310231 Accumulative  Income. & 1,372,274

Expenditure A/C

4-867-0903-7310235 Recovery of Interest due from | 1,448,783 1,448,783

GOK
4-867-0903-7310236 Annual Account 883,162
4-867-0903-7310237 Bonus paid to Depositors 1,296,168
4-867-0903-7310238 Annuity payment(Charles 50,696

Kombo- Agri.)

Total 433,225,297 | 1,240,950,091

687) No explanation was provided on what the items related to, and the reasons for exclusion
in the financial statements. Similarly, the following balances reflected in the financial
statements were not traced to the Trial Balance:

Amount
Item Description (Kshs.)
Dividend Income 60,327,313
Other Receivables 6,176,372
Bank Balance 819,799,550
Other Pending Payables 0,715,111

688) Further, the Trial Balance presented for audit had its debits and credits not balancing at
Kshs.482,912,920 and Kshs.2,122,512,019 respectively. In the circumstances, the
accuracy of the balances reflected in the financial statements could not be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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689) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter was discussed during the examination
of the State Department account for financial year 2017/18 and a recommendation was
issued therein.

Committee Observation and Finding

690) The Committee discussed the matter in the report for the FY 2017/2018 and the
explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory.

170. Doubtful Other Receivables

691) As previously reported, and as disclosed in Note 11.4 to the financial statements, the
statement of financial position reflects a balance of Kshs.9,972,598 under other receivables
which comprised a cash deposit balance held at the insolvent Cereals and. Sugar
Corporation and dividends receivable from Kenya Power and Lighting Company (KPLC)
of Kshs.3,796,226 and Kshs.6,176,372 respectively. However,” Management did not
provide any evidence of the measures put in place to recover the debts i full.

Submission by the Accounting officer

692) The National Treasury wrote to KPLC requesting for payment of the dividends of
Ksh.6,176,372 from KPLC vide letter reference number EPN/167/025/Vol.XV(5) of June,
2021. The amount was credited by the KPLC in-our account July 2, 2021. The balance of
Kshs.3,796,226 is being handled by the old balance committee and when the process of
winding up the Fund is concluded; the issue:will be addressed. Confirmation of receipt of
dividend from KPLC has been verified.

693) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) Committee observed that the fund is.among other funds proposed to be wound up hence

awaiting National Assembly approval. The Committee further observed that the
Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep proper accounting records in
contravention of Section 68(2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012.

(it) The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to
wind up the Fund.

694) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

171. Unsupported Payables Balance

695) The statement of financial position reflects other pending payables balance of
Kshs.9,715,111 (2018: Kshs.9,715,111) which as disclosed in Note 11.6 to the financial
statements related to amounts due to National Government entities. However, as previously
reported, Management has not supported the balances by way of a detailed listing and
invoices indicating the specific entities to which the amounts are owed. Consequently, it
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has not been possible to confirm the accuracy, validity and completeness of other pending
payables balance of Kshs.9,715,111 as at 30 June, 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

696) The Accounting Officer submitted that the matter was discussed during the examination
of the State Department account for financial year 2017/18 and a recommendation was
issued therein

Committee Observation and Finding

697) The Committee discussed the matter in the report for the FY 2017/2018 and.the
explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory.

Other Matter

172. Budget Control and Performance

698) The statement of comparison of budget and actual -amounts does not reflect the
approved budget amounts for revenue and expenditure. However, during the year under
review, the Fund received revenue of Kshs.60,327,313 and-had a nil expenditure. The
explanatory note indicates that there was no budget despite the Fund having investments in
Kenya Power and Lighting Company and East African Breweries Limited for which
dividend income was expected.

Submission by the Accounting officer

699) The Fund is not active and budget was not provided. However, a budget will be
prepared for the same in future.

700) Committee Observation and Findings
i) The Committee observed thatthe fund is in the process of wound up and awaits the National

Assembly approval;

i) The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;
And

701) _Committee Recommendation
The Committee reprimands the Accounting Officer for violation of the provisions of

Article 229 (4) (h) of the Constitution and Section 68 (2) of the Public Finance
Management Act 2012.

173. Idle Resources

702) As previously reported, the Fund has carried out minimal operations where only
dividends from investments in KPLC and EABL are recorded. The Fund continued to
accumulate idle bank balances which stood at Kshs.819,799,550 as at 30 June, 2019
contrary to the guiding principles for cash management which include avoiding
accumulation of idle balances as provided under Regulation 83 (2)(c) of the Public Finance
Management Regulations, 2015 and Section 3(3) of Provident Fund Act, 2012 which
provides that moneys paid into the Fund shall, so far as practicable, be invested in interest

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 141



yielding securities. Alternatively, if the mandate of the Fund ceased or lapsed, the Fund
ought to have been wound up and the assets reverted to the Government.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

703) The Accounting Officer submitted that the National Treasury wrote to Central Bank of
Keya seeking advice on how to invest vide letter ref. no.EPN/167/025 Vol.X1/34 dated 14
March 2016 and the Central Bank advised vide letter ref. no. EPN/167/025 Vol.X1/34 dated
13" January, 2017 on the requirements and conditions to be met before investing. Two of
the conditions were that the Fund should have Fund Manager and Board of Trustees. The
Fund has no remaining beneficiaries and it would not be viable to engage a Fund manager
and Board of trustees. The fund is in process of being wound up. He

704) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assemblyapproval to wind

up the Fund.

705) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

706) Conclusion
174. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.
EUROPEAN WIDOWS AND ORPHANS PENSION FUND
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for-Adverse Opinion
175.. Inaccuracies in the Financial Statements
175.1Unreconciled Cash and Cash Equivalents Balances

707) Asdisclosed in Note 11.5 to the financial statements, the statement of financial position
reflects an amount of Kshs.172,752,669; (2018-Kshs.172,853,169) under cash balances.
However, the audited comparative figure reflects a balance of Kshs.175,505,995 resulting
to an unexplained variance of Kshs.2,652,826. Consequently, the accuracy of the reported
cash and cash equivalents balance of Kshs.172,752,669 as at 30 June, 2019 could not be
confirmed.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

708) The Accounting Officer submitted that the observation of the auditor is correct, and the
bank balance was restated as per the accounts signed on 31 December 2018, and the correct
balance of cash and cash equivalent is shown as Ksh.172,853,168.35. A amount of
Kshs.6,953,601.35 was amount erroneously paid in our account by Laikipia County and
out of it an amount totaling to Kshs.2,652,646.00 was captured and received in the books
as dividend. The error has since been corrected by J.E n0.0092 of 30" June, 2018 and the
balance of Kshs.4,300,776.00 was captured in the cash book. Attached herewith find ledger
and bank reconciliation statement to confirm bank balance.

709) Committee Observations and Recommendations
The Accounting Officer provided a satisfactory explanation to both the auditor and the

Committee. The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

710) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisionsof Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012.

175.2Unconfirmed Receivables

711) The statement of financial position-reflects a receivables balance of Kshs.21,221,715;
(2018-Kshs.21,221,715). The balance comprises of Kshs.16,900,000 owed by the Cereals
and Sugar Finance Corporation.and Kshs.4,321,715 ordinary dividends receivable from the
Kenya Power and Lighting Company respectively. However, there has been no movement
during the year under review indicative of likely impairment of the balance. No adjustments
by way of provisions have been made to ensure fair statement of the receivables amount.
Consequently, the fair statement of the receivables balance of Kshs.21,221,715 as at 30
June, 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

712)  The“Accounting Officer submitted that the CSFC is being wound up and the fate of
Kshs.16,900,000 invested will be determined at the end of the process while the dividend
receivable of Kshs.4,321,715 was credited in our account on July 2, 2021 by KPLC. The
National Treasury established a Taskforce on winding up of Dormant Funds. The National
Treasury sought and got legal opinion and recommendations from the Attorney General
vide his letter Ref. AG/CONF/6/E/170 VOL Il (5) of 17" May 2019.

713) A cabinet Memorandum on winding of the fund vide letter Ref. No. MOF/AC/305C
Vol. 2 (172) of 10™ September 2019 was forwarded to the Attorney General and in reply
vide his letter Ref. AG/LDD/199/1/81 OF 19" November 2019 he advised that draft
revocation orders be prepared on the fund. The revocation order 2020 was done and
submitted to the cabinet for consideration and approval.
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714) The Head of Public service vide letter ref no. CAB/GEN.3/1/1 VOL.XVI11/(18) dated
2nd March 2021 communicated The Cabinet Approval for revocation order of the Fund.
The Orders were forwarded to Attorney General's Office vide letter REF
AG.MOF/AC/305C VOL. 2 (213) dated 12 April, 2021 for onward transmission to the
National Assembly.

715)  With the conclusion of the winding up, the issues raised by the Auditor will be fully
addressed.

716) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to:wind up
the Fund.

717) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer.should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

176. Unconfirmed Investments

718) The statement of financial position further. reflects an investments balance of
Kshs.21,608,573 (2018-Kshs.21,608,573).However, proof of ownership and existence of
the investments in shares of the Kenya Power-and Lighting Company could not be
confirmed as the share certificates were not availed for audit review. In the circumstances,
the existence and validity of the investments balance of Kshs.21,608,573 as at 30 June,
2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

719) The Accounting-Officer. submitted that copies of share certificates and deposit
certificate supporting. the investment balance were provided for audit verification and
review as follows:

a) Share certificates total Kshs, 21,608,573.
b) Deposit certificate form Cereals and Sugar

Finance Corporation Kshs. 16,900,000.

Total Kshs. 38,508,573

720) ~ The same copies of share certificates were attached for perusal by the Committee.
721) Committee Observations and Findings

The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the
Fund.

722) Committee Recommendation
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Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up
the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

177. Unexplained Adjustments

723)  As reported previously, the Fund adjusted its investments balance of Kshs.25,516,933
downwards in the financial year 2017/2018 by Kshs.3,908,360 for which no explanation
has been provided. Further, the audited comparative accumulated surplus balance figure
brought forward of Kshs.92,500,404 has been adjusted downwards to Kshs.89,847,579
with no disclosures by way of Notes to the financial statements.

724) In the circumstances, the validity of the adjustments on the.investment and Fund
balances brought forward could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

725) The Accounting Officer submitted that the PMIS system has a challenge in capturing
certain prior year adjustments, receivables and producing financial reports. The challenge
will be addressed by procuring a new system..The adjustment of Capital account by
Kshs.3,908,360.00 was effected through debiting the Capital account balance and crediting
the investment account balance brought forward with a similar amount. The two accounts
were adjusted in 2011/2012 financial year with an amount of Kshs.17,364,820 in
recognition of bonus shares.

726) Further, the bank balance was restated as per the accounts signed on 31 December 2018,
and the correct balance of cash and cash equivalent is shown as Ksh.172,853,168.35.
Amount of Kshs.6,953,601.35 was erroneously paid in our account and out of it an amount
totaling to Kshs.2,652,646.00 was captured and received in the books as dividend. The
error has since been corrected by J.E no.0092 of 30" June, 2018. The balance of
Kshs.4,300,776.00 was captured in the cash book.

727) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up

the Fund:

728) Committee Recommendation
Within-three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

178. Unreconciled Ledgers and Trial Balance
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729) The balances in the financial statements are at variance with the Trial Balance. The
Trial Balance debit and credit balances have variances totalling to Kshs.172,752,669.
Further, the receivables balance of Kshs.21,221,715 has not been incorporated in the
ledgers.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

730) The PIMS deposit ledger consist of five funds a) the Provident fund, b) the Asian
officers’ family fund, c) the Asiatic, d) the revenue Statement and ¢) the European Widows
and Orphans Pension Fund. The balance of Kshs.172,752,669 is the PMG figure.for the
European Widows and Orphans Fund.

731) PMIS system was not fully developed to capture certain receivables. and produce
financial reports, the same will be addressed by the System re-engineering process  The
ledger availed was manually prepared and not generated from PMISwhich ought to be the
source document of balances reflected in the financial statements.

732) Committee Observation and Findings
i) The Committee observed that the system used in capturing data has not been configured

to produce accurate financial statements;

i) The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;
And

733) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide

status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General to undertake a review and
report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

734) Conclusion

179. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

735) Conclusion
180. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

ASIAN OFFICERS FAMILY PENSION FUND
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Adverse Opinion
181. Accuracy of the Financial Statements

736) The Trial Balance prepared and presented for audit reflected some balances which were
omitted from the financial statements as detailed below:

Debit Credit
Account Description (Kshs.) (Kshs.)
Other Admin - Contributions A.O.F.P. F 81,932
Pension Increase A.O.F.P. F 81,932
Pension Payment (excluding pension increase) - 1,023,072
Income and Expenditure Account 50,554
Interest on Investments Asian ©92,085,315
Expenses of Management 10,613,702
Appreciation/Depreciation Account 337,703

737) Further, the Trial Balance reflected total debits and credits of Kshs.788,352,089 and
Kshs.1,236,837,608 respectively resulting to a difference of Kshs.448,485,519. Although
Management explained that the difference was as a result of failure by the system to capture
Pay Master General items, no adjustments or reconciliation for the difference was provided
for audit. In addition, other receipts in the statement of cash flows is referenced to Note
11.9 instead of Notel11.10.

738) Consequently, the accuracy and fair statement of the financial statements could not be
confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

739) The Accounting Officer submitted that the PMIS system is configured in a way that it
doesn’t knock off expenditures against income received hence the ledger accumulates
expenditures and income as shown in the Ledger. The above items brought forward as
expenditures/income are attributed to the current state of the system's configuration which
will be addressed when a new system will be procured. Therefore, these
expenditures/incomes brought forward don’t relate to Financial Year 2018/2019 as shown
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in the Ledger but are historical expenditures/income incurred on the Fund. To get the
current year income/ expenditure, opening balance is subtracted from the closing balance.

740) The ledger availed is manually prepared and not generated from PMIS which ought to
be the source document of balances reflected in the financial statements. The matter is
recommended for review since the system used in capturing data has not been configured
to produce accurate financial statements. When will management upgrade the ICT system
used by Pensions Department to capture accurate data?

741) Committee Observation and Findings
1)  The Committee observed that the system used in capturing data has not'been configured
to produce accurate financial statements;
i) The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2).(b) of the PFM Act, 2012.

742) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should provide

status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General to undertake a review and
report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit reporting cycle

182. Unsupported Balances

743) The statement of assets and liabilities reflects a receivables and cash equivalent
balances of Kshs.20,491,730 and Kshs.448,485,519 respectively. However, Management
has not supported the balances by way of detailed schedules. Further, and as previously
reported, included in the.receivables balance is an amount of Kshs.15,200,000 relating to
cash owed to the Fund by the defunct Cereals and Sugar Finance Corporation (CSFC) under
winding up process: The balance is however unsupported by way of deposit certificates or
other documentary evidence confirming the ownership. In the circumstance, the accuracy
and recoverability of the reported receivables balance of Kshs.20,491,730 and the accuracy
of the cash equivalent balance of Kshs.448,485,519 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the-Accounting Officer

744) The Accounting Officer submitted that the breakdown and supporting documents for
cash and cash equivalent tabulated below are hereby attached for audit verification.

Dividend receivable Kshs. 5,291,730.00
Investment in CSFC Kshs. 15,200,000.00
Cash at hand/Bank Kshs. 448,485,519.00

745) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up the

Fund.
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746) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

Other Matter
183. Wrong Presentation of Financial Statements

747) Although the cover page states that the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Accrual Basis of accounting method under the International Public
Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), there is a mix up on the elements. The financial
statements contain the statement of assets and liabilities in place- of.the statement of
financial position; and the statement of receipts and payments in.place.of the statement of
financial performance.

748) The original financial statements had a mix up but this was-adjusted, revised statement
is attached on the audit certificate.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

749) The Accounting Officer submitted that the original financial statements had a mix up
but this was adjusted, revised statement-is attached on the audit certificate.

750) Committee Observations.and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up

the Fund.

751) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation-order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to_undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting-cycle

184. Incomplete Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts

752)  The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts reflects total actual revenue
and expenditure on comparable basis of Kshs.5,998 and Kshs.1,601,196 respectively.
However, the budgeted revenue and expenditure is not reflected.

Submission by the Accounting officer

753) The Accounting Officer submitted that the year under review no budget was prepared
for the Fund in the National Budget Estimates. This anomaly was noted and the budget
statement will be included in future.
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754) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind

up the Fund.

755) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

185. Unresolved Prior Year Issues

756) Asdisclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements on progress on follow up of auditor’s
recommendations, various prior year’s audit issues remained unresolved as at 30 June,
2019. Management has not provided reasons for the delay in resolving theprior year’s audit
issues.

Submission by the Accounting officer

757)  The Accounting Officer submitted that the two unresolved prior year issues were:
a) Irregular pension payment of Kshs.519,800/=

The National Bank credited our CFS account with-Kshs.112,120 on 1% July,2021, and
provided us with schedules of verifying-the-how the balance of Kshs.30,970 was
deposited to our accounts. We have since-done the reconciliation and submitted for
audit review. Failure to capture ledger figures in Financial statement the Financial
statements were revised and.captured the ledger figures.

758) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind

up the Fund.

759) Committee Recommendation
Within three:-months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

760) Conclusion

186. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.
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REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

761) Conclusion

187. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

ASIATIC WIDOWS AND ORPHANS PENSION FUND
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
762) Unqualified Opinion

188. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Fund.

Emphasis of Matter
189. Failure to Wind Up the Fund

763) As reported previously, the Fund-has.been dormant since June, 2002 since the death of
the only surviving beneficiary. The Cabinet through memorandum dated 26 June, 2012
authorized the Attorney General, the Minister of State for Public Service and The National
Treasury to commence the winding up process of the Fund. Subsequently, a task force was
appointed by The National Treasury to wind up dormant funds in August, 2015, which
prepared a draft legal notice for the de-gazettement of the Fund. As at the time of finalizing
this audit, the process was yet to be completed.

764) My opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.

Submission by the Accounting officer

765) The Accounting Officer submitted that the as reported previously, the Fund has been
dormant since June, 2002 since the death of the only surviving beneficiary. The National
Treasury-established a Taskforce on winding up of Dormant Funds. The National Treasury
sought and got legal opinion and recommendations from the Attorney General vide his
letter Ref. AG/CONF/6/E/170 VOL 11(5) of 17th May 2019.

766) A cabinet Memorandum on winding of the fund vide letter Ref. No. MOF/AC/305C
Vol. 2 (172) of 10th September 2019 was forwarded to the Attorney General and in reply
vide his letter Ref. AG/LDD/199/1/81 OF 19th November 2019 he advised that draft
revocation orders be prepared on the fund. The revocation order 2020 was done and
submitted to the cabinet for consideration and approval.
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767) The Head of Public service vide letter ref no. CAB/GEN.3/1/1 VOL.XVI11/(18) dated
2nd March 2021 communicated The Cabinet Approval for revocation order of the Fund.
The Orders were forwarded to Attorney General's Office vide letter REF
AG.MOF/AC/305C VOL. 2 (213) dated 12 April, 2021 for onward transmission to the
National Assembly.

768)  With the conclusion of the winding up, the issues raised by the Auditor will be fully
addressed.

769) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to:wind up
the Fund.

770) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National-Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESSIN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

771) Conclusion

190. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

772) Conclusion

191. There 'were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

AFRICAN UNION AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS
SUBSCRIPTION FUND

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Adverse of Opinion

192. Lack of Proper Books of Accounts
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773) The Fund did not maintain proper books of accounts including receipt vouchers, cash
books, ledgers, and bank reconciliation statements. Further, the summary of budget versus
actual performance reflects budgeted revenue estimates of Kshs.2,650,892,952 based on
10% of total estimated import declaration fee. However, supporting documents showing
how the amount was arrived at were not availed for audit review. In addition, the statement
did not indicate the estimated expenditure for the year contrary to Section 2 of the
Appropriation Act, 2016.

774)  Consequently, the validity, accuracy and completeness of the financial statements for
the year ended 30 June, 2019 as prepared and presented for audit could not be established.

Submission by the Accounting officer

775) The Accounting Officer submitted that the by the time of audit, books were not availed
but were later availed. Further, it true that the summary of budget and actual performance
reflect a budgeted revenue estimates of Ksh.2,650,892,952. The expenditure was budgeted
at Ksh.4,144,040,778 under head 1071000100 - subhead 16- 'Subscriptions to Local and
International Organizations. The expenditure is based on“the agreements/memoranda
between the government and the institutions Kenya subscribes too. The expenditures were
funded though exchequer and not through the Fund. ' The documents were not availed at
the time of but were later provided.

776) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up

the Fund.

777) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a“review.and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle.

REPORT ON“ LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Basis for Conclusion
193.. Non-Payment of Government Subscription to African Union

778) Regulation 4 of Public Finance Management (African Union and Other International
Organizations Subscription Fund) Regulations, 2017 provides that the object and purpose
of the Fund shall be to make Kenya’s contribution to the African Union and other
international organizations to which Kenya has a financial obligation. However, the Fund
did not pay the Government of Kenya’s contribution to the African Union and Other
International Organizations in the financial year despite availability of substantial funds for
the purpose.
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779) Management is in breach of the law to this extent.

Submission by the Accounting officer

780) The Accounting Officer submitted that the Subscriptions were budgeted under head
1071000100, subhead 16- Subscriptions to Local and International Organizations.

781) As indicated in Paragraph 190 above, there was no expenditure from the Fund but the
subscriptions were paid from Exchequer. Therefore, the Government met its obligations of
paying subscriptions that were due.

782) The Fund had not started operating because the fund administrator had not been
appointed.

783) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly-approval to wind

up the Fund.

784) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General to
undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent audit
reporting cycle

194. Non-Operationalization of the Fund

785) The secretariat necessary to.operationalize the Fund had not been set up as at 30 June,
2019. This is contrary to Section 7(2) of the Public Finance Management (African Union
and Other International Organizations Subscription Fund) Regulations, 2017. The Fund did
not therefore, utilize the approved budget for the period.

Submission by the Accounting officer

786) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that by the time of audit the Fund
was not operational. This was due to the fact that there was no Fund administrator.
However, the Fund-is currently operational after the Administrator was appointed.

787) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up
the Fund.

788) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle
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REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

Basis for Conclusion
195. Limited Segregation of Duties

789) Contrary to the provisions of Section 68 (1) (e) of the Public Finance Management Act,
2012 which requires accounting officers to ensure that all applicable accounting and
financial controls and systems are followed, the financial transactions for the Fund were
processed by one officer without segregation of duties. Consequently, .internal controls
were inadequate.

Submission by the Accounting officer

790) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that by the time of audit, the Fund
administrator and secretariat had not been fully constituted but currently they have all been
established.

791) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that the matter is awaiting National Assembly approval to wind up
the Fund.

792) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should follow up

the revocation order and provide status report to the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General to undertake a review-and report to the National Assembly in the subsequent
audit reporting cycle.

- ]
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4. STATE DEPARTMENT FOR PLANNING
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR VOTE 1072

Mr. Saitoti Torome, the Accounting Officer for the State Department of Planning (Vote
1072) appeared before the Committee on 14" September 2021 and 23" November 2021
to adduce evidence on the Audited Financial Statements for the State Department of
Planning (Vote 1072) for the Financial Year 2017/2018. He was accompanied. by the
following officers:

1. Mr. Sammy Naporos
KVDA

MD — Kerio Valley Development Authority

2. Ms. Veronica Kamau - Assist. Accountant General
3. Mr. Titus Chemursoi - Finance and Accounts Manager KVDA
4. Mr. Joshua Musoti - Finance Manager KVDA
5. Mr. Anthony M. Nduthu - Finance Officer

6. Mr. Peterson Njenga - Principal Economist

7. Mr. Elias N. Njoroge - Finance Manager - KNBS
8. Mr. John Munywoki - Snr. Chief Finance Officer
9. Mr. Pinto O. Omuga - Accountant

10. Mr. James Mungai - Principal Accountant

11. Ms. Emma M. Kinatu - Finance Officer

12. Ms. Priscilla Njuguna - Accountant

Basis for Adverse Opinion

196. Unsupported District Suspense

793) As disclosed in Note 11 to the financial statements, the statement of assets and
liabilities as at 30 June 2019 reflects accounts receivables balance of Kshs.45,758,389,
which includes a district suspense figure of Kshs.45,008,684. The district suspense figure
has been explained.as the balance outstanding from Kshs.700,500,000 disbursed to various
Regional Authorities in the financial year 2016/2017 for drought intervention measures
out of which Kshs.655,691,316 had been converted to expenditure as at 30 June 2019.
However, a review of expenditure returns from the Regional Authorities showed that out
of the total indicated as converted expenditure of Kshs.655,691,316 only Kshs.430,451,134
had relevant supporting documents, leaving unsupported balance of
Kshs.225,040,182.

794)  Further, even though the funds disbursed in 2016/2017 financial year were to be
utilized in the same year in accordance with the approved work plans that were used in
disbursing the funds, the Regional Authorities have continued to utilize the funds for over
three years without approvals of the activities being executed after the expiry of the
execution work plan time lines. Consequently, the accuracy and completeness of the
accounts receivables balance of Kshs.45,758,389 as at 30 June, 2019 cannot be confirmed.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

795) The Accounting Officer agreed with the audit findings on review of expenditure
returns from the Regional Authorities that out of the total indicated as converted to
expenditure of Kshs 655,691.316 only Kshs 430,451,134 had relevant supporting
documents leaving unsupported balance of Kshs 225,040,182 as at 30th June 2019. The
Regional Authorities have accounted for Kshs 632,905,707 out of the Kshs. 700,500,000
issued to them leaving a balance of Kshs 67,594,293 as unsupported. Further, the State
Department has written several letters to the Accounting Officer where the Regional
Authorities are domiciled with the most recent being letter ref TNTP/SDP/17/05(01) dated
6TH September 2021 requesting the accounting officer to recover the money from the
respective Regional Authority’s budgetary allocations and forwarded the recoveries to the
state Department for onward transmission to the consolidated fund.

796) Committee Observations

(i) The Regional Authorities have accounted for Kshs 632,905,707 out of the Kshs.
700,500,000 issued to them leaving a balance of Kshs 67,594,293 as unsupported; and

(ii) The State Department has written several letters to the Aecounting Officer where the
Regional Authorities are domiciled with the most recent being letter ref
TNTP/SDP/17/05(01) dated 6™ September 2021 requesting the accounting officer to
recover the money from the respective Regional Authority’s budgetary allocation.

797) Committee Recommendation
Within three months of adoption of this report,.the Accounting Officer responsible for

the Regional Development Authorities should ensure that the outstanding balance of
Kshs. Kshs 67,594,293 is fully recovered and a report submitted to the Auditor-General
for review.

197. Prior Year Adjustments

798) Asdisclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements, the statement of assets and liabilities
reflects prior year adjustments totaling Kshs.30,798,591. However, the adjustments have
not been done in line with Paragraph 47(a) of the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSAS) Number 3, which require restatement of all affected prior year balances
in the financial statements unless it is impracticable to do so. Consequently, the statement
of assets and-liabilities for the year ended 30 June,2019 do not comply with International
Public Sector Accounting Standard (Cash basis)

Submission by the Accounting Officer

799) . The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that in Note 14 to the financial
statements the statement of Assets and Liabilities reflects a prior year adjustment totaling
Kshs. 30,798,591. The state Department did not need to restate the prior balances since
there was no change in the balances. Note 14 to the financial statements was just explaining
the movement in the figures as shown on the table below:
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Prior Year Adjustments

SNO | Description 2017/2018 | Prior Year | Remarks

Adjusted 2018-
2019

1 Bank Accounts
Recurrent 12,191,814 | 63,173 Being amounts surrendered to the
Recurrent(cash) - Exchequer as at 30th June 2018
Development 94,172 Being Bank balance as at 30th-June
Deposits 2018

8,333,772

2 Accounts 2,209,680 Being Imprest surrendered in the
Receivables year 2018/2019 relating to
Imprest 2017/2018
Salary Advance Being Salary advance recovered in

117,590 the. year. 2018/2019 relating to
2017/2018.

28,313,976 Being drought AIE amounts

converted to expenditure in the

District Suspense year 2018/2019 relating to
2016/2017.

3 Accounts Being recognition of the Deposit
Payables (8,833,772) bank balance as at 30th June 2018
Deposits funds.

30,798,591.00
800) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The financial statements the statement of Assets and Liabilities reflects a prior year
adjustment totaling Kshs. 30,798,591

(i) The state Department did not need to restate the prior balances since there was no change
in the balances

801) ‘Committee Recommendation
The-Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

198. Variances between Amount of Appropriations-In-Aid (AlA) Presented and
Amount Collected

802) As disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements, the statement of Receipts and
payments, reflects a balance of Kshs.71,000,000 under other revenues, being
Appropriations-In-Aid collected during the year. However, documents in support of other
revenue earned, received, confirmed and reported in the financial statements of
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the Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (KNBS) amounted to Kshs.279,195,885 against a
budget of Kshs.71,000,000. The accounting treatment of the resultant variance of
Kshs.208,195,885 has not been explained. Under the circumstances, it has not been
possible to confirm the accuracy of the other revenues balance of Kshs.71,000,000 reported
in the financial statements as at 30 June, 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

803) It is true that note 3 to the financial statement, under the statement of Receipts and
Payment reflected a balance of Kshs 71,000,000 as AIA. This figure was based. on the
approved budget.

804) The Kenya National Bureau of Statistics collected excess AIA of Kshs 208,195,885
which they were expected to surrender to the Accounting Officer for onward transmission
to the consolidated fund as guided by Regulation 43 (c) of the PFM (National Government)
Regulations 2015. The state Department through letter Ref TNTP/SDP/17/82VOL11(20)
has requested the Kenya National Bureau of Statistics to surrender the excess AlA that they
collected.

805) Committee Observations and Findings

The Kenya National Bureau of Statistics collected excess AIA of Kshs. 208,195,885 that they
were expected to surrender to the Accounting Officer for .onward transmission to the
consolidated fund as guided by Regulation 43 (c) of the PFM (National Government)
Regulations 2015.

806) Committee Recommendations
(i) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer ensures the

Director-General for KNBS surrenders to the National Treasury excess AIA of
Kshs. 208,195,885.

(if) Within three months of ‘adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer submits to
the Auditor-General the confirmation of surrender of the excess AlA to the National
Treasury.

199. Acquisition of Assets
199.1 Unsupported Participants and Other Allowances on MTP I11

807) ~As.disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements, the statement of receipts and
payments reflects a balance of Kshs.320,844,976 under acquisition of assets that includes
an._amount of Kshs.297,981,180 incurred under research, studies, project preparation,
design and supervision. The latter balance includes an amount of Kshs.79,016,000 paid as
imprests to various officers to facilitate forums in the Counties. The imprests were for the
officer’s daily subsistence allowances, hire of venue, transport reimbursement to the
participants, accommodation allowances to participants in Counties, facilitation for report
writing, facilitation for presenters, hire of LCD projectors and public address systems,
stationery, security, fuel and other contingency expenses.

808) However, even though a listing indicating participants’ signatures for monies received
from the paying officers was produced, details of the venues for the meetings including
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how the venues were procured and paid for were not availed for audit verifications. In
addition, no details based on identification of the participating citizens was availed for audit
verification and confirmation as the listing provided had no telephone contacts of the
participants. Consequently, the propriety and accuracy of this expenditure of
Kshs.79,016,000 under acquisition of assets could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

809) The Third MTP was officially launched by H.E. the Deputy President on 23rd
November 2018. The Third Medium Term Plan 2018-2022 succeeds the Second MTP
2013-2017 and outlines policies, programmes and projects for implementation over the
Plan period with particular focus on achieving the Governments “Big Four” Agenda. The
MTP 11l also incorporates programmes and projects aimed at achieving.the Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs), Africa’s Agenda 2063 and other regional ‘and international
development frameworks.

810) In order to ensure successful implementation of the Third MTP and its 28 Sector Plans,
and, The National Treasury and Planning through the State Department for Planning
disseminated the Plan in all Counties to ensure that all stakeholders are conversant with the
Government’s medium term development priorities. The Dissemination forums were in
line with Constitutional requirement of informing the public on Government policy
decisions. The dissemination forums were held.concurrently in all counties between 24th
February and 5th March 2019.

811) The State Department prepared a detailed proposal on dissemination of Medium-Term
Plan (MTP 2018-2022). The dissemination proposal was shared with Head of Public
Service for information, concurrence and communication to all Principal Secretaries for
their participation. The dissemination proposal was approved by Principal Secretary State
Department for Planning upon receiving concurrence from Head of Public Services vide
letter OP/CAB.6/1A of 12th February 2019. The approval was done on 18th February 2019
to facilitate necessary preparations for the dissemination forums.

2.1.1 Identification of Venues and Participants

812) The dissemination forums were organised by State Department for Planning and since
it involved holding the forums in the counties, there was appropriate to involve offices of
County Cemmissioners and offices of Governors. In view of this, the State Department for
Planning officially wrote to Principal Secretary for Interior informing him of the forums
and requesting him to issue a circular to all County Commissioners informing them of the
forums. The Circular directed County Commissioners to:

i ldentify and book a suitable venue for 150 participants preferably Government
Institutions where appropriate. As noted in Annex | of Proposal, the cost of venue included
teas, snacks, water and lunch. It is important to note that in counties such as Kisumu,
Mombasa, Nairobi and Baringo, forum venues were in Government institutions. In most of
the other Counties, Government venues ware not adequate to host 150 participants or were
not available during the Forum dates hence the alternative venues sought from private
institutions to host the forums. It is also observed that apart from Nairobi and Mombasa,
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the cost of venue and meals was Kshs. 3,000 per participant (Kshs.450,000 per county).
The cost incurred were paid in cash to institutions as per receipts.

Identify 150 participants from all segments of society in consultation with County
Government. It is important to note that proper guidance was provided to County
Commissioners in identifying participants to ensure that diverse groups are represented.
The participants identification guide included the following categories; Governors;
Senators, County Commissioners, Members of National Assembly, County Executive
Committee Members, Government Departmental Heads, Ward representatives, Youth
Representatives, Women Representatives, Religious organisations, Private . sector,
Development partners, Civil society, Media and village elders. The State Department for
Planning had the view that, County Commissioners had better structures of administration
that could effectively be utilised in identification of targeted participants. It is appreciated
that the Public Participation Guidelines strongly calls for representation of all segment of
the population. The State Department for Planning conducted the exercise based on the
participants availed in the identified venue by the County Commissioners in consultation
with County Governments guided. Requisite payments were-made to individuals who
attended the dissemination forums at the end of the event.

Provide security in all the Forum venues.

. Similarly, the State Department officially wrote to Chief Executive Officer, Council of

Governors informing her of the Forums and requesting her to officially communicate the
same to Offices of the Governars. The Office of the Governors though County Secretaries
liaised with County Commissioners in identifying participants for the Forums within the
spirit of inclusivity.

813) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) of the venues for the meetings including how the venues were procured and paid Details

for were not availed for during the audit verification

(if) The dissemination‘forums were organised by State Department for Planning and since it

involved holding the forums in the counties, it was appropriate to involve offices of County
Commissioners and offices of Governors.

814).. Committee Recommendations
The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury should within three (3) months of

tabling this report, reprimand the Accounting Officer for failure to provide documents
at the time of audit contrary to the provisions of Section 9(1e) of the Public Audit Act
2015.

199.2 Irregular Expenditure on Refurbishment of Buildings
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815) Further, the acquisition of assets figure of Kshs.320,844,976 as reported in the
statement of receipts and payments includes an amount of Kshs.20,802,795 in respect of
refurbishment of buildings. However, the latter balance includes incorrectly classified
payments for internet totaling Kshs.20,000,000 from a supplier whose details of how they
were identified and procured were not availed for audit verification. There was also no
certificate of inspection and acceptance to show that the service was received as detailed
in the contract. Additionally, included in the refurbishment expense is an amount of
Kshs.478,885 in respect of payment for retention monies for which the contract under
which it accrued and the opening balance was not provided.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

816) The State Department states that there was a pending bill owed to M/s Telkem Kenya
Ltd of Kshs.23,653,841.10 for the supply, delivery and installation of internet services (WI-
FI) adapters and related accessories in the 107 sub-counties:~The, expenditure of
Kshs.20,000,000 was part payment of the outstanding bill ‘leaving, a balance of
Kshs.3,653,841.10. We agree with the observation that the expenditure.of Kshs.20,000,000
was wrongly charged to refurbishment of buildings. However, the budget allocation for
clearance of this pending bill was provided for under the charged budget item.

817) The Accounting Officer clarified that M/s Telkom Kenya Ltd was awarded the contract
through open tendering procurement method under  tender No.
MODP/CEISP8/34/2013/2014 as evidenced by minutes of the Tender Committee. The user
department vide memo Ref TNTP/SDP/3/30 dated 15th February 2019 confirmed that the
services had been rendered and the outstanding payable amount to M/s Telkom Kenya Ltd.

199.3 Irregular Charging of Printing Expenses on Refurbishment of Building

818) As disclosed under Note 9 to the financial statements, the statement of receipts and
payments reflects a balance of Kshs.320,844,976 under acquisition of assets which includes
an amount of Kshs.297,981,180 incurred on research, studies, project preparation, design
and supervision. The latter-balance includes an amount of Kshs.28,354,504 paid to the
Government Printer for printing 15,000 copies of the MTP 111 2018-2022 and 28,000 copies
of the 28 MTP 11l Sector Plans. No explanation has been provided for charging printing
expenses under refurbishment of buildings. Under the circumstances, the propriety and
accuracy of the acquisition of asset figure of Kshs.320,844,976 could not be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

819) The Accounting Officer submitted that Kshs.28,354 504 was paid to the Government
Printer for printing of 15,000 copies of MTP 111 2018-2022 and 28,000 copies of the MTP
[1I"'Sector Plans was charged under economic item 3111401-Prefeasiability, feasibility and
appraisal Studies from which the cost of the printing was budgeted for. An accounts
analysis report from IFMIS showing that the expenditure was charged to item 3111401 is
attached.

820) Committee Observations Findings

The State Department paid Kshs.28,354 504 to the Government Printer for printing of 15,000
copies of MTP 111 2018-2022 and 28,000 copies of the MTP |11 Sector Plans. The payment was
charged under economic item 3111401-Prefeasiability, feasibility and appraisal Studies
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821) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) months after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

200. Supplies and Services

822) As disclosed on Note 5 to the financial statements, the statement of (receipts and
payments reflect a balance of Kshs.431,275,096 under use of goods and services that
includes an amount of Kshs.15,034,290 incurred under communication supplies and
services. Included in the communication supplies and service figure.of Kshs.15,034,290 is
an amount of Kshs.1,173,996 relating to purchase of eight (8) smart phones which were
purchased at a cost above the approved limit of Kshs.30,000 each. Four (4) phones were
procured at a cost of Kshs.159,999 each which was higher than the.market survey figure of
Kshs.119,999 and the other four (4) at a cost of Kshs.133,500 each while the market survey
priced them at Kshs.95,000 each. As a result, the State Department incurred unwarranted
expenditure of Kshs.314,000 on procurement of phones above the market price and
unjustified expenditure of Kshs.933,996 due to exceeding the set limits of Kshs.30,000 per
phone. Further, the communication, suppliesiand services figures include Kshs.3,653,841
in respect of procurement of internet services. However, documents in support of the
method used to identify the supplier and the procurement process of the services were not
availed for audit review. Consequently, the communication supplies and service figure of
Kshs.15,034,290 for the year ended 30 June 2019 could not be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

823) The expenditure relates to. payment of Internet Services and acquisition of mobile
phones for State Department Staff. The State Department wish to clarify that while Circular
Ref No. OP/CAB/15 dated 5th March 2010 sets a limit of Kshs.30,000 per phone,
Paragraph C(v) of the same circular provides that to ensure sustainability of efficient and
quality telephone services, procuring entities should embrace emerging technologies. The
State Department | considered this provision and the dynamic nature of the
telecommunication”industry in providing Senior Staff with mobile phones which would
support latest-technology and service delivery. In this regard, the State Department
purchased a total of Eight (8) phones through Request for Quotation (RFQ) Procurement
method from firms registered with the National Treasury under the Reservation Scheme.

824) . The market surveys were provided from phone dealers (i.e M/s Safaricom Limited &
M/s Ebrahim Electronics Limited) and the terms of payment were cash on delivery.
However, taking into consideration that this procurement was reserved for special groups
who are not dealers; that they were to be charged applicable taxes and that payment was
not on cash basis, the quoted prices were considered to be within the market range. The
quotation documents are herewith attached.

825) Further, the expenditure of Kshs.3,653,841.00 was the final payment in regard to the
pending bill of Kshs.23,653,841.10 owed to M/s Telcom Kenya Ltd for provision of
internet services to facilities constructed through the CEISP Project in 107 sub-counties.
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The contract was awarded through contract No. NCB: MODP/CEISP8/34/2013/2014
entered into on 27th November 2014 for the supply, delivery and installation of internet
services (WI-FI) adapters and related accessories in the 107 sub-counties as per the
notification of award and as stated in paragraph 199.2 of this document.

826) Committee Observations and Findings
i. The State Department incurred unwarranted expenditure of Kshs.314,000 on

procurement of phones above the market price and unjustified expenditure of
Kshs.933,996 due to exceeding the set limits of Kshs.30,000 per phone.

ii. The expenditure of Kshs.3,653,841.00 was the final payment concerning.the pending
bill of Kshs.23,653,841.10 owed to M/s Telcom Kenya Ltd for provision of internet
services to facilities constructed through the CEISP Project in 107 sub-counties:

827) Committee Recommendation
1) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer recover and

ensure refunds of unwarranted expenditure of Kshs:314,000 on procurement of
phones above the market price and unjustified expenditure of Kshs.933,996 due to
exceeding the set limits of Kshs.30,000 per phone.

2) Within three months of adoption of this report; the Accounting Officer submit to the
Auditor-General the confirmation of recovery. of the unwarranted expenditure of
Kshs.314,000 on procurement of phones:above the market price and unjustified
expenditure of Kshs.933,996.00.

201. Unresolved Prior Year Matters
201.1 A ccuracy and Completeness of the Financial Statements
201.1.1A ccuracy of Financial Statements

828) The Trial'Balance as at 30 June 2018 reflected balances against various account items,
which differed.from corresponding balances, reflected in the financial statements for the
year then_ ended. The differences totaling Kshs.100,481,828,741 (under) and
Kshs.8,910,155,414 (over) between the two sets of records have not been reconciled.
Further, grants and transfers to other Government entities for development in the financial
statements stood at Kshs.36,725,628,366 while Note 6 to the financial statements casted to
a total of Kshs.36,765,553,336 resulting to unexplained variance of Kshs.39,925,000 which
clearly indicated that some receipts during the financial year were not captured in the
accounting records and the financial statements contain a suspense account.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

829) The Accounting Officer submitted that the Committee resolved the matter in its report
tabled on 23rd March 2021 and adopted by the House on 24th June, 2021.

830) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
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financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

201.1.2Unsupported Adjustments

831) Management submitted for audit financial statements on 28 September 2018, which
was revised, and another set of financial statements submitted on 27 February 2019.
However, the movements in the balances noted in some of the components as 'detailed
below were not supported by any documentation or adjustment journals:

Component oNd Financial Statements [Revised Financial Variance
(Kshs.) Statements (Kshs.. |(Kshs.)

District Clearance( 73,322,660 73,322,660

Suspense

Prior Year Adjustments|(563,400,307) (488,660,397) (74,739,910)

832) Under the circumstances, the accuracy and completenessof the financial statements for
the year ended 30 June 2018 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

833) The Accounting Officer submitted-that the District Suspense of Kshs.73,322,660 had
been recognized as cleared and reported under prior year adjustments hence affecting the
district suspense and the prior year adjustment figures in the financial statements. Upon
further reconciliation, it was noted that the amount had remained unaccounted for and thus
had to be recognized as outstanding district suspense balance through journal entries. The
journal entries and analyses of the outstanding district suspense figure is attached. The
committee in their report tabled on 23/3/2021 observed and found that the movements in
the balances noted in‘the District Clearance Suspense balances had now been supported by
adjustment journals.

834) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that it resolved the matter in its report tabled on 23 March 2021

and adopted by the House on 24" June, 2021.

835) Committee Recommendations
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

201.2 Receipts

201.2.1Proceeds from foreign borrowing
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836

Vi.

Vii.

viil.

Xi.

.2.1.1Unsupported Advance Payment for Arror Multipurpose Dam
Development Project

)  The statement of receipts and payments reflected proceeds from foreign borrowings of
Kshs.4,526,966,879 as at 30 June, 2018 which included an amount of Kshs.4,292,651,060
paid as advance payment to CMC Di Ravenna-Itinery JV as advance payment for Arror
Multipurpose Dam Development project. However, the following observations were noted
about this payment:

The report on feasibility was submitted on 31 May, 2012. No Environmental Impact

Assessment report was provided for audit review.

The advertisement requesting for proposals was made on 19 December, 2014 and 24
December, 2014 and closed on 18 March, 2015

A second stage request for proposal (which was not in line with procurement regulations)
with closure date of 30 October 2015 under tender No. KVDA/RFP/36/2014/2015
without appropriate budgetary provisions or a financier for the project.

The letter of bid was prepared on 26 October 2015 and letter of acceptance by Kerio Valley
Development Authority prepared on 14 December, 2015.

Kerio Valley Development Authority signed a Memorandum of Understanding
on 18 December 2015 committing to exclusively.contract the bidder as and when they
obtained funding from some stated financiers. The memorandum had a validity period of
eight months which then expired on 18 August, 2016. There was no evidence of extension
provided for audit verification.

The credit/finance was obtained-in 2017 and financing agreement for the loan signed on
18 April 2017 amounting USD. $224,442,163.92 equivalent to Kshs.23,153,700,510 for
a period of fifteen (15) years.and a floating interest rate to be determined from time to
time by the agent.

The contract awarding the works was signed on 5 April, 2017 seven months outside the
validity period of the Memorandum of Understanding but no fresh bids were sought.
Advance claim certificate of USD 41,611,140.83 (representing 15% of the contract sum)
equivalent to Kshs.4,292,651,060 which was used for payment was not dated, had not
been recommended by the KVDA General Manager, Technical Services, and was not
approved by the Chief Executive Officer- KVDA.

No evidence of the payee, the date of payment or the authority to pay was availed for
audit examination.

No evidence or correspondence to show that the payment was made to the contractor by
the financier upon obtaining the necessary approvals or to ensure there was delivery and
compliance with contract terms was availed.

An inspection carried out by the audit team on 5 April, 2019 revealed that;

a. Even though the advance payment was made through a memorandum payment voucher
dated 7 December, 2017, no work had been done on the ground to cover the payment.
b. No compensation had been made for the affected community members.
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c. Kenya Forest Service had not ceded the forest portion required for utilization in the dam
construction.

d. The agreement between the affected community and the Kerio Valley Development
Authority had not been confirmed and therefore viability of the project is in doubt.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

837) The matter be stayed under sub-judice rule as recommended by the Committee, a report
on the status of the chief magistrates’ court, anti-corruption case No 18 of 2019.

838) Committee Recommendation
The Committee resolved that since the matter falls under the National Assembly

Standing Order 89, the Accounting Officer should, within three months-after the tabling
and adoption of this report, submit a brief on the status of the Court case to the National
Assembly.

201.2.1.2Unsupported Payment for Sigor Wei Wei Integrated Development Project

839) The statement of receipts and payments reflect proceeds from foreign borrowings of
Kshs.4,526,966,879 which includes an.amount of Kshs.234,315,819 made on behalf of
Kerio Valley Development Authority in respect of Sigor Wei Wei Integrated Development
Project. However, the following.ebservations were noted about this payment:

i) The financing agreement availed for audit was made on 28 January, 2007 and a further
endorsement made on 18 September, 20009.

i) The project was having a lifespan of four years beginning 18 September, 2009 and
had detailed deliverables for each phase of the project and therefore the agreement
lapsed on 18 September, 2013.

iii) The memorandum payment voucher for capturing the payment consultants were
prepared. by K\VVDA in July, 2017 which was more than three years outside agreement
timelines for implementation.

iv) ‘No further endorsement of financing loan agreement was provided in support of the
validity of expenditure being captured in the financial statement.

v) Payments totaling Kshs.41,259,819 out of Kshs.234,315,819 did not have certificate
of completion from the inspection and acceptance committees hence not adequately
supported for payment.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
840) The Accounting Officer submitted that the financing agreement availed for audit was
made on 28 January 2007 and a further endorsement made on 18 September 2009. The
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Payment of Ksh.41,259,819.00 which is Euro 372,435.55 multiplied by 110.78 (The
prevailing conversion rate) was supported by an inspection and acceptance certificate of
works dated 13th January 2017.

841) Committee Observations and Findings
842) The State Department did not provide at the time of audit certificate of completion to
support payments totaling Kshs.41,259,819 out of Kshs.234,315,819.

843) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

201.2.1.3 Unrecorded and Unsupported Retention Money

844) The statement of receipts and payments reflected proceeds from foreign borrowings
of Kshs.4,526,966,879 which excluded retentions totaling Kshs.11,472,805 in respect of
payments to contractors and consultants for Sigor Wei Wei Integrated Development
Project Phase Il1. In consequence, the authenticity of proceeds from foreign borrowings
and the propriety of the payments therefore amounting to Kshs.4,526,966,879 could not
be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
845) The Accounting Officer submitted that the committee marked the matter as resolved
in its report for the financial year 2017/2018.

846) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer_should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

201.3 Other Revenues

847) The statement of receipts and payments reflected other revenues of Kshs.294,587,507
being Appropriations-in-Aid collected in 2017/2018 financial year. However, the
supporting documents availed to confirm other revenue earned, received, confirmed
and reported in the financial statement of the respective SAGAs amounted to
Kshs.668,322,928 against a budget of Kshs.296,000,000. The accounting treatment of the
amounts that are above the recorded balances has not been explained as analyzed below:

SAGAs Budgeted  |Amount Excess AIA  [Excess AIA
AlA (Kshs.) (Collected surrendered/

(Kshs.) Utilized
Kenya National Bureau off 71,000,000 288,345,947 217,345,947 121,150,771

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 168



Statistics
Kerio  Valley  Development| 75,000,000 226,521,478 151,521,478 151,521,478
Authority
Tana & Athi Rivers Development 157,000,000 130,222,079 - -

Authority
Lake Basin Development 21,500,000 18,365,424 - -
Authority
Ewaso Ngiro South Development 1,500,000 4,868,000 3,368,000 3
Authority
Total 326,000,000 668,322,928 372,235,425 272,672,249

848) Under the circumstances, it has not been possible to confirm the accuracy of the other
revenue balance of Kshs.294,587,503 reported in the financial statements as at 30 June,
2018.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

849) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the statement of receipts and
payments as at 30th June 2018 reflect other revenues of KSh.294, 587,503 being
Appropriation -in- Aid collected during the year. I wish to clarify that the budgeted AIA
for Kerio Valley Development Authority wasKsh.75,000,000 and not Ksh.45,000,000 as
indicated in the report.

850) This was guided by the budget figures, which sets the limit of how much the entity is
authorized to collect and spend. Incases where the entity collects less than the budgeted
figure, then the actual collection is reported. In cases where the collection is more than
the budget, the entity is required to surrender the excess A.l.A to the National treasury or
seek authority to utilize.the A.I.A.from the National treasury. Treasury Authority to
utilize the excess A.lLA was granted to Kerio Valley Development Authority through
letter Ref. No. DV/ES1222/18/01/ (8) dated 11th February 2019. Further, the State
Department has written to the various SAGAS to surrender the excess AlA as guided by
Regulation 43(c) of the PFM (National Government) Regulations 2015. The Accounting
Officer confirmed, that Kenya National Bureau of Statistics has surrendered
Kshs.126,150,771 to the National Exchequer Account.

851) "Committee Observations and Findings
(i)-Kenya ‘National Bureau of Statistics has surrendered fully Kshs.126,150,771 to the

National Exchequer Account
(1) Kerio Valley Development Authority is yet to surrender the excess Al151,521,478A
of Kshs.151,521,478 to the National Treasury

852) Committee Recommendation
1) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer ensures

the Kerio Development Valley Authority should surrender to the National
Treasury the excess AlA of Kshs.151,521,478.

2) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should
submit to the Auditor-General the confirmation of surrender of the excess AIA
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to the National Treasury.

201.4 Use of Goods and Services
201.4.1Specialized Materials

853) The statement of receipts and payments reflected a balance of Kshs.304,669,023.in
respect of use of goods and services, which included an amount of Kshs.16,613,364 in
respect of specialized materials and supplies. The latter balance included payments
totaling Kshs.7,778,730 made in respect of tuition fee expenses. No evidence was availed
to support the approval of the over expenditure by the National Assembly contrary to
Section 113(1) of the Public Finance Management (National Government) Regulations,
2015. This anomaly has not been satisfactorily explained. Consequently, the accuracy and
propriety of specialized materials expenditure of Kshs.16,613,364 as reflected on Note 5
of the financial statements could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
854) The Accounting Officer submitted that the Committee had marked the matter as
resolved in its report of 2017/2018.

855) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the-entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that.comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

201.5 Grants and Transfers to'Other Government Entities

856) The statement of receipts and payments for the year ended 30 June, 2018 reflected
transfers to other Government entities amounting to Kshs.40,336,190,128. However, there
were differences amounting to Kshs.8,177,413,627 between the amounts reported as
disbursed.by the State Department for Planning and the amounts reflected in the financial
statements of the respective SAGAS which is as detailed below: -

Amount Disbursed |Amount Received Difference

Entity by the State by Entity (Kshs.) [Kshs.
Department (Kshs.)

Kenya National Bureau of 2,628,666,648 2,410,805,540 217,861,108

Statistics

National Constituency 29,800,000,000 21,875,000,000 7,925,000,000

Development Fund
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Lake Basin Development 356,087,141 337,721,717 18,365,424
Authority

Ewaso Ngiro North 268,379,281 333,222,674.00 (64,843,393)
Development Authority

Tana and Athi Rivers 476,030,488 345,000,000 131,030,488
Development Authority

Ewaso Ngiro south 522,366,291 572,366,291 (50,000,000)
Development Authority

Sub-Total 34,051,529,849 25,874,116,222 8,177,413,627

857) As a result, the accuracy of the grants and transfer figure of Kshs.40,336,190,128 for
the year ended 30 June, 2018 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

858) The Accounting Office stated that the State Department is guided by the approved
budget in its disbursement of grants and transfers to other Government entities. During the
year ended 30" June 2018, the state department disbursed a total of kshs 34,051,529,849
which includes the Appropriations/in Aid amounts as per the attached expenditure vote
book status returns from IFMIS and a breakdown of how the disbursements were made to
the respective entities. The differences between grants disbursed by the State Department
and amount reported by the SAGAs in their financial statements is as explained below:

Entity Difference (Kshs) | Remarks

Kenya National Bureau | 217,861,108 Kshs.87,500,000 received by the SAGA
of on 6th July,2018.

Statistics Ksh 59,361,108 Received by the SAGA

on 6th July,2018.
Ksh 71,000,000 AIA not recorded by
the entity as a recurrent grant though it
was budgeted for.

National Constituency | 7,925,000,000 Ksh 2,125,000,000.00 Received by the
Development Fund Fund on 4th July,2018.

Kshs 5,800,000,000.00 Received by
Fund on 9th July ,2018.

The entity did not report the amounts
though was related to the F/Y 2017/18

Lake Basin
Development Kshs 18,365,424; AIA collected by the
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Authority 18,365,424 Authority but not recorded in their
books as grants but recorded by the
State Department. See letter Ref
LBDA/ADM/39 dated 15" February

2019.
Ewaso Ngiro North The Budgetary allocation for the year
Development under review was:
Authority (64,843,393) Recurrent Kshs 217,879,281

Development Kshs 50,500,000 totaling
to Kshs 268,379,281 as reported by the
State Department. See budget extracts
and a  disbursement  schedule.
Ksh.78,000,000 was received in July
2017 but related to FY 2016/17 while an
amount of Ksh.13,156,607 was received
in July 2018 but related to FY
2017/18.This led to a difference of

Kshs.64,843,393.
Tana and Athi Rivers Kshs 131,030,488 is composed of
Development - Kshs 808,409 Recurrent grants
Authority 131,030,488 disbursed but not recorded by the
Authority.

- Kshs 130,222,079 AIA collected by
the authority but not recorded in their
books. while the amount was recorded
by the State Department as a
disbursement see letter Ref TARDA/5/2
VOL.XV(60) dated 26™ February

20109.
Ewaso Ngiro South Kshs 50,000,000 related to grants
Development disbursed in F/Y 2016/2017 but
Authority (50,000,000) recorded by the Authority in F/Y
2017/2018 .

859) . Through letters Ref,TNTP/SDP/17/82VVOLII(20),TNTP/SDP/17/90(08) and Ref
TNTP/SDP/17/90/(10) to Kenya National Bureau of Statistics, National Government-
Constituency Development Fund and Principal Secretary State Department for Regional
and Northern Corridor Development respectively, the statement Department has requested
for confirmation of the above facts in order to reconcile the two sets of records.

860) Further, he stated that;
e The National Government- Constituency Development Fund confirmed receipt of the

Ksh.7,925,000,000 relating to FY 2017/2018 in July 2018 and accounted for it in the
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Financial Year 2018/2019 as per the audited financial statements attached.

e Ewaso Ngiro North Development Authority confirmed that Ksh.78,000,000 was in
July 2017 but related to FY 2016/17 while an amount of Ksh.13,156,607 was received
in July 2018 but related to FY 2017/18.This led to a difference of Kshs.64,843,393.

861) Committee Observations and Findings
(1) The National Government- Constituency Development Fund confirmed receipt of the

Ksh.7,925,000,000 relating to FY 2017/2018 in July 2018 and accounted for it in the
Financial Year 2018/20109.

(i) Ewaso Ngiro North Development Authority confirmed that Ksh.78,000,000 was:in July
2017 but related to FY 2016/17 while an amount of Ksh.13,156,607 was received in July
2018 but related to FY 2017/18.This led to a difference of Kshs.64,843,393.

862) Committee Recommendations
1) The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the
PFM Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented
within three (3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the
Constitution

2) The Committee reiterates its previous recommendations that the Cabinet Secretary
for the National Treasury fast track the.migration from IPSAS Cash basis to IPSAS
Accrual basis of reporting to address the issue of timing differences.

201.6 Acquisition of Assets
201.6.1Unsupported Construction of Civil Works

863) The statement of receipts and payments for the year ended 30 June, 2018 reflected a
balance of Kshs.1,169,062,004 under acquisition of assets which included an amount of
Kshs.424,524,403 paid in respect of construction and civil works. However, documents
availed in support of the amount showed the following:

(i) Payment of Kshs.109,406,979 to M/s Egis International Consortium related to billing in
respect-of a consultant’s invoice for a feasibility study and design of a high grand falls
dam-along River Tana in Tana River County, dated 30 June, 2012 which purportedly had
been outstanding ever since. The payments were made to an insurance company in respect
of a claim settled to the consultant against a policy covering risk of non-ppayment.
However, no documentation was provided to show that the bill was actually outstanding
as at the time of payment since the amount was not included in the pending bills for
the financial year 2016/2017 and no documentation in support of inspection and
acceptance of work done by consultant, if any, in respect of the contract dated 30
January, 2010.

(if) Payment of Kshs.277,793,123 to M/s Teenica Y Proyectos,S.A related to consultancy
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864)

services for feasibility study and design for Lower Ewaso Ngiro South Multipurpose Dam
contracted in May, 2012 and billed on 17 December, 2013. However, no documentation
was provided to show the bill was actually outstanding as at the time of payment since the
amount was not included in the pending bills for the financial year 2016/2017 and no
documentation was provided in support of inspection and acceptance of work done by the
consultant, if any. In addition, the payment voucher provided in support of the payment
had been voided and hence not valid for payment.

Consequently, the accuracy, validity and propriety of construction of civil works
expenditure of Kshs.424,524,403 as reported in Note 9 of the financial statements cannot
be confirmed.

Submissions by the Accounting Officer

865
(i)

(i)
(i)

(iv)

866

)  The Accounting Officer submitted that:-
Payment of Kshs.109,406,979 which related to billing in respect of a consultant’s invoice

for a feasibility study and design of a high grand falls dam.along River Tana in Tana
River County, dated 30 June, 2012 was reflected as apending bill in the Audited financial
statements of The State Department of Regional and Northern Corridor Development for
the year ended 30" June 2019. See .Appendix 10(a). Through letter ref.
RNCD/ACC/PB/01/VOL.1/73, The Principal Secretary, State Department for Regional
Authorities confirmed that the bill was a historical pending bill.

Further, | wish to state that a report ref no. MRD/TARDA/5/7/11(104) certifying that the
consultant services were undertaken by the consultant is here by attached.

The Payment of Kshs.277,793,123 related to consultancy services for feasibility study
and design for Lower Ewaso Ngiro South Multipurpose Dam contracted in May, 2012
and billed on 17 December, 2013 was reflected as a pending bill in the Audited financial
statements of The State Department of Regional and Northern Corridor Development for
the year ended 30" June.2019.

| further wish to clarify that the payment voucher was not voided as evidenced by the
IFMIS account analysis report which indicates that the expenditure was properly
captured.

) Committee Observations and Findings
(1). Payment of Kshs.109,406,979 relating to billing in respect of a consultant’s invoice

for a feasibility study and design of a high grand falls dam along River Tana in Tana
River County, dated 30 June, 2012 was reflected as a pending bill in the Audited
financial statements of The State Department of Regional and Northern Corridor
Development for the year ended 30" June 2019; and

(if) The Payment of Kshs.277,793,123 related to consultancy services for feasibility study
and design for Lower Ewaso Ngiro South Multipurpose Dam contracted in May, 2012
and billed on 17 December, 2013 was reflected as a pending bill in the Audited financial
statements of The State Department of Regional and Northern Corridor Development
for the year ended 30" June 2019
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867) Committee Recommendations
Within three months of adoption of this report, the Cabinet Secretary for the National

Treasury, should develop guidelines for smooth handing and taking over of financial
statements and financial obligations during re-organization of government.

201.7 Cash and Cash Equivalents - Bank Balance

868) As disclosed in Note 10 A of the financial statements, the statement of assets and
liabilities reflected a bank balance of Kshs.8,991,117 as at 30 June 2018. However, a
review of the bank reconciliation statement for the Central Bank of Kenyasrecurrent bank
account N0.100302216 had the following unsatisfactory issues:

(i) The reconciliation included cheques totaling Kshs.38,940,201 which had not been

presented to the bank for payment as at the time of audit and which were more than
six months old therefore, not payable.

(it) Payments in cashbook not in bank statement for the recurrent bank account included
three payments totaling Kshs.24,495,961 paid on-26 June 2018, which had been
recorded twice in the cashbook on 27 June 2018, effectively understating the cash
balance by a similar amount and overstatingunidentified expenditure by the same.

(iii)Receipts in cash book not in bank statement for the recurrent bank balance included
an unexplained reversal in the cash book of Kshs.2,747,896.

869) In view of the foregoing, it was not possible to confirm that the cash-and-cash
equivalent balance of Kshs.8,991;117 was fairly stated as at 30 June, 2018.

870) Submission by the Accounting Officer
(i) The payments amounting to. Kshs.38,940,201 consists of Ksh.14,500,000, Ksh.21,790,201,

Ksh.350,000 and Ksh.2,300,000 payable to New Partnership for Africa’s Development-
NEPAD, African Caribbean and Pacific Group of States Secretariat, Group of 77
Development Bank and Institute of Development and Economic Planning-IDEP
respectively. As at 30" June 2018, the amounts were unpresented but they were cleared on
02 July 2018 as per the bank statement attached. He clarified that the payments were
prepared in"June 2018 and paid on 02" July 2018 thus they were not more than six months
old.

(i1). The payment amounting to Kshs.24,495,961 related to Payment Advices done to Group 77
Development Bank, African Caribbean and Pacific Group of States Secretariat and African
Institute for Economic Development and Planning being Kenya’s contribution to the
Secretariats. The amounts captured on 26 June 2018 under Folio 58 i.e Ksh.21,790,210 and
Ksh.2,300,000 were the actual amounts paid by the State Department. On 27 June 2018
under Folio 74, the amount captured was the exchange rate difference and the bank charges
as analysed below.
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Cash Book | Amounts paid | Amounts | Fol | Exchange | Folio Total
Dates in Bank | entered io |rate No. Amounts
Statements Kshs No | difference Recorded in
(cashboo | . and Bank the
k) Charges Cashbook
26/06/2018 | 21,809,267.4 | 21,790,2 |58 |19,516.45 |74 21,809,717.
5 01.00 45
26/06/2018 | 2,331,849.35 | 2,300,00 |58 |32,299.35 |74 2,331,849.3
0.00 5
26/06/2018 | 354,844.75 0 0 0 74 354,844.75
24,495,961.5 24,495,411.
5 55

871) 1 also wish to confirm that the payments were only transmitted ‘once to the bank as
Kshs.21,809,267.45, Kshs.2,331,849.35 and Ksh.354,844.75 as per the attached bank
statements. The difference of Ksh.450 between the amount entered in the cashbook and the
bank statement amount was bank charges. The bank statement.reflects the net amount and
the bank charges as two separate figures but the cashbook combined the two.

iii) The unexplained reversal of Kshs.2,747,896 in the .cashbook was a cashbook adjustment
as a result of an omission on 13 October 2017.

872) Committee Observation and Findings
The explanation by the Accounting-Officer was satisfactory.

873) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

201.8 Unsupported Prior Year Adjustment

874)Asdisclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements, the statement of assets and liabilities
reflected prior year adjustments totaling Kshs.488,660,397. However, justification for the
prior year adjustments and the documentary evidence to support the figures have not been
provided for audit verification. In addition, the prior year adjustments have not been done
in line with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards which requires
restatement of all affected prior year balances in the financial statements unless it is
impracticable to do so. Consequently, the accuracy of the financial statements for the year
ended 30 June, 2018 could not be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
875) The committee marked the matter resolved in its report for the financial year
2017/2018
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876) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee in its report for the financial year 2017/2018 resolved the matter.

877) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled
financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

201.9 Accounts Payable — Deposits and Retentions

878) The statement of assets and Note 12 to the financial statements.reflected a'balance of
Kshs.8,833,772 under accounts payables-deposits and retention.as at ‘30 June, 2018.
However, a review of retention money outstanding at the close of 2016/2017 indicated that
a contractor listed as having a retention balance of Kshs.4,857,9334 then, was not listed in
the retention schedule for 2017/2018, yet no documentation was provided to show how
retention money was paid. Consequently, the completeness and accuracy of the deposit and
retentions balance of Kshs.8,833,772 reported in the financial statements could not be
confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
879) The committee marked the matter.resolved in its report for the financial year
2017/2018

880) Committee Observations.and Findings
881) The Committee in its«report for the financial year 2017/2018 resolved the matter.

882) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that.complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

Other Matter
202. . Unsupported Pending Bills

883) Annex 1 to the financial statements reflects pending bills amounting to
Kshs.22,517,023/-. As reported in the 2017/2018 financial year, the State Department for
Planning had an outstanding pending bill amount of Kshs.340,632,037/- as at 30 June, 2018
out of which Kshs. 22,517,023/- remained outstanding as at 30 June, 2019. These bills have
not been presented for payment as they lacked vital supporting documents such as purchase
orders, delivery notes, and inspection and acceptance certificates among others. Failure to
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settle bills in the year they relate to distorts the financial statements for the subsequent years
as they form a first charge of the budget provisions.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

884) The State Department agrees with the audit findings on the outstanding historical
pending bill of Kshs. 22,517,023.00 as at 30th June 2019. The State Department obtained
the relevant supporting documentation and processed pending bills amounting to
Ksh.18,789,500.50, leaving an outstanding bill of Kshs. 3,728,022.00 as at 30th June 2020.
In 2020/2021 financial year the state department verified and paid a further kshs 700,085
leaving a balance of kshs 3,027,937. The Department continues to engage the concerned
stakeholders (service providers, user sections/directorates etc.) to ensure the issue:is sorted
and closed. The various correspondences are hereby attached.

885) Committee Observations and Findings

The State Department obtained the relevant supporting documentation and processed pending
bills amounting to Ksh. 18,789,500.50, leaving an outstanding bill of Kshs. 3,728,022.00 as at
30 June 2020. In 2020/2021 financial year, the State Department verified and paid a further
Kshs 700,085 leaving a balance of Kshs 3,027,937.

886) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure verification of the pending bill balance of Kshs.

3,027,937 before settlement and supporting documents are submitted to the audit for
review and reporting in the subsequent audit cycle.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
Basis for Conclusion

203. Non-Compliancewith Procurement Laws

203.1 Education Enhancement Centre Limited

887) Procurement.of rapporteur services for the annual National Monitoring and Evaluation
week (M&E).in Mombasa from 11 to 17 November, 2018 cost Kshs.1,852,800 for the year
ended 30 June, 2019. The procurement process was initiated in March, 2019 after the event
had.taken place. No satisfactory explanation has been provided for this anomaly.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

888) The State Department wish to clarify that at the time when the 6th Monitoring and
Evaluation Week was being held, the full budget for the event could not be accessed due to
the constraints in IFMIS. A memo Ref. TNTP/SDP/24/33 dated 9th November 2018 was
written to the National Treasury requesting for access of the full budget in respect to this
activity. Since this was a national event, which was being launched by the President, the
State Department undertook a manual process to identify a service provider to ensure the
event succeeded. The process was later captured in IFMIS when the funds were made
available.
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889) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) Education Enhancement Centre Limited was procured as the rapporteur for the 6%

Monitoring & Evaluation Week in March, 2019 after the event had taken place.
(ii) The State Department undertook single source the entity as a service provider and paid
Kshs.1,852,800.

890) Committee Recommendation
Within three months after tabling of this report, the EACC should initiate an

investigation into the procurement of Education Enhancement Centre Limited as the
rapporteur for the 6™ Monitoring & Evaluation Week

203.2 Purchase of Smart Phones

891) Purchase of smart phones totaling Kshs.1,173,996 exceeded the approved limits of
Kshs.30,000 for cash purchases. The phones were overpriced andthe State Department had
no policy on the purchase and issuance of the personal devices.such-as smart phones hence
the existence and security of the same cannot be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

892) As indicated in paragraph 203.2, the State’Department wish to clarify that the smart
phones were bought competitively. The phones were delivered and taken on charge as the
delivery notes and counter receipt vouchers (S13 cards) provided in Appendix 13. The State
Department in guided by Circular Ref.. OP/CAB/15 of 15th March 2010, on purchase of
phones.

893) Committee Observationsand Findings
The State Department incurred 'unwarranted unjustified expenditure of Kshs. 1,173,996 due to
exceeding the set limits of Kshs.-30,000 per phone.

894) Committee Recommendation
1) Within three months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer recover and

ensure refunds of unwarranted and unjustified expenditure of Kshs. 1,173,996 due to
exceeding the set limits of Kshs. 30,000 per phone.

2) Within three'months of adoption of this report, the Accounting Officer should submit
to the Auditor-General the confirmation of recovery of of unwarranted and unjustified
expenditure of Kshs. 1,173,996

203.3 Purchase of ICT Equipment

895) An examination of payment vouchers revealed that the State Department for Planning
procured computer related equipment amounting to Kshs. 6,982,000 in October 2018.
However, there was no authority from the State Department for ICT before the
procurements were made as authority was sought on March 2019 and granted in April 2019.
Hence the procurement was not authorized at the time of purchase. No explanation was
given for this anomaly.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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896) The State Department wishes to clarity that out of the total of Kshs. 6,982,000 for
procurement of computer related items only Kshs 595,660.00 related to procurement of
laptop computers. Authority to procure the laptops was granted by the MOICT vide letter
Ref. MICT/CONF/18/30 dated 1st April 2019 before commencement of the procurement
process. The difference relates to procurement of computer related consumables and
accessories (such as toners, periodic maintenance and service, laser papers etc.) which did
not require approvals from the Ministry of ICT.

897) Committee Observations and Findings
The State Department spent a total of Kshs. 6,982,000 for procurement of computer related
items out of which Kshs 595,660.00 was related to procurement of laptop computers.

898) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that there is an authority granted from MOICT

before procurement of ICT equipment
204. Irregular Award of Contracts
204.1 Provision and Maintenance of Fresh Cut Flowers

899) Tender evaluation for provision and maintenance of fresh cut flowers was conducted
on 14 September, 2018 and the committee awarded a florist (Second lowest bidder) to
supply flowers to various offices at a cost of Kshs.1,068,000 per annum instead of awarding
to the lowest bidder at Kshs.497,676 for asimilar period, resulting to a loss of Kshs.570,324
of public funds.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

900) The Evaluation Committee recommended award to M/s Viviennes Super Florists who
was the lowest evaluated bidder. The lowest bidder, in cost, was not awarded because they
did not comply with all the mandatory requirements of the tender. From the tender
evaluation analysis report, the bidder did not submit the required bid securing declaration
form. Therefore, M/s Viviennes Super Florists was found to be lowest responsive to the
State Department’s requirements and was therefore awarded the tender

901) Committee-Observations and Findings
The Evaluation Committee recommended award to M/s Viviennes Super Florists who was the
lowest evaluated bidder and not to the lowest bidder.

902) . Committee Recommendation
Within three months after adoption of this report, the EACC should initiate an

investigation into possible bid rigging in the procurement of M/s Viviennes Super Florists
at a cost of cost of Kshs.1,068,000 per annum instead of awarding it to the lowest bidder
at Kshs.497,676.

204.2 Provision of Professional Cleaning Service

903) A company was awarded the tender for cleaning services at a total cost of
Kshs.3,921,120 per annum without a clear award criterion. Although the evaluation
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committee recommended four firms to be subjected to further interrogations and
interviews, proceedings of the interviews were not documented thus it was not possible to
establish if the tender was fairly awarded.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

904) The Evaluation Committee recommended the four firms which were technically
responsive for further interrogation to gain clarification on the unit of measurement and
specifications, prices quoted by the bidders, frequency of the provision of the servicesand
the total cost of the services as per their quotes. The firms were subjected to the
recommended interviews and M/s Courier International Limited was awarded the tender
for provision of cleaning services.

905) Committee Observations and Findings

The evaluation committee recommended four firms to be subjected to.further interrogations
and interviews, proceedings of the interviews were not documented thus it was not possible to
establish if the tender was fairly awarded.

906) Committee Recommendation

Within three months after adoption of this report, the EACC should initiate an
investigation into possible bid rigging in the procurement of M/s Courier International
Limited at a cost of Kshs. 3,921,120 per annum without a clear award criterion

205. Irregular Advance Payments

907) During the year under audit, advance payments of Kshs. 303,000, Kshs. 441,075 and
Kshs. 653,520 for supply of flowers, newspapers and cleaning services were made.
However, the goods were not delivered. No delivery notes were attached to these payments.
No appropriate explanation was.given for this anomaly.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
908) The State Department agrees with the audit findings that advance payments were made
for supply of fresh cut flowers, newspapers and cleaning services.

909) The payments were made to M/s Vivienes Super Florists, M/s Rex Kiosk and M/s
Courier International Limited for the supply of fresh cut flowers, newspapers and provision
of cleaning services respectively who had been contracted to offer the services for a period
of two years with effect from 9th November 2018. The State Department wishes to confirm
that.all the firms performed the services for the period for which the payments were made
as evidenced by the relevant delivery notes and job cards.

910) - Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The State Department made advance payments for supply of fresh cut flowers,

newspapers and cleaning services to M/s Vivienes Super Florists, M/s Rex Kiosk and
M/s Courier International Limited respectively.

(i) The firms performed the services for the period for which the payments were made as
evidenced by the relevant delivery notes and job cards.

911) Committee Recommendation

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 181



The Accounting Officer ensure that all payments are settled after the delivery of goods
and services and no supplier is advanced any payment without compliance with the law

206. Direct Procurement Expenditure

912) The State Department for planning procured air tickets from various service providers
amounting to Kshs. 21,296,171 through direct procurement contrary to Section 103 (2) of
the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act, 2015. Further, the State Department also,

procured 4000 copies of the 6t National Monitoring and Evaluation Week Report. at
Kshs.3,400,000 through direct procurement contrary to the requirements of Section. 91 of
the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act, 2015. No appropriate explanation:has been
provided for these anomalies. Under the circumstances, the value for money for the above
expenditure totaling Kshs. 24,696,171 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

913) It is true that the department purchased some air tickets through direct procurement
method. However, these services were bought from several travel agents who were
registered with the State Department for provision of air ticketing services on a rotational
basis thus ensuring fairness to all registered firms. Due to the. nature of the services, and
sometimes the short period between the approval and the travel dates, it was practically
impossible to use any other procurement method.

914) On the issue of printing of additional 4000 copies of the 6th National M&E week
reports through direct procurement, the State-Department agrees with the audit finding
on the use of the direct procurement method. However, this was done in full compliance
with the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act 2015. The Department had earlier
procured the same services: had been” procured through a competitive tendering
procurement process. The-use of Direct procurement method was in accordance with
Section 91(2) which allows for use of alternative procurement methods if it satisfies the
conditions for use of.the alternative method being used. Further, it complied with
103(2)(d) of the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act 2015 which provides that
direct procurement may be used if having procured goods, equipment or services from a
supplier, it is determined that additional goods, equipment or services are required for
purposes of standardization... In undertaking this procurement, the Management fully
complied.with the‘procedures for use of direct procurement as stipulated in Section 104
of the PPADA;2015. The statutory report in regard to direct procurement was submitted
to the Public Procurement Regulatory Authority (PPRA) as required.

915) Committee Observations and Findings
(1), The State Department for Planning procured air tickets from various service providers

amounting to Kshs. 21,296,171 through direct procurement

(if) The State Department procured 4000 copies of the 6t National Monitoring and
Evaluation Week Report at Kshs. 3,400,000 through direct procurement.

(iii) The procurement for the air tickets and additional copies of 4,000 6" M&E week
reports were done in line with the procurement procedures

916) Committee Recommendation
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The Accounting Officer should ensure all procurement complies with the PPAD Act 2015
at all times

207. Double Imprests

917) Various staff received imprest advances amounting to Kshs.1,025,759 while still on
other imprest, contrary to Section 93 (4)(b) of the Public Finance Management (National
Government) Regulations, 2015. No satisfactory explanation has been provided for this
anomaly.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

918) The outstanding imprests of Kshs 1,025,759 which were outstanding as at 30th June,
2018 were surrendered and the State Department did not have any outstanding imprests as
at 30th June,2020. Further the State Department has enhanced controls in issuance of
imprests to officers that ensure officers are not issued with overlapping ‘imprests by
developing an imprest clearance/application form.

919) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) Various staff received imprest advances amounting to.Kshs.1,025,759 while still on other

imprests, contrary to Regulation 93 (4)(b) of the PFM (National Government) Regulations,
2015.

(ii) The imprests of Kshs 1,025,759 outstanding as at 30" June, 2018 were surrendered and the
State Department did not have any outstanding imprests as at 30" June,2020.

920) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that all issuance of imprest complies with the PFM

(National Government) Regulations 2015 at all times

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

921) Conclusion
208. There were no_material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.
OTHER.DONOR FUNDED PROJECTS IMPLEMENTED BY AGENCIES UNDER

DATA COLLECTION AND DATABASE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT (UNFPA
KEN7P32A) - KENYA NATIONAL BUREAU OF STATISTICS

922) Unqualified Opinion
209. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Project.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES
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Basis for Conclusion

210. Lack of the Country Programme Agreement

923) As reported in the 2017/2018 Audit Report and earlier years, Management did not
provide the Country Programme Agreement between the Government of Kenya and
United Nations Population Fund, UNFPA. Further, the Project remained dormant
throughout the year with opening cash in bank balance of Kshs.2,170,918 and bank charges
of Kshs.4,260 (2018 — Kshs.3,960) resulting to closing cash in bank balance of
Kshs.2,166,658 as reflected in the statement of financial assets and liabilities as-at 30 June,
2019. Consequently, in absence of any activity, attainment of Project goals and objectives
cannot be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

924) The Bureau did not receive funds during the period for. this project. There were
expectations for the continued financial support from UNFPA, and the Bureau has
maintained the bank account. The funds carried forward were.in support of 2019 census
preparatory activities and training on Integrated Multi-sectoral Information System (IMIS)
that had been received during the prior period. The contract signed by the PS, Ministry of
Devolution and Planning together with the UNFPA Country Representative in April 2016
is attached per Appendix 210

925) Committee Observations and Findings
The Accounting Officer failed to provide.at the time of audit the Country Programme
Agreement between the Government of Kenya and United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA).

926) Committee Recommendation
The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury should within three (3) months of

adoption of this report, reprimand the Accounting Officer for failure to provide
Country Programme“agreement contrary to the provisions of Section 9(1)(e) of the
Public Audit Act, 2015.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

927) “Conclusion
211. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

COORDINATION OF POPULATION POLICY IMPLEMENTATION PROJECT
(UNFPA CREDIT NO. KENO8POP)-NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR POPULATION AND
DEVELOPMENT REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 30 JUNE,
2019

Basis for Qualified Opinion
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212. Unreconciled Cash and Cash Balances

928) The statement of Financial assets and liabilities as at 30th June ,2019 reflected a cash
and cash equivalents balance totalling Kshs.1,697,679 which includes Ksh.1,603,431 and
Kshs.94,248 in respect to cash in bank at the Council’s Head Office and cash on hand at
the five of its regional stations respectively. However, records at the stations in Mombasa,
Kisumu, Eldoret, Machakos and Garissa reflect bank balances totalling Kshs. 499,833
which is the sum was ,however, not reconciled to aggregate bank balance totalling
Kshs.94,248 reflected at the Head Office against these stations. No plausible explanation
has been provided for the difference amounting to Ksh. 405,585 between the two sets of
records. As a result, the accuracy and completeness of the cash and bank balances totalling
Kshs. 1,697,679 reported in the statement of financial assets and liabilities.as at 30 June
2019 cannot be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

929) The council finds it costly to open and maintain various bank accounts in each region
every time we receipt funds from various donors. Therefore, the council operates one bank
account for each region for both the UNFPA and GOK funds. Bearing in mind the Donor
funds are not regularly received. The regional offices maintain-Cash account/Cash book as
the control account and monthly bank reconciliations are carried out to ensure donor funds
are prudently spent according to the approved activities and the balances accounted for and
surrendered. The analysis of the said amount for the regional offices and head office is
hereby attached for your review and confirmation (Kshs. 405,585.)

UNFPA-Regional Bank Balance Analysis For Audit Response Paragraph No. 212 As At
30 June 2019 As Per NCPD Regional Bank Book

Regions Total GoK-Funds(In UNFPA- Comments
Certificate One Account) Funds
Balance

Kisii 67,858 54,858 13,000

Machakos 104,411 102,011 2,400

Mombasa 97,863.30 94,223.30 3,640

Kisumu 191,790 134,033 57,757

Eldoret - (1,160) 1,160 Utilized by bank

charges
Garissa 37,911.35 21,620.35 16,291
TOTAL 499,833.65 405,585.65 94,248

930) NOTE: -The Regional offices has only one bank account each in which all funds are
deposited with the following annexes

(i) Are the 5 regions bank certificates balances as at 30" June 2019.

(if) Regional Cashbooks as at 30th June 20109.

(iii) Regional bank reconciliations as at 30th June 2019.
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931) Committee Observations and Findings
The council finds it costly to open and maintain various bank accounts in each region every

time we receipt funds from various donors. Therefore, the council operates one bank account
for each region for both the UNFPA and GOK funds.

932) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

213. Unauthorized and Inadequately Disclosed Goods and Services Expenditure

933) The statement of receipts and Payments for the year ended 30 June, 2019 reflects
purchase of goods and services expenditure totalling Kshs.143,633 disclosed under Note
8.8 to the financial statements. However, the budget for the expenditure has not been made
available for audit verification. As a result, it is not possible to confirm the regularity of the
expenditure. Further, Note 8.8 to financial statements reflects opening and closing purchase
of goods and services account balances totalling Kshs. 24,781,975 and Kshs. 351,361,672
respectively. However, the Note does not disclose the composite balances as at 30 June
2018 as required by the International Public. Sector Accounting Standards and the format
prescribed for the presentation of such information by Public Sector Accounting Standards
Board. Therefore, Disclosure made~on the previous Year’s balance totalling Kshs.
24,781,975 is inadequate.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

934) The total payments of Kshs.143,633 reflected in the statement of receipts and payments
is a combination of expenditure outstanding brought forward from financial year
2017/2018 audited financial records, a financial cost incurred and a round table expenditure
paid out of un-expendedfunds brought forward from the project. A break down is shown
below of various components constituting the expenditure.

a) Kshs.19,600°and Kshs.30,000 were outstanding imprest for the year 2017/2018 audited

financial accounts and records and therefore expensed.

b) Bank chargesof Kshs.12,032 for the financial year 2017/2018

c) The Expenditure incurred of Kshs.82,000 was for donor round tables (rolled over from the
previous year) paid out of un-expended project funds.

935) The financial year 2018, the annual work plan was not executed for various
technicalities already explained to the auditors. The components for the budget are usually
different year to year therefore making it difficult to include them individually in Note 8.8.
This is brought about by the annual work plan having different activities for each year.
However, the totals for the prior year are included as a comparative as required by IPSAS
and hence the reason for the disclosure. Thus, necessitating disclosure of only the total
previous year purchase of goods and services of Kshs. 24,781,975 and the cumulative total
brought forward from when the project began.
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936) Committee Observations and Findings

The total payments of Kshs. 143,633 reflected in the statement of receipts and payments is a
combination of expenditure outstanding brought forward from financial year 2017/2018
audited financial records.

937) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer should ensure that the entity keeps up-to-date and reconciled

financial and accounting records that comply with provisions of Section 68(2) of the PFM
Act 2012 and that complete financial and accounting records are presented within three
(3) after the close of the financial year in line with Article 229 of the Constitution.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

938) Conclusion
214. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public

resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS;"RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

939) Conclusion
215. There were no material issues relating to.effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

MULTIPLE INDICATOR CLUSTER SURVEY PROJECT - UNICEF - KENYA
NATIONAL BUREAU OF STATISTICS

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion

216. Unsupported Purchase of Goods and Services

940) -As disclosed under Note 9 to the financial statements, the statement of receipts and
payments reflects an expenditure of Kshs. 8,940,966 under purchase of goods and services.
Included in this figure is Kshs. 2,727,295 in respect of payments made to Government
Administration Officers hired to assist in mapping verification exercises in four (4)
Counties. However, the Management did not avail supporting documents for audit
verification such as the official list indicating the name, location and identification numbers
of the invited officers or the basis of determining the imprest details. Further, an amount of
Kshs. 1,088,280 was not utilized but was surrendered in cash, three (3) months after the
conclusion of the exercise. Consequently, the validity, accuracy and completeness of the
purchase of goods and services expenditure of Kshs. 8,940,966 reflected in the statement
of receipts and payments for the year ended 30 June 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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941) The use of services from the National Government Administrative Officers (NGAQOS)
was stipulated in the census proposal with various cadres and approved rates which was
approved by The Cabinet. Prior to teams visiting counties for the verification exercise, the
Bureau wrote to the county commissioners of the respective counties notifying them of the
exercise and requesting for their support. Sample letter to the County Commissioners were
attached for perusal by the Committee.

942) The letter indicated that the Chiefs and Assistant Chiefs would be part of the
verification. Chief and Assistant Chiefs are government officers in the Ministry of.Interior
and Coordination of National Government. The 2019 Census was being implemented in
collaboration with the Ministry of Interior and Coordination of National Government. The
Permanent Secretary in the Ministry was the co-chair of the National Census Steering
Committee. This was due to the fact that the involvement of the NGAQOs from the Ministry
was key to the success of the census. Attached were letters to the County Commissioners
on the exercise. Attached also was a letter from the Head of Public Service.communicating
the decision of the Cabinet in which the Ministry of Interior and. Coordination of National
Government was directed to avail the NGAOSs to chair the census committees.

943) During the verification exercise, all the NGAQOs in attendance signed attendance
schedules showing their respective location, contact details and National Identification
numbers which were stamped. All payment schedules forrNGAQOs were also fully signed
and stamped. These documents formed part of the surrender documents that was availed to
the auditors. The breakdown of the 1,088,280, per Note 6 in the financial statements, arose
due to the following:

944) Allowances for NGAOs: This included the County commissioners, deputy county
commissioners, chiefs and village elders. The expenditures were slightly below the
budgeted amount. This was‘due to the fact that a number of officers who were scheduled
to attend ended up not making it since they did not have issues with draft maps in their
respective areas while.others. were committed to other official duties and hence could not
make it to attend the entire maps verification exercise.

945) Transport and fare refunds: A number of the officers who were allocated official
vehicles during the exercise did not qualify for fare refunds, and hence the difference.

946) Fuel funds: The variance was due to the minimal reported errors with the draft maps
from 'the NGAOs, most of which were corrected at the meeting venues. There were
therefore few cases where the verification officers had to travel to the specific locations
and rectify the drafted maps. The distance covered in some areas were slightly lower
compared to the budgeted estimates. The Ksh.1,088,280 was refunded to UNICEF on 19th
March 20109.

947) Committee Observations and Findings

The State Department paid Kshs. 2,727,295 to Government Administration Officers hired to
assist in mapping verification exercises in four (4) Counties. Further, an amount of Kshs.
1,088,280 was not utilized but was surrendered in cash, three (3) months after the conclusion
of the exercise.

948) Committee Recommendation
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The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury should within three (3) months of
adoption of this report, reprimand the Accounting Officer for failure to provide at the
time of audit, supporting documents contrary to the provisions of Section 9(1e) of the
Public Audit Act, 2015.

Other Matter
217. Unresolved Prior Year Issues

949) During the current year audit review, it was established that the following issue raised
during the 2017/2018 financial year audit remained unresolved: -

217.1 Unaccounted for Cash Equivalents

950) The statement of financial assets and liabilities had indicated cash and cash equivalents
balance of Kshs. 2,511,405 as at 30 June 2018. However, included in the balance was cash
in project account of Kshs.1,876,334 which included cash receipts of Kshs.43,500 that have
never been captured in the bank account since 2009.-Review of this matter in the year
2017/2018 indicates that the matter has not been resolved.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

951) The Bureau followed up on the issue with the Coop Bank, Kimathi Street branch. In a
scheduled meeting with the Relationship‘Manager in September 2018, the bank agreed to
sort out the issue, by way of refund-of.the cash to the Bureau. The bank refunded and
credited back the amount of Ksh. 43,500 to the account on 18.10.2018 see Appendix 217.1

952) Committee Observations and Findings

The Bureau followed up on the issue with the Coop Bank, Kimathi Street branch in September
2018 and the bank agreed to sort out the issue, by way of refund which was credited back the
account.

953) Committee Recommendation
The Accounting Officer must ensure that the banking arrangements and monthly bank

reconciliation is done.in line with PFM (National Government) Regulations 2015

217.2 Mapping Verification Exercise

954) . Review of the work plan for November, 2016 to June, 2018 had indicated approved
areas_for mapping verification as Kakamega, Bungoma, Tana River, Garissa, Kilifi and
Mombasa. However, it was revealed that, mapping verification was undertaken in the
month of June, 2018 in the following areas; Kisumu, Kisii, Siaya, Kilifi, Nairobi, Kwale,
Kericho, Tharaka Nithi, West Pokot, Nyeri and Makueni at a cost of Kshs.5,558,578. No
Board or donor approvals justifying the changes, or a revised approved work plan, were
provided for audit verification.

955) Further, a draft mapping report for Kisumu, Kisii and Siaya counties presented for audit
review was not signed and no evidence existed that it had been discussed in the board and
implemented. In addition, there was no indication that the implementation of the activities
had been approved by the donor.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

956) The support for the 2019 Census activities had been approved by the Donor through
GOK/UNICEF Country support programme work plan for November, 2016 to June 2018
section 1.1.2 per Appendix 217.2A. In the work plan under activity 1.1.2, the donor had
committed to provide technical and financial support to KNBS and County Governments
to plan and conduct national and county surveys (KDHS, Census and MICS6). The location
for the implementation of these activities was to be at national level (countrywide). This
was informed by the fact that Census is a national exercise and is implemented in all'the
counties across the country. In the referred work-plan, the donor was to support MED under
activity 1.1.1 and 1.1.3 and the location where MED was to undertake the supported
activities included Kakamega, Tana River, Bungoma, Garissa, Kilifi and Mombasa.

957) Map verification is the process of confirming that the information presented on the
census maps conforms to the real situation on the ground and' hence ‘determine their
accuracy for use during actual census enumeration. It is therefore only carried out in
counties where field cartographic mapping has been completed and draft maps produced.
The schedule of counties where verification was to be done was informed by the schedule
of Cartographic Mapping. Among the factors that were considered when determining the
counties to be mapped included the weather patterns. For example, During Cartographic
Mapping in Makueni County, the area experienced a lot of rain to the extent that the roads
became impassable and the teams had to move to another county awaiting the rains to
subside.

Approval for Verification

958) The Donor had committed to provide funds to support implementation of the Mapping
verification activity vide the letter of ref: KCO/PME/02-2018 and dated 23rd February
2018. It is for undertaking_ the verification exercise that the donor remitted the funds to
KNBS. Prior to the verification the Director General approved the exercise in the referred
counties vide Memo Ref. No. KNBS/STAT/73/3 on 4th June 2018 which is attached.

Verification Report

959) The signed EA map verification report for the activity is attached per Appendix 217.2B
Following the. coordinator’s report, the KNBS Board in its 36th regular meeting, was
briefed about the verification exercise in Kisumu and Kisii counties and the selected sub-
locations in other pilot counties.

960) “Committee Observations and Findings
The explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory and therefore the matter is
resolved:

217.3 Hiring the Services of National Government Officers

961) The statement of receipts and payments for the year ended 30 June, 2018 had reflected
purchase of goods and services balance of Kshs.6,464,177 which included a balance of
Kshs.1,455,828 used to hire the services of National Government Officers who assisted in
mapping verification. However, letters requesting the services of these officers,
appointment letters and service contracts indicating the terms of engagement have not been
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made available for audit scrutiny hence the propriety on the utilization of Kshs.1,455,828
could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

962) The use of services from the National Government Administrative Officers (NGAQS)
was stipulated in the census proposal with various cadres and rates, which was approved
by the Cabinet on 29th May 2017. Prior to teams visiting counties for the verification
exercise, the Bureau wrote to the county commissioners of the respective counties notifying
them of the exercise and requesting for their support. The letter indicated that the Chiefs
and Assistant Chiefs would be part of the verification exercise. Chiefs and Assistant Chiefs
are Government Officers in the Ministry of Interior and Coordination ‘of “National
Government (MICNG).

963) The 2019 Census was being implemented in collaboration with MICNG. The Principal
Secretary in MICNG was the co-chair of the National Census Steering Committee. This
was due to the fact that the involvement of the NGAOs from the Ministry was key to the
success of the census. Once the information was passed to the County Commissioners, they
would in turn pass it to the relevant officers who were required to work with KNBS officers
in the verification exercise.

964) The County Commissioners oversaw the exercise at the County level. The letter from
the Head of Public Service communicated the decision of the Cabinet in which the Ministry
of Interior and Coordination of National Government-was directed to avail the NGAOs to
support the census exercise at all levels.

965) Committee Observations and Findings
The explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory and therefore the matter is
resolved.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
Basis for Conclusion

218. Compliance with'the Reporting Template

966) Whereas The National Treasury in conjunction with the Public Sector Accounting
Standards Board of Kenya have issued the format of the reporting template for the Donor
Funded Projects, the Management did not prepare the statement of comparative budget
and.actuals correctly as provided. The statement does not include the adjustment or the
supplementary budget column but instead reflects only the original budget and actual
performance. The statement has also failed to separate the receipts and payments as
provided and does not compare to the statement of receipts and payments. It has not
disclosed the various items on receipts or of expenditure. In addition, Management did not
include under Annexure | or any other, the explanation for material deviation between the
budget and actual amounts contrary to the International Public Sector Accounting
Standards, IPSAS 24. The Management is therefore in breach of the law.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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967) The adjusted statement of comparative budget and actuals was re-prepared correctly as
provided in the prescribed template. The statement includes the adjustments column and
reflects the original budget and actual performance. The statement has also separated the
receipts and payments as provided, to compare receipts and payments. The statement was
therefore realigned and corrected.

968) Committee Observations and Findings
The explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory and therefore the matter is
resolved.

219. Lack of Financing Agreement

969) During the year under review, the Management did not provide the Financing
Agreement and approved annual work plan between the Bureau and UNICEF in;respect of
the 2019 Kenya Population and Housing Census (KPHC) Enumeration, Area (EA) map
verification in four (4) Counties. Consequently, the completeness and validity of the
receipts of Kshs.6,911,720 and payments of Kshs.9,361,177 for the year ended 30 June,
2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

970) One of the key objectives of the 2019 census exercise was to provide accurate data on
women and children that would facilitate planning in areas of education, health and basic
protection for all. It is in this spirit that UNICEF agreed to join hands with the Bureau in
funding this exercise. UNICEF has been funding some of the Bureau’s activities, based on
a specific work plan for each activity. During the-period under review, an amount of Sh.8
million was received to fund the 2019 Kenya Population and Housing Census preparatory
activities. The funds were accounted for based on the approved activity budget to the
Bureau and Kshs.6,911,720.00 was spent. The unutilized balance of Kshs.1,088,280.00
was refunded to UNICEF. There was a general financing memorandum of understanding
signed between the Bureau and UNICEF.

971) Committee Observations and Findings

The Management did not provide the Financing Agreement and approved annual work plan
between the Bureau and UNICEF in respect of the 2019 Kenya Population and Housing Census
(KPHC) Enumeration Area (EA) map verification in four (4) Counties

972) Committee' Recommendation
The Cabinet Secretary for the National Treasury should within three (3) months of

adoption of this report, reprimand the Accounting Officer for failure to provide at the
time of audit, supporting documents contrary to the provisions of Section 9(1e) of the
Public Audit Act, 2015.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

973) Conclusion
220. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.
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NATIONAL GOVERNMENT CONSTITUENCIES DEVELOPMENT FUND -
CENTRAL BANK OF KENYA ACCOUNT

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

974) Unqualified Opinion
221. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Fund.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

975) Conclusion
222. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public

resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

976) Conclusion
223. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

PARAGRAPHS 224 TO 264 ON WOMEN ENTERPRISE FUND, NATIONAL
GOVERNMENT  AFFIRMATIVE ACTION FUND AND NATIONAL
GOVERNMENT CONSTITUENCIES DEVELOPMENT FUND WERE TO BE
EXAMINED BY THE SPECIAL FUNDS ACCOUNTS COMMITTEE.

- ]
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5. THE PRESIDENCY
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR VOTE 1011

Mr. Kinuthia Mbugua, the Accounting Officer for the State Department of Interior (Vote
1011) appeared before the Committee on 31t August, 2021 to adduce evidence on the
audited financial statement for the State Department of Interior (Vote 1011) for the
Financial Year 2018/2019. He was accompanied by the following officers:

1. Mr. Kang’ethe Thuku - Deputy Director General

2. Mr. David W. Waweru - Chief Finance Officer

3. Mr. Joel K. Langatt - Senior Deputy Accountant General
4. Mr. Samuel T. Maina - Deputy Accountant General

5. Mr. Amos Nyakundi - Deputy Director Finance

And submitted as follows
977) Unqualified Opinion

264.  There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Presidency.

Other Matter

265. Pending bills

978) Asdisclosed under the'Notes|17.1 and 18.1 to the financial statements, The Presidency
had pending bills totalling to Kshs.342,081,809 as at 30th June 2019, that were not settled
during the year 2018/19 but were instead carried forward to 2019/20. Failure to settle bills
during the year in which they relate to adversely affects the provision of the subsequent
year to which they have to be charged.

Submission by.the Accounting Officer

979) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the Presidency disclosed pending
bills totalling to Kshs.342,081,809 during FY 2018/2019 as disclosed in notes to Financial
Reports, which were not settled during the year but were carried forward to subsequent
Financial Year 2019/20.These bills emanated from inadequate exchequer releases due to
prevailing economic conditions and tight fiscal frameworks. However, the Pending Bills
were subsequently paid during FY 2019/2020. A list of all the pending bills as settled was
provided for the Committee.

980) Further, the Office has continued to liaise with The National Treasury in pursuit of
release of full exchequer so as to minimise accumulation of pending bills in future.

981) Committee Observations and Findings
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(i) The Committee observed that the explanation and documents given by the Accounting
Officer with regard to the Pending Bills was satisfactory; and
(i) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

982) Committee Recommendation

The Accounting Officer should ensure that pending bills in any financial year are avoided
at all cost. Where pending bills are unavoidable they should form the first charge inthe
budget of the subsequent year.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

983) Conclusion
266. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public

resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

984) Conclusion
267. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

DONOR FUNDED PROJECTS

KENYA DEVELOPMENT RESPONSE TO DISPLACEMENT IMPACTS PROJECT
(IDA CREDIT NO.6021-KE)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

985) Unqualified Opinion
268. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Project.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCESS

986) Conclusion
269. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public

resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE
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987) Conclusion
270. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE TO ENHANCE THE CAPACITY OF THE
PRESIDENT’S DELIVERY UNIT (ADB GRANT NO.5500155012902)

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

988) Unqualified Opinion
271. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Project.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCESS

989) Conclusion
272. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public

resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL-CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

990) Conclusion
273. There were no material issues /relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk

management and governance.

- ]
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6. STATE DEPARTMENT FOR INTERIOR

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR VOTE 1021

Dr. Eng. Karanja Kibicho, the Accounting Officer for the State Department of Interior
(Vote 1021) appeared before the Committee on 10t May, 2021 to adduce evidence on the
audited financial statement for the State Department of Interior (Vote 1021) for the
Financial Year 2018/2019. (Minutes of the Committee sittings and submissions tabled by
the Accounting Officer are annexed to this report). He was accompanied by the following

officials:

1. Mr

Ms
Ms
Mr
Mr
Ms
Mr
Mr
Ms

©oNe R WDN

. Alex Muteshi

. Alice W. Gichu

. Loise Kibicho

. James K. Karori

. David Mutia

. Elizabeth W. Kiano
. Peter N. Muita

. Joseph Macharia

. Catherine Njeri

Basis for Qualified Opinion

Director General Citizen Services &
Immigration

Senior Chief Finance Officer
Assistant Accountant General
Director AG

Senior Principal Finance Officer
DIAG

Chief Finance Officer

Finance Officer

Finance Officer

274. Unreconciled variances between the financial statements and the integrated
financial management information system (IFMIS) trial balance
991) The audit of the financial statements and IFMIS Trial Balance revealed the following

variances:

Financial

Statements IFMIS Trial | Variance
Account (Kshs.) Balance (Kshs.) (Kshs.)
Recurrent 2,478,224,900 |101,171,731,035 (98,693,506,135)
Development 900,195,787 23,885,771,501 (22,985,575,714)
Deposits 605,551,629 362,816,658 242,734,971
Cash in Hand/Transit 152,156,097 346,542,329,253 (346,390,173,156)

992) No reconciliation was provided to explain the above variances. In the circumstances, it
was not possible to ascertain the completeness and accuracy of the account balances
affected by the differences between the financial statements and the IFMIS Trial Balance.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year

ended 30" June

2019

Page 197



993) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the Financial statement of bank
and cash balances differs from the one in the trial balance as follows:-

Account Financial IFMIS Trial Balance | Variance (Ksh)
Statements (Ksh) (Ksh)

Recurrent 2,478,224,900.00 101,171,731,034.60 | 98,693,506,134.60

Development 900,195,787.00 23,885,771,501.20 22,985,575,714.20

Deposit 605,551,629.00 362,816,657.90 242,734,971.10

Cash in | 152,156,097.00 346,542,329,252.90 | 346,390,173,155.90

hand/transit

994) This was occasioned by challenges in the IFMIS bank auto-reconciliation particularly
missing bank statements in the IFMIS system. The Accounting Officer had engaged the
IFMIS department and financial reporting unit of the National Treasury and was in the
process of clearing the variances.

Committee Observations and Findings

995) The Committee observed and found-that:
(i) The IFMIS bank auto-reconciliation challenge was recurrent across state departments

and agencies and requires urgent attention and action by the National Treasury

(i) The Committee further.observed that the reconciliation of the outstanding variances
was in progress; and

(ili) The matter, therefore, remains unresolved.

Committee Recommendation

996) The Committee recommended that:
1) The National Treasury must, once and for all, address the challenges facing the

operations of IFMIS and should specifically ensure the full functionality of IFMIS.
2) Accounting Officers must at all times ensure that they prepare and keep proper
accounting records in line with the provisions of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act,
2012.
3). Accounting Officers must at all times ensure that hey provide accurate records
and other supporting documents pursuant to Section 9 (1) (e) of the Public Audit
Act, 2015.

275. Unreconciled Cash and Cash Equivalents Balances

997) The statement of assets and liabilities reflects cash and cash equivalents balance of
Kshs.4,136,128,414 which includes bank balances of Kshs.3,983,972,316 as analyzed in
Note 22 to the financial statements. However, included in the bank reconciliation
statements were payments in the cash book not in the bank statements amounting to
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Kshs.609,496,111 which have been outstanding since the year 2015. Further, receipts in
the bank statements not in the cash book of Kshs.1,615,928,444 had also been outstanding
since the year 2015.

998) In addition, payments in the bank statements not in the cash book included long
outstanding items totalling Kshs.7,389,999,277 and relating to the period between 2016
and 2018. Further, receipts in the cash book not in the bank statements totalling
Kshs.418,173,050 have also been outstanding for long and they relate to the period between
2015 and 2018. No satisfactory reason was provided for failure to clear the long outstanding
bank reconciliation items from the books of account.

999) Consequently, the completeness and accuracy of bank balances of Kshs.3,983,972,316
included in the cash and cash equivalents as at 30 June, 2019 could not'be ascertained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1000) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the bank reconciliation statement
has long outstanding balances relating to the period between 2015.to December 2018. We
have been able to clear some items as analyzed below.

Outstanding amount Reconciled Amount
Payment in cash book not in bank 609,496,111.00 609,496,111.00
Receipt in bank not in cash book 1,615,928;444.00 1,151,815,775.25
Payment in bank not in cashbook 7,389,999,277.00 4,068,393,121.80
Receipt in cash book not in bank 418,173,050.00 404,460,867.15

1001) The reconciled items have been adjusted in the cash book accordingly and we are in the
process of reconciling the remaining outstanding items.

1002) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that:
(i) That reconciled items have since been adjusted in the cash book accordingly;

(if) That the reconciliation of the outstanding items was progressing well;
(i) The matter is, therefore, marked as unresolved.

Committee Recommendation

1003). The Committee recommended that:
1) Accounting Officers must at all times ensure that they prepare and keep

2) proper accounting records in line with the provisions of Section 68 (2) (b) of the
PFM Act, 2012.

3) Accounting Officers must at all times ensure that they provide accurate

4) records and other supporting documents pursuant to Section 9 (1) (e) of the Public
Audit Act, 2015.

Other Matter
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276. Pending Bills

1004) Note 28 to the financial statements reflects pending bills totalling Kshs.4,374,388,259
as at 30 June, 2019 which were not settled during the year under review but were instead
carried forward to the financial year 2019/2020. Had the bills been paid and the expenditure
charged to the account for 2018/2019, the statement of receipts and payments for the year
under review would have reflected a deficit of Ksh.4,137,340,968 instead of the surplus of
Kshs.237,047,291 shown. Failure to settle bills during the year in which they relate to
distorts the financial statements and adversely affects the budgetary provisions for the
subsequent year as they form the first expenditure to be charged.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1005) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the State Department.of Interior
had Pending Bills amounting to Ksh.4,374,388,258.85 during the period.under review. The
State Department had an approved budget of Ksh.140,655,911,515.00 while the'Exchequer
released during the period was Ksh.136,443,011,066.00. Had .the State Department
received all the Exchequer as per the budget, all the payments would have been cleared.

1006) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed that:

(i) The pending bills were occasioned by inadequate exchequer release by the National
Treasury.

(i) The Committee further observed that the Pending Bills Committee was still working
on the verification of documents to-recommend payments and clearance of the said
bills; and

(ili) The matter, therefore, remains unresolved.

Committee Recommendation

1007) The Committee recommended that:
Accounting Officers should ensure that pending bills in any financial year are avoided at

all cost. Where pending bills are unavoidable, they should form the first charge in the
budget of the subsequent year.

277. Lack of A Fixed Assets Register

1008) Disclosed in Annex 2 to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June, 2019 is a
summary of fixed assets register. However, contrary to the reporting guidelines issued by
the Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (PSASB), the summary of fixed assets
register attached reflects nil balances instead of actual figures relating to the historical costs
brought forward, additions and disposals during the financial year 2018/2019, and the
historical costs as at 30 June, 2019.

1009) The audit also revealed that the State Department for Interior did not maintain a fixed
assets register during the year under review contrary to the requirements under Regulations
139 and 143 of the Public Finance Management (National Government) Regulations, 2015.
As a result, the existence, movement, conditions, completeness, valuation and book
balances of the fixed assets owned by the State Department for Interior as at 30 June, 2019
could not be confirmed.

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 200



Submission by the Accounting Officer

1010) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the State department of Interior
had no fixed assets register in the year under review hence the nil disclosure in the financial
statements. The State Department has since put together a comprehensive asset register
which covers both assets at the head office and at the field offices.

1011) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
(i) The Committee observed that the fixed asset register had been availed for audit
verification; and

(i) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
Basis for Conclusion
278. Provision of Comprehensive Medical Cover

1012) The National Police Service procured a comprehensive medical cover for a period of
two years commencing on 1 October, 2017 to. 30 September, 2019 through direct
procurement method. The tender was awarded to the National Hospital Insurance Fund on
26 September, 2017 at a contract sum of Kshs:4,785,805,560.

1013) Included in the contract sum of Kshs.4,785,805,560 was an amount of
Kshs.200,000,000 for excess of loss cover to cushion members who might exhaust their
limit. This amount was refundable at the end of the contract but was not refunded when the
contract came to an end. Further, no documentary evidence was provided for audit
verification to show how the amount refundable was applied.

1014) Consequently, it was not possible to determine whether the National Police Service got
value for money from the amount of Kshs.200,000,000 that was due for refund at the end
of the comprehensive medical cover contract.

Submission by the-Accounting Officer

1015) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that there was a sum of
Kshs:200,000,000.00 for excess of loss cover paid to the National Hospital Insurance Fund
(NHIF). However, despite several telephone calls and letters demanding an account of the
Kshs.200,000,000.00 from NHIF, they are yet to respond. The Department has decided to
withhold Ksh.200,000,000.00 from outstanding bills under the current contract until NHIF
accounts for the excess of loss cover.

Further information by the National Hospital Insurance Fund - NHIF

Dr. Peter Kagunyo the Chief Executive Officer and the Accounting Officer for the
National Hospital Insurance Fund appeared before the Committee on 3" June, 2021
accompanied by the following officers.
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1. Ms. Hazel Koitaba - Director NHIF

2. Mr. Simon Kariuki - Acting Director Finance

3. Dr. Samson Kuhora - Head, BDTCM

4. Mr. Joseph Kirubi - Secretary Administration

5. Ms. Mary Mbau - Director Probation & aftercare Services

6. Mr. David Muriithi - ASS. Comm. Prisons

7. Mr. Shadrack Kavuthi - Ass. Director Probation & Aftercare Services
8. Mr. Silas Mutwiri - Chief Insp. Prisons

9. Mr. Wyclife Muturi - Head of Internal Audit

10. Ms. Wairimu Thang’ate - SACGP

11. Mr. Joseph N. Mutevesi - SACGP

12. Mr. Samfantony Kyalo - SP — KPS

13. Mr. David Njoroge - Principal Supply Chain Management Officer
14. Ms. Nelly Njoroge - PS Office

And submitted as follows

1. Details of claims and expenses incurred under the said medical cover for the entire
contract
1016) On 1st January 2012, NHIF was contracted by Government of Kenya through the State

Department of Public Service to administer comprehensive medical Scheme for Civil
Servants and Disciplined Forces. The principal members were drawn from both Civil
Service and Disciplined Services and the beneficiaries were the principal member, spouse
and three declared children{(M+4). The initial benefit package included out-patient,
Inpatient, dental, optical, Last expense and Group L.ife.

1017) In 2016, the Disciplined Forces exited the Civil Servants and Disciplined Services

medical scheme offered by.the Fund and procured the cover from a private insurer.

1018) The government to government (G-to-G) medical scheme has subsequently been

negotiated on an yearly contractual basis and gradually expanded to include the principal,
aspouse and 5 children (M+6). In addition, the benefit package has been enhanced to cover
the -entire spectrum of health needs and services to incorporate preventive, promotive,
curative, rehabilitative, palliative, Work Injury Benefits, Last expense and Group life and
Excess of Loss provisions.

1019) -On 29th September 2017, the National Police Service (NPS) and the Kenya Prisons

Service (KPS) re-engaged the Fund and entered into a Contract to provide a medical cover.
The period of insurance was from 1st October 2017 to 30th September 2019, (both days
inclusive) with a provision for renewal at the end of the first 12 months, subject to
satisfactory performance. The premium payable was KES 4,585,805,560 annually and an
additional Excess of Loss fund of KES 200,000,000. The contracted number of insured
persons was 122,708 principal members and their dependants which translated to up-to
858,956 lives. This contract was implemented with 13,142 new principal members being
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added within the period of implementation. This translated to additional premiums of KES
592,295,968 of which Debit notes were issued by the Fund.

1020) At the end of the contract period, the Employer (NPS and KPS) requested for a 3-month
contract extension, on the same contract terms, and at an additional premium of
KES1,201,744,566 for 131,245 principal members. Two other extensions were requested
from 1st January 2020 — 31st March 2020 and 1st April 2020 — 30th June 2020, on the same
terms. On the three extensions, the NPS/KPS owes the Fund KES 80,633,496 in un-

remitted premiums.

1021) This Financial year, the NPS/KPS bought a medical cover for 127,439 principal
members at a premium of KES 4,585,805,560, and an additional KES 200,000,000 for the
Excess of Loss Fund. A partial payment of KES 2,650,000,000 has been remitted thus far.
To respond to the query on details of claims and expenses incurred under the medical cover
for the entire contract, a summary is given in the table below:

Table 1: Utilization Report for NPS/KPS in 2017-2019 period:

Variable Amount_17-18 | Amount_18-19
A Premium Payable - Enhanced Scheme
4,785,805,560 4,785,805,560
Bl Premium Paid- Enhanced Scheme
4,585,805,560 4,585,805,560
B2 Ex-gratia allocation paid
200,000,000 200,000,000
C Statutory Contributions
1,828,983,000 2,138,814,763
D= Total Received Amount | 6,414,788,560 6,724,620,323
B1+B2+C (premiums)
E Incurred Claims
4,885,594,408 5,548,231,947
F Other Scheme Expenditure (Last
Expense, Evacuation & Admin) 862,307,810 635,804,796
G =E+F Total Pay-Out 5,747,902,218 6,184,036,743
H1=G/D Overall pay-out Ratio 89.60 91.96
H2 = | Medical Loss Ratio 76.16 82.51
E/(B1+C)
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1022) In addition, I would like to bring to the attention of the committee the following:

e The total amount received of KES 4,785,805,560 was paid annually is inclusive of a
premium of KES 4,585,805,560 for the medical cover and a Fund of KES 200,000,000 for
Excess of Loss.

e As at 30" September 2019, there were 135,850 principal members covered in the scheme
against the initial cover for 122,708 principal members.

e The Pay-out ratios for the policy years ending 30" September 2018 and 30" September
2019 were 89.6% and 92.0% respectively.

e The utilisation reports submitted to the employer (NPS/KPS) were provided

2. The total number of Officers who exhausted their cover limits if any and by how
much,

1023) Reference is made to Contractual agreement between the “Board of Management of
NHIF” and the “Principal Secretary, Ministry of Interior and.Coordination of Government
on behalf of the NPS and KPS”; Endorsement 1 Clause xlvii that states “excess of loss
cover of KES 200,000,000 will be paid by NPS to cushion members who may exhaust the
limits”.

1024) In the period 1st October 2017 to 30th“September 2019, 1,832 officers and their
dependants exhausted their medical cover-limits, amounting to KES 394,673,573 of the
Excess of Loss Funds utilized. These covers beyond limits are profiled as:

a) Reference is made to Endorsement L clause xxx that states “Emergency caesarean

section will be covered up to a limit of KES 200,000 as a stand- alone benefit”.
b) Reference is made to Endarsement 1-clause xxiv and xxv on the limits of liability of
KES 60,000 and KES 100,000 for the Dental and Optical services covers respectively.
c) Reference is also made Endorsement 1 clause xxxv that states “Facilities to be visited
for out and in-patient will-be categorized and availed depending on Job Groups as
hereunder:
e Category 1: JGA-L; PG 1-7forPolice and PG 1 — 8 for Prisons
e Category2: JG M —Q; PG 8 — 10 for Police and PG 9 — 12 for Prisons
e Category 3: JIGR—T; PG 11 — 12 for police and PG 13 — 15 for prisons

1025) ~Within" the contract period, the employer (NPS/KPS) requested for services at
additional non-comprehensively contracted providers for category 1 beneficiaries. These
are excluded from (c) above. Table 2 outlines Limits of liability on the contract for the
provision of comprehensive medical cover for National Police Service and Kenya Prisons
Service signed on 29" September 2017.

Table 2: Limits of liability on the Excess of Loss

FY 2017/18 FY 2018/19 Cumulative
Amount
KES KES KES
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Excess of Loss Funds | 200,000,000 200,000,000 400,000,000
received

Balance b/f - 42,565,325

Total funds 200,000,000 242,565,325 400,000,000
Incurred Claims

Inpatient care (lower JG | 139,721,107 205,554,081 345,275,188
High-end HCP)

C/Section 2,570,930 9,642,567 12,213,497
Optical 10,283,336 12,179,202 22,462,538
Dental 2,674,006 8,319,324 10,993,330
Higher JG who have | 2,185,296 1,543,724 3,729,020
exceeded limits

Total Funds utilization 157,434,675 237,238,898 394,673,573
Balance c/f 42,565,325 5,326,427 5,326,427

1026) In the period under review, the NPS/KPS Scheme added 13,142 principal members to
the cover as outlined below. These accrued an additional premium of KES 592,295,968, as
at 30" September 2019. These amounts have been billed but the premiums have not been

received.

Table 3: Statement on receivables

Cover Period | Populatio | Premiums Premium Remarks
n Payable received
(Excess  of
Loss Fund)
1st Oct 2017 - | 122,708 4,785,805,560 | 4,585,805,56 |0 Annual
30th Sept 2018 0 cover &
(200,000,000 excess of
) loss
1st Oct 2018~ | 122,708 4,785,805,560 | 4,585,805,56 |0 Annual
30th.Sept 2019 0 cover &
(200,000,000 excess of
) loss
1st June 2018 - | 3,197 36,021,348 0 36,021,348 | Additional
30th Sept 2018 members
for KPS
1st Oct 2018 - | 3,197 108,064,044 0 108,064,044 | Additional
30th Sept 2019 members
for KPS
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1st June 2018 - | 9,945 112,052,644 0 112,052,644 | Additional

30th Sept 2018 members
for NPS

1st Oct 2018 - | 9,945 336,157,932 0 336,157,932 | Additional

30th Sept 2019 members
for NPS

TOTAL 10,163,907,08 | 9,571,611,12 | 592,295,968

8 0

Debit notes for additional premiums were also provided.

3. Any other information that may be relevant to the matter.

1027) In recognition of the unique challenges in accessing and controlling the cost.of medical
services for the National Police Service and the Kenya Prisons Services, the Fund has
endeavoured to model benefits on value-based financing models, including, a unique
provider payment mechanism to ensure portability of Medical Outpatient services due to
the nature of work for the NPS/KPS officers.

1028) The Fund endeavours to transform into a sustainable strategic purchaser of healthcare
benefits for all beneficiaries. The current and future plans towards these are:
I. The recently rolled out biometric registration and identification of beneficiaries to

reduce the incidences of beneficiary impersonation;

ii. The full automation of the empanelment, contracting and claims management processes
at the Fund,

iii. For this scheme, reconciliation of the accounts (premiums and excess of loss Funds) at
the close of the current contract period;

iv. Yearly reconciliations for_all'managed schemes; both premiums and Excess of loss
Funds;

v. Adopting a triennial national stakeholder forum on costing of benefits and adjustment
of premiums and reimbursements based on prevailing medical and market inflation
rates.

1029) Further,.the Fund wishes to enhance absorption of the G-to-G medical covers by
improvingmedical benefits design and procurement in cognizance of the uniqueness of the
beneficiary-categories.

1030) Finally, the Fund wishes to assure the National Assembly of its commitment to fulfil
its mandate of securing financial risk protection against the catastrophic effect of out-of-
pocket spending on healthcare services for all Kenyan residents through prudent financial
management of members’ contributions and other resources.

1031) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
(i)  The Committee observed that the explanation given by the Chief Executive Officer with

regard to the provision of comprehensive medical cover to the National Police Service
and the Kenya Prison Service was satisfactory;
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(i) The Committee also observed that the Chief Executive Officer provided all the
supporting documents including bank slips, bank statements and payment vouchers for
audit verification;

(iii) The Committee further observed that the expenditure of Ksh. 200,000,000.00 was well
explained with supporting documents availed; and

(iv) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

279. Proposed Nyamarambe Police Post Residential Houses Phase 11

1032) The tender for construction of the Proposed Nyamarambe Police Post Residential
Houses Phase Il was awarded to a local construction company at a‘contract._sum of
Kshs.9,740,635. The contract agreement was signed on 20 May, 2019. The duration of the
contract was 20 weeks commencing on 18 May, 2019 to 18 November, 2019. The scope of
works entailed among others; construction of superstructure concrete framing with both
external local bearing and infill wall partitions; and roof structure (frame) cover and rain
water gutters.

1033) From an audit inspection conducted on 30 August, 2019; it was observed that the
contractor was required to use 16mm high yield square twisted reinforcement bars to BS
cut, bent and placed in position for reinforcement in line with the Bill of Quantities.
However, the contractor used 12mm ditto_high yield square reinforcement bars on the
second floor.

1034) Further, the contractor was required to use “Kedowa” or “Oloolunga” natural dressed
stones costing Kshs.1,094,000 for ‘internal walling. However, the contractor used clay
bricks and natural dressed stones which were of poor quality.

1035) In the circumstances, it was not possible to determine whether Kenya Police Service
got value for money from the Kshs.9,740,635 spent on the project.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1036) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the contractor was required to
use 16mm ditto.High yield square twisted reinforcement bars to BS cut. It is however not
true that 12mm ditto high yield square reinforcement bars were used in the second floor.
TheProject manager confirmed in his report dated January 2020 that D16 was indeed used.

1037)- It was also true that the Contractor was required to use natural dressed stone as
‘Kedowa’ or ‘Oloolunga’ for internal walling coating. He was however, given a site
instruction by the Project Manager to use clay bricks for internal walling (Partitioning).
The resultant saving was used in fixing external kitchen balcony grills which were not
provided for in the BQS.

1038) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
(i) The Committee observed that the submission given by the Accounting Officer was

satisfactory; and
(i) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.
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280. Completion of Kamukunji Police Lines

1039) The tender for completion of Kamukunji Police Lines was awarded to a local
construction company at a contract sum of Kshs.151,190,254. The contract agreement was
signed on 18th October, 2018. The project was scheduled to take 52 weeks from 18
October, 2017 but the project completion date was further extended by 24 weeks.

1040) The scope of work included; fencing and perimeter wall; supply, installation, testing
and commissioning of electrical installations; plumbing, drainage, fire protection and water
reticulation services; and supply, delivery and installation of high-level and low-level water
tanks and booster pumps.

1041) An audit inspection conducted on 6 January, 2020 revealed the following deficiencies:

i.  The roof tops that had been constructed using galvanized iron sheets'were leaking in all
the three blocks while the white PVC T&G ceiling boards fitted were loose and, in
some houses, had fallen off.

ii.  The Bill of Quantities provided for three aluminium coated steel ladders not less than
9000mm long. However, the contractor did not fit the same.

iii.  The Bills of Quantities provided for 48 sets‘of 5 lever mortice locks for doors fitting.
The contractor instead used latches. Further, the contractor did not fit 40mm diameter
rubber door steps as provided for in the Bill of Quantities.

iv.  The windows were not fitted with-grills as per the Bill of Quantities.

v.  The heavy gauge chain-link perimeter wall fence above ground was not constructed as
per specifications of the Bill of Quantities.

vi.  The Bill of Quantities provided for two steel gates of 4500mm x 2400mm comprising
of 25 x 25 x 3mm RHS vertical members at 100 mm welded to 25 x 25mm horizontal
members at 400mm centers complete with gateposts wheels and guiding rails.
However, only one gate.was constructed according to the foregoing specifications but
the wheels and guiding rails were not functional. Further, the second gate did not meet
the above. specifications while the culvert and head walls were not constructed as
provided forinthe Bill of Quantities.

1042) The Bill of Quantities provided for provisional sums of Kshs.20,000,000 and
contingencies of Kshs.5,000,000 for additions required to complete Kamukunji Lines
Police Station and for provision for fluctuations in prices, respectively. However,
documentary evidence on how the total amount of Ksh.25,000,000 was utilized was not
availed for audit review.

1043) The Bill of Quantities under preliminaries included provisions for the following
services/items: prevention of accidents, damage or loss-Kshs.260,000; working conditions-
Kshs.120,000; labour camp - Kshs,200,000; demolitions and alterations-Kshs.200,000;
materials from demolitions-Kshs.100,000; existing services-Kshs.150,000; performance
bond-Kshs.300,000; delivery of tender-Kshs.25,000; project managers expenses-
Kshs.1,538,240; desktop computer-Kshs.400,000; training-Kshs.1,000,000; area to be
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occupied by contractor-Kshs.200,000; protection of works-Kshs.500,000; training levy-
Kshs.500,000 and hoarding-Kshs.500,000. However, no documents were provided for
audit to confirm how the foregoing preliminaries amounting to Kshs.5,993,240 were
accounted for.

1044) Consequently, it was not possible to determine whether value for money was obtained
in respect of the expenditure of Kshs.151,190,254 incurred on the contract for completion
of Kamukunji Lines Police Station.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
1045) The Accounting Officer submitted as follows:

i) Main works - Roofing
1046) It was true that the approved concrete roofing tiles were not used-as provided for in the
BQs but instead IT 5 roofing sheets were used and was approved by the project manager.
This was necessitated by the fact that the tender documents were prepared in the year 2013
and the work executed in the year 2017 when the specified-concrete roofing tiles were out
of market.

1ii) Leaking roofs due to poor workmanship

1047) It was true that the roofs were leaking. This'was later captured in the snag list and made
good by the contractor.

iv)Aluminium Coated Steel Ladder

1048) This item was not done by the contractor and has not been paid for. This will be omitted
from the final account.

v) Doors
1049) This was captured in the'snag list and made good by the contractor.

vi)Windows

1050) The windows were not fixed by the contractor and will be omitted from the final
account.

vii) Perimeterwall

1051) Ituis true that chain link fence was not constructed as per the bill of quantities’
specifications. This was requested by the client due to security concerns since the section
was exposing the station building to the Ring Road side. In its place, a masonry wall of 4m
high was done.

viii) Provisional sums - Kshs. 25,000,000.00
1052) The Bill of quantities provided for a provisional sum of Kshs.20,000,000.00 and
Kshs.5,000,000.00 in respect of contingencies for repairs required to complete Central and
Pangani police stations and provision for fluctuations respectively. The provisional sum of
Kshs.20,000,000.00 and Kshs.5,000,000.00 was for Kamukunji project only. Some of the
items taken care of by the Provisional sums are;
- Pedestrian gate

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 209




- Gate house

- Pump house

- Additional civil works
- Extended preliminaries.

1053) Final Account is being prepared by the Project Manager. The project is complete and
the buildings are in use. All the defects were made good and a handing over certificate
issued accordingly.

1054) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The Committee however observed that the submission made by the Accounting Officer
was satisfactory; and
(it) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

281. Proposed Completion of Pangani Police Station Civil Works

1055) The tender for the proposed completion of Pangani Police Station Civil Works was
awarded to a local construction company at a contract sum-of Kshs.10, 839,488. The
contract agreement was signed on 10 April, 2018. The works were to be executed for a
period of 52 weeks from 10 April, 2018. The scope of works included access road and
parking areas. An audit inspection conducted on 6 January, 2020 revealed that the
contractor had abandoned the site and the work.had not been completed.

1056) Further, the compact 25mm premix dense bituminous wearing course, the joint precast
concrete channel 250x125mm. including 100mm thick concrete bed and haunch, the
footpaths, storm water drainage both open and slotted work, headwalls and culverts, foul
water drainage works and the pipe and the manhole constructions had not been done as per
the Bill of Quantities. In addition, the contractor left the manholes dangerously open and
exposed.

1057) Consequently, it'was not possible to ascertain whether value for money was obtained
regarding the expenditure of Kshs.7,741,580 incurred on the contract for the completion of
Pangani Police Station civil works.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1058).. The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that:

e The Contractor abandoned the site in July, 2019 and works had not been completed. A
warning letter was subsequently issued to the Contractor on 10" January, 2020 by the
project manager to resume work which he failed to do.

e The Ministry is in the process of terminating the contract in accordance with the termination
clause of the contract.

1059) I also wish to state that By the time Contractor abandoned site, the Works were at 85%
completion while the certified amount was about 71% (Ksh.7,741,580.00) of the contract
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sum of Ksh.10,839,488.00 as per Project Manager’s letter Ref: SD/DO1/PAN-
POL/82/6956BVOL.11/5 dated 18th August 2020.

1060) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The Committee observed that the submission made by the Accounting Officer was
satisfactory; and
(if) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1061) Conclusion
282. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of ‘internal. controls, risk
management and governance.

REVENUE STATEMENTS - STATE DEPARTMENT FOR INTERIOR
REPORT ON THE REVENUE STATEMENTS
Basis for Qualified Opinion

283. Fees on Use of Goods and Services

1062) The statement of receipts‘and transfers reflects an amount of Kshs.4,838,182,626 as
having been received during the year under fees on use of goods and services. However,
the audit revealed the following anomalies:

283.1 Under-Charge of Licenses at Betting Control and Licensing Board

1063) Examination of revenue records maintained at Betting Control and Licensing Board
revealed that.the Board did not use the recommended revenue collection rates during the
issue-and renewal of various classes of licenses. This resulted in the revenue undercharge
of Kshs.1,500,000 which is yet to be accounted for.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
1064) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that:

a) Kshs 1,000,000.00 (under receipt)
The under receipt of Kshs. 1,000,000.00 relates to Gamcode Ltd. The Betting Control &
Licensing Board communicated to the company informing them of the outstanding
receipt for Public Gaming License of 2018/2019 Financial Year. The company responded
on 4/6/2019. Since there was no evidence of the receipt, the BCLB declined renewal of
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their License for 2019/2020 as per attached letter Ref: BCLB 11/13 VOL.IV. Dated 1%
July 2019.

It has emerged that the company has since closed gaming business and some of its
promoters have left the country.

b) MR. B5245718 - (under receipt)
The undercharge of Kshs.500,000.00 indicated by our Auditors was subsequently paid
vide receipt No. MRB5245718. Renewal Application fee is paid on application to unlock
the License process. The application was paid vide receipt No. MRB5246186. Proper rates
were applied in both cases.

1065) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The Committee observed that the explanation provided by the Accounting Officer was
satisfactory;
(i) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

283.2 Uncollected Revenue For Hire of Security Services

1066) Examination of records maintained at Security of Government Buildings Unit revealed
that an amount of Kshs.143,233,000 in respect. of security services offered to Kenya
Revenue Authority from January, 2016 to October, 2019 had not been received or collected.
This is contrary to Section 57(6)(1) of the National Police Service Standing Orders which
requires payments to be madebefore security services are deployed or offered.

1067) Further, a review of Nairobi: Area Police records revealed that various banks were
offered security services from July, 2018 to June, 2019 in respect of which an amount of
Kshs.8,526,033 had not been received or collected for the security services rendered. In
addition, the Critical Infrastructure Police Unit (CIPU) also rendered security services to
various Machakos County clients for which an amount of Kshs.911,450 had not been
received or.collected. The Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the CIPU and
the-clients requesting for hire of security services was not provided for audit review.

1068) “Under the circumstances, the accuracy and completeness of the reported fees on use of
goods and services receipts of Kshs.4,838,182,626 for the year ended 30 June, 2019 could

not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
1069) The Accounting Officer submitted as follows:

1070) Security of Government Buildings
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1071) The cumulative figure of Ksh.143,233,000.00 (One Hundred and forty three Million,
two Hundred and thirty three Thousand) which was in arrears from January, 2016 to
October,2019 was due to non-payment by KRA for security services rendered to them.
Several demand notes and invoices have been sent to them before and after this audit query
but they have not been able to pay to date; Refer to SGB/KRA/20/VOL.V1/50 dated 13th
November 2020 and SGB/QM/009/VOL.VIII/79 dated 25TH March, 2019 attached
herewith for ease of reference.

1072) The KRA management agreed on the receipt of all correspondences to_them. Ref:
KRA/CSSD/24/7/\ol. 1V/128 dated 10th April,2019 acknowledging that they received the
services and have factored the debt in the funding request made to the National Treasury.
They promised to clear the debt when funds are made available by the Treasury.

Further submission by the Kenya Revenue Authority — KRA

Mr. James Githii Mburu, the Commissioner General Accounting Officer for the Kenya
Revenue Authority — KRA appeared before the Committee on 9™ June, 2021 accompanied by
the following officers.

1. Ms. Lilian Nyawanda - Commissioner Customs

2. Mr. Joseph Kaguru - Deputy Commissioner Customs
3. Ms. Grace Wandeu - Deputy. Commissioner Customs
4. Mr. Andrew Osiang - Chief Manager

1073) On why KRA had not paid Revenue for Security Services
e The authority was underfunded and could not raise enough money pay debtors
e The authority was also unable to meet the budgetary needs of the organization.

1074) On further deliberations by Members on this matter, it was resolved that the KRA
should engage with the Principal Secretary Interior and other concerned parties to settle
this matter.

1075) “The Committee would also engage the Principal Secretary of the National Treasury to
ensure-adequate budgetary allocation is made to critical institutions such as KRA to meet
their financial obligations.

Nairobi Area Police

1076) It is true Nairobi Area Police offered security services to various Banks from July 2018
to June 2019 in respect of which an amount accrued of Kshs.8,008,433.00 and not
Kshs.8,526,033.00 as indicated by the Auditors.
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1077) There has been a follow up by the sub Counties concerned and payments had been
effected to the tune of Kshs.6,043,233.00, hence the outstanding amount is
Kshs.1,965,200.00 which follow up is being done by the various sub- counties.

Critical Infrastructure Police Unit
1078) All the outstanding Revenue in arrears amounting to Kshs.911,450.00 has been paid as
indicated on the table and copies of cheques which were attached.

S/INO | INSTITUTION AMOUNT
1 Family Bank 84,600.00
2 Barclays Bank 122,800.00
3 National Bank 35,000.00
4 Universal Traders Sacco 35,500.00
5 G4S 103,950.00
6 Wells Fargo 28,500.00
7 Credit Bank 69,900.00
8 Sidian Bank 107,200.00
9 Landmark Holdings Ltd 108,000.00
10 Benchmark Distributors Ltd 216,000.00
Total arrears 911,450.00

1079) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the explanation by the Accounting Officer was satisfactory.

(if) The Committee further observed that the Kenya Revenue Authority - KRA was yet to clear
security services amounting to. Ksh.143,233,000.00 as a result of lack of budget for the
same;

1080) The Committee recommended that:
1) Within-three months upon adoption of this report, the KRA be gazette as a
strategic national institution/installation.
2) The Head of Public Service should, within three months upon adoption of this
report, establish a common multi-agency approach towards treatment of costs
related to security of strategic government institutions and installations.

284 Banking of Revenue in Undesignated Accounts

1081) On 20 November, 2018 and again on 14 June, 2019, the Accounting Officer for the
State Department for Interior, directed that all revenue collected by all departments under
the State Department for Interior directly and through Huduma Centres, County registrars,
Sub-County registrars and all regional coordinators should always be banked immediately
and directly into the Central Bank of Kenya Account N0.1000209585 and Kenya
Commercial Bank, Account N0.1119750730 for the Ministry of Interior and Coordination
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of National Government. However, examination of revenue records revealed that despite
the Accounting Officer’s instructions, the Kenya Police Service and the Security of
Government Buildings Unit have continued to bank the revenue collected in undesignated
accounts at the National Bank of Kenya Account N0.01001005016300 and Account
N0.01001000904600, respectively.

1082) Further, during the year under review, revenue transfers were done quarterly tothe
account maintained at the Central Bank of Kenya rather than immediately contrary to the
Accounting Officer’s instructions, which also required revenue returns to be submitted to
the State Department for Interior Headquarters by the 5th of every month. No explanation
has been provided for the noncompliance.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1083) The Accounting Officer submitted the Principal Secretary directive Ref No. AC: 10/5/1
VOL1/16 dated 14th June, 2019 has been largely adhered.to by the two Departments i.e.
Kenya Police Service and Administration Police Service. For instance, in Security of
Government Buildings and VIP protection Unit the letter was-relayed to the institutions
through circular letter Ref no. NPS/APS/FIN/2/10 VOL.1 (35) dated 6th January, 2020.
The only institution that had failed to do so was'Kenya School of Law which has since been
directed to conform through attached invoices. As demonstrated above, the directives have
been followed except a few cases where action.and follow up is being done.

1084) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the explanation provided by the Accounting Officer was
satisfactory; and

(if) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1085) Conclusion

285 There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

NATIONAL COHESION AND INTEGRATION COMMISSION
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1086) Unqualified Opinion

286 There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Commission.
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REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

1087) Conclusion
287 There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1088) Conclusion
288 There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of .internal controls, risk
management and governance.

GOVERNMENT PRESS FUND
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1089) Unqualified Opinion
289 There were no material issues noted during the audit of the financial statements of the
Fund.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS: AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

1090) Conclusion
290 There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1091). Conclusion

291 There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

NATIONAL HUMANITARIAN FUND
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Qualified Opinion
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292 Unsupported Payments To Internally Displaced Persons

1092) As disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements, the National Humanitarian Fund
made payments totaling Kshs.176,600,319.00 to Internally Displaced Persons (IDPs) under
cash payments programme in 2018/2019 financial year. However, supporting schedules
for the payments were not provided for audit review with Management indicating that the
banks requested for more time to collect the data from various branches that paid the IDPs.

1093) In the circumstances, it has not been possible to ascertain the propriety. of the
expenditure of Kshs.176,600,319.00 included under other grants and transfers. and
payments in the statement of receipts and payments for the year ended 30 Junge, 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1094) The Accounting Officer submitted it was true that Note 4 to the financial statements for
the National Humanitarian Fund disclosed payments totaling to Kshs.176,600,319.00 to
Internally Displaced Persons (IDP’S) under cash payment programme in 2018/19 financial
year. The banks requested for more time to collect data from various branches that paid the
IDPs. A 500 page soft copy was forwarded to your office for verification.

1095) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer had availed payment schedules
and bank statements which were verified and.found to be satisfactory; and
(if) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

293 Unaccounted for Advances

1096) The statement of financial assets and liabilities reflects outstanding imprests and
advances totaling Kshs.71,960,000.00 as at 30 June, 2019. As disclosed in Note 5B to the
financial statements; the outstanding advances of Kshs.68,960,000.00, Kshs.2,000,000.00
and Kshs.1,000,000.00 were issued to County Commissioners of Mandera, Nakuru and
Bomet respectively in" 2014/2015 financial year for onward transmission to the
beneficiaries (IDPs). However, no evidence has been provided as a proof that the funds
reached the.intended beneficiaries.

1097)-In.the circumstances, it has not been possible to ascertain the completeness, existence
and-accuracy of the imprests and advances balance of Kshs.71,960,000 as at 30 June, 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1098) The Accounting Officer submitted that the outstanding advances relate to Authority to
Incur Expenditures (AIEs) issued to County Commissioners of Mandera, Nakuru and
Bomet in 2014/2015 financial year by the Ministry of Devolution and Planning. Detailed
findings are as below:
a. Nakuru
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1099) The County Commissioner Nakuru received Kshs.2, 000,000.00 on 7" April 2016 vide
AIE no. 172760 being funds for construction of classrooms in two schools, Chebugen
primary school and Governor Secondary for supporting Internally Displaced Persons.
(IDPs). Kshs.1000,000.00 was spent on construction of classrooms at Governor Secondary
School, Naivasha. The balance of Kshs.1,000,000.00 was returned to the Ministry of
Devolution and Planning because the funds were for Chebugen School which is in Bomet.

b. Bomet

1100) The County Commissioner Bomet received Kshs.1,000,000.00 on 26" May 2016.Vide
AIE no. 631876 and a letter Ref: MDP/314/VOL.111/42 dated 16™ April 2016 being funds
for construction of classrooms in Chebugen Primary School for support of Internally
Displaced Persons (IDPS).

c. Mandera

1101) The County Commissioner Mandera received Kshs.68,690,000.00 vide AIE No.
A172757 for construction of 104 No. IDP housing units at Rhamu. A team of internal
auditors confirmed that the tendering process was in accordance-with the procurement laws
and that the 104 housing units were actually constructed.

1102) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the Accounting. Officer had availed copies of payment
vouchers with other supporting documents. for audit verification and found to be
satisfactory; and

(it) The Committee therefore marked the'matter as resolved.

294 Long Outstanding Bank Reconciliation Items

1103) As disclosed in-Note 5A to the financial statements, the statement of financial assets
and liabilities reflects cash and cash equivalent balance of Kshs.567,652,452.60 as at 30
June, 2019. A review of the bank reconciliation statements as at 30 June, 2019 revealed
payments totaling Kshs.582,888.00 in the cash book not yet recorded in the bank statement
and whichuincludes Pay As You Earn (PAYE) amounting to Kshs.438,000.00 which has
been. outstanding since 2017. The bank reconciliation statements also reflect payments
totalling Kshs.6,912,100.70 in the bank statement not yet recorded in the cash book which
have also been outstanding since 2017.

1104) No satisfactory explanation has been given for failure to clear the long outstanding
balances.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1105) The Accounting Officer submitted that the long outstanding bank reconciliation items
have been identified and cleared.
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1106) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer had availed copies of bank
reconciliation documents for audit verification and found to be satisfactory; and

(if) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

1107) Conclusion
295 There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use-of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1108) Conclusion
296 There were no material issues relating to<effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

- ]
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7. THE STATE DEPARTMENT FOR CORRECTIONAL SERVICES

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR VOTE 1023

Ms. Zainabu Hussein, the Accounting Officer for State Department of Correctional
Services (Vote 1023) appeared before the Committee on 2" June, 2021, to adduce
evidence on the Audited Financial Statements for State Department of Correctional
Services (Vote 1023) for the Financial Year 2018/2019. (Minutes of the Committee sittings
and submissions tabled by the Accounting Officer are annexed to this report).. She was
accompanied by the following officials:

1. Mr. Wycliffe O. Ogalo - Commissioner General,Prisons

2. Mr. Mwangi Daniel - Audit & Accounting Manager

3. Mr. Philip Mwangi - Senior Chief Finance Officer

4. Mr. Joseph Kirubi - Secretary Administration

5. Ms. Mary Mbau - Director Probation.& aftercare Services

6. Mr. David Muriithi - ASS. Comm. Prisons

7. Mr. Shadrack Kavuthi - Ass./Director Probation & Aftercare Services
8. Mr. Silas Mutwiri - Chief Insp. Prisons

9. Mr. Wyclife Muturi - Head of Internal Audit

10. Ms. Wairimu Thang’ate - SACGP

11. Mr. Joseph N. Mutevesi - SACGP

12. Mr. Samfantony Kyalo ~'SP — KPS

13. Mr. David Njoroge - Principal Supply Chain Management Officer
14. Ms. Nelly Njoroge - PS Office

And submitted as follows:
297. Unsupported Transfers from Development Vote to Deposits Account

1109) The statement of assets and liabilities reflects a balance of Kshs.130,469,777 under
accounts payables — deposits which includes an amount of Kshs.56,588,053 that was
transferred from the State Department’s Development Account to Deposits Account.
According to Management, the transfer was in relation to retention money withheld from
various contractors. However, no documentary evidence was provided for audit review to
confirm the contracts in respect of which the retention money was withheld, and the amount
deducted and withheld for each contract.

1110) In these circumstances, it was not possible to confirm the validity and accuracy of the
account payables — deposits balance of Kshs.130,469,777 as at 30 June, 2019.
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Submission by the Accounting Officer

1111) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the State Department Transferred
from Development Vote to Deposits Account an amount of Ksh.56,588,053.00. This
amount related to retention monies held by the Defunct Office of the Vice President and
Ministry of Home affair as at June, 2013. The amount held at the Central Bank of Kenya
vide account number 1000122099 was transferred to the exchequer account on 06 October,
2014 and the bank account closed. The State Department was advised vide National
treasury letter REF:AG. 3/176 Vol.1/24 dated 31st March, 2017 to request for budgetary
allocation.

1112) The balance after five years will be surrendered to the Exchequer asper the:PEM Act
Regulation 2015 which started from the financial year 2018/2019.

1113) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the unsupported
transfers from development vote to deposits account was satisfactory;
2) The Accounting Officer had provided all the'supporting documents including bank
slips, bank statements and letters of authority for audit verification; and
3) The Committee marked the matter asresolved.

Other Matters
298. Pending Bills

1114) Note 14 to the financial ~statements reflects pending bills amounting to
Kshs.6,278,208,687 as at 30 June, 2019 which were not settled in the year under review
but carried forward to 2019/2020 financial year. As further disclosed in Annex I to the
financial statements, the pending bills balance includes long outstanding unpaid bills
totalling to Kshs.6,212,289,160 and relating to 2017/2018 and earlier years. Failure to settle
bills in the:year to which they relate adversely affects the subsequent year's provisions to
which they have to be charged.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1115). The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the State Department’s pending
bills as at 30th June, 2018 amounted to Kes.6, 204,906,533.85. The pending bills are a
carryover from various financial years.

1116) Owing to the audit reports that declared the pending bills as non-payable due to the
internal weaknesses inherent in the claims, the State Department sort advice from the
National Treasury-Pending Bills Multi-Agency Task force. The amount of
Kes.6,204,906,533 was forwarded to the National Treasury pending bills closing

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 221



committee for further guidance vide the State Department’s letter to the National Treasury
Ref No: SDC/SEC/PRIS/11/40 dated 28th June 2019.

1117) The National Treasury Pending Bills Multi Agency team observed that as the bills do
not meet the criteria for payment as observed by the auditor. However since most of the
claims were lacking supporting documents that were supposed to be internally generated,
the PB- MAT advised that those lapses were due to internal weaknesses and therefore the
need to waive some of the requirements as per the Public Finance Management Act
(PFMA), Public Procurement and Disposal Act (PPDA) and other laws and regulations.

1118) The bills are to be paid subject to the criteria as below;
1. Evidence that the suppliers were qualified in the financial year'of the purported
supplies.

2. Evidence that the prices quoted were the same as in the prequalification.

3. Evidence that goods and services supplied were ordered for by the Officer In Charge
at the time.

4. Evidence that the goods and services were‘duly received by a competent officer at the
receiving station.

1119) The state department constituted teams under the direction of the PB-MAT for purposes
of vetting of suppliers, signing of indemnity form by the supplier, verification and
collection of the pending bills documents from Prison Stations countrywide.

1120) Funds amounting to. Ksh.5,724,820,121.00 were allocated in the 2019/2020
supplementary 2 budget with Ksh.5,625,320,121.00 for payment of pending bills and
Ksh.99,500,000.00 for operations. The funds were transferred from the voted provision
under recurrent to the Pending bills Deposit account on 29th June 2020 since it was at the
closure of the financial year 2019/2020.

1121) The National Treasury granted the authority to process the pending bills vide letter ref
TNT/IEMIS/MIN/094 (35) dated 13TH August 2020.

1122) The State Department started processing of the pending bills based on regions and has
made payments as below;

TOTAL LIST LESS
TREASURY PROCESSED PROCESSED
REGION LIST Kshs Kshs Kshs PAID Kshs
NORTH
EASTERN 118,320,682.40 | 106,901,790.00 | 11,418,892.40 79,260,919.65
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LOWER

EASTERN 214,966,113.90 | 120,365,404.00 | 94,600,709.90 53,434,984.55
UPPER

EASTERN 406,917,863.50 | 330,221,562.00 | 76,696,301.50 245,670,263.50
CENTRAL 436,517,122.50 | 369,213,561.80 | 67,303,560.70 205,652,176.80
SOUTH RIFT | 883,733,320.65 | 565,145,878.15 | 318,587,442.50 | 272,231,558.65
NYANZA 1,049,039,285.45 | 791,741,094.00 | 257,298,191.45 | 488,105,146.10
NAIROBI 996,537,046.85 | 654,303,720.75 | 342,233,326.10 \ | 308,525,188.20
NORTH RIFT | 452,769,909.25 | 200,522,811.50 | 252,247,097.75 ~ | 66,791,084.00
WESTERN 473,377,049.25 | 319,975,511.85 |.153,401,537.40 |-

COAST 1,168,651,754.10 | - 1,168,651,754.10 | -

TOTAL

HISTORICAL

BILLS PAID 6,200,830,147.85 | 3,458,391,334.05 | 2,742,438,813.80 | 1,719,671,321.45

1123) Challenges in implementation of the payment process

1. The suppliers in the stations countrywide were not on IFMIS and upon registration,
information gaps relating'to PIN became evident. The suppliers have to comply with the
Kenya Revenue Authority to.updates the supplier PIN numbers thus taking time.

2. Information gaps in supplier bank account details as some of the supplier bank accounts

were dormant and had to be activated by the suppliers.

3. Supplier invoices that were partly paid and therefore taking time to reconcile.

4. Bulky documents supporting the claims on perishables which are supplied frequently in
small quantities but invoiced periodically thus taking time to reconcile.

5. The State Department verified 20,000 claims from the stations countrywide.

1124) The state Department is committed to resolving all the historical pending bills that meet
the set criteria by the PB-MAT and approved by the Cabinet. The Department cleared its
pending bills incurred in the financial years 2018/2019 and 2019/2020 in the following
financial year’s budget allocations in both cases.

Committee Observations and Findings
1125) The Committee observed and found that:
1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the settlement of the
pending bills was satisfactory;
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2) The bills were being settled progressively on clearance by the Taskforce on Pending
Bills and in line with the Cabinet Memo; and
3) The matter therefore remained unresolved.

1126) The Committee recommended that:

The Accounting Officer should ensure that pending bills in any financial year are avoided
at all cost. Where pending bills are unavoidable they should form the first charge in“the
budget of the subsequent year.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
Basis for Conclusion
299. Irregular Procurement Process

1127) Contracts records and tender evaluation reports-for various construction projects
maintained at the State Department for Correctional Services show that contracts worth
Kshs.170,721,762 were awarded to various contractors during the year under review.
However, an audit review of the Tender Opening and Evaluation Committees appointment
letter dated 22 November, 2017 revealed.that nine members were appointed to participate
in both the Opening and Evaluation Committees contrary to Section 78(1) of the Public
Procurement and Asset Disposal Act, 2015, which require that at least one of the members
shall not be directly involved in‘the processing or evaluation of the tenders. Further, audit
review of the bid documents.submitted by the bidders revealed that some of the contractors
did not have the technical specifications and structural designs for the buildings. In the
absence of the architectural designs and other technical specifications, the bidders could
not compete openly, fairly ‘and effectively with the other bidders contrary to the
requirements of Section.60(1) and (2) of the Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act,
2015. In addition, examination of the proposed construction contract records and tender
documents revealedthat the contractors did not submit performance security bond or tender
securities as prescribed in the tender documents.

1128). In"the circumstances, the provisions of Public Procurement and Asset Disposal Act,
2015 were not fully complied with as regards the contracts worth Kshs.170,721,762.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1129) The Accounting Officer submitted that it in reference to the appointment letter of
opening and evaluation committee for Restricted Tenders dated 22nd November, 2017 the
appointment of the same members to carry out the opening and evaluation was an oversight.
The State Department has ensured adherence to the Public Procurement and Disposal Act
2015, by appointing separate tender opening and evaluation committee members from
2018/2019 financial year onward.
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1130) It was true that the records maintained at the State Department show that contracts
amounting to Kes.170,721,762 were awarded to various contractors. During the audit the
bid documents were at the site stations. The technical specification and structural designs
for the missing contractors were later issued to the auditors for verification.

1131) In reference to performance security bond or tender security as prescribed in the tender
document the procuring entity did not request the winning firm to provide a performance
bond as prescribed in the bid document which was an oversight and has_since been
corrected.

1132) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with. regard to the irregular
procurement process was satisfactory;
2) All procurement processes have been centralized and streamlined for all the 129
centres across the Country; and
3) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

1133) The Committee recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations are done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the auditor general within three months
after close of the Financial Year asprovided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1134) Conclusion

300. There were..no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

PRISON INDUSTRIES REVOLVING FUND

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Qualified Opinion

301. Pay Master General (P.M.G) Account
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1135) The statement of financial position reflects a balance of Kshs.175,987,430 under Pay
Master General (P.M.G) Account. The balance represents amounts held on behalf of the
Fund in the former Ministry of Home Affairs Deposits Account which was yet to be
transferred to the Fund’s new account as at 30 June, 2019. In addition, documentary
evidence including bank certificates and bank reconciliation statements for the said deposits
account have not been provided to support this balance.

1136) In the circumstances, the existence, completeness and accuracy of the P.M.G Account
balance of Kshs.175,987,430 as at 30 June, 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1137) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that Prison Industries Fund PMG had
a closing account balance of Kshs.175,987,430.00 as at 30th June, 2019 which includes
funds not yet transferred from former Ministry Of Home Affairs (MOHA) deposit account
to the Ministry of Interior and Co-ordination. Moreover, it’s important to note that both
Farms and Industries operate one bank account where ‘all the revenues collected are
deposited.

PMG BALANCES

TOTAL PMG

INDUSTRIES | FARMS BAL

2013/2014 | Bal B/F 1st July 2013 | 119,965,675:51 56,021,755.07 | 175,987,430.58

Add revenue for (1st

July - 30th Oct) 155,336,405.00 18,634,357.35 | 173,970,762.35

2013/2014

275,302,080.51 | 74,656,112.42 | 349,958,192.93

Less: amounts transferred to Ministry

:;I‘(I)n:'epr\lor&Coord fund account from (92.135.930.55) (26,589,743.85) | (118,725,674.40)

Bal. as at 30th Oct 2013 175,987,430.00 | 56,021,755.07 231,232,518.53

1138) During the financial year 2012-2013, books of account for both Prison Industries and
Farms reflected-the balance in the PMG as follows: -

Prison.Industries Kshs. 119,965,675.51
Prison Farms Kshs. 56,021,755.00
Total Kshs. 175,987,430.51

1139) This balance was not reconciled by the then Ministry of Home Affairs who was the
administrator of the account. During the financial year 2013-14 the management of the
fund was transferred to the Ministry of Interior and Co-ordination of National Government
where KPS is currently domiciled. The deposit account was put on suspension between 1st
July — 30th October, 2013. During this period, prison farms and industries were depositing
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revenue at the suspended deposits account. A separate bank account under the name Prison
Industries Fund (PIF) was opened by the Ministry of Interior and Co-ordination of National
Government on 3rd October, 2013.

1140) As from 1st July, 2013 to 31st October, 2013 both prison industries and prison farms
had generated and deposited revenue in the suspended MOHA Deposit Account as follows:

Prison Industries Kshs.  155,336,405.00
Prison Farms Kshs. 18,634,357.35
Total Kshs. 173, 970,762.35

1141) During the transfer of Prison farms and industries funds from MOHA to Interior and
Co-ordination of National Government, reconciliation of the depositaccount for the period
July — October 2013 confirmed that both Prison Industries and Farms had deposited
Kshs.173,970,762.35. The amount transferred to the new prison industries fund account
was Kshs.118,725,674.40 only as tabulated below, leaving a balance of
Kshs.55,245,087.95.

Prison Industries Kshs. 92,135,930.55
Prison Farms Kshs. 26,589,743.85
Total Kshs. 118,725,674.40

1142) The remaining balance not transferred to the new PIF Account is as below:

Balance of revenue raised during2013/2014 Kshs.  55,245,087.95
PMG balance b/f 1% July, 2013 Kshs.  175,987,430.51
Total Kshs. 231, 232,518.46

1143) During the transfer of funds from MOHA to the Ministry of Interior and Co-ordination
only Kshs.118,725,674.40 was transferred to the new deposit account leaving balance of
Kshs.55,245,087.95 and the closing balance of Kshs.175,987,430.51 as at 30th June, 2013
totaling to Kshs.231,232,518.46 which was not transferred to the new Industries Fund
account.

1144) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the Pay Master
General (P.M.G) Account was not satisfactory;
2) No evidence of correspondences was provided for any verification whatsoever; and
3) The matter therefore remained unresolved.

1145) The Committee recommended that:
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1) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he avails supporting
documentation to the financial statements within (3) three months after the end of
the financial year pursuant to section 68 (2) (k) of the PFM Act 2012.

2) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he prepares and keeps proper
accounting records in line with the provisions of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act,
2012.

3) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he provides accurate records
and other supporting documents pursuant to Section 9 (1) (e) of the Public Audit
Act, 2015.

302. Cash In Transit

1146) As disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements, the statement of financial position
reflects a balance of Kshs.30,318,827 in respect of cash in transit as at 30 June, 2019.
Although the same amount was also reflected in the previous year’s financial statements,
no documentary evidence has been provided to support the balance of Kshs.30,318,827.

1147) Consequently, the existence, validity and-accuracy of the cash in transit balance of
Kshs.30,318,327 as at 30 June, 2019 could.not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1148) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the Statement of Financial
position reflects a balance of Ksh.30,318,827.00 against cash in transit as at 30 June 2019.
This is revenue collected from sale of manufactured products receipted but not yet
deposited to the fund account. The cash is being held up in unpaid recurrent payment
vouchers which form part of the historical pending bills that are currently being processed.

1149) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the cash in transit was
satisfactory;
2)..Documents in support of the cash in transit were provided for audit verification; and
3) “The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

Other Matter
303. Budget Control and Performance

1150) The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts reveals that the Prison
Industries Revolving Fund realized an actual revenue amount of Kshs.444,535,245 or 86%
against budgeted revenues of Kshs.517,092,226. Further, the statement indicates that the
Fund utilized an amount of Kshs.251,351,321 which represents 51% of the budget
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expenditure figure of Kshs.493,797,982, resulting to an under expenditure of
Kshs.242,446,661 which represents 49% of the budgeted expenditure. Consequently, the
Fund may not have implemented all programs and work plans fully as approved in the
budget.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1151) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true the statement of comparison of
budget and actual amounts revealed that the prison industries budget for 2018/2019
financial year was Kshs.493,797,981.84 and the total expenditure as at 30th June 2019 was
Kshs.251,351,321.00 which was an under expenditure.

1152) Prison Industries revolving fund rely on cash collected from the revolving fund income
generating activities.

1153) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the Budget Control
and Performance was satisfactory;
2) There was no under expenditure as the funds were not received; and
3) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

1154) The Committee recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all'times ensure that reconciliations are done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the auditor general within three months
after close of the Financial Yearas provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government).Regulations 2015.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES
Basis for Conclusion

304. Stalled Project for Production of Modern Motorized Vehicle Number Plates and
Supply and Delivery of Motorized Vehicle Number Plate Blanks

1155) An audit inspection done on 25 September, 2019 and a review of records at Kamiti
Main Prison Industry revealed that machines for producing modern motorized vehicle
number plates which were supplied and delivered in the year 2016 at a cost of
Kshs.15,295,500 had never been used for the intended purpose and remained idle. In
addition, a three-year contract for supply and delivery of motorized vehicle number plate
blanks was signed on 7 November, 2017 and executed. However, the raw materials
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(motorized vehicle number plate blanks) delivered, were still held at the Kamiti Main
Prison Industry stores.

1156) In the circumstances, and although the Fund’s Management indicated that the matter is
under investigation, value for money has not been achieved owing to the delay in
implementing the project.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1157) The Accounting Officer submitted that the State Department started the process of
modernizing number plate production in 2014 but the process has faced various challenges
including securing funds and unending litigation.

1158) Indeed, some of the machines were procured and installed in 2016 at a cost of
Kshs.15,295,500.00. However, the process was not completed due to lack of the laser
marking machine used for final validation of number plates.

1159) Currently, the matter is under litigation in the High Court vide case No.
HCCOMM/E321/2020.

1160) Committee Observations and Findings

The Committee observed and found that:

1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the Stalled Project for
Production of Modern Motorized Vehicle'Number Plates and Supply and Delivery of
Motorized Vehicle Number Plate Blanks was satisfactory;

2) Evidence of claims and-the copy of the defense by the Attorney General was provided
for audit verification; and

3) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

1161) The Committee recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations are done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the auditor general within three months
after close of the Financial Year as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the' Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.

305. Unequal treatment of Suppliers

1162) A review of payments registers at the Prisons Headquarters for the financial year
2018/2019 revealed that out of invoices totalling Kshs.238,601,175 submitted to the State
Department of Correctional Services Headquarters for payment, invoices amounting to
only Kshs.102,671,940 were paid during the vyear, leaving pending bills of
Kshs.135,929,235.
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1163) Further, out of the seventy-four (74) suppliers, only twelve (12) suppliers were paid
during the year. However, reasons for prioritizing the payments of Kshs.102,671,940 to the
twelve (12) suppliers were not clearly explained by Management. It would, therefore,
appear that there was unequal treatment of suppliers contrary to the provisions of Article
227(1) of the Constitution which requires a state organ or any other public entity that enters
into a contract for supply of goods or provision of services to ensure that the system used
is fair, equitable, transparent, competitive and cost- effective.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1164) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that during the financial year
2018/19, Prison Industries forwarded for payment invoices [ amounting to
Ksh.238,601,175.00 to the State Department Headquarters. Payments amounting to
Kshs.102,671,940.00 were made and reflected in the Prison Fund’s bank account statement.
The unpaid invoices amounting to Kshs.135,929,235.00 were processed late and therefore
could not be settled before 30th June 2019. Management has managed to settle
Kshs.97,782,135.00 leaving a balance of Kshs.38,147,100.00. The State Department is
carrying out due diligence before the balance is settled.

1165) Committee Observations and Findings
The Committee observed and found that:
1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the unequal treatment
of suppliers was satisfactory;
2) The Accounting Officer provided all the supporting documents including bank slips,
bank statements and payment vouchers for audit verification; and
3) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1166) Conclusion
306. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

PRISON FARMS REVOLVING FUND
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis for Qualified Opinion

307. Unsupported and unreconciled Pay Master General (PMG) account balance.

1167) The statement of financial position as at 30 June, 2019 reflects a Pay Master General
(P.M.G.) Account balance of Kshs.56,021,755 while the corresponding Note 11 to the
financial statements show a P.M.G. balance of Kshs.95,825,187. The resulting difference
of Kshs.39,803,432 has not been supported, reconciled or explained.
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1168) Further, Note 11 to the financial statements indicates that the P.M.G. Account
represents the amount held in the Ministry’s Deposit Account on behalf of the Fund.
However, the Ministry's Deposit Bank Account had a balance of Kshs.65,939,663 instead
of Kshs.56,021,755 as at 30 June, 2019. The resulting difference of Kshs.9,917,908 has not
been analyzed or explained.

1169) Under the circumstances, the completeness and accuracy of the P.M.G. Account
balance of Kshs.56,021,755 as at 30 June, 2019 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1170) The Accounting Officer submitted that the statement of financial position as at 30th
June 2019 reflects an amount of Ksh.56,021,755. This figure has been disclosed in the notes
attached to the financial statements as the amount that is held in the Ministry’s Deposits
account on behalf of the fund. However, note 11 to the financial statements reflect a balance
of Ksh.95,825,096.70 which is the balance of cash and cash equivalents.

1171) PMG Account represents the amount held in the State Department’s Fund Account. It
represents the unspent income from all stations and deposited with the Ministry of Home
Affairs as show below;

1172) Cash And Cash Equivalents

Description 30th June 2018 30th June 2019
Opening balance 57,504,034.00 |2,112,235.70
sales (cash) 147,729,111.80 120,108,202.00
Total Cash & Cash

Equivalents 205,233,145.80 122,220,437.70
Less: General Expenditures 130,699,065.00 26,395,341.00
Payment to creditors 16,400,000.00 -
Totalpayments 147,099,065.00 26,395,341.00
Net cash 58,134,080.80 | 95,825,096.70

Committee Observations and Findings
1173) The Committee observed and found that:
(i) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the Pay Master
General (P.M.G) Account was not satisfactory;
(i1) No evidence of correspondences was provided for any verification whatsoever; and
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(iii) The matter therefore remained unresolved.

1174) The Committee recommended that:

1) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he avails supporting
documentation to the financial statements within (3) three months after the end of
the financial year pursuant to section 68 (2) (k) of the PFM Act 2012.

2) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he prepares and keeps proper
accounting records in line with the provisions of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act,
2012.

3) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he provides accurate records
and other supporting documents pursuant to Section 9 (1) (e) of the Public Audit
Act, 2015.

308. Suspense Account

1175) The statement of financial position as at 30 June, 2019 also reflects a balance of
Kshs.5,809,155 under suspense account, which has not been _analysed or supported by
verifiable source documents as required under Regulation 107 of the Public Finance
Management (National Government) Regulations, 2015.

1176) Consequently, the completeness and .accuracy of the suspense account balance of
Kshs.5,809,155 as at 30 June, 2019 could not.be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1177) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true Fund’s annual report and financial
statement for the year ended 30th June, 2019 reflected a suspense account of Ksh.5,
809,155.33. The suspense account balance had been created by imperfect stock valuation
records from field stations.

1178) The stock valuation of growing crops was overstated by Ksh.5, 809,155.33 resulting to
a difference of Ksh.5,809,155.33 which has been corrected in the 2019/2020 financial
statements.as below.

Debit Credit

Suspense account Kshs.5, 809,155.33.

Growing crops Kshs.5, 809,155.33.

1179) Management has embraced stringent measures to ensure accurate stock taking
procedures are adhered to.

Committee Observations and Findings
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1180) The Committee observed and found that:
1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the suspense account
was satisfactory;
2) The Accounting Officer had provided all the supporting documents including bank
slips, bank statements and trial balances for audit verification; and
3) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

1181) The Committee recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations are done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the auditor general within three months
after close of the Financial Year as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h),.and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.

Other Matter

309. Pending Bills (Debtors)

1182) The statement of financial position and Note 8 to the financial statements reflects
debtors (pending bills) totalling Kshs.156,459,707 ‘as at 30 June, 2019, an increase of
Kshs.8,445,486 from Kshs.148,014,221 as at .30 June, 2018. These bills were not settled in
the year under review but were instead carried forward to 2019/2020 financial year. Failure
to settle bills during the year ta which they relate distorts the financial statements for that
year and adversely affects the provisions of the subsequent year to which they have to be
charged.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1183) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true that the state department’s financial
statements of prison Farms had pending bill payable amounting to Kshs.156,459,706.77 as
at 30th June 2019 that were not settled in 2018/2019 financial year but were instead carried
forward t0.2019/2020.

1184) . The debts were incurred and due diligence had to be exercised before settlement of the
historical pending bills which had not been completed by 30th June 2019. Currently the
bills are under consideration for settlement in the ongoing payment of pending bills for
food and ration.

Committee Observations and Findings
1185) The Committee observed and found that:
(i) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the pending bills
(Debtors) was satisfactory;
(if) The Accounting Officer provided all the supporting documents including minutes of
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the taskforce on pending bills for audit verification; and
(iii)) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

1186) The Committee recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations are done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the auditor general within three months
after close of the Financial Year as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.

310. Budget Control and Performance

1187) The statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year ended 30 June,
2019 reflects the Fund's projected sundry revenue of Kshs.252,300,000. However, the
actual sundry revenue collected in 2018/2019 financial year. ‘amounted to
Kshs.120,108,202, resulting in an under-collection of Kshs.132,191,798 or a 52.4%
shortfall. Further, the Fund’s projected expenditure for the year 2018/2019 was
Kshs.201,750,000 while the actual expenditure was Kshs.26,297,241, resulting in an under-
expenditure of Kshs.175,452,759 or 87% of the budgeted expenditure.

1188) The Fund did not therefore, fully implement its programs and work plans as approved
in the budget.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1189) The Accounting Officer submitted-that Prison farm revolving fund budget does not
depend on exchequer from-National Treasury. It is funded from income raised by prison
farms country wide. The budgeted expenditure of Kshs.201,750,000.00 was projected to
raise budgeted revenue of Kshs.252,300,000.00 which was not realized to uncertain
weather conditions in “the country. This led to the actual expenditure being
Kshs.26,297,241.00 against an actual collection of Kshs.120,108,202.79 in revenue.

Committee'Observations and Findings
1190) The Committee observed and found that:
(1) The explanation given by the Accounting Officer with regard to the Budget Control
and Performance for the Prison farm revolving fund was satisfactory; and
(ii) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

1191) The Committee recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations are done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the auditor general within three months
after close of the Financial Year as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.
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REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

1192) Conclusion
311. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1193) Conclusion
312. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness .of internal® controls, risk
management and governance.

- ]
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8. STATE DEPARTEMNT FOR IMMIGRATION AND CITIZEN SERVICES
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR VOTE - 1024

Dr. Eng. Karanja Kibicho, the Accounting Officer for the State Department of Interior
(Vote 1021) appeared before the Committee on 10t May, 2021 to adduce evidence on the
audited financial statement for the State Department of Interior (Vote 1021) for . the
Financial Year 2018/2019. (Minutes of the Committee sittings and submissions tabled by
the Accounting Officer are annexed to this report). He was accompanied by the following
officials:

1. Mr. Alex Muteshi - Director General Citizen Services &
Immigration

2. Ms. Alice W. Gichu - Senior Chief Finance Officer

3. Ms. Loise Kibicho - Assistant Accountant General

4. Mr. James K. Karori - Director AG

5. Mr. David Mutia - Senior Principal Finance Officer

6. Ms. Elizabeth W. Kiano - DIAG

7. Mr. Peter N. Muita - Chief Finance Officer

8. Mr. Joseph Macharia - Finance Officer

9. Ms. Catherine Njeri - Finance Officer

Basis for Qualified Opinion
313. Unsupported Confidential Expenditure

1194) During the financial year, the State Department for Immigration and Citizen Services
incurred a confidential expenditure under item 2211312, totalling Kshs.29,450,750.
However, the expenditure was not supported by a certificate or a declaration by the Cabinet
Secretary and Accounting Officer, contrary to the requirements under Regulation 101 (5)
of the Public Finance Management (National Government) Regulations, 2015. Further, no
documentary.evidence was provided to support an expenditure of Kshs.722,500 out of the
total confidential expenditure of Kshs.29,450,750.

1195) Consequently, it has not been possible to ascertain the propriety of the confidential
expenditure of Kshs.29,450,750 incurred during the year ended 30 June, 2019.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
1196) The Accounting Officer submitted that the certificates were subsequently prepared and

submitted to auditors for verification.

1197) Committee Observations and Findings
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(i) The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer had availed copies of payment
vouchers with other supporting documents for audit verification and found to be
satisfactory; and

(if) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

Other Matter
314. Pending Bills

1198) Disclosed in Note 11.1 to the financial statements are pending bills totalling
Kshs.210,887,020 which were not settled during the year but were carried forward to
2019/2020 financial year. Had these bills been settled and the expenditure charged to the
relevant accounts for 2018/2019, the statement of receipts and payments for the year would
have reflected a deficit of Kshs.177,032,944 instead of the surplus of Kshs.33,854,076 now
shown.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1199) The Accounting Officer submitted that the department received Ksh.3,368,295,653.00
exchequer instead of Ksh.3,714,083,698.00 approved budget hence the reason for pending
bills.

1200) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer had cleared all the pending Bills and
availed supporting documentsfor audit verification and found to be satisfactory; and

(if) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

1201) Conclusion
315. There were no. material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources.

REPORT.ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT AND
GOVERNANCE

Basis for Conclusion
316. Lack of ICT Policy Documents

1202) The State Department for Immigration and Citizen Services did not have an approved
ICT Policy, ICT strategic plan and a disaster recovery plan during the year under review.
This is contrary to Treasury Circular No. 03/2009; Ref: MOF/IAG/033(75) requires that
government entities/agencies to, among other things, develop and establish Risk
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Management Policy and Framework (RMPF) to guide its strategic and operational
activities.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1203) The Accounting Officer submitted that it was true the State Department for Immigration
did not have an approved ICT policy, strategic plan and disaster recovery plan during the
year under review. It was assumed that the document containing the above policiesis
maintained at the ICT Ministry as the funds to facilitate their actualization are domiciled
there. However, after the importance of the policy document was raised by the auditor, an
ICT Steering committee whose terms of reference (TOR) are and not limited to coming up
with a document addressing the above policies was constituted. As a result the team come
up with the ICT Policy document which was approved on 30th September 2020.

1204) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the ICT policy document had been approved and
subsequently availed for audit verification; and

(if) The Committee therefore marked the matter as resolved.

REVENUE STATEMENTS - STATE DEPARTMENT FOR IMMIGRATION AND
CITIZEN SERVICES

REPORT ON THE REVENUE STATEMENTS

1205) Unqualified Opinion
317. There were no material issues noted during the audit of the revenue statements of the State
Department.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC RESOURCES

1206) Conclusion
318. There were no material issues relating to lawfulness and effectiveness in use of public
resources:

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

1207) Conclusion
319. There were no material issues relating to effectiveness of internal controls, risk
management and governance.

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 239



9. STATE DEPARTMENT FOR DEVOLUTION
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR VOTE 1032

Mr. Julius Korir, the Principal Secretary and Accounting Officer for State Department
of Devolution (Vote 1032) appeared before the Committee on 25™" May, 2021 to adduce
evidence on the Audited Financial Statements for State Department of Devolution (Vote
1032) for the Financial Year 2018/2019. (Minutes of the Committee sittings and
submissions tabled by the Accounting Officer are annexed to this report). He.was
accompanied by the following officials:

1. Ms. Kula H. Hache - Secretary Administration

2. Mr. Kerandi Sarah - Chief Finance Officer

3. Mr. Moses Mwang Macharia - Senior Accountant

4. Mr. Johnson Njuguna - Deputy Accountant General

5. Ms. Lisa Nkatha - Ass. Director Supply Chain

6. Mr. Isaac Githui - Secretary Relief & Rehabilitation
7. Mr. Nyambati Kenedy - Director.CB

8. Ms. Emmy M’mbwanga - Project Manager PPEAS

320. Use of Goods and Services
320.1 Printing and Advertising

1208) The statement of receipts'and payments for the year ended 30 June, 2019 reflects a
figure of Ksh.1,511,465,264 in respect of use of goods and services during the year ended
30 June, 2019. Included in.this figure is Ksh.2,321,300 relating to printing, advertising and
information supplies and services. However, Expenditure in relation to domestic travel and
staff welfare amounting to Ksh.217,000 and Kshs.50,000 were wrongly classified under
printing;. advertising and information supplies leading to wrong classification and
overstatement of the expense.

1209). Further Printing, advertising and information supplies and service expenditure includes
a payment of Ksh.252,100 in respect of cancellation of tenders for an activity that was not
included in the approved annual procurement plan for the year 2018/2019. The purchase
order for procurement of the cancellation of advertisement was dated 26 October, 2018
while the services had been procured and rendered in September, 2018.

1210) In addition, the State Department did not utilize the services of the Government
Advertising Agency in breach of Circular Ref. No. OP/CAB.58/4A dated 8 February, 2017
from the Executive Office of the President which provides that any officer found violating
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this requirement will be liable to a surcharge of the amount spent besides other disciplinary
action.

1211) Consequently, the propriety, and accuracy of expenditure of Ksh.2,321,300 incurred on
printing advertising and information and supplies services could not be confirmed.

1212) Submission by the Accounting Officer

i.  The Accounting Officer admitted that the two payment vouchers of Ksh.217,000 (PV
No 4870) and Ksh.50,000 (PV NO 4806) being refund of DSA and reimbursement of
Burial Expense respectively were erroneously charged to printing and. advertising
account. The expenditure has since been adjusted and charged to the correct expenditure
items through journal voucher (JE). The adjustment was effected in the amended
financial statements. The relevant support documents were availed for perusal by the
Committee.

ii.  Printing and advertising —Ksh.252,100
a) The activity was approved in the Procurement plan for the-year 2018/19 FY. This was
done through the procurement plan IFMIS Iltem code for advertising (S000000068)
which is general in nature and caters for all adverts that the ministry had planned for
the Financial Year. This included advertsfor relief interventions. The Procurement plan
is usually updated as and when required. based on budgetary provisions and/or
adjustments.

b) The cancellation of tenders and failure to utilize the Government Advertising Agency
(GAA) was occasioned by;

e Reorganization of government via Executive Order No. 1 of 2018 (dated 5™ June, 2018)
which transferred the Mandate for Special Programmes, Food Relief Management and
Humanitarian Emergency response from State Department for ASAL to the State
Department for Devolution. Consequently, the accounting officer directed the
cancellation the advertisement to enable the full implementation of the Executive Order
and also.comply with the Executive Order on Procurement of Public Goods, Works and
Services by Public Entities issued on 13th June, 2018.

e - The Government Advertising Agency (GAA) pull out is normally printed weekly and
on Tuesdays only. Humanitarian Emergency response was required as per NDMA
report.

1213) This informed the decision to advertise outside the GAA. However, necessary
approval was sought from the Accounting Officer and the advertisement appeared on
Wednesday, 27" June, 2018.

c) The issue of disparity of the dates on the purchase order was occasioned by frequent
IFMIS downtimes and due to the urgency of this procurement, provisional manual LSO
was issued that was later regularized online when the IFMIS challenges were addressed.
Annex 320.1c
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1214) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the explanation given by the Accounting Officer with
regards to Printing and Advertisement was satisfactory;

(i)  The Committee further observed that the expenditure had been adjusted and charged to
the correct expenditure item through journal voucher (JE) and adjustment was equally
effected in the amended financial statement;

(iii) The Committee also observed that the IFIMIS procurement plan, the Executive Order
and NDMA report were availed for audit verification and found satisfactory; and

(iv) The Committee marked the matter as resolved.

1215) The Committee Recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations.are.done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the auditor general within three months
after close of the Financial Year as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.

320.2 Foreign Travel and Subsistence Allowance

1216) The statement of receipts and payments reflects a balance of Kshs.1,511,465,264 under
use of goods and services which includes an amount of Kshs.3,409,006 relating to foreign
travel and subsistence, out of which payments totaling Kshs.2,481,400 related to activities
within the Country and were therefore, misclassified.

1217) Under the circumstances, the accuracy and validity of foreign travel and subsistence
expenditure of Ksh.3,409,006 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1218) The“Accounting Officer admitted that payments relating to domestic travel of
Ksh:2,481,400 was erroneously charged and misclassified as foreign travel. This erroneous
posting.was-corrected through a Journal voucher and posted to the appropriate expenditure
item for domestic travel account. This anomaly was subsequently adjusted in the revised
Financial Statements.

1219) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the explanation given by the Accounting Officer with
regards to Printing and Advertisement was satisfactory;

(i) The Committee further observed that the expenditure has since been adjusted and
charged to the correct expenditure item through journal voucher (JE) and adjustment
was equally effected in the amended financial statement

(ili) The Committee marked the matter as resolved.

Report on the Examination of the Report of the Auditor-General on the Financial Statements for the National Government for the Year
ended 30" June 2019 Page 242



1220) The Committee Recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations are done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the Auditor General within three months
after close of the Financial Year as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.

320.3 Rental of Produced Assets

1221) As disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements, the statement of receipts and
payments reflects a balance of Kshs.1,511,465,264 under use of goods and services which
includes an amount of Kshs.71,935,923 relating to rentals of produced assets. However, an
examination of the account revealed that an amount of Kshs.17,473,411 was charged to
acquisition of assets leading to understatement of the expenditure and misclassification of
the same. Further, the State Department for Devolution-paid.a total of Kshs.14,789,215 in
respect of 20th floor offices at Teleposta Towers occupied by the National Consultative
Coordination Committee (NCCC) that is not part of the State Department.

1222) Consequently, the accuracy and propriety of rental of produced assets expenditure of
Ksh.71,953,923 could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer
(i) The Accounting Officer admitted-that an amount of Ksh.17,473,411.45 was erroneously
paid under acquisition of/Assets. The expenditure was subsequently adjusted and charged
to the account 2210603.under Rentals of produced assets
(i) Appropriate account under other operating expenses. These changes were subsequently
incorporated in the revised Financial Statements. The support documents, including a
journal voucher was availed for perusal by the Committee
(iii) The National Consultative Coordination Committee (NCCC) who occupy a portion of
20th floor was until the issuance of Executive Order NO 1 of 2016 a Department within
the State Department of Devolution in the then Ministry of Devolution and Planning.
However, following release of the aforementioned Order NCCC was moved to the State
Department of Interior and Coordination of National Government.

1223) In spite of this reorganization NCCC continued to occupy 20th Floor offices. It is worth
noting that the State Department for devolution had entered into a lease agreement with the
landlord (teleposta Pension Scheme) on 1st February, 2015. The lease was to run from 1st
may 2016 to 31st January 2021.

Legal obligation on the 20™" Floor rent and service charge
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1224) The State Department of Housing and the Ministry’s legal unit vide letter ref
PW/1/1/1/209/16954/94 dated 8th June 2018, advised that our Department is legally bound
to pay rent and service charge for the leased area on 20th floor (3993 sqft) in accordance
with the terms of lease agreement. Payment of Ksh.14,789,215.85by the state Department
for Devolution in respect of rent and service charge was therefore a legal obligation that
had to be settled.

Current status of the 20th Floor
1225) The Accounting Officer submitted that the office space in 20" floor is currently

occupied by
. State department for devolution- department for relief and special programs
. National Consultative Coordination Committee (under ministry of interior)
. Ministry of interior and coordination of national government

1226) The State Department has continued to engage the state department for Interior to
release the office space for use by the Department. The Accounting Officer confirmed that
all the offices have now been released to the state department for devolution.

1227) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The Committee observed that the explanation given by the Accounting Officer with
regards Rental of Produced Asset was persuasive;
(i) The Committee marked the matter as resolved.

1228) The Committee Recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at-all times ensure that he avail supporting documentation
to the financial statements within'(3) three months after the end of the financial year
pursuant to section 68 (2) (k) of the PFM Act 2012.

320.4 Specialized Materials and Services

1229) The statement of receipts and payments reflects an expenditure of Kshs.1,511,465,264
in respect of use of goods and services, out of which Kshs.6,192,400 related to purchase of
specialized materials and services. However, expenditure totaling to Kshs.5,596,200 was
not supported. The unsupported expenditure includes AIE amounting to Kshs.5,000,000
indicated as transfer of funds to the State Department for Crops for onward transmission to
Strategic Food Reserve (SFR). The amount was expensed upon transfer as no returns were
availed from the State Department for Crops showing how the funds were utilized. As a
result, it could not be confirmed that the funds were used for the desired purpose. Further,
there was no confirmation of receipt of Kshs.5,000,000 from the State Department for
Crops

Submission by the Accounting Officer
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1230) The Accounting Officer admitted that Ksh.5,000,000 relate an AIE issued to the State
department of Crop Development to facilitate funds transfer to Strategic Food Reserve
(SFR). This amount was a part of SFR 2018/2019 FY total budget of
Kshs1,533,966,822.00. Executive Order No. 1 of June 2018 placed SFR under the State
Department for Devolution.

1231) However, following reorganization of the Government vide Executive Order No/1 of
June 2018(revised) SFR was moved to State Department of Crop Development. It was
expected that SFR funds would be transferred to the Parent state department for Crop
Development in 2018/2019 FY supplementary Estimates NO1, but this was not effected.
Under the circumstances the state department for Devolution released the funds through an
A.l.E to ensure that the funds were available to SFR to carry out its mandate and functions.

1232) The State Department of Crop Development received and. confirmed receipt of the
funds

1233) The Accounting Officer submitted that no goods or services-was procured by the state
department using SFR funds. The total budget was transferred to the state department of
crops development. The ministry has written to‘the state department for crops development
to submit the resultant expenditure returns. The ministry has since written a reminder letter
on the same.

1234) 1t is worth noting that SFR is a self-reporting fund that presents its set of Financial
Statements through its line Ministry and-submits to the office of the auditor general.

1235) Committee Observations and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep proper
accounting records-in‘contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;

(i)  The Committee further observed that during the audit, the Accounting Officer failed to
provide accurate records and other supporting documents in breach of Section 9 (1) (e)
of the.Public Audit Act, 2015;

(iii) The Committee Also observed that the returns have not been availed by Accounting
Officer to date two years later; and

(iv) ~.The matter therefore remained unresolved.

1236)° The Committee Recommended that:

1) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he avail supporting
documentation to the financial statements within (3) three months after the end of
the financial year pursuant to section 68 (2) (k) of the PFM Act 2012.

2) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he prepare and keep proper
accounting records in line with the provisions of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act,
2012.
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3) The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that he/she provides accurate
records and other supporting documents pursuant to Section 9 (1) (e) of the Public
Audit Act, 2015.

321. Account Receivables

1237) Asdisclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements, the statement of assets and liabilities
reflects a balance of Kshs.22,083,520 under accounts receivables which includes an amount
of Kshs.21,964,820 relating to district suspense. However, the breakdown of the district
suspense was not availed for audit review. In addition, AIEs totaling Ksh.16,200,000
issued to various Counties more than two months before the year end, had not been
surrendered.

1238) Assuch, the accuracy of the receivables balance of Kshs.22,964,820 as at 30 June, 2019
could not be confirmed.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1239) The Accounting Officer admitted that an amount totaling Kshs.21,964,820 included in
the amount receivable of Kshs.22,083,520 relate to district suspense. Included in the district
suspense is an amount of Kshs.16,200,000 being. AlEs issued to the county commissioners
in various counties for transportation of relief food. The break down was availed for perusal
by the Committee.

1240) The State Department.of Devolution has undertaken the following action

e On 3rd June 2019 the principal secretary ASAL wrote to the county commissioners to
submit returns for food allocated and AIES given for transport.

e On 13th august 2019 the cabinet secretary devolution wrote to the cabinet secretary
ministry_ of interior requesting for the ministry of interior to submit the returns to the
ministry to account for the food allocated and funds provided for transportation of food.

e The ministry wrote a second reminder to the accounting officer principal sectary state
department of interior seeking his intervention for the submission of the AIE returns

1241) In-order to mitigate against this challenge, the ministry has decided that an AIE will be
issued to the principal secretary ministry of interior who will be given a breakdown of the
amount to distribute to the County Commissioners.

1242) Committee Observation and Findings

(i) The Committee observed that the breakdown of Ksh.21,420,000 has been provided,
however the amount does not tally with the queried amount of Ksh.21964,820;

(i)  The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep
proper accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;
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(ili) The Committee also observed that during the audit, the Accounting Officer failed to
provide accurate records and other supporting documents in breach of Section 9 (1) (e)
of the Public Audit Act, 2015; and

(iv) The matter therefore remained unresolved.

1243) The Committee Recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations are done in time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the Auditor General within three'months
after close of the Financial Year as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.

322. Proceeds from Domestic and Foreign Grants-IDEAS (EU) Direct Payments

322.1 European Union -Instrument for Devolution Advice and Support Project

1244) The statement of receipts and payments reflects proceeds. from domestic and foreign
grants totaling Kshs.938,102,713 which includes direct payments of Kshs.931,175,313
under IDEAS (EU). However, the donor (European Union) had made payments of
Kshs.941,287,026 to 15 Counties which acknowledged receipt of the same and another
amount of Kshs.38,653,540 was disbursed to the State Department for administrative
purposes making a total of Kshs.979,922,566 disbursed during the year. The difference of
Kshs.48,747,253 between the reported figure of Kshs.931,175,313 and the actual
disbursement Kshs.979,922,566 has not.been reconciled or explained.

Submission by the Accounting Officer

1245) The Accounting Officer submitted that Kshs.48,747,253 was received by Makueni
County on 17th July 2018.-However, ministry had processed and given instructions to
transfer the funds on 31st may 2018 and was received in national treasury on 5th June 2018.
The delay between processing and transfer of funds was due to bank transfer time lag. The
funds were in the ministry’s approved budget for FY 2017/2018. The grant was processed
and.captured inthe financial statement for FY 2017/2018.

1246) . The national treasury through circular ref: AG 4/16/2 VOL..2 (90) of 5TH October 2018
instructed counties and ministries to recognize disbursements received in July as part of
funds to be accounted in FY 2017/2018. The funds were reported in the ministry financial
statement of FY 2017/2018 as per the extract of financial statement.

1247) Committee Observations and Findings
(i) The Committee observed that the Accounting Officer failed to prepare and keep proper
accounting records in contravention of Section 68 (2) (b) of the PFM Act, 2012;
(i) The Committee further observed that the Accounting Officer failed to ensure that
reconciliations are done in time and the complete financial statements submitted to the
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Auditor General in time as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a) of
the Public Finance Management Act 2012;

(iii) However, the Committee observed that the explanation given by the Accounting
Officer with regard to European Union -Instrument for Devolution Advice and Support
Project was satisfactory; and

(iv) The Committee marked the matter as resolved.

1248) The Committee Recommended that:

The Accounting Officer must at all times ensure that reconciliations are donein.time and
the complete financial statements submitted to the Auditor General within three months
after close of the Financial Year as provided for in Article 229 (4)(h), and section 81(4)(a)
of the Public Finance Management Act 2012 read together with Regulation 90 of the PFM
(National Government) Regulations 2015.

322.2 Proceeds from Domestic and Foreign Grants -Grants Received from Multilateral
Donors (International Organizations)-UNDP

1249) The statement of receipts and payments reflects proceeds from domestic and foreign
borrowings amounting to Kshs.938,102,713 which.includes Kshs.931,175,313 from the
European Union (EU) and Kshs.6,927,400 from UNDP.

1250) However, an amount of Kshs.892,251,773 from the European Union has not been
audited in line with the financing agreement between the European Union and the County
Governments. Over 80% of the cash was unutilized and is still being held in the designated
project accounts.

1251) In addition, the transfers'to Counties in respect of the IDEAS Project have not been
reported in the financial statements as well as the expenditure in respect of Kenya
Symbiocity Project and the Administrative expenditure in relation to IDEAS Project.

Submission hy the Accounting Officer
1252) The Aceounting Officer submitted that the delay in spending the grants by the counties
was caused by the following factors

e Delay in opening Special Purpose accounts (SPA). This was a requirement in the
financing agreement that all counties to open special accounts in commercial banks for
the project and to get the relevant authority from National Treasury.

e Delay in procuring contractors for the projects. The procurement process in the counties
could only commence after all counties had signed the grant contract and received the
grants in their respective County Revenue Fund.

e Some counties had not appropriated the grants in their budgets.
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1253) The Accounting Officer further submitted that Instruments for Devolution Advise and
Support (IDEAS) is a program funded by EU anchored in the State Department and of
which the ministry prepares separate financial statements for the project as per the project
financing agreement, and which were submitted to office of Auditor as per the re